BULLYING BY PEERS AND IN THE FAMILY: PRECURSORS, CONSEQUENCES AND INTERVENTION

EDITED BY: Dieter Wolke, Young Shin Kim, Anat Brunstein Klomek, Tracy Vaillancourt and Andre Sourander PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Psychiatry





Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-774-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-774-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

BULLYING BY PEERS AND IN THE FAMILY: PRECURSORS, CONSEQUENCES AND INTERVENTION

Topic Editors:

Dieter Wolke, University of Warwick, United Kingdom Young Shin Kim, University of California, United States Anat Brunstein Klomek, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Israel Tracy Vaillancourt, University of Ottawa, Canada Andre Sourander, University of Turku, Finland

Citation: Wolke, D., Kim, Y. S., Klomek, A. B., Vaillancourt, T., Sourander, A., eds. (2021). Bullying by Peers and in the Family: Precursors, Consequences and Intervention. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-774-3

Table of Contents

- 65 Frequent Bullying Involvement and Brain Morphology in Children
 Ryan L. Muetzel, Rosa H. Mulder, Sander Lamballais,
 Andrea P. Cortes Hidalgo, Pauline Jansen, Berna Güroğlu,
 Meike W. Vernooiji, Manon Hillegers, Tonya White, Hanan El Marroun and
 Henning Tiemeier
- 15 The Independent and Cumulative Effects of Sibling and Peer Bullying in Childhood on Depression, Anxiety, Suicidal Ideation, and Self-Harm in Adulthood

Slava Dantchev, Matthew Hickman, Jon Heron, Stanley Zammit and Dieter Wolke

- 27 Parents' Feelings, Coping Strategies and Sense of Parental Self-Efficacy When Dealing With Children's Victimization Experiences Joy Benatov
- 36 Comparisons Between Adolescent Bullies, Victims, and Bully-Victims on Perceived Popularity, Social Impact, and Social Preference Alexa Guy, Kirsty Lee and Dieter Wolke
- **46** Bullying History and Mental Health In University Students: The Mediator Roles of Social Support, Personal Resilience, and Self-Efficacy Muyu Lin, Dieter Wolke, Silvia Schneider and Jürgen Margraf
- 55 Trends in Bullying and Emotional and Behavioral Difficulties Among Pakistani Schoolchildren: A Cross-Sectional Survey of Seven Cities Sadiq Naveed, Ahmed Waqas, Zarnain Shah, Waqas Ahmad, Muhammad Wasim, Jawaria Rasheed and Tayyaba Afzaal
- 65 Family Violence, Sibling, and Peer Aggression During Adolescence: Associations With Behavioral Health Outcomes Katherine M. Ingram, Dorothy L. Espelage, Jordan P. Davis and Gabriel J. Merrin
- 79 Cybervictimization and Cyberbullying: The Role of Socio-Emotional Skills Nikolett Arató, András N. Zsidó, Kata Lénárd and Beatrix Lábadi
- 87 Association Between Sub-types of Sibling Bullying and Mental Health Distress Among Chinese Children and Adolescents
 Xiaoqun Liu, Chang Peng, Yizhen Yu, Mengsi Yang, Zaihua Qing, Xiaoyan Qiu and Xinhua Yang
- 95 The Free2B Multi-Media Bullying Prevention Experience: An Exemplar of Scientific Edutainment

Stephen S. Leff, Tracy Evian Waasdorp, Brooke S. Paskewich, Katherine B. Bevans and Flaura K. Winston

- **105** Bullying Perpetration and Narcissistic Personality Traits across Adolescence: Joint Trajectories and Childhood Risk Factors Ann H. Farrell and Tracy Vaillancourt
- **118** Bullying Victimization and Trauma Thormod Idsoe, Tracy Vaillancourt, Atle Dyregrov, Kristine Amlund Hagen, Terje Ogden and Ane Naerde

132 The Mediating Role of Bullying and Victimisation on the Relationship Between Problematic Internet Use and Substance Abuse Among Adolescents in the UK: The Parent–Child Relationship as a Moderator Muthanna Samara, Adeem Ahmad Massarwi, Aiman El-Asam, Sara Hammuda, Peter K. Smith and Hisham Morsi





Frequent Bullying Involvement and Brain Morphology in Children

Ryan L. Muetzel^{1,2}, Rosa H. Mulder^{1,3,4}, Sander Lamballais^{2,4}, Andrea P. Cortes Hidalgo^{1,4}, Pauline Jansen^{1,5}, Berna Güroğlu⁶, Meike W. Vernooiji^{2,7}, Manon Hillegers^{1,4}, Tonya White^{1,7}, Hanan El Marroun^{1,5,8} and Henning Tiemeier^{1,9*}

¹ Department of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry/Psychology, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ² Department of Epidemiology, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ³ Institute of Education and Child Studies, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁴ Generation R Study Group, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁵ Department of Psychology, Education and Child Studies, Erasmus School of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Erasmus University Rotterdam, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁶ Institute of Psychology, Leiden University, Leiden, Netherlands, ⁷ Department of Radiology and Nuclear Medicine, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁸ Department of Pediatrics, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁹ Department of Pediatrics, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁹ Department of Pediatrics, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁹ Department of Pediatrics, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁹ Department of Pediatrics, Erasmus MC University Medical Center, Rotterdam, Netherlands, ⁹ Department of Social and Behavioral Science, Harvard TH Chan School of Public Health, Boston, MA, United States

Background: Over the past few decades, bullying has been recognized as a considerable public health concern. Involvement in bullying is associated with poor long-term social and psychiatric outcomes for both perpetrators and targets of bullying. Despite this concerning prognosis, few studies have investigated possible neurobiological correlates of bullying involvement that may explain the long-term impact of bullying. Cortical thickness is ideally suited for examining deviations in typical brain development, as it has been shown to detect subtle differences in children with psychopathology. We tested associations between bullying involvement and cortical thickness using a large, population-based cohort.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tracy Vaillancourt, University of Ottawa, Canada

Reviewed by:

David Matuskey, Yale University, United States Edward D. Barker, Birkbeck, University of London, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Henning Tiemeier tiemeier@hsph.harvard.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 13 April 2019 Accepted: 28 August 2019 Published: 24 September 2019

Citation:

Muetzel RL, Mulder RH, Lamballais S, Cortes Hidalgo AP, Jansen P, Güroğlu B, Vernooiji MW, Hillegers M, White T, El Marroun H and Tiemeier H (2019) Frequent Bullying Involvement and Brain Morphology in Children. Front. Psychiatry 10:696. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00696 **Methods:** The study sample consisted of 2,602 participants from the Generation R Study. When children were 8 years old, parents and teachers reported on common forms of child bullying involvement (physical, verbal, and relational). Questions ascertained whether a child was involved as a perpetrator (n = 82), a target of bullying (n = 92), as a combined perpetrator and target of bullying (n = 47), or uninvolved in frequent bullying (n = 2,381). High-resolution structural MRI was conducted when children were 10 years of age. Cortical thickness estimates across the cortical mantle were compared among groups.

Results: Children classified as frequent targets of bullying showed thicker cortex in the fusiform gyrus compared to those uninvolved in bullying (B = 0.108, $p_{corrected} < 0.001$). Results remained consistent when adjusted for socioeconomic factors, general intelligence, and psychiatric symptoms. Children classified as frequent perpetrators showed thinner cortex in the cuneus region; however, this association did not survive stringent correction for multiple testing. Lastly, no differences in cortical thickness were observed in perpetrator–targets.

Discussion: Bullying involvement in young children was associated with differential cortical morphology. Specifically, the fusiform gyrus, often involved in facial processing, showed thicker cortex in targets of frequent bullying. Longitudinal data are necessary to demonstrate the temporality of the underlying neurobiology associated with bullying involvement.

Keywords: cortical thickness, victimization, vertex-wise analysis, population based, fusiform

INTRODUCTION

The past decades have witnessed bullying during childhood emerge as a considerable public health concern. Prevalence estimates are relatively high, although vary considerably by age, gender, frequency of involvement, and country (1). In addition to the immediate burden on the child, poor long-term outcomes have been consistently reported in those involved once they reach adulthood, including increased rates of psychiatric disorders, substance abuse, problems with social functioning, and suicidality (2–7). The persistence of these problems into adulthood suggests that a potential underlying neurobiological substrate may be linked to bullying involvement.

Bullying in children is formally characterized as unwanted, repeated, and aggressive behavior among peers which occurs in the context of an actual or perceived power imbalance (8). Involvement takes place in multiple forms, including physical (e.g., hitting, fighting), verbal (e.g., name calling, inappropriate comments), relational (e.g., social exclusion), and more. Those involved in bullying are often classified as being a bully (perpetrator), a victim (target of bullying), or involved in both forms as a perpetrator-target (9). Against the background of high prevalence estimates and the advent of cyber bullying, it is crucial to better understand bullying in the context of neural correlates, as such features could eventually help to predict and even explain the persistent psychosocial outcomes of bullying involvement (10).

In vivo structural brain imaging methods have proven effective in examining typical (11) and atypical morphological brain development (12) and are a promising tool for ascertaining any neural correlates of bullying involvement. Previous work has already shown how early-life adversities, such as abuse, early life stress, quality of maternal care, and growing up in institutional care, impact cortical and subcortical development in children (13-15). Despite this work demonstrating the sensitivity of structural neuroimaging to detect subtle morphological features of typical and atypical brain development, few studies have explored to what extent bullying involvement is associated with brain morphology and brain structure (16, 17). More substantial focus has been given to aspects of peer and social interaction using functional MRI (18) where, for example, anterior cingulate and prefrontal cortices have been implicated with differential functional activity in the context of exposure to social exclusion (19, 20). Recently, a large study of adolescents examined how structural brain volumes were related to peer victimization and psychopathology; changes in brain volumes which were related to peer victimization (specifically portions of the basal ganglia) were also predictive of internalizing problems later in life (21).

We aimed to study the association between bullying involvement and brain morphology in a large population-based setting. Parent- and teacher-rated bullying involvement was used to classify children as perpetrators, targets of bullying, or combined perpetrator-targets. We performed structural MRI to quantitatively assess the thickness of the cortical mantle, as well as hippocampal and amygdala volume; metrics shown to be associated with psychopathology and symptomatology in children. We hypothesized that targets of bullying involvement would display differences in cortical thickness in brain areas related to threat perception and sensitivity, fear, anxiety, emotional face processing, and emotional regulation (e.g., prefrontal cortex, cingulate gyrus, fusiform face area, and insula). We also hypothesized that perpetrators would differ in cortical thickness in areas related to emotional (dys)regulation (e.g., prefrontal cortex). Lastly, we hypothesized that those involved as perpetrator-targets would display the largest differences in cortical thickness in regions observed in both perpetrators and targets of bullying.

METHODS AND MATERIALS

Participants

Participants in this study were part of the Generation R Study, a prospective prenatal birth cohort in Rotterdam, The Netherlands (22). When children were between the ages of 7 and 8, parents and teachers completed a questionnaire on children's bullying involvement. At the age of 10, children visited our researchdedicated facility for a detailed behavioral assessment (23) and also underwent MRI (24). Of the 3,992 children who visited our MRI facility, 807 datasets were excluded due missing complete T₁ scan (n = 114; 3%), a different T₁ acquisition (n = 22, 0.6%), poor/ insufficient data quality (n = 644; 16%), or incidental findings (n = 27; 0.7%, Supplemental Table S1). Of the remaining 3,185 children who had MRI data, 2,602 also had parent or teacher report information on bullying involvement and comprised the final study population. The flow chart depicted in Figure 1 illustrates these exclusions in detail. The Medical Ethics Committee of the Erasmus Medical Center approved all study procedures, and all parents and children provided written informed consent and assent, respectively.



Bullying Involvement Assessment

Three common forms of bullying involvement (9) were assessed using two separate informants: Physical, verbal, and relational bullying involvement were assessed by asking the child's primary caregiver (most often the mother) and/or the child's teacher. Separate questions ascertained whether the child was involved as a perpetrator or a target of bullying for each type of involvement (physical, verbal, relational involvement, for a total of six items). For example, parents and teachers were asked, "In the past few months, how often has your child been bullied by insults, being called names or being laughed at?" Full questions are presented in the Supplemental Material. Teachers were additionally asked whether a child was involved in material bullying. However, this item was not administered in the parent version of the questionnaire given the low endorsement rates by teachers and, therefore, was not used in the current analyses. Each item was rated on a 4-point scale ranging from "Never or less than once per month" to "More than twice per week" by the teachers and on a 5-point scale ranging from "Never" to "Several times per week" by the parents. Children were classified as perpetrators if their parent or their teacher indicated they physically, verbally, or relationally bullied other children once per week or more, which represents frequent involvement. In the event of disagreement between informants, children were classified as perpetrators if one informant indicated involvement (3, 25). Similarly, children were classified as targets of bullying if their parent or teacher indicated they were bullied by another child once per week or more. If a child was classified as both a perpetrator and as a target of bullying based on these criteria, they were reclassified as being involved as both, referred to as a perpetrator-target. Ratings from multiple informants were not available for all children, with roughly 33% receiving information from both informants, 53% receiving information from mothers only, and 14% receiving information from the teacher only. Cohen's Kappa was in line with previous work, $\kappa = 0.11$, p < 0.05 (25–28). Although this agreement is relatively low, as highlighted by previous work (25), it is also consistent with agreement between informants in the context of behavioral and emotional problems (29).

Image Acquisition

Neuroimaging data were collected on a study-dedicated, 3-Tesla MRI system (MR-750W, General Electric, Milwaukee, WI, US) using an eight-channel, receive-only head coil (24). Before scanning, children underwent a mock scanning session in order to familiarize them with the procedure and scanning environment. High-resolution, T_1 -weigthed structural MRI data were acquired using a coronal inversion recovery fast spoiled gradient recalled sequence with the following parameters: GE option BRAVO, $T_R = 8.77$ ms, $T_E = 3.4$ ms, $T_I = 600$ ms, flip angle = 10°, matrix size = 220 × 220, field of view = 220 mm × 220 mm, slice thickness = 1 mm, number of slices = 230, ARC acceleration factor = 2.

Image Processing

Images were processed using the FreeSurfer version 6.0 analysis suite (30). First, DICOM data were converted to "MGZ" file format using the FreeSurfer "mri_convert" tool. The standard

reconstruction was then conducted, where nonbrain tissue was removed, voxel intensities were corrected for B_1 field inhomogeneities, voxels were segmented into white matter, gray matter, and cerebral spinal fluid, and surface-based models of white matter and gray matter were generated. Subcortical structures were automatically labeled, and volumes in cubic millimeter were extracted for the hippocampus and amygdala for this study. Cortical thickness was estimated at each point (vertex) along the cortical ribbon, and each point was also automatically assigned an anatomical label according to a predefined atlas (31). Thickness data for each participant were coregistered to a standard stereotaxic space and smoothed with a 10-mm full-width half-maximum Gaussian kernel. Cortical surface reconstructions were visually inspected for inaccuracies (32), and 16% of the scans were labeled as inadequate for data analyses.

Covariates

Date of birth and sex were determined from medical records obtained at birth, and child ethnicity was defined based on the birth country of the parents. Maternal education level, a proxy for socioeconomic status, was assessed by questionnaire. Child nonverbal IQ was estimated using subtests from the Snijders-Oomen nonverbal intelligence test at the age-6 assessment (33). Lastly, child psychiatric symptoms were assessed using the parentreport Child Behavior Checklist (CBCL) administered at the age-10 assessment. The CBCL is a 100-item parental report of child behavioral and emotional problems which uses a Likert response format. The CBCL assesses a variety of domains, including internalizing (e.g., depressive/anxiety symptoms) and externalizing (e.g., attention problems). The square root transformed sum of all items (Total Problem Score) was utilized (34). For supplemental analyses (see statistical section below), additional covariates were tested for their impact on model estimates. First, for analyses involving targets of bullying, the CBCL Broadband Internalizing scale was used, as it focuses on emotional problems more common in this group. With the same rationale, the CBCL Broadband Externalizing scale was added in analyses of perpetrators of bullying. In order to rule out that childhood trauma explained any observed associations, exposure to physical and sexual abuse, derived from a retrospective parental-report of life events, was included. Briefly, a dichotomous (exposed/unexposed) variable was created if any of four items related to physical and sexual abuse were endorsed (35). Lastly, body mass index, estimated from height and weight measured at the age-6 assessment and normalized in accordance to Dutch growth curves for age and sex, was also included as a covariate in supplemental analyses.

Statistical Analysis

Analyses were run using the R statistical software [version 3.4.3 (36)]. Multiple linear regression was used for analyses of hippocampal and amygdala volume. A custom in-house package was developed to run multiple linear regression at each cortical vertex ("QDECR," https://github.com/slamballais/QDECR). A dichotomous variable for each of the three groups (perpetrator, target of bullying, and perpetrator-target) was created and reference coded to the individuals uninvolved in bullying. Regression analyses were run in three steps to adjust for potential

confounding factors. All three models are presented in order to show the impact different confounding factors have on regression coefficients, with large changes in estimates indicative of the potential for residual confounding (remaining bias in estimates). Furthermore, as different neuroimaging studies often have limited data on various confounding factors, presenting analyses in this way allows for maximal comparison with existing/new literature, for example in the frequent case when only age and sex are available. Primary analyses were adjusted for age at MRI scan, sex, and child ethnicity (model 1). Additional analyses were run by further adjusting model 1 for maternal education and child nonverbal IQ (model 2). Lastly, to determine whether results were explained by child behavior problems, model 2 was additionally adjusted for child behavior problems (model 3).

In order to ascertain to what extent the perpetrator-target classification influenced results, sensitivity analyses were run where the perpetrator-target category was not considered. These children were dichotomously classified as targets of bullying or perpetrators. In further sensitivity analyses, continuous sum scores of bullying involvement were entered into regression models in order to complement categorical analyses. In order to determine whether observed associations were different between boys and girls, models were also run with a perpetrator groupby-sex interaction term. As internalizing problems are more often related to victimization and externalizing problems are more often related to perpetrator behavior, sensitivity analyses were run for model 3 where the CBCL total problems score was replaced with either the broadband internalizing score (targets of bullying) or the broadband externalizing score (perpetrators). Lastly, in order to rule out other potential confounding factors, exposure to traumatic events as well as body mass index were added to model 3 to ensure these factors did not account for any observed associations.

Given the large number of statistical tests, analyses were adjusted for multiple comparisons using Gaussian Monte Carlo simulations (37). Clusterwise *p* values were Bonferroni corrected for two hemispheres (p < 0.025), and, as it has shown high correspondence with actual permutation testing at the smoothing kernel used, a cluster-forming threshold (CFT) of p = 0.001 was selected for significance testing (38). As this threshold may be conservative, in line with genome-wide association studies, a "suggestive" yet still strict CFT was also employed (p = 0.005 CFT). For illustrative purposes, different CFTs are also displayed in figures and tables when a cluster was significant at the suggestive CFT 0.005 or below.

Missing Data

Data were missing on covariates in a subset of participants for ethnicity, maternal education, nonverbal IQ and behavioral problems. In all cases, missingness was <11%. In order to retain the largest possible sample for linear regression analyses, these missing data were imputed utilizing the "mice" (multiple imputation by chained equations) package for multiple imputation (39). A number of variables that are correlated with these covariates were used in the imputation process. With 100 iterations, a total of 30 imputed datasets were generated, and results were pooled at each vertex using established methods (40).

Nonresponse

Nonresponse was described with two sets of analyses: first, a comparison with children who participated in the age-6 assessment (roughly the age when the bullying assessment was conducted) but do not have MRI data at age 10 and, second, a comparison with children who participated in the MRI study but were excluded from analyses (e.g., due to poor data quality). Children who participated in the age-6 assessment but not in the current study had lower IQ ($M_{\rm MRI} = 104$, $M_{\rm nonresponder} = 99$, p < 0.05), higher total behavioral problem scores ($M_{\rm MRI}$ = 16.7, $M_{\rm nonresponder}$ = 18.5, p < 0.05), were less likely to be Dutch ($P_{MRI} = 64\%$, $P_{nonresponder} = 53\%$, p < 0.05), and their mothers were less likely to have acquired higher education ($P_{\text{MRI}} = 63\%$, $P_{\text{nonresponder}} = 52\%$, p < 0.05). Similarly, children who were excluded from the present study (e.g., because of motion artifact or missing a bullying assessment) tended to also have lower IQ ($M_{\text{MRI}} = 104$, $M_{\text{excluded}} = 100$, p < 0.05), higher total CBCL problem scores ($M_{\text{MRI}} = 16.7, M_{\text{excluded}} = 18.3, p < 0.05$), less likely to be Dutch ($P_{\text{MRI}} = 64\%$, $P_{\text{excluded}} = 52\%$, p < 0.05), and their mothers were less likely to have acquired higher education ($P_{\rm MRI}$ = 63%, $P_{\text{excluded}} = 54\%$, p < 0.05).

RESULTS

Girls represented 51% of the sample, and children were on average 10.1 years (range, 8.5–11.9) old at the MRI visit. Based on parent report (mean age of child, 8.1 years; range, 7.5–9.9 years) and/or teacher report (mean age of child, 6.6 years; range, 4.6–9.6 years), 92 children (3.5%) were frequently involved as targets of bullying, 82 as perpetrators (3.2%), 47 as perpetrator-targets (1.8%), and 2,382 (91.5%) were uninvolved in frequent bullying. **Table 1** provides a detailed overview of the sample characteristics.

Targets of Bullying

Whole-brain vertex-wise analyses of cortical thickness showed that children identified as targets of bullying had thicker cortex in the left fusiform gyrus compared to those uninvolved in frequent bullying (Figure 2, Table 2). Results remained highly consistent across model 1 (B = 0.107, SE = 0.027, size = 312 mm², $p_{\text{CFT}} = 0.001$, adjusted for age, sex, and ethnicity), model 2 (B =0.108, SE = 0.027, size = 312 mm², $p_{CFT} = 0.001$, additionally adjusted for child IQ and maternal education level), and model 3 (B = 0.110, size = 290 mm², $p_{CFT} = 0.001$, additionally adjusted for child behavioral problems), suggesting minimal residual confounding through various categories of covariates (Table 2). Results remained highly consistent when additionally adjusting model 3 using the broadband internalizing scale rather than the total problems scale (B = 0.107, SE = 0.027, size = 307 mm², $p_{CFT} =$ 0.001). In addition, adjusting model 3 for exposure to traumatic life events (B = 0.107, SE = 0.027, size = 295 mm², $p_{CFT} = 0.001$) or for body mass index (B = 0.108, SE = 0.027, size = 279 mm², $p_{CFT} =$ 0.001) did not change the results (Supplemental Table S2). A sex-by-target of bullying interaction term showed no significant clusters, suggesting the association is similar in boys and girls.

In additional analyses utilizing a two-group (perpetrator or target of bullying) classification, results remained unchanged,

TABLE 1 | Sample Characteristics.

	All	Target	Perpetrator	Perpetrator-target
	N = 2,602	N = 92	N = 82	N = 47
Age MRI	10.096 ± 0.57	10.052 ± 0.51	10.115 ± 0.61	10.098 ± 0.63
Girl, N (%)	1,325 (51)	39 (42)	22 (27)	19 (40)
IQ	103.66 ± 14.64	104.716 ± 16.41	100.706 ± 15.33	103.049 ± 15.88
Ethnicity, N (%)*				
Dutch	1,655 (64)	59 (64)	39 (49)	27 (59)
Other Western	232 (9)	12 (13)	2 (2)	3 (6)
Non-Western	693 (27)	21 (23)	39 (49)	16 (35)
Maternal Education, N (%)*				
Primary/Secondary	879 (37)	29 (33)	38 (55)	15 (36)
Higher	1,524 (63)	58 (67)	31 (45)	27 (64)

Note: Values represent mean ± standard deviation unless otherwise noted. *Owing to missing data, some cells do not sum to complete sample size.



FIGURE 2 I images represent the left hemisphere clusters for perpetrators (left panel, view from medial side of the brain) and targets of builying (right panel, view from inferior side of brain). Clusters represent areas which are different from children uninvolved in bullying (reference group). Models included one term for each of the three groups (perpetrators, targets, perpetrator-targets) all in the same model, and all reference coded to those uninvolved in bullying. S, superior, P, posterior, A, anterior, I, inferior, CFT, cluster-forming threshold. Red-yellow colors refer to thicker cortex, blue–light blue colors refer to thinner cortex.

suggesting the smaller perpetrator–target category did not influence results. When using a continuous sum score of victimization rather than categorical groupings, a similar cluster appeared in the fusiform gyrus, where high scores on victimization were related to thicker cortex ($p_{uncorrected} = 0.0001$, **Supplementary Figure S1**). However, this result did not remain after correction for the stringent multiple comparisons threshold. Lastly, no difference was observed in hippocampal or amygdala volume.

Perpetrators

Children classified as perpetrators showed a thinner cortex in the cuneus at the "suggestive" threshold after correcting for multiple comparisons ($p_{CFT} = 0.005$) but not at the more stringent threshold ($p_{CFT} = 0.001$) and not fully adjusted for all covariates (i.e., model 3). Results remained consistent across the basic (model 1, B = -0.077, size = 501 mm², $p_{CFT} = 0.005$) and adjusted model (model 2, B = -0.084, size = 435 mm², $p_{CFT} = 0.005$), although disappeared when adjusting for child behavioral problems (**Table 2**). Additional analyses using a two-group classification (i.e., omitting the perpetrator-target category) showed consistent results. However, the cuneus cluster was not present when bullying involvement was examined continuously. Lastly, no difference was observed in hippocampal or amygdala volume.

Perpetrator-Targets

No differences in cortical thickness were observed between perpetrator-targets and those uninvolved in bullying after correcting for multiple comparisons. Furthermore, no difference was observed in hippocampal or amygdala volume.

TABLE 2	Results from whole-brain cortical thickness analyses.
---------	---

Group	Model	MNI _x	MNI _Y	MNIz	CFT	В	SE	N Vertices	Area (mm ²)
Target	1	-40.5	-54.8	-20.3	0.05	0.076	0.027	2,073	1,404
					0.01	0.093	0.026	839	550
					0.005	0.098	0.027	696	451
					0.001	0.107	0.027	488	312
	2	-40.5	-54.8	-20.3	0.05	0.076	0.027	2,083	1,412
					0.01	0.093	0.026	848	556
					0.005	0.099	0.026	702	456
					0.001	0.108	0.027	488	312
	3	-40.7	-53.9	-20.2	0.05	0.076	0.027	2091	1423
					0.01	0.094	0.026	823	539
					0.005	0.100	0.027	677	439
					0.001	0.110	0.027	455	290
Perpetrator	1	-14.8	-69.5	15.3	0.05	-0.067	0.027	2,206	1,418
					0.01	-0.074	0.026	1,139	689
					0.005	-0.077	0.027	840	501
	2	-14.8	-70	15.6	0.05	-0.072	0.027	2,158	1,389
					0.01	-0.081	0.026	1,030	615
					0.005	-0.084	0.027	735	435
	3	-14.8	-70	15.6	0.05	-0.072	0.027	2,004	1,292
					0.01	-0.081	0.027	839	496

Model 1 is adjusted for age at MRI, sex, and ethnicity. Model 2 is additionally adjusted for child IQ and maternal educational level. Model 3 is additionally adjusted for child psychiatric symptoms. MNI, Montreal Neurological Institute Coordinates, CFT, cluster-forming threshold for correction for multiple comparisons, B, unstandardized regression coefficient, N Vertices, number of vertices in cluster, Area, surface area of cluster.

DISCUSSION

This large population-based study demonstrates differences in cortical morphology in children involved in bullying. Specifically, children identified as targets of bullying showed thicker cortex in the fusiform region compared to children uninvolved in bullying. The results demonstrate a new link between bullying involvement and structural brain morphology. Importantly, the results also provide an integral starting point for future work examining how cortical brain morphology relates to the persistent social and mental health problems that accompany those involved in bullying.

Children who were frequently victimized by perpetrators showed thicker cortex in the fusiform gyrus. This area, also part of Brodmann area 37, has been implicated in a wide array of functions, including facial and emotion processing, language, and theory of mind. Thicker cortex in this region could therefore be related to how targets of bullying perceive or recognize the faces of their aggressors. Interestingly, individuals with social anxiety disorder have been shown to exhibit differential neural activity to fearful as well as threatening faces (41, 42). A similar extension could be drawn to targets of bullying, where a sensitivity to certain facial expressions (e.g., angry/aggressive) could develop as a consequence of bullying. Alternatively, language ability has previously been proposed as a potential risk factor for targets of bullying, where children with underdeveloped language skills have been shown to be bullied more often (43, 44). As the fusiform gyrus has been implicated in aspects of verbal fluency (45), it is also possible that thicker cortex here represents a delayed development of language ability, which could in turn translate into a risk factor for bullying. Importantly, classification of targets of bullying was defined as being bullied once per week or more, which denotes frequent bullying involvement. When victimization was treated continuously rather than categorically, a similar cluster was observed, which suggests that such features of the fusiform may track into less frequently bullied children. Although the fusiform gyrus has been implicated in psychopathology (41), the current study was not able to determine whether it plays a mediating role in the development of psychopathology, as recent work has shown with other brain regions (21). Importantly, brain morphology linked to involvement in bullying may later manifest in other, more distant brain regions through atypical development of functional connectivity; such a downstream pathway may instead explain the persistent mental health and social problems experienced later in life.

At a conservative threshold for multiple testing correction, no differences were observed in cortical thickness in those classified as perpetrators. However, at a "suggestive" p value threshold and in models not adjusted for total psychiatric problems, a thinner cortex in the cuneus area was observed in those identified as perpetrators compared to those uninvolved in bullying. Part of the occipital lobe, the cuneus, is involved in various aspects of visual processing. A section of the cuneus has also often been implicated in the default mode network, one of the most commonly derived networks in resting-state functional MRI. Thus, future efforts should explore to what extent the default mode network is implicated in those involved in bullying. However, importantly, as this association was not significant in analyses where bullying was quantified continuously and was only observed at a relaxed correction for multiple testing, these results should be interpreted cautiously in the absence of external replication.

Interestingly, in children identified to be involved as perpetrator-targets, no differences were observed in cortical thickness. Given this group of children has the overall poorest prognosis, with higher rates of psychopathology and other problems later in life (25, 46, 47), this lack of difference in brain morphology is contrary to our *a prior* hypothesis. One potential explanation may lie in the sample size of this subgroup; it was the smallest group, with only 47 children, potentially limiting our ability to detect any differences. Conversely, there is likely considerable heterogeneity in any underlying morphological features in this group, suggesting that subtypes of bullying involvement may be important for brain development, or that other analytical methods may be necessary to detect differences (48).

Brain morphology has also been studied in the context of early life stress, trauma, maltreatment, and other experiences (49-53). Differences across studies in terms of findings, methods used, and populations examined make summarizing the literature a challenge, although some interesting patterns emerge. Associations with the amygdala and hippocampus are certainly a common theme, although findings have been inconclusive (50, 54-56). One central theory that aims to explain such deviations in brain development revolves around chronic stress exposure (57), and given the density of stress hormone receptors in the hippocampus, it may be particularly sensitive. Interestingly, no differences were found in this study in children who were targets of bullying. Timing of early-life exposures may be of particular relevance (14), which could explain why no association was found. Specifically, children may have been exposed to bullying behavior at varying times and durations, leading to heterogenous changes limbic brain structures that are difficult to detect, or may emerge later in life.

One important consideration of this study is the temporality of the brain-behavior relationship. As this study is based on a single neuroimaging assessment, it is not possible to delineate whether differences observed in cortical thickness develop before or after children become involved in bullying. In the context of targets of bullying, both scenarios are plausible. Targets of bullying could show differential fusiform development over time, either as an adverse consequence of bullying or even as a compensatory mechanism resulting from exposure to such behavior. Alternatively, such features of the fusiform gyrus could be present before the exposure to bullying, potentially acting as a predisposing factor. An example of such a mechanism can be found in the preceding paragraph discussing language ability; children with poor language abilities may be more prone to exposure to bullying. Future studies with longitudinal designs will allow for the determination of where on the neurodevelopmental trajectory they lie.

The established link between bullying involvement and persistent social and psychiatric problems later in life suggests the potential for a related and underlying neurobiological substrate. A similar construct has been proposed in the context of child maltreatment (10). Recent work has shown evidence for such a link *via* the basal ganglia (21). Alterations in the fusiform that potentially result from bullying could explain some facets of a given psychiatric disorder, for example altered cortical activity in individuals with anxiety disorder in response to emotional face processing (41) or emotionally valent images in individuals with depression (58). Importantly, brain alterations related to bullying involvement during childhood, which eventually co-occur with psychiatric sequela later in life, may require

special consideration in future brain imaging research; the underlying neurobiology may be unique to bullying involvement and not necessarily common or etiological to the psychiatric symptomatology or overarching disorder. Such a phenomenon of an early life adversity leading to a particular brain alteration which co-occurs with psychiatric symptoms could explain some of the heterogeneity in the psychiatric neuroimaging literature and thus the lack of robust imaging biomarkers (59, 60).

Utilizing one of the world's largest pediatric neuroimaging cohorts, we were able to examine the structural neural correlates of bullying involvement. Accompanying the power from this large sample size is the improved generalizability of the findings resulting from the population-based sampling, both in the reference group (those not involved in bullying) as well as in the groups exposed to bullying. Given the prospective and broad nature of the cohort, crucial information on potential confounding factors was also available. However, despite these clear strengths, some limitations warrant discussion. First, as described above, this study lacks repeated measurements of both bullying and brain imaging, and the assessment of bullying involvement takes place at a different age (i.e., before) than the MRI assessment. Longitudinal data will be crucial in delineating the precise temporal sequence of events and offer a crucial developmental perspective. Also of important note is the nonresponse analysis, which showed that the subsample children included in this study on average had slightly different characteristics compared with the full sample (e.g., 4 IQ points higher), suggesting some selection effects. Another broad issue in research on bullying involvement is related to how the data are characterized (e.g., continuous vs. categorically, frequency of involvement, etc.), which may impact results. Future work may also continue to explore latent constructs or latent classes of bullying involvement, which may offer additional insight by data-driven incorporation information (21). Lastly, this study relied on parent- and teacher-reported measures of bullying involvement, rather than child self-reports. Although parents and teachers have been shown to be reliable informants of bullying involvement, other strategies, such as peer nomination (61) and self-reporting, likely provide information with added value on bullying involvement, as victimization has been shown to be underreported in the absence of self-report (62).

This study demonstrates a link between bullying involvement and brain morphology in school-age children. In particular, children who are victimized by perpetrators have thicker cortex when compared to those uninvolved in bullying. These data offer evidence of disrupted cortical morphology in those involved in bullying and may offer cues to future work investigating the neurobiological underpinnings of associated and persistent problems later in life. Future work should utilize longitudinal neuroimaging data to concretely ascertain the different developmental trajectories involved.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated and/or analyzed during the current study are not publicly available due to legal and ethical regulations, but may be made available upon request to the Director of the Generation R Study, Vincent Jaddoe (v.jaddoe@erasmusmc.nl), in accordance with the local, national, and European Union regulations.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The Medical Ethics Committee of the Erasmus Medical Center approved all study procedures, and all parents and children provided written informed consent and assent, respectively.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RLM and HT developed the project and drafted the manuscript. RHM and SL collected data. RLM, RHM, SL, AC, TW, and HM conducted quality assurance of the data. RLM and SL conducted statistical analyses and developed software. RHM, SL, AC, PJ, BG, MV, MH, TW, and HM interpreted results and helped to draft and critically revise the manuscript. HT oversaw all aspects of the project.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Sophia Foundation project S18-20 (awarded to R.L.M.). The Netherlands Organization for Health Research and Development (ZonMw) Vici project 016.VICI.170.200 (awarded to H.T.), and the Dutch Research Agenda (NWA) NeuroLabNL (400.17.602). Supercomputing resources were supported by the NWO Physical Sciences Division (Exacte Wetenschappen) and SURFsara (Cartesius

REFERENCES

- Craig W, Harel Y Bullying, physical fighting, and victimization. Young People's Heal Context Int Rep from HBSC 2001/02 survery WHO Policy Ser Heal policy Child Adolesc issue 4, WHO Reg Off Eur. Copenhagen. (2004).
- Takizawa R, Maughan B, Arseneault L. Adult health outcomes of childhood bullying victimization: evidence from a five-decade longitudinal British birth cohort. *Am J Psychiatry* (2014) 171:777–84. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.2014.13101401
- Copeland WE, Wolke D, Angold A, Costello EJ. Adult psychiatric outcomes of bullying and being bullied by peers in childhood and adolescence. JAMA Psychiatry (2013) 70:419. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504
- Lereya ST, Copeland WE, Costello EJ, Wolke D. Adult mental health consequences of peer bullying and maltreatment in childhood: two cohorts in two countries. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2:524–31. doi: 10.1016/ S2215-0366(15)00165-0
- Kumpulainen K. Psychiatric conditions associated with bullying. Int J Adolesc Med Health (2008) 20:121–32. doi: 10.1515/JJAMH.2008.20.2.121
- Moore SE, Norman RE, Sly PD, Whitehouse AJO, Zubrick SR, Scott J. Adolescent peer aggression and its association with mental health and substance use in an Australian cohort. J Adolesc (2014) 37:11–21. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2013.10.006
- Stuart J E, Jose P. Is bullying bad for your health? The consequences of bullying perpetration and victimization in childhood on health behaviors in adulthood. J Aggress Confl Peace Res (2014) 6:185–95. doi: 10.1108/ JACPR-01-2014-0003
- 8. Gladden R, Vivolo-Kantor A, Hamburger M, Lumpkin C. Bullying surveillance among youths: uniform definitions for public health and recommended data elements. National Center for Injury Prevention and

compute cluster, www.surfsara.nl). HM was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation program (grant agreement 633595 and 733206). APCH was supported by the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research. The general design of Generation R Study is made possible by financial support from the Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Erasmus University Rotterdam, ZonMw, The Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO), and the Ministry of Health, Welfare, and Sport.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The Generation R Study is conducted by the Erasmus Medical Center in close collaboration with Faculty of Social Sciences of the Erasmus University Rotterdam, the Municipal Health Service Rotterdam area, Rotterdam, and the Stichting Trombosedienst & Artsenlaboratorium Rijnmond (STAR-MDC), Rotterdam. We gratefully acknowledge the contribution of children and parents, general practitioners, hospitals, midwives, and pharmacies in Rotterdam.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00696/full#supplementary-material

Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the United States Department of Education, Atlanta, GA (2013).

- Jansen PW, Verlinden M, Berkel AD, Mieloo C, van der Ende J, Veenstra R, et al. Prevalence of bullying and victimization among children in early elementary school: Do family and school neighbourhood socioeconomic status matter? *BMC Public Health* (2012) 12:494. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-494
- Perry B. Incubated in terror: neurodevelopmental factors in the cycle of violence, Children. New York: Guilford Press (1997).
- Lenroot RK, Giedd JN. Brain development in children and adolescents: insights from anatomical magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2006) 30:718–29. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2006.06.001
- Shaw P, Eckstrand K, Sharp W, Blumenthal J, Lerch JP, Greenstein D, et al. Attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder is characterized by a delay in cortical maturation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2007) 104:19649–54. doi: 10.1073/ pnas.0707741104
- Hodel AS, Hunt RH, Cowell RA, Van Den Heuvel SE, Gunnar MR, Thomas KM. Duration of early adversity and structural brain development in postinstitutionalized adolescents. *Neuroimage* (2015) 105:112–9. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2014.10.020
- Lupien SJ, McEwen BS, Gunnar MR, Heim C. Effects of stress throughout the lifespan on the brain, behaviour and cognition. *Nat Rev Neurosci* (2009) 10:434–45. doi: 10.1038/nrn2639
- Dahmen B, Puetz VB, Scharke W, von Polier GG, Herpertz-Dahlmann B, Konrad K. Effects of early-life adversity on hippocampal structures and associated HPA axis functions. *Dev Neurosci* (2018) 40(1):13–22 doi: 10.1159/000484238
- du Plessis MR, Smeekens S, Cillessen AHN, Whittle S, Güroğlu B. Bullying the brain? Longitudinal links between childhood peer victimization, cortisol, and adolescent brain structure. *Front Psychol* (2019) 9:2706. doi: 10.3389/ fpsyg.2018.02706

- Teicher MH, Samson JA, Sheu Y-S, Polcari A, McGreenery CE. Hurtful Words: Association of exposure to peer verbal abuse with elevated psychiatric symptom scores and corpus callosum abnormalities. *Am J Psychiatry* (2010) 167:1464–71. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2010.10010030
- Crone EA, Konijn EA. Media use and brain development during adolescence. Nat Commun (2018) 9:588. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03126-x
- Will G-J, van Lier PAC, Crone EA, Güroğlu B. Chronic childhood peer rejection is associated with heightened neural responses to social exclusion during adolescence. J Abnorm Child Psychol (2016) 44:43–55. doi: 10.1007/ s10802-015-9983-0
- Eisenberger NI. Does rejection hurt? An fMRI study of social exclusion. Science (2003) 302(5643):290–2. doi: 10.1126/science.1089134
- Quinlan EB, Barker ED, Luo Q, Banaschewski T, Bokde ALW, Bromberg U, et al. Peer victimization and its impact on adolescent brain development and psychopathology. *Mol Psychiatry* (2018) [epub ahead of print] doi: 10.1038/s41380-018-0297-9
- Kooijman MN, Kruithof CJ, van Duijn CM, Duijts L, Franco OH, IjMH van, et al. The Generation R Study: design and cohort update 2017. *Eur J Epidemiol* (2016) 31:1243–64. doi: 10.1007/s10654-016-0224-9
- 23. Tiemeier H, Velders FP, Szekely E, Roza SJ, Dieleman G, Jaddoe VW, et al. The Generation R Study: a review of design, findings to date, and a study of the 5-HTTLPR by environmental interaction from fetal life onward. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2012) 51:1119–1135 e7. doi: 10.1016/j. jaac.2012.08.021
- White T, Muetzel RL, El Marroun H, Blanken LME, Jansen P, Bolhuis K, et al. Paediatric population neuroimaging and the Generation R Study: the second wave. *Eur J Epidemiol* (2018) 33(1):99-125 doi: 10.1007/s10654-017-0319-y
- Lereya ST, Copeland WE, Zammit S, Wolke D. Bully/victims: a longitudinal, population-based cohort study of their mental health. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2015) 24:1461–71. doi: 10.1007/s00787-015-0705-5
- Rønning JA, Sourander A, Kumpulainen K, Tamminen T, Niemelä S, Moilanen I, et al. Cross-informant agreement about bullying and victimization among eight-year-olds: whose information best predicts psychiatric caseness 10–15 years later? *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* (2009) 44:15–22. doi: 10.1007/s00127-008-0395-0
- Schreier A, Wolke D, Thomas K, Horwood J, Hollis C, Gunnell D, et al. Prospective study of peer victimization in childhood and psychotic symptoms in a nonclinical population at age 12 years. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2009) 66:527–36. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.23
- Zwierzynska K, Wolke D, Lereya TS. Peer victimization in childhood and internalizing problems in adolescence: a prospective longitudinal study. *J Abnorm Child Psychol* (2013) 41:309–23. doi: 10.1007/s10802-012-9678-8
- Achenbach TM, McConaughy SH, Howell CT. Child/adolescent behavioral and emotional problems: implications of cross-informant correlations for situational specificity. *Psychol Bull* (1987) 101:213–32. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.101.2.213
- Fischl B. FreeSurfer. Neuroimage (2012) 62:774–81. doi: 10.1016/j. neuroimage.2012.01.021
- Desikan RS, Segonne F, Fischl B, Quinn BT, Dickerson BC, Blacker D, et al. An automated labeling system for subdividing the human cerebral cortex on MRI scans into gyral based regions of interest. *Neuroimage* (2006) 31:968– 80. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.01.021
- 32. Muetzel RL, Blanken LME, van der Ende J, El Marroun H, Shaw P, Sudre G, et al. Tracking brain development and dimensional psychiatric symptoms in children: a longitudinal population-based neuroimaging study. *Am J Psychiatry* (2018) appi.ajp.2017.1 175(1):54-62. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.2017.16070813
- Basten M, van der Ende J, Tiemeier H, Althoff RR, Rijlaarsdam J, Jaddoe VW, et al. Nonverbal intelligence in young children with dysregulation: the Generation R Study. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry* (2014) 23:1061–70. doi: 10.1007/s00787-014-0551-x
- Achenbach TM, Rescorla LA. Manual for the ASEBA school-age forms & profiles. Burlington, VT: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families. (2001).
- 35. Dunn EC, Nishimi K, Neumann A, Renaud A, Cecil CAM, Susser ES, et al. Time-dependent effects of exposure to physical and sexual violence on psychopathology symptoms in late childhood: in search of sensitive periods

in development. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2019) doi: 10.1016/j. jaac.2019.02.022

- 36. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. (2014).
- Hagler DJ, Saygin AP, Sereno MI. Smoothing and cluster thresholding for cortical surface-based group analysis of fMRI data. *Neuroimage* (2006) 33:1093–103. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2006.07.036
- Greve DN, Fischl B. False positive rates in surface-based anatomical analysis. *Neuroimage* (2018) 171:6–14. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.12.072
- van Buuren S, Groothuis-Oudshoorn K.: mice: multivariate imputation by chained equations in R. J Stat Softw Artic (2011) 45:1–67. doi: 10.18637/jss. v045.i03
- 40. Rubin D. *Multiple imputation for nonresponse in surveys*. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons (2004).
- Frick A, Howner K, Fischer H, Kristiansson M, Furmark T. Altered fusiform connectivity during processing of fearful faces in social anxiety disorder. *Transl Psychiatry* (2013) 3:e312. doi: 10.1038/tp.2013.85
- 42. Etkin A, Wager TD. Functional neuroimaging of anxiety: a metaanalysis of emotional processing in PTSD, social anxiety disorder, and specific phobia. *Am J Psychiatry* (2007) 164:1476–88. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.2007.07030504
- Knox E, Conti-Ramsden G. Bullying risks of 11-year-old children with specific language impairment (SLI): does school placement matter? *Int J Lang Commun Disord* (n.d.) 38:1–12. doi: 10.1080/13682820304817
- Lindsay G, Dockrell JE, Mackie C. Vulnerability to bullying in children with a history of specific speech and language difficulties. *Eur J Spec Needs Edu* (2008) 23:1–16. doi: 10.1080/08856250701791203
- 45. Abrahams S, Goldstein LH, Simmons A, Brammer MJ, Williams SCR, Giampietro VP, et al. Functional magnetic resonance imaging of verbal fluency and confrontation naming using compressed image acquisition to permit overt responses. *Hum Brain Mapp* (2003) 20:29–40. doi: 10.1002/ hbm.10126
- Shetgiri R. Bullying and victimization among children. Adv Pediatr (2013) 60:33–51. doi: 10.1016/j.yapd.2013.04.004
- Kim YS, Leventhal BL, Koh Y-J, Hubbard A, Boyce WT. School bullying and youth violence. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2006) 63:1035. doi: 10.1001/ archpsyc.63.9.1035
- Nenning K-H, Liu H, Ghosh SS, Sabuncu MR, Schwartz E, Langs G. Diffeomorphic functional brain surface alignment: functional demons. *Neuroimage* (2017) 156:456–65. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2017.04.028
- Teicher MH, Dumont NL, Ito Y, Vaituzis C, Giedd JN, Andersen SL. Childhood neglect is associated with reduced corpus callosum area. *Biol Psychiatry* (2004) 56:80–5. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2004.03.016
- Woon FL, Hedges DW. Hippocampal and amygdala volumes in children and adults with childhood maltreatment-related posttraumatic stress disorder: a meta-analysis. *Hippocampus* (2008) 18:729–36. doi: 10.1002/ hipo.20437
- Cohen RA, Grieve S, Hoth KF, Paul RH, Sweet L, Tate D, et al. Early life stress and morphometry of the adult anterior cingulate cortex and caudate nuclei. *Biol Psychiatry* (2006) 59:975–82. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2005.12.016
- Nemeroff CB. Paradise lost: the neurobiological and clinical consequences of child abuse and neglect. *Neuron* (2016) 89:892–909. doi: 10.1016/j. neuron.2016.01.019
- Hart H, Rubia K. Neuroimaging of child abuse: a critical review. Front Hum Neurosci (2012) 6:52. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00052
- Hanson JL, Nacewicz BM, Sutterer MJ, Cayo AA, Schaefer SM, Rudolph KD, et al. Behavioral problems after early life stress: contributions of the hippocampus and amygdala. *Biol Psychiatry* (2015) 77:314–23. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2014.04.020
- Krugers HJ, Arp JM, Xiong H, Kanatsou S, Lesuis SL, Korosi A, et al. Early life adversity: lasting consequences for emotional learning. *Neurobiol Stress* (2017) 6:14–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2016.11.005
- Calem M, Bromis K, McGuire P, Morgan C, Kempton MJ. Meta-analysis of associations between childhood adversity and hippocampus and amygdala volume in non-clinical and general population samples. *NeuroImage Clin* (2017) 14:471–9. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2017.02.016

- McEwen BS. Brain on stress: how the social environment gets under the skin. Proc Natl Acad Sci (2012) 109:17180–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1121254109
- Groenewold NA, Opmeer EM, de Jonge P, Aleman A, Costafreda SG. Emotional valence modulates brain functional abnormalities in depression: evidence from a meta-analysis of fMRI studies. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2013) 37:152–63. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2012.11.015
- Venkatasubramanian G, Keshavan MS. Biomarkers in psychiatry—a critique. Ann Neurosci (2016) 23:3–5. doi: 10.1159/000443549
- Linden DEJ. The challenges and promise of neuroimaging in psychiatry. Neuron (2012) 73:8-22. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2011.12.014
- Verlinden M, Veenstra R, Ringoot AP, Jansen PW, Raat H, Hofman A, et al. Detecting bullying in early elementary school with a computerized peernomination instrument. *Psychol Assess* (2014) 26:628–41. doi: 10.1037/a0035571
- 62. Shemesh E, Annunziato RA, Ambrose MA, Ravid NL, Mullarkey C, Rubes M, et al. Child and parental reports of bullying in a consecutive

sample of children with food allergy. *Pediatrics* (2013) 131:e10-7 doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-1180

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Muetzel, Mulder, Lamballais, Cortes Hidalgo, Jansen, Güroğlu, Vernooiji, Hillegers, White, El Marroun and Tiemeier. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Independent and Cumulative Effects of Sibling and Peer Bullying in Childhood on Depression, Anxiety, Suicidal Ideation, and Self-Harm in Adulthood

Slava Dantchev^{1,2*}, Matthew Hickman³, Jon Heron³, Stanley Zammit^{3,4} and Dieter Wolke^{1,5}

¹ Department of Psychology, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom, ² Faculty of Psychology, University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, ³ Population Health Sciences, Bristol Medical School, University of Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom, ⁴ Medical Research Council Centre for Neuropsychiatric Genetics and Genomics, Cardiff University, Cardiff, United Kingdom, ⁵ Division of Mental Health & Wellbeing, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jean Marc Guile, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France

Reviewed by:

Lin Sørensen, University of Bergen, Norway Stephanie Ameis, Hospital for Sick Children, Canada

*Correspondence: Slava Dantchev s.dantchev@warwick.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 May 2019 Accepted: 13 August 2019 Published: 24 September 2019

Citation:

Dantchev S, Hickman M, Heron J, Zammit S and Wolke D (2019) The Independent and Cumulative Effects of Sibling and Peer Bullying in Childhood on Depression, Anxiety, Suicidal Ideation, and Self-Harm in Adulthood. Front. Psychiatry 10:651. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00651 Sibling and peer bullying are reported as the most frequent forms of violence experienced across childhood. There is now ample evidence indicating an association between sibling and peer bullying, with those reporting sibling bullying at an increased risk of peer bullying. While there is convincing evidence of a causative association between peer bullying and a range of mental health outcomes, sibling bullying continues to receive far less attention. The aim of this study was to explore whether sibling bullying roles (non-involved, victim, bully-victim, bully) in middle childhood were independently associated with clinical diagnoses of depression and anxiety and reports of suicidal ideation and self-harm in early adulthood. We further tested whether there was a cumulative relationship between involvement in sibling and peer bullying victimization. This study was based on up to 3,881 youth from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children, a prospective birth-cohort based in the United Kingdom. Sibling and peer bullying was assessed via self-report when youth were 12 years of age, while depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm were assessed via self-administered computerized interviews at 24 years of age. Involvement as a sibling bully-victim was associated with clinical diagnosis of depression (OR = 1.91, 95% CI: 1.33-2.72), while sibling victims were at increased odds of both suicidal ideation (OR = 1.52; 95% Cl, 1.16-1.98) as well as suicidal self-harm (OR = 2.20, 95% CI, 1.36–3.58) in early adulthood, even after accounting for concurrent peer bullying and a range of other pre-existing childhood confounders. Sibling and peer bullying were further associated in a homotypic manner. A dose-response relationship of bullying in the home and school across mental health outcomes was found. Youth victimized by both their siblings and peers displayed the highest odds of developing clinical depression, suicidal ideation, and self-harm. Children bullied at home and at school had no safe place to escape the bullying and torment. Our findings highlight the

need for intervention studies tailored toward reducing sibling bullying, as these may hold large promise for alleviating a range of adverse outcomes, including the prevention of peer bullying, which may be contingent on early bullying experiences in the home environment.

Keywords: siblings, bullying, depression, anxiety, self-harm, ALSPAC

INTRODUCTION

Bullying occurs in social situations where a person cannot choose the peers they are interacting with and are instead "caged" together in an environment such as a school classroom or the work place. The prime example in which a child becomes "caged" together with others and is unable to leave or escape this environment is with siblings, in the family. Thus, repeated unwanted aggressive behavior by a sibling that intends to inflict harm either physically, psychologically, or socially and involves an imbalance of power is called sibling bullying (1). Peer and sibling violence have been reported as the most frequent forms of violence experienced across childhood exceeding any violence by adults (2, 3). While there is increased recognition of the adverse effects of peer bullying, sibling bullying is still largely perceived as normative behavior across development (4, 5) and continues to receive far less attention as opposed to peer bullying (6).

In the peer literature, there is now convincing evidence of a causative association between peer bullying and depression, anxiety and self-harm (7-11). The general consensus from the literature suggests that peer victims are at increased risk of internalizing disorders, whereas peer bullies are at increased risk of externalizing disorders, with peer bullyvictims suffering the greatest adult consequences, including both more internalizing and externalizing disorders (12). Findings from meta-analyses indicate that involvement in any peer bullying increases the risk of suicidal ideation and behavior (13), whereas peer victimization, in contrast to peer bullying perpetration, has specifically been associated with an elevated risk of anxiety disorders, depression, self-harm, suicidal ideation, and attempts (10, 11), even after accounting for other major childhood risk factors, trauma and genetic liability (14). In contrast, research on the adverse outcomes of sibling bullying is still in its infancy. There is an emerging body of research linking sibling bullying in childhood to a range of internalizing and mental health problems both concurrently and prospectively (6, 15–22).

To the best of our knowledge there has only been one previous prospective study exploring the relationship between sibling bullying and the risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm. Using a sample of over 6,900 children from the Avon Longitudinal Sample of Parents and Children (ALSPAC) in the UK, Bowes et al. (16) found that sibling bullying victimization increased the risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm two-fold, with results remaining similar in strength for depression and self-harm even after accounting for a range of childhood confounders. Replications of such findings have been limited to cross-sectional designs. For instance, Coyle et al. (6) found that sibling bullying victimization was associated with increased risk for anxiety and depressive symptoms, over and beyond the experience of peer bullying in a sample of 372 US students. Similarly, Bar-Zomer and Klomek (15) reported an association between involvement in any kind of sibling bullying (victimization and perpetration) and greater risk for depression and suicidal ideation, using a sample of 279 Israeli students. In order to consolidate these findings, future replications are needed using prospective studies in large samples.

A further caveat of the literature is the lack of studies exploring the differential outcomes according to sibling bullying status groups. Children are typically classified into one of four bullying groups: non-involved, victims, bully-victims or bullies. These classifications are important, as children have been found to experience differential mental health and behavioral outcomes depending on their role in sibling bullying (17, 18, 23). In the peer literature, bully-victims have been reported to be at a particular risk of developing mental health problems, especially in relation to depression, anxiety and suicidality (7, 9, 24, 25). Research exploring differential outcomes in relation to sibling bullying roles is scant. Only a handful of studies suggest a similar trend for sibling bully-victims for internalizing problems (18), psychotic disorders (23) as well as high-risk behavior (17). There are however, no previous studies that have tested whether sibling bullying involvement is differentially associated with depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation or self-harm depending on the sibling bullying role. Previous research has either focused solely on sibling bullying victimization (6, 16) or has combined victimization and perpetration into the same underlying construct, without teasing out the mutually independent groups (15). Hence, there is a pressing need for prospective studies to explore the relationship between involvement in different sibling bullying roles and depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm.

Finally, there is now robust evidence indicating an association between bullying across the home and school context, with those children reporting sibling bullying found at an increased risk of peer bullying involvement (26–29). The association has been, where investigated, found to be homotypic with victims of sibling bullying also more likely to be victims in peer bullying and bullies and bully/victims more often perpetrators or bully/ victims in peer relationships (27). Furthermore, experimental research indicates that those involved in sibling aggression in toddlerhood are more likely to also use aggressive strategies with peers 18 months later (30). Thus, sibling bullying appears to precede peer bullying involvement. In other words, those children who are victims at home are more likely to be victims at school and may therefore have no safe space to escape the bullying. Hence, the negative effects of trauma have been reported to be additive (14). Indeed, there is some evidence suggesting a cumulative risk of involvement in both sibling and peer bullying with a range of adverse outcomes including clinically significant behavioral outcomes and mental health distress (19, 20, 26, 29). Findings using longitudinal data have furthermore found that children involved in bullying across the sibling and peer context are at increased risk of psychotic disorder (23) as well as high-risk behavior (17) lasting until early adulthood. It is unknown, whether the there is a similar longitudinal doseeffect relationship between involvement in both sibling and peer bullying in childhood with depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation or self-harm into early adulthood.

In summary, there is an urgent need for prospective longitudinal studies that investigate both sibling and peer bullying and that distinguish the differential effects of involvement in sibling bullying as victims, bully-victims, or bullies compared to non-involved children. Such prospective designs may further help determine the individual and joint additive or moderating effects of sibling versus peer bullying on depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm, while controlling for pre-existing mental health problems and other confounders at the same time.

This study builds on previous work conducted by Bowes et al. (16) incorporating a new wave of data collection on clinical diagnosis of depression and anxiety disorder, suicidal ideation, and self-harm a further 6 years on at 24 years of age. We addressed the following research question: (1) Are sibling bullying roles (non-involved, victim, bully-victim, bully) differentially associated with depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in late adolescence (at 18 years) and early adulthood (at 24 years)? (2) Does sibling bullying predict depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in early adulthood over and above peer bullying? (3) Is there a cumulative relationship between sibling and peer bullying in middle childhood and depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm in early adulthood?

METHOD

Study Design

This study draws on data from the Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC). Pregnant women residing in Avon, UK with expected dates of delivery from 1st April 1991 to 31st December 1992 were invited to take part in the study. The initial number of pregnancies enrolled in the study was 14,541, which included all women who had completed and returned at least one questionnaire or attended one of the 'Children in Focus' clinic sessions. There were a total of 14,062 live births and 13,988 children were alive at 1 year of age. Participant data has been collected on the mothers, fathers and children from early pregnancy and has been measured via questionnaires and regular clinic visits. Children have been invited to attend a total of 10 assessment clinics, including face-to-face interviews and psychological and physical tests, from age 7 years onward. Detailed reports on the recruitment and enrollment processes of the mother and child cohort are available in the cohort profiles (31-33). Part of this data was collected using REDCap (https:// projectredcap.org/resources/citations/). Please note that the study website contains details of all the data that is available through a fully searchable data dictionary and variable search tool (http://www.bristol.ac.uk/alspac/researchers/our-data/).

Ethical approval for the study was obtained from the ALSPAC Ethics and Law Committee (IRB No. 00003312) and the local research ethics committees (Bristol and Weston Health Authority, Southmead Health Authority and Frenchay Health Authority). Informed consent for the use of data collected *via* questionnaires and clinics was obtained from participants following the recommendations of the ALSPAC Ethics and Law Committee at the time.

Sample

At the 12-year assessment questionnaires were sent out to 11,132 eligible families of which 7,505 (67.4%) were completed and returned. Children without siblings (N = 477; 6.4%) were excluded, resulting in a starting sample of 6,928 youth who completed detailed questions on sibling bullying when they were on average 12.1 years old. Outcome data was available for up to 3,881 adolescents at 24 years. We further omitted participants who presented any psychiatric diagnosis (DSM-IV Axis I diagnoses; N = 475) prior to our measure of exposure (sibling bullying) throughout our all analysis. An illustration of our complete data sample across each outcome measure is provided in **Figure 1**.

Assessment of Sibling Bullying

Sibling bullying was assessed via an adapted version of the Olweus Bullying Questionnaire (18, 34) when children were approximately 12 years of age. Youth were first told that they would be asked a series of questions about sibling bullying explaining that this meant when a brother or sister 'tries to upset [them] by saying nasty and hurtful things, or completely ignores [them] from their group of friends, hits, kicks, pushed, or shoves [them] around, tells lies or makes up false rumors about [them]'. Youth were asked to report whether they had ever been bullied by a sibling at home in the past 6 months via a 5-point Likert-scale (0 = never; 1 = only ever once or twice; 2 = 2 or 3 times a month; 3 = about once a week; 4 = several times a week). Youth were then asked to report on their experience of specific types of sibling bullying via 6 items, including physical (hitting, kicking or shoving), psychological (being called nasty names; making fun of), property-based (having belongings damaged or taken) and social (excluding; telling lies or spreading rumors), using the same 5-point Likert scale. In order to determine the frequency of sibling bullying victimization, the highest reported frequency across all items was used. Youth were also asked about sibling bullying perpetration, using the same method described above. The internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha) across victimization (a = .80) and perpetration items (a = .74) was found to be high.

Youth were also classified into one of four sibling bullying roles (non-involved, victim, bully-victim, bully) using a cutoff of frequent sibling bullying (at least once a week). Youth reporting no bullying at all *or* bullying experiences less than once a week were categorized as 'non-involved'. Youth reporting frequent victimization only were categorized as 'victims'. Youth reporting frequent perpetration only were categorized as 'bullies.



Youth reporting *both* frequent victimization and perpetration were categorized as 'bully-victims'.

Assessment of Peer Bullying

Peer bullying was assessed via a modified version of the Bullying and Friendship Interview Schedule (35) when children were 12 years of age. Youth were told that they would be asked a few questions about school, explaining that some 'children are sometimes picked on, threatened, hit or beaten by other children' and that 'these children can be in [their] class or [they] can meet them in the school playground or on [their] way to school'. Youth were asked to report on their experience of direct and indirect victimization in the past 6 months via a 4-point Likert-scale (0 = never; 1 = 1-3 times; 2 = 4 or more times; 3 =at least once per week). Direct victimization was assessed via 5 items (hitting or beating; threatening or blackmailing; taking personal belongings; tricking in a nasty way; calling bad/ nasty names), while indirect victimization was assessed via 4 items (telling lies or nasty things about them; spoiling games; excluding to upset them; pressuring them to do things they don't want to). Victimization was coded present if youth reported any of the bullying behavior occurring at least four or more times in the past 6 months. Youth were also asked about peer bullying perpetration, using the same method described above. Peer bullying groups (victims, bully-victims, bullies) were constructed using a cut-off of frequent peer bullying experiences (>4 times in the last 6 months) using the algorithm as described above for sibling bullying (9).

Outcomes

Outcome measures were collected during two focus clinic sessions. Depression and anxiety were derived *via* the Computerized Interview

Schedule — Revised (CIS-R), a self-administered computerized interview which derives a diagnoses based on algorithms according to the International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10) criteria for depression and anxiety disorder within the time frame of the past 2 weeks. The computerized version of the CIS-R has been found to show close agreement with the interviewer administered version (36, 37). Questions on suicidal ideation and self-harm were based on items used in the Child and Adolescent Self-Harm in Europe (CASE) study (38).

Depression

Depression at 18 and 24 years was assessed according to the severity (frequency, duration and unpleasantness) of the core symptoms of depressive disorders (depression, depressive thoughts, fatigue, sleep and concentration problems) experienced in the last 2 weeks, using algorithms based on ICD-10 criteria, classifying individuals as presenting a mild, moderate or severe diagnosis of depression. A binary variable was constructed (0 = no depression; 1 = mild, moderate or severe depression).

Anxiety

Anxiety at 18 years was assessed according to presence of either one of the following anxiety disorders: generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, specific/isolated phobia, panic disorder or agoraphobia as derived by algorithms based on ICD-10 criteria of symptoms of anxiety disorders in the last 2 weeks. Anxiety at 24 years was assessed in the same way, with the exception of agoraphobia which was excluded due to the small number of those diagnosed (<5). Positive responses were collapsed into a binary variable (0 = no anxiety; 1 = at least one anxiety disorder), one for anxiety disorder at 18 years and one for anxiety disorder at 24 years.

Suicidal Ideation

Suicidal ideation was assessed at 24 years only *via* 1 item asking participants whether they had ever had thoughts about killing themselves at some point during their lifetime (39). Responses were coded as a binary variable (0 = not present; 1 = present).

Self-Harm

Lifetime history of self-harm was assessed at 18 years and 24 years. At 18 years self-harm was assessed using a binary variable (0 = no self-harm; 1 = self-harm) coded from responses to the following question: "Have you ever hurt yourself on purpose in any way (e.g., by taking an overdose of pills, or by cutting yourself)?" (16). Self-harm at 24 years was assessed via 3 items. Participants were first asked whether they had ever hurt themselves on purpose in any way. Those who responded positively to that question were classified as presenting a history of self-harm. Two additional questions were then asked in order to differentiate between those who had self-harmed with suicidal intent from those who had self-harmed without suicidal intent at some point during their lifetime (39, 40). Epidemiological studies have found that there are differences in prevalence, frequency as well as contributing risk factors between self-harm that occurs with an intention to die and self-harm that occurs without an intention to die (40, 41). In order to differentiate between these two forms of self-harm we constructed two binary variables: one reflecting suicidal self-harm (0 = not present;1 = present) and one reflecting non-suicidal self-harm (0 =not present; 1 = present).

Potential Confounders

Precursors were included as potential confounders if they were assessed prior 8 years of age (self-reported onset of sibling bullying victimization and perpetration).

Maternal depression was assessed at 32 weeks' gestation in pregnancy via the Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (42). Birth order was assessed at 7 years and used as a binary variable (0 = later born; 1 = first-born). Internalizing and externalizing problems were assessed via the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ; 43) according to maternal reports when the study child was 7 years. The emotional subscale was used in order to assess internalizing problems, whereas the conduct problems and hyperactivity scales were used in order to assess externalizing problems. Previous mental health was assessed via the Development and Well-being Assessment (DAWBA; 44) based on parental reports when children were 7 years old. Children were coded as presenting no DSM-IV Axis I diagnoses (N = 5,697, 90.4%) or one or more DSM-IV Axis I diagnoses of attention deficit hyperactivity disorder, conduct disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, depression, or anxiety (45). Peer bullying at 8 years was assessed via the Bullying and Friendship Interview Schedule (35) using the same cutoff criteria as described for peer bullying at 12 years above. Maltreatment was assessed via maternal reports and coded as present if mothers reported children's experience of physical or sexual abuse, or if their child had been put into care across three timepoints (18, 30 or 42 months) (16). Domestic violence was assessed *via* maternal reports and coded as present if mothers reported any physical or emotional cruelty from their partner across four timepoints (8, 21, 33 or 47 months) (46).

Statistical Analysis

All analysis was conducted using STATA version 14.0. χ^2 analysis were first performed in order to examine whether there were any sex differences across sibling bullying victimization and perpetration. Further χ^2 tests were then performed in order to test for dependency between sibling and peer bullying involvement across the different roles (**Table 3**).

A set of binary logistic regression analyses were carried out in order to assess whether sibling bullying roles (non-involved, victim, bully-victim, bully) were associated with mental health outcomes. In order to assess the crude associations between sibling bullying roles and depression, anxiety and self-harm at 18 years (late adolescence) a set of three binary logistic regression models were run (see **Table 4**). In order to assess the crude associations between sibling bullying roles and depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm (with and without suicidal intention) at 24 years (early adulthood) a set of five binary logistic regression models were run (see **Table 5**). Odds ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) are reported.

Next, we tested whether bullying victimization across multiple contexts (home and school) would result in a cumulative risk of a diagnosis of depression, anxiety disorders, suicidal ideation or self-harm in early adulthood (see **Table 5**). Sibling or peer bullying victimization was considered present if children qualified as either a victim or a bully-victim. An ordinal variable was created for sibling and peer bullying victimization (noninvolved, either or both). Separate binary logistic regression models were run for each one of the outcome measures, reflecting the crude associations.

Bonferroni corrections were applied across our models in order to account for multiple testing and guard against type I error (47).

In order to account for missing data by attrition, we applied fully conditional specification equations as implemented in Multiple Imputations by Chained Equations algorithm (MICE) in STATA 14 ("mi impute" command). An averaged parameter estimate of 60 imputed datasets was used according to Rubin's rule (48). In order to improve our model, we included sociodemographic variables as auxiliary variables, as these have been associated with missingness in ALSPAC. We then re-ran our initial binary logistic regression models using the imputed dataset, this time including all confounding variables. We further omitted participants who presented any psychiatric diagnosis (DSM-IV Axis I diagnoses according to DAWBA) prior to our measure of exposure (sibling bullying) throughout our regression models in order to additionally guard for reverse causality. Adjusted analyses are found within the same tables as the unadjusted analyses, in order to allow for direct comparisons (Tables 5 and 6). We were able to impute up to the same starting sample as seen in our crude logistic regression models.

RESULTS

Prevalence and Characteristics of Sibling and Peer Bullying

Children reported the onset of sibling bullying victimization (M = 8.3, SD = 2.51) and perpetration (M = 8.7, SD = 2.51) around 8 years of age. Females were more often victimized (55.84%), $\chi^2(1) = 6.32$, p = 0.012, whereas males were more often the perpetrators of sibling bullying (51.2), $\chi^2(1) = 13.31$, p < 0.001. The most frequent types of sibling bullying behavior were either physical (hitting, kicking, pushing or shoving) or psychological (name calling or making fun of). Property-based and social forms of sibling bullying were less common (see **Table 1**).

Sibling bullying (31.2%) was overall reported more frequently compared to peer bullying (27.6%). Most children involved in sibling bullying were bully-victims (N = 914, 13.4%) or victims (N = 878, 12.8%), with bullies making up the smallest group (N = 342, 5%). In contrast, most children involved in peer bullying were victims (N = 1,166, 17.7%), followed by bully-victims (N = 459, 7%) and bullies (N = 192, 2.9%).

Table 2 provides an overview of the prevalence of our mental health outcomes across our overall sample as well as specific to the sibling bullying and peer bullying groups.

TABLE 1 Frequencies of different types of sibling bullying victimization ar	۱d
perpetration behaviors.	

Type of bullying ^a	Victimization N (% of total sample)	Perpetration N (% of total sample)
Hit, kicked, pushed, or shoved	1,015 (31.0)	760 (27.4)
Possessions damaged or taken	210 (6.4)	65 (2.4)
Called names	1,357 (41.3)	945 (33.9)
Made fun of	1,021 (31.3)	562 (20.5)
Ignored or left out of games or social groups	357 (11.0)	227 (8.2)
Told lies or spread rumors	270 (8.3)	54 (2.0)
Bullied in another way	126 (4.3)	42 (1.7)

^aAll types of sibling bullying are considered present if reported at least once a week.

Association Between Sibling and Peer Bullying

Sibling and peer bullying were significantly associated ($\chi^2(1) = 179.27$, p < 0.001). Multinomial logistic regression analyses revealed a homotypic relationship between sibling and peer bullying. Sibling victim and bully-victim status predicted peer victim status; Sibling bully and bully-victim status was associated with peer bully status; Involvement in any kind of sibling bullying role predicted peer bully-victim status (see **Table 3**).

Associations With Depression, Anxiety, Suicidal Ideation, and Self-Harm

Youth involved as sibling bully-victims in middle childhood were at increased risk for clinical depression (OR = 2.23; 95% CI, 1.54–3.22) and anxiety (OR = 1.72; 95% CI, 1.22–2.41), as well as self-harm (OR = 2.06; 95% CI, 1.7–2.89) in late adolescence at 18 years. Moreover, youth involved as sibling bully-victims in middle childhood were nearly twice the odds of being diagnosed with depression in early adulthood at 24 years (OR = 1.91; 95% CI, 1.33–2.72). Youth experiencing sibling victimization, either as a victim or a bully-victim were further at an increased risk of suicidal ideation (victims: OR = 1.52; 95% CI, 1.16–1.98; bully-victims: OR = 1.54; 95% CI, 1.19–1.99) as well as suicidal self-harm (OR = 2.20, 95% CI, 1.36–3.58) in early adulthood. Associations remained and similar in strength once all childhood confounders were included into the imputed and adjusted model (see **Tables 4** and **5**).

Youth who were victimized by their siblings as well as their peers were at a two-fold increased risk of depression (OR = 1.97; 95% CI, 1.21-3.21) and suicidal ideation (OR = 2.37, 95% CI, 1.69-3.33) as well suicidal self-harm (OR = 3.46, 95% CI, 1.92-6.25). The odds of depression, suicidal ideation, and self-harm behavior were only slightly attenuated once all confounders were included in the imputed and adjusted model (see **Table 6**). A linear trend was observed for depression, suicidal ideation, and suicidal self-harm, suggestive of a cumulative relationship between multiple victimization (home and school environment) and increased likelihood of clinical depression or engagement in suicidal ideations self-harm.

		Depression	Anxiety	Suicidal ideation	Non-suicidal self-harm	Suicidal self-harm
Siblings	Non-involved	8.5	8.9	26.6	15.1	3.9
U U	Victim	10.0	8.7	35.4	16.2	8.3
	Bully-victim	15.1	12.5	35.7	16.1	4.9
	Bully	9.0	7.1	31.0	14.0	2.0
	Overall sample	9.6	9.3	29.0	15.3	4.5
Peers	Non-involved	8.5	8.0	24.7	13.8	3.7
	Victim	10.8	11.6	35.9	20.2	8.0
	Bully-victim	14.2	16.0	44.7	19.4	11.2
	Bully	16.9	10.2	44.1	25.4	8.5
	Overall sample	9.5	9.2	28.5	15.6	5.1

TABLE 2 Prevalence of mental health outcomes at 24 years according to sibling and peer bullying roles at 12 years (in percentage).

Non-Involved, Youth reporting no frequent* victimization or perpetration; Victims, Youth reporting frequent victimization only; Bully-Victims, Youth reporting both frequent victimization and perpetration; Bullies, Youth reporting frequent perpetration only.

*Frequent, At least once a week in the past 6 months.

TABLE 3 | Associations between sibling and peer bullying at 12 years.

RR (95% CI)			Sibling bullying s	tatus		
Peer bullying status	Victim	p Value	Bully-Victim	p Value	Bully	p Value
Victims	1.43 (1.14–1.78)	0.002	1.85 (1.49-2.28)	0.000	1.39 (0.99–1.95)	0.056
Bully-victim	2.14 (1.52-3.02)	0.000	4.78 (3.62-6.32)	0.000	3.32 (2.16-1.63)	0.000
Bully	1.47 (0.87–2.48)	0.149	2.41 (1.54-3.79)	0.000	3.14 (1.77-5.58)	0.000

RR, Relative risk ratios; CI, Confidence intervals.

Victims, Youth reporting victimization only; Bully-Victims, Youth reporting both victimization and perpetration; Bullies, Youth reporting perpetration only. Bold = p < .05.

TABLE 4 Associations between sibling bullying status groups a	at 12 years and depression, anxiety and self-harm	at 18 years.
---	---	--------------

	Sibling bullying status									
Outcome OR (95% CI)	Non-involved	Victim	p value	Bully-victim	p value	Bully	p value			
N = 2,802										
Depression										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.62 (1.07-2.45)	0.022	2.23 (1.54–3.22)	0.000	0.77 (0.33-1.78)	0.539			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.56 (1.03-2.37)	0.038	2.06 (1.41-3.01)	0.000	0.92 (0.39-2.16)	0.854			
Anxiety										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.04 (0.69–1.56)	0.853	1.72 (1.22-2.41)	0.002	0.60 (0.28-1.31)	0.198			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	0.99 (0.66-1.49)	0.959	1.57 (1.11-2.23)	0.011	0.71 (0.32-1.56)	0.389			
Self-Harm										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.38 (0.94–2.03)	0.103	2.06 (1.47-2.89)	0.000	0.88 (0.44-1.76)	0.713			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.29 (0. 87–1.91)	0.201	1.85 (1.31–2.61)	0.001	1.08 (0.53-2.20)	0.834			

OR, Odds ratio; CI, Confidence intervals.

Bold = p < 0.017 (Bonferroni correction).

Confounders included in imputed adjusted analysis: sex, maternal depression, internalizing and externalizing problems, peer bullying victimization and perpetration, maltreatment, domestic violence.

Children presenting any psychiatric diagnosis at 7 years were excluded.

Non-Involved, Youth reporting no frequent* victimization or perpetration; Victims, Youth reporting frequent victimization only; Bully-Victims, Youth reporting both frequent victimization and perpetration. Bullies, Youth reporting frequent perpetration only.

*Frequent, At least once a week in the past 6 months.

DISCUSSION

This study finds that youth involved in sibling victimization were associated with an increased risk of clinical depression, anxiety and self-harm behavior in late adolescence, as well as clinical depression, suicidal ideation, and suicidal self-harm in early adulthood, even after accounting for a range of potential confounders. Moreover, concurrent sibling and peer bullying are found to overlap in a homotypic role specific manner. The effects of sibling and peer bullying were found to be cumulative for depression, suicidal ideation, and suicidal self-harm. Those bullied at home and by peers had double the odds of developing clinical depression and consider suicide and triple the odds to have self-harmed with a suicidal intention by early adulthood. In contrast, anxiety disorder appeared to be particularly associated with peer rather than sibling bullying.

Previous studies investigating the relationship between sibling bullying and depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, or self-harm have been limited to exploring just victimization or looked at involvement in sibling bullying in any role (6, 15, 16). This study extends prior work and adds to the literature by presenting for the first time evidence for a role specific relationship between sibling bullying involvement and depression, anxiety and selfharm related behavior. Our findings show that the strength of association is stronger for some roles than others, suggesting role specific effects for sibling victims and bully-victims in relation to depression, anxiety, suicidal ideation, and self-harm. It was found that youth involved as sibling bully-victims are associated with an increased risk of clinical anxiety and self-harm behavior in late adolescence and clinical depression in both late adolescence as well as early adulthood. On the other hand, youth involved as sibling victims only were associated with an increased risk of suicidal ideation and suicidal self-harm in early adulthood. These findings are partially in line with work by Bar-Zomer and Klomek (15) who reported involvement in any sibling bullying as a correlate of both clinical depression and suicidal ideation. It is however not possible to parcel out whether our results match those of Bar-Zomer and Klomek (15) in a role specific manner, as they did not tease out sibling victimization and perpetration from one another. Similarly, Coyle et al. (6) report a concurrent relationship between sibling victimization with depression and anxiety, while Bowes et al. (16) identified a prospective link between frequent sibling victimization with clinical depression and as self-harm.

Our results suggest that the link between sibling bullying in middle childhood with depression and self-harm related behavior may persist into early adulthood. Contrary to this, the association between sibling bullying and anxiety appears to be limited to late adolescence. In our adjusted models we found that pre-existing internalizing problems explained some of the

TABLE 5 Associations between sibling bullying status groups at 12 years and depression, anxiety suicidal ideation and self-harm at 24 years.

	Sibling bullying status									
Outcome OR (95% CI)	Uninvolved	Victim	p value	Bully-victim	p value	Bully	p value			
Depression					·					
N = 2,373										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.19 (0.78–1.81)	0.423	1.91 (1.33–2.72)	0.000	1.06 (0.52-2.15)	0.870			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.19 (0.78–1.83)	0.421	1.78 (1.23-2.58)	0.002	1.14 (.55-2.36	0.719			
Anxiety										
N = 2,359										
Unadjusted	Reference	0.97 (0.62-1.50)	0.874	1.46 (1.00-2.13)	0.052	0.78 (0.35-1.50)	0.526			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	0.92 (0.59-1.45)	0.732	1.33 (.90-1.96)	0.152	0.86 (9.38-1.92)	0.712			
Suicidal ideation										
N = 2, 372										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.52 (1.16–1.98)	0.002	1.54 (1.19–1.99)	0.001	1.24 (0.80-1.92)	0.331			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.47 (1.12–1.92)	0.005	1.40 (1.07-1.82)	0.013	1.20 (0.76–1.88)	0.432			
Non-suicidal self-harm										
N = 2,372										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.09 (0.78–1.53)	0.621	1.08 (0.78–1.51)	0.642	0.92 (0.51-1.64)	0.770			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.05 (0.74–1.59)	0.774	0.99 (0.70-1.40)	0.960	1.13 (0.62–2.06)	0.690			
Suicidal self-harm										
N = 2, 372										
Unadjusted	Reference	2.20 (1.36-3.58)	0.001	1.27 (0.71–2.25)	0.418	0.50 (0.12-2.07)	0.337			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	2.19 (1.34–3.59)	0.002	1.22 (0.68–2.19)	0.498	0.57 (0.14-2.39)	0.441			

OR, Odds ratio; CI, Confidence intervals.

Bold = p < 0.010 (Bonferroni correction).

Confounders included in imputed adjusted analysis: sex, birth order, maternal depression, internalizing and externalizing problems, peer bullying victimization and perpetration, maltreatment, domestic violence.

Children presenting any psychiatric diagnosis at 7 years were excluded.

Non-Involved, Youth reporting no frequent* victimization or perpetration; Victims, Youth reporting frequent victimization only; Bully-Victims, Youth reporting both frequent victimization and perpetration; Bullies, Youth reporting frequent perpetration only.

*Frequent, At least once a week in the past 6 months.

TABLE 6 | Individual and cumulative effects of sibling and peer bullying at 12 years and depression, anxiety suicidal ideation and self-harm at 24 years.

	Sibling and peer bullying status									
Outcome OR (95% CI)	Uninvolved	Either	p value	Both	p value	Linear trend	p value			
Depression										
N = 2,117										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.50 (1.09-2.05)	0.012	1.97 (1.21–3.21)	0.006	1.43 (1.16–1.78)	0.001			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.45 (1.05-1.99)	0.024	1.90 (1.15-3.13)	0.012	1.40 (1.12-1.75)	0.003			
Anxiety										
N = 2,105										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.85 (1.35–2.53)	0.000	1.78 (1.05–3.01)	0.032	1.49 (1.20–1.85)	0.000			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.73 (1.26-2.39)	0.001	1.60 (0.94-2.75)	0.085	1.41 (1.13-1.76)	0.003			
Suicidal ideation										
N = 2,118										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.61 (1.31–1.97)	0.000	2.37 (1.69–3.33)	0.000	1.57 (1.36–1.81)	0.000			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.54 (1.25-1.90)	0.000	2.18 (1.54-3.07)	0.000	1.50 (1.30-1.74)	0.000			
Non-suicidal self-harm										
N = 2,117										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.36 (1.06–1.75)	0.016	1.32 (0.85–2.05)	0.211	1.23 (1.03-1.47)	0.024			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.31 (1.01-1.69)	0.041	1.27 (0.81-1.98)	0.303	1.19 (0.99-1.44)	0.060			
Suicidal self-harm										
N = 2,117										
Unadjusted	Reference	1.79 (1.15–2.79)	0.010	3.46 (1.92-6.25)	0.000	1.85 (1.39–2.45)	0.000			
Imputed adjusted	Reference	1.77 (1.13–2.78)	0.012	3.47 (1.90-6.34)	0.000	1.84 (1.38–2.46)	0.000			

OR, Odds ratio; CI, Confidence intervals.

Bold = p < 0.010 (Bonferroni correction).

Confounders included in imputed adjusted analysis: sex, birth order, maternal depression, internalizing and externalizing problems, psychiatric diagnosis, peer bullying victimization and perpetration, maltreatment, domestic violence.

Children presenting any psychiatric diagnosis at 7 years were excluded.

Non-Involved, Youth reporting no frequent* victimization or perpetration; Victims, Youth reporting frequent victimization only; Bully-Victims, Youth reporting both frequent victimization and perpetration; Bullies, Youth reporting frequent perpetration only.

*Frequent, At least once a week in the past 6 months.

observed variance, suggesting that the association between bullying and anxiety disorders may rather be understood as a function of pre-existing internalizing problems as opposed to a causal effect of sibling victimization per se. Anxiety disorders are furthermore reported as an early onset disorder (48), hence it may be that the exclusion of children with a psychiatric diagnosis in early childhood resulted in the desisting association between sibling bullying and clinical anxiety in early adulthood.

Nevertheless, our overall findings in relation to differential sibling bullying group outcomes resonate well within the peer literature. Peer victimization has been proposed as a robust contributing factor towards the development of internalizing problems (12), with those children falling into the bully-victim group at the greatest risk for poor mental health outcomes (7, 9, 24, 25), as mirrored by our results.

In contrast, prospective studies have previously reported for peer bullying (7, 49) that those who are bullies were at no increased risk for emotional disorders, self-harm or suicidal ideation. This is consistent with an evolutionary model of bullying that suggests bullying perpetration as an evolutionarily adaptive behavior (50). Recent evidence from ALSPAC has shown that sibling bullying perpetration was best predicted by structural family characteristics (51) including larger households with more children, being older and male, all of which are factors contributing towards a heightened competition of resource availability within the family system. These findings underline that aggression or fighting may be utilized as a mechanism for children to secure resources and restore social dominance (52) within their social group (family or peer group), thereby gaining desired outcomes including affection, attention or material goods within the family system or social status and mating opportunities within the peer context (53, 54). Along these lines, bullying perpetration may even act protective against adverse health outcomes, as mirrored by our results in which youth who acted as bullies were no more likely than non-involved youth to develop depression, anxiety, suicidal ideations, or self-harm behavior.

Findings from this study further demonstrate that sibling bullying victimization in middle childhood is an independent risk factor towards the development of clinical depression, suicidal ideation, and suicidal self-harm in early adulthood above and beyond the influence of peer bullying as well as other early childhood predictors of poor mental health, parallel to previous work on the link between sibling victimization and internalizing problems (6, 16). This evidence strongly suggests that sibling bullying should not be normalized as a harmless rite of passage. It further stresses that sibling bullying should be considered as a unique contributing factor towards adverse mental health and wellbeing, beyond peer bullying and must therefore be appropriately addressed by families and practitioners. These unique effects were found despite a significant association between sibling and peer bullying. The cross-over between sibling and peer bullying was found to be homotypic, i.e. role specific consistent with previous reports (21, 26, 27, 29). In other words, children who were sibling victims or bully-victims at home were more likely peer victims in school, while sibling bullies and bullyvictims at home were more often peer bullies at school.

Finally, a dose-response effect relationship of exposure to victimization across multiple contexts and mental health outcomes

was found. Youth who were victimized by their siblings and their peers displayed higher odds of adult mental health problems across the domains of clinical depression, suicidal ideation, and suicidal self-harm, as opposed to youth involved in either sibling or peer victimization alone. Unlike previous work from the peer literature, suggesting bullying victimization as a common risk factor of both suicidal and non-suicidal self-harm (40), our findings suggest sibling bullying as well as poly-victimization across the sibling and peer context as specific risk factors more strongly associated with suicidal self-harm. These findings extend findings from cross-sectional studies of sibling and peer bullying and emotional problems (19, 20, 29) that this cumulative effect is confirmed using clinical diagnosis and longitudinal data, affecting depression suicidal ideation, and self-harm up to 12 years later. These findings further indicate that bullying as a trauma is most harmful when youths experience this at home as well as at school. For the affected youth it means that they have no safe place to escape to and this increases the risk of serious mental health problems such as suicidal ideation, self-harming, and depression. Peer and sibling bullying are traumas that should be considered at par with traumas such as physical or sexual abuse (14). However, as both peer and sibling bullying are more frequent than abuse and maltreatment by adults (2, 3, 14), their impact on population health may exceed those of adult maltreatment (9).

While we did find some evidence of a linear trend between poly-victimization and clinical anxiety in early adulthood, we did not find a cumulative effect of sibling and peer victimization when explored as an ordinal term. One reason for this may be that child individual differences may have accounted for a large proportion of the observed variance, as illustrated for child internalizing problems in our adjusted imputed model. In the peer literature, there is indeed evidence suggesting that children who suffer from internalizing disorders are more likely to become victimized (8). Alternatively, it may also be that peer bullying plays a more substantial role in the development of anxiety disorders (9, 55) compared to sibling bullying, as reflected in our findings. Lastly, it is possible that anxiety may not persist beyond late adolescence.

Strengths and Weaknesses

This study has a number of strengths. First, the longitudinal nature of our study design allowed us to prospectively assess a large number of potential confounding variables from pregnancy until childhood, thereby decreasing measurement error and bias and increasing the confidence in a causal relationship between our exposure and outcome measures. Additionally, excluding children who were classified as presenting a psychiatric disorder in early childhood, prior to our measure of exposure (sibling bullying), minimized reverse causation and thereby increases confidence in our findings. Moreover, we were able to prospectively explore mental health outcomes up to 12 years after the assessment of sibling bullying, allowing us to test whether the experience of sibling bullying could predict depression, anxiety and self-harm related thoughts and behaviors into early adulthood. This study also utilized Bonferroni correction across our regression models in order to guard against type I error, thereby making our analysis more conservative and in turn increasing the confidence in our findings.

There are also limitations to this study. Longitudinal data like ALSPAC is naturally prone to missing data over a 24 year study period, allowing for the possibility of attrition bias. However, there has been evidence demonstrating that accurate predictions are not compromised even in the face of selective dropout (56). Nonetheless, we additionally addressed the possibility of attrition bias by performing multiple imputations, thereby accounting for missing data and allowing us to impute up to our initial sample size. Another weakness of our study is that sibling bullying was measured at a single time point. Future work should strive to include multiple measures of sibling bullying in order to allow for the exploration of dose-response effect of chronicity, as it is often done within the peer literature (57). Nevertheless, our study shows that even a single measure of sibling bullying was sufficient to predict clinical depression and suicidal ideation, stressing the importance of considering sibling bullying as an additional specific risk factor towards the development of mental health problems. Finally, it should be noted that our exposure and outcome measures were assessed via self-report only, which may have biased our results. In the sibling literature, sibling bullying has been found to occur behind closed doors with parents often unaware of this behavior (1). Thus, selfreported sibling bullying may provide more accurate measures as opposed to parental reports. The use of the self-administered computerized CIS-R has further been shown to be a valid and unbiased measure of psychiatric disorder when compared to assessments administered through a human interviewer (58). Nonetheless, future studies should aim to include multi-rater reports of bullying and mental health outcomes in order to test whether associations will persist in a similar strength and to further reduce any bias that may result from youth's perception of bullying on mental health outcomes.

Conclusion

Our results have important practical and clinical implications. Firstly, it is essential for parents and health care professionals to be made aware that sibling victimization in childhood may result in lasting mental health consequences. Secondly, the effects of sibling bullying are at par with those of peer bullying where there is now convincing evidence for the detrimental effect on mental health (1, 10). Thirdly, those bullied at home by siblings are more likely to be involved in bullying at school. For the victims this means that they have no safe place to escape bullying and torment. Parents in particular may benefit from psychoeducational programs that help them recognize early warning signs of sibling bullying and support them towards intervening effectively in order to improve and foster long-lasting positive sibling relationships (59). Health professionals working with children and families on the other hand, should be encouraged to regularly enquire about sibling and peer bullying experiences, as these may be early warning signs of poor mental health and wellbeing (60). Finally, there is a need for the development, implementation and assessment of intervention studies that are specifically tailored towards reducing sibling bullying, as there are currently no well tested programs available (61, 62). Such interventions hold promise for alleviating a range of consequent negative outcomes, including the prevention of

peer bullying, which appears to be contingent on early bullying experiences in the home environment.

DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets analyzed for this study can be requested from ALSPAC. Please note that the study website contains details of all the data; this is available through a fully searchable data dictionary and variable search tool (http://www.bristol.ac.uk/ alspac/researchers/our-data/).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by ALSPAC Ethics and Law Committee (IRB No.00003312) and the local research ethics committees (Bristol and Weston Health Authority, Southmead Health Authority, and Frenchay Health Authority). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SD and DW contributed towards the design and interpretation of the data. SD was responsible for the analysis of the data and drafting of the work. DW provided a critical review and revisions of the work. SZ, MH, and JH contributed toward the acquisition of the data and contributed toward the final revisions.

FUNDING

The UK Medical Research Council and Wellcome (Grant ref: 102215/2/13/2) and the University of Bristol provide core support for ALSPAC. This publication is the work of the authors and SD and DW will serve as guarantors for the contents of this paper.

SZ and MH are supported by the NIHR Biomedical Research Centre at University Hospitals Bristol NHS Foundation Trust and the University of Bristol. The views expressed in this publication are those of the author(s) and not necessarily those of the NHS, the National Institute for Health Research or the Department of Health and Social Care.

A comprehensive list of grants funding is available on the ALSPAC website (http://www.bristol.ac.uk/alspac/external/ documents/grant-acknowledgements.pdf); This research was specifically funded by the Wellcome Trust and MRC (Grant ref. 076467/Z/05/Z) in relation to all of the depression, anxiety and self-harm measures collected at the Focus@24 clinic data.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are extremely grateful to all the families who took part in this study, the midwives for their help in recruiting them, and the whole ALSPAC team, which includes interviewers, computer and laboratory technicians, clerical workers, research scientists, volunteers, managers, receptionists and nurses.

REFERENCES

- Wolke D, Tippett N, Dantchev S. Bullying in the family: Sibling bullying. Lancet Psychiatry (2015) 2:917–29. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X
- Finkelhor D, Turner HA, Shattuck A, Hamby SL. Prevalence of childhood exposure to violence, crime, and abuse: Results from the National Survey of Children's Exposure to Violence. *JAMA Pediatrics* (2015) 169(8):746–54. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.0676
- Radford L, Corral S, Bradley C, Fisher HL. The prevalence and impact of child maltreatment and other types of victimization in the UK: findings from a population survey of caregivers, children and young people and young adults. *Child Abuse Neglect* (2013) 37(10):801–13. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.02.004
- Skinner JA, Kowlaski RM. Profiles of sibling violence. J Interpers Violence (2013) 28(8):1726–36. doi: 10.1177/0886260512468327
- Khan R, Rogers P. The normalization of sibling violence: does gender and personal experience of violence influence perceptions of physical assault against siblings? *J Interpers Violence* (2015) 30(3):437–58. doi: 10.1177/0886260514535095
- Coyle S, Demaray MK, Malecki CK, Tennant JE, Klossing J. The associations among sibling and peer-bullying, social support and internalizing behaviors. *Child and Youth Care Forum* (2017) 46(6):895–922. doi: 10.1007/ s10566-017-9412-3
- Copeland WE, Wolke D, Angold A, Costello EJ. Adult psychiatric outcomes of bullying and being bullied by peers in childhood and adolescence. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70(4):419–26. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504
- Brunstein Klomek A, Marrocco F, Kleinman M, Schonfeld IS, Gould MS. Bullying, depression, and suicidality in adolescents. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2007) 46(1):40–9. doi: 10.1097/01.chi.0000242237.84925.18
- Lereya ST, Copeland WE, Costello EJ, Wolke D. Adult mental health consequences of peer bullying and maltreatment in childhood: two cohorts in two countries. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2(6):524–31. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00165-0
- Moore SE, Norman RE, Suetani S, Thomas HJ, Sly PD, Scott JG. Consequences of bullying victimization in childhood and adolescence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Psychiatry* (2017) 7(1):60–76. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v7.i1.60
- Ttofi MM, Farrington DP, Lösel F, Loeber R. Do the victims of school bullies tend to become depressed later in life? A systematic review and metaanalysis of longitudinal studies. J Aggress Confl Peace Res (2011) 3(2):63–73. doi: 10.1108/17596591111132873
- 12. Klomek AB, Sourander A, Elonheimo H. Bullying by peers in childhood and effects on psychopathology, suicidality, and criminality in adulthood. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2:930–41. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00223-0
- Holt MK, Vivolo-Kantor AM, Polanin JR, Holland KM, DeGue S, Matjasko JL, et al. Bullying and suicidal ideation and behaviors: a metaanalysis. *Pediatrics* (2015) 135(2):e496–509. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-1864
- Croft J, Heron J, Teufel C, Cannon M, Wolke D, Thompson A, et al. Association of trauma type, age of exposure, and frequency in childhood and adolescence with psychotic experiences in early adulthood. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2019) 76(1):79–86. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3155
- Bar-Zomer J, Klomek AB. Attachment to parents as a moderator in the association between sibling bullying and depression or suicidal ideation among children and adolescents. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9(72):1–9. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00072
- Bowes L, Wolke D, Joinson C, Lereya ST, Lewis G. Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: a prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics* (2014) 134:e1032–39. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-0832
- Dantchev S, Wolke D. Sibling bullying at 12 years and high-risk behavior in early adulthood: a prospective cohort study. *Aggress Behav* (2019) 45(1):18–32. doi: 10.1002/ab.21793
- Toseeb U, McChesney G, Wolke D. The prevalence and psychopathological correlates of sibling bullying in children with and without autism spectrum disorder. J Autism Dev Disord (2018) 48(7):2308–18. doi: 10.1007/ s10803-018-3484-2
- Wolke D, Samara MM. Bullied by siblings: Association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2004) 45:1015–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x

- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D, Turner H, Shattuck A. Association of sibling aggression with child and adolescent mental health. *Pediatrics* (2013) 132(1):79–84. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-3801
- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D, Turner H, Shattuck AM. Sibling and peer victimization in childhood and adolescence. *Child Abuse Neglect* (2014) 38(10):1599–606. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.05.007
- van Berkel SR, Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D. The combination of sibling victimization and parental child maltreatment on mental health problems and delinquency. *Child Maltreat* (2018) 23(3):244–53. doi: 10.1177/1077559517751670
- Dantchev S, Zammit S, Wolke D. Sibling bullying in middle childhood and psychotic disorder at 18 years: a prospective cohort study. *Psychol Med* (2018) 48(14):2321–8. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717003841
- Espelage DL, Low S, Rao MA, Hong JS, Little TD. Family violence, bullying, fighting, and substance use among adolescents: a longitudinal mediational model. J Res Adolesc (2013) 24:1–13. doi: 10.1111/jora.12060
- Kelly EV, Newton NC, Stapinski LA, Slade T, Barrett EL, Conrod PJ, et al. Suicidality, internalizing problems and externalizing problems among adolescent bullies, victims and bully-victims. *Prev Med* (2015) 73:100–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.020
- Duncan RD. Peer and sibling aggression: an investigation of intraand extra-familial bullying. J Interpers Violence (1999) 14:871–86. doi: 10.1177/088626099014008005
- Tippett N, Wolke D. Aggression between siblings: associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggress Behav* (2015) 41:14–24. doi: 10.1002/ab.21557
- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D, Turner H. Patterns of sibling victimization as predictors of peer victimization in childhood and adolescence. J Fam Violence (2018) doi: 10.1007/s10896-018-0021-1
- 29. Wolke D, Skew AJ. Bullied at home and at school: relationship to behaviour problems and unhappiness. In: McFall S, editor. *Understanding society: early findings from the first wave of the UKs household longitudinal study.* Economic and Social Research Council (2011).
- Ensor R, Marks A, Jacobs L, Hughes C. Trajectories of antisocial behavior towards siblings predict antisocial behavior towards peers. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2010) 51:1208–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02276.x
- Boyd A, Folding J, Macleod J, Lawlor DA, Fraser A, Henderson J, et al. Cohort profile: the 'children of the 90s'-the index offspring of the Avon longitudinal study of parents and children. *Int J Epidemiol* (2013) 42:111–27. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys064
- Fraser A, Macdonald-Wallis C, Tilling K, Brody A, Golding J, Davey-Smith G, et al. The avon longitudinal study of parents and children: Alspac mothers cohort. Int J Epidemiol (2013) 42:97–110. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys066
- 33. Northstone K, Lewcock M, Groom A, Boyd A, Macleod J, Timpson N, et al. The Avon Longitudinal Study of Parents and Children (ALSPAC): an update on the enrolled sample of index children in 2019. Wellcome Open Res (2019) 2019, 4:51. doi: 10.12688/wellcomeopenres.15132.1
- 34. Olweus D. The Olweus bullying questionnaire (2007). Center City, MN: Hazelden.
- Wolke D, Woods S, Bloomfield L, Karstadt L. The association between direct and relational bullying and behaviour problems among primary school children. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2000)41(8):989–1002. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00687
- Bell T, Watson M, Sharp D, Lyons I, Lewis G. Factors associated with being a false positive on the General Health Questionnaire. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2005) 40:402–7. doi: 10.1007/s00127-005-0881-6
- Patton G, Coffey C, Posterino M, Carlin J, Wolfe R, Bowes G. A computerised screening instrument for adolescent depression: population-based validation and application to a two-phase case-control study. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* (1999) 34:166–72. doi: 10.1007/s001270050129
- Madge N, Hewitt A, Hawton K, Wilde EJD, Corcoran P, Fekete S, et al. Deliberate self-harm within an international community sample of young people: comparative findings from the Child & Adolescent Self-harm in Europe (CASE) Study. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2008) 49(6):667–77. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2008.01879.x
- Mars B, Heron J, Klonsky ED, Moran P, O'Connor RC, Tilling K, et al. Predictors of future suicide attempt among adolescents with suicidal

thoughts or non-suicidal self-harm: a population-based birth cohort study. Lancet Psychiatry (2019) 6(4):327-37. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(19)30030-6

- Mars B, Heron J, Crane C, Hawton K, Kidger J, Lewis G, et al. Differences in risk factors for self-harm with and without suicidal intent: findings from the ALSPAC cohort. J Affect Disorders (2014) 168:407–14. doi: 10.1016/j. jad.2014.07.009
- Muehlenkamp JJ, Kerr PL. Untangling a complex web: how non-suicidal selfinjury and suicide attempts differ. *Prevention Researcher* (2010) 17(1):8–10. doi: 10.1037/e515372010-002
- Cox. JL, Holden JM, Sagovsky R. Detection of postnatal depression. Development of the 10-item Edinburgh postnatal depression scale. Br J Psychiatry (1987) 150(6):782–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.150.6.782
- Goodman R. Psychometric properties of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2001) 40:1337–45. doi: 10.1097/00004583-200111000-00015
- 44. Goodman R, Ford T, Richards H, Gatward R, Meltzer H. The development and wellbeing assessment: description and initial validation of an integrated assessment of child and adolescent psychopathology. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2000) 41:645–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2000.tb02345.x
- 45. Schreier A, Wolke D, Thomas K, Horwood J, Hollis C, Gunnell D, et al. Prospective study of peer victimization in childhood and psychotic symptoms in a nonclinical population at age 12 years. Arch Gen Psychiatry (2009) 66:527–36. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.23
- Bowen E, Heron J, Waylen A, Wolke D, ALSPAC study team. Domestic violence risk during and after pregnancy: findings from a British longitudinal study. *BJOG* (2005) 112(8):1083–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2005.00653.x
- Armstrong RA. When to use Bonferroni correction. Ophthalmic Physiol Opt (2014) 34:502–8. doi: 10.1111/opo.12131
- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of DSM-IV disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* (2005) 62(6):593–602. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593
- Little RJA, Rubin DB. Statistical Analysis with Missing Data. 2nd edn. New York, NY: Wiley (2002). doi: 10.1002/9781119013563
- Wolke D, Copeland WE, Angold A, Costello J. Impact of bullying in childhood on adult health, wealth, crime and social outcomes. *Psychol Sci* (2013) 24:1958–70. doi: 10.1177/0956797613481608
- Dantchev S, Wolke D. Trouble in the nest: antecedents of sibling bullying victimization and perpetraion. *Dev Psychol* (2019) 55(5):1059–71. doi: 10.1037/dev0000700
- Hawley PH. The ontogenesis of social-dominance: a strategy-based evolutionary perspective. *Dev Rev* (1999) 19(1):97–132. doi: 10.1006/drev. 1998.0470

- Volk AA, Camilleri JA, Dane AV, Marini ZA. Is adolescent bullying an evolutionary adaptation? *Aggress Behav* (2012) 38:222–38. doi: 10.1002/ ab.21418
- Archer J. Can evolutionary principles explain patterns of family violence? Psychol Bull (2013) 139:403–40. doi: 10.1037/a0029114
- Takizawa R, Maughan B, Arseneault L. Adult health outcomes of childhood bullying victimization: evidence from a five-decade longitudinal British birth cohort. *Am J Psychiatry* (2014) 171(7):777–84. doi: 10.1176/appi. ajp.2014.13101401
- Wolke D, Waylen A, Samara M, Steer C, Goodman R, Ford T, et al. Selective drop-out in longitudinal studies and non-biased prediction of behavioral disorders. *Br J Psychiatry* (2009) 195:249–56. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108.053751
- Wolke D, Lereya ST, Fisher HL, Lewis G, Zammit S. Bullying in elementary school and psychotic experiences at 18 years: a longitudinal, populationbased cohort study. *Psychol Med* (2014) 44:2199–211. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291713002912
- Lewis G. Assessing psychiatric disorder with a human interviewer or a computer. J Epidemiol Commun Health (1994) 48:207–10. doi: 10.1136/ jech.48.2.207
- Pickering JA, Sanders MR. The protocol for a randomized controlled trial (RCT) of a brief intervention for parents of children experiencing sibling conflict. *Clin Psychol* (2016) 20:86–93. doi: 10.1111/cp.12051
- Scott E, Dale J, Russell R, Wolke D. Young people who are being bullied do they want general practice support? *BMC Fam Pract* (2016) 17(1):1–9. doi: 10.1186/s12875-016-0517-9
- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D. The state of interventions for sibling conflict and aggression: a systematic review. *Trauma Violence Abuse* (2017) 18(4):396–406. doi: 10.1177/1524838015622438
- Bouchard G, Plamondon A, Lachance-Grzela M. Parental intervention style and adult sibling conflicts: the mediating role of involvement in sibling bullying. J Soc Pers Relat (2019) 36(8):2585–602. doi: 10.1177/0265407518793227

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Dantchev, Hickman, Heron, Zammit and Wolke. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Parents' Feelings, Coping Strategies and Sense of Parental Self-Efficacy When Dealing With Children's Victimization Experiences

Joy Benatov 1,2*

¹ Department of Psychology, College of Management Academic Studies, Rishon Lezion, Israel, ² Department of Special Education, University of Haifa, Haifa, Israel

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Dieter Wolke, University of Warwick, United Kingdom

Reviewed by:

Preeti Jacob, National Institute of Mental Health and Neurosciences, India Magdalena Romanowicz, Mavo Clinic, United States

> *Correspondence: Joy Benatov jbentov2@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> Received: 11 May 2019 Accepted: 30 August 2019 Published: 04 October 2019

Citation:

Benatov J (2019) Parents' Feelings, Coping Strategies and Sense of Parental Self-Efficacy When Dealing With Children's Victimization Experiences. Front. Psychiatry 10:700. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00700 **Background:** Accumulating evidence strongly suggests that bullying victimization poses a major risk for children's and adolescents' socioemotional development. Despite the key role parents play in their child's ability to cope with bullying, very few studies have focused on parents' reactions to their children's victimization. The current study examined parents' feelings, coping strategies, and sense of parental self-efficacy subsequent to their children's victimization.

Methods: The sample was composed of 217 parents of children aged 7 to 18 years who had been victims of bullying. Parents were requested to fill in a self-report survey measuring their responses to their child's bullying victimization in the last 12 months, the feelings they experienced, the coping strategies they implemented, and their sense of parental self-efficacy in dealing with the situation.

Results: Parents of victimized children experienced notable emotional distress and an array of complex emotions. A unique pattern of associations was revealed between feelings and coping tactics. Specifically, feelings of guilt were predictive of parents adopting avoidance and self-blame strategies and negatively associated with providing support to the child. Parents' feelings of sadness positively predicted coping by providing child support and negatively linked to avoidance coping. Anger was predictive of retaliative coping, whereas worry contributed to child restrictions. Providing support to the child and retaliation positively contributed to parental self-efficacy in dealing with the victimization events, whereas seeking social support was negatively associated with parents' sense of efficacy.

Discussion: It is suggested that bullying prevention efforts should include parents and address the complex feelings they experience, especially feelings of guilt and anger, which were found to contribute to a maladaptive coping reaction.

Keywords: parental self-efficacy, bullying, coping, victimization, emotions

COPING WITH BULLYING

A recent national poll conducted in the United States revealed that parents' top health concern is bullying/cyberbullying (1). This is understandable in light of accumulating evidence indicating that bullying victimization is a major risk to children's and adolescents' socioemotional development [e.g., (2)]. Being bullied is an intense interpersonal stressor that serves as a catalyst for the emergence of psychosocial difficulties (3). Parental support can buffer the adverse effects of bullying to some extent (4). However, children's bullying experiences are a major source of stress for parents as well and have a negative impact on parents' well-being (5, 6). This underscores the crucial need to better understand parents' psychological processes when coping with their child's peervictimization events.

The transactional model of stress and coping (7) suggests that when people experience an event, they evaluate whether it is threatening to their well-being (primary appraisal) and whether they have the resources to cope with it (secondary appraisal). The model points to the importance of emotion in the coping process (7, 8). Primary appraisal generates an emotional response that can vary in intensity and valence. Thereafter, coping strategies are engaged to alter the personenvironment relationship by adopting strategies to either regulate distressing emotions or impact the problem causing the distress (9). Coping strategies are diverse and contextdependent (for a review, see 10). In the context of bullying victimization, the best documented children's coping strategies include turning to an adult or peer for help, avoiding the bully or ignoring the situation as a whole, retaliating, or fighting back (11). Hunter and Boyle (12) and Hunter and Borg (13) found supporting evidence that emotions are linked to the coping strategy implemented by school-aged children victims of bullying. For example, they found that feelings of anger and self-pity predicted seeking support from peers and adults, whereas feeling helpless or indifferent predicted doing nothing as a coping tactic (13).

Despite the key role played by parents in children's ability to cope with bullying, relatively few studies have focused on the parents' emotional well-being or ability to cope (14). Rather, most works on bullying that have included the parents' perspective have dealt with the parents' definitions of bullying (6, 15), parental awareness of their child's involvement in bullying (16, 17, 6, 18) or parents' attitudes toward bullying and intervention efforts (19). A few qualitative studies have explored parents' emotional experiences when their children were bullied and have revealed that parents experience worry, concern, anger, guilt, frustration, disappointment, and a sense of powerlessness (5, 6, 20).

The coping strategies parents recommend to bullied children include first turning to an adult for help, followed by ignoring the child who bullied them, or either retaliating or promoting prosocial behaviors (21, 6, 22). The coping reactions parents themselves implemented include obtaining antibullying information, consulting with others, contacting the school, and (rarely) contacting the parents of the bully (6, 21, 22). Interestingly, one study found that parents' experiences of being bullied during childhood were associated with parents' current views and concerns about their children's school bullying (21).

PARENTAL SELF-EFFICACY

Parental self-efficacy refers to caregivers' beliefs about their ability to parent successfully (23). It is an extension of the more general cognitive construct of personal self-efficacy first defined by Bandura (24). Self-efficacy is a higherorder construct that can have reciprocal associations with experiences of stress and coping efforts (25). A national poll conducted in Australia in 2018 indicated that half of all parents felt they needed more information and skills on how to deal effectively with bullying. Many parents often felt helpless when their children were bullied (26). These parental disclosures are suggestive that some parents feel their parental self-efficacy is limited when it comes to dealing with bullying. In order for parents to effectively support their child during a crisis involving bullying, they need to feel able to do so. Parental self-efficacy has been related to parental competence, parental psychological functioning, and child socioemotional adjustment (for a review, see 23). A recent study found that parental self-efficacy specifically with regard to bullying, but not general parental self-efficacy, was associated with children's bullying and victimization behaviors (27). This points to the need to explore the precursors contributing to parental selfefficacy when dealing with bullying.

THE CURRENT STUDY

The current study explored how parents' emotional reactions contribute to their preferential coping strategies when dealing with their children's victimization incidents and the extent to which parents' emotions and coping strategies are associated with parental self-efficacy in the context of bullying victimization. We hypothesized that children's bullying experiences are likely to elicit diverse feelings in parents that differ in intensity and valence. Specifically, we predicted that parents would report feelings of anger, worry, guilt, and sadness to varying extents.

Different feelings would predict different parental coping strategies. Specifically, it was posited that anger would contribute to the extent to which parents adopted retaliative coping tactics, whereas feeling worried and sad would predict utilizing child support and seeking social support and information. Feelings of guilt were expected to predict adopting a self-blame stance.

It was further assumed that the feelings parents experience and coping strategies they adopt would significantly contribute to parental self-efficacy when dealing with children's peer victimization. Furthermore, adaptive coping strategies (child support, seeking social support and information) should positively contribute to parents' sense of self-efficacy in dealing with bullying incidents, whereas maladaptive coping strategies (retaliation, avoidance, self-blame, child restriction) should be linked to lower parental self-efficacy. No specific predictions were made with regard to the contribution of parents' feelings to parental self-efficacy because this is a new area of inquiry.

METHODS

Participants

The sample was composed of 217 parents aged 24 to 59 years (mean = 39.83, SD = 6.63 years), of whom most were mothers (n = 170 [78.3%]). Their children ranged in age from 7 to 18 years (mean = 11.02, SD = 2.57 years); 59% (n = 128) were boys, and 37.4% (n = 80) were the eldest. Parents reported having on average three children; 85% of these parents lived together. Most parents, 59% (n = 128), were Jewish, 24% (n = 52) were Muslim, 24% (n = 29) were Druze, 3.7% (n = 8) were Christian, and 13.4% (n = 29) indicated other religious-ethnic origins.

Procedure

After approval by the ethics committee at the University of Haifa, several schools in the northern district of Israel were approached. The aim of the study was presented, and permission from the schools' administration was requested to present the study to the students' parents. Five schools were willing to engage in the study. Parents were approached before or after school events (PTA meetings, school ceremonies) and filled in the questionnaire manually or if they preferred by email. Two hundred seventeen parents reported that their child had been victimized to some extent in the last 12 months.

Prior to running the study, a small-scale pilot study, which included semistructured interviews with eight parents whose children had been victimized in the past year, was conducted. Parents' age was between 40 and 52 years; they volunteered for the study *via* announcements about the study posted in different online forums. In the interviews, parents talked about their ordeal, and if they did not bring it up, they were asked as to their feelings and how they dealt with the events. Afterward, they completed the questioners and provided feedback on them. The results from the pilot study were not published and only served the purpose of gaining a better understanding of the researched phenomena.

Measures

Bullying Victimization

Bullying victimization was measured using six questions from the Global School-Based Student Health Survey (28) on various types of victimization (physical, verbal, relational, cyber) that occurred in the last 12 months. Parents were asked to rate each question on a 1 (never) to 4 (most days) scale indicating the frequency of the victimization. The Cronbach alpha in the current sample was.82.

Parents' Emotional Experience

The feelings parents experienced after their children were bullied were measured using parents' self-reports of their subjective

emotional experience. Parents were asked to what extent (1 [not at all] to 5 [very much]) words listed in the questionnaire described the emotions they experienced when finding out about the victimization incidents. The following words were presented: frustrated, preoccupied, indifferent, embarrassed, offended, angry, guilty, sad, worried, proud, and irritated. The words were based on previous findings (5, 6, 20) on the emotions parents felt after hearing about bullying incidents indifferent and proud were added as irrelevant feelings to verify authentic responses. A similar questionnaire has been used in studies on children's emotions when bullied (29).

Parents' Strategies to Cope With Bullying Victimization

This scale was constructed for this study based on the Questionnaire of Parental Coping Strategies for Bullied Children (22) but was extended to include additional coping strategies. The expansion of this measure was theoretically based on the literature of coping and empirically on scales for victimized children's coping and teacher's management of

TABLE 1 | Principal component analysis for Parents Copying Strategies with Victimization Questionnaire.

			Factor			
Parents Copying Strategies items	I	Ш	ш	IV	v	VI
Provide Support & Advise to Child						
$(\alpha = .94)$						
I offered my child possible solutions.	.92					
I offered my child support and encouragement.	.89					
I heard out my child's side of the story.	.88					
I proposed to my child ways to	.88					
prevent such situations in the future.						
Social support & Information (α = .79)						
I turned to professional held for advice or support.		.82				
I turned to a friend for advice or		.79				
support.		.10				
I consulted with the school staff (e.g.		.66				
school counselor, homeroom teacher).						
I read and learn about bullying.		.63				
Retaliation ($\alpha = .71$)						
I threatened the school.			.83			
I complained about the school to			.86			
authorities outside the school.						
I threatened the other children			.77			
involved.						
Avoidance (α = .74)						
I told myself this is how kids are.				.88		
l told myself it's no big deal.				.86		
I ignored the matter.				.64		
Self-blame (α = .93)						
I blamed myself.					.92	
I was angry with myself.					.90	
Child Restriction (α = .68)						
I laid sanctions or prohibitions on my						.81
child.						
I prevented my child from further						.77
meeting with the other children						
involved.						

bullying developed by Kochenderfer-Ladd & Skinner (30), Kochenderfer-Ladd (29), and . Two additional coping strategies (self-blame, child restriction) parents discussed in qualitative studies were included as well (5, 6, 20). Prior to running the study, the scale was used in a small-scale pilot study. In total, the scale was composed of 18 items. Parents rated on a 1-point (not at all) to 5-point (very much) scale the extent to which they had implemented the described actions after finding out about their child's victimization experiences in the past year. Factor analysis using varimax rotation identified six factors as follows: (1) providing support and advice to the child included four items (e.g., I offered my child support and encouragement); (2) parents' search for social support and information about bullying included four items (e.g., I turned to a friend for advice or support); (3) retaliation included three items (e.g., I threatened the other children involved); (4) avoidance included three items (e.g., I ignored the matter); (5) self-blame included two items (e.g., I blamed myself); (6) child restriction included two items (e.g., I imposed sanctions or prohibitions on my child). Table 1 presents the factor loading values from the principal component analysis for this questionnaire. The Cronbach a's were .94, .79, .71, .94, .93, and .68 for each subscale, respectively.

Parental Efficacy

Parents were asked to rate how confident they were in their ability to deal with their child's victimization. Responses were made on a 1- (not at all) to 5-point (very much) scale. This item was adapted to the context of victimization from a more general parental-efficacy scale (31).

Parents' Victimization History

Parents' victimization history was assessed using a single item "Were you a victim of bullying during childhood?" Responses were made on a 1- (never) to 5-point (very frequently) scale.

Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics were calculated for all variables. Then, hierarchical linear regression models were conducted to predict each of the coping strategies parents used. Demographic variables, parents' victimization history, child's victimization levels, and the different feelings parents experienced when finding out about their child's victimization were entered as predicting variables. Family-wise Bonferroni correction was applied, and significance level was set at .008. Finally,

TABLE 2	Victimization	levels and	types as	reported b	v the	parents (N = 217).
	VIOLITIZALION		typos us	reported b	y uno	paronito	$ \mathbf{v} - \mathbf{z} $	13

Type of bullying victimization	М	(SE)	Percentage of victims experiencing victimization more than once a week
Verbal (0-3)	.84	(.60)	33.3%
Physical (0-3)	.48	(.61)	16.6%
Relational (0-3)	.57	(.70)	9.7%
Cyber (0-3)	.39	(.62)	4.2%

a hierarchical linear regression model predicting sense of parental efficacy in dealing with victimization was conducted. In this model, demographic variables, parents' victimization history, child's victimization levels, parents' feelings, and coping strategies were included as predictive variables.

RESULTS

Feelings Parents Experienced Following Bullying Victimization of Their Child

Parents reported feeling preoccupied (mean = 3.43, SD = 1.22), frustrated (mean = 3.12, SD = 1.28), and irritated (mean = 3.01, SD = 1.37) to a high to medium extent after finding out about their child's victimization experiences. They reported feeling a medium to low degree of anger (mean = 2.96, SD = 1.28), offense (mean = 2.60, SD = 1.29), worry (mean = 2.74, SD = 1.27), and sadness (mean = 2.74, SD = 1.26). A very low extent of feelings of guilt (mean = 1.90, SD = 1.12) or embarrassment (mean = 1.80, SD = 1.10) was reported Victimization type and degree as reported by parents is presented in **Table 2**.

Coping Strategies Implemented by Parents Following Bullying Victimization of Their Child

The most common coping strategy used by parents was providing support to their child (mean = 4.07, SD = 0.89), in that 85% of the parents reported applying this tactic to a medium to high extent. The second coping strategy was seeking social support and information (mean = 2.63, SD = 1.02); 48% of the parents reported applying this tactic to a medium to

TABLE 3 | Hierarchical regression model predicting parents' adaptive coping strategies following bullying victimization incidents.

	C	hild Sup	port	Social Support			
Variable	в	SE	β	В	SE	β	
Parent's age	01	.01	08	01	.01	09	
Parent's gender	06	.15	03	01	.15	01	
Parent's religiosity	01	.08	01	.07	.08	.05	
Parents living together	18	.17	07	.03	.17	.01	
Parents victimization	12	.08	10	06	.08	04	
Child's age	.02	.03	.04	.01	.03	.03	
Child's gender	.10	.12	.05	.02	.12	.01	
Child birth order	06	.06	08	13	.06	16+	
Child's victimization	09	.02	30**	.01	.02	.03	
Frustrated	.03	.08	.05	.19	.07	.23+	
Preoccupied	.17	.08	.24+	.06	.08	.07	
Offended	06	.06	09	.12	.06	.15+	
Worried	.05	.06	.07	02	.06	03	
Irritated	.11	.07	.17	.01	.06	.01	
Angry	.05	.06	.07	.06	.06	.07	
Sad	.15	.06	.21+	.12	.06	.15	
Guilty	18	.07	23	.13	.07	.14	
	F _{17,210} = 5.23**			F = 17,210 10.52**			
	/	Adj R² =	.26	A	.dj R² = .4	4	

⁺*p* < .05 * *p* < .008 ** *p* < .001

Retaliation			1	Avoidance			Self-blame			Child Restriction		
Variable	в	SE	β	В	SE	β	В	SE	β	В	SE	β
Parent's age	07	.01	07	01	.01	07	00	.01	02	01	.01	02
Parent's gender	12	.12	08	07	.12	04	20	.12	09	.21	.15	.09
Parent's religiosity	03	.06	04	03	.07	03	.16	.06	.12+	.10	.08	.08
Parents living together	.11	.13	.06	.43	.14	.21*	.02	.12	.01	.30	.15	.12+
Parents victimization	08	.07	10	.13	.07	.14	02	.07	01	.13	.09	.10
Child's age	.01	.02	.05	.01	.02	.04	.01	.02	.03	02	.03	06
Child's gender	.03	.10	.02	16	.10	12	.16	.10	.08	54	.13	28**
Child birth order	.01	.04	.02	.04	.05	.07	05	.05	07	14	.06	17+
Child's victimization	.06	.02	.29**	.06	.02	.24*	.05	.02	.14+	.01	.02	.04
Frustrated	.01	.06	.02	04	.06	07	08	.06	10	.06	.08	.07
Preoccupied	02	.06	03	06	.06	11	.10	.07	.12	16	.08	15
Offended	07	.04	14	.05	.05	.10	03	.05	04	03	.06	05
Worried	.01	.04	.01	.03	.05	.06	.01	.05	.01	.23	.05	.31**
Irritated	.05	.05	.11	07	.05	13	.10	.05	.14	.01	.07	.01
Angry	.14	.05	.29**	01	.05	01	02	.05	03	.12	.07	.16
Sad	08	.05	16	15	.05	28*	05	.05	06	05	.07	07
Guilty	01	.05	02	.14	.05	.23*	.62	.05	.70**	.10	.07	.12
	F	= _{17, 210} 2.54 Adj R ² = .11			_{17, 210} = 3.23 Adj R ² = .15		F	= _{17, 210} 17.9 ⁻ Adj R ² = .58			_{7,210} = 5.65*** Adj R² = .27	

TABLE 4 | Hierarchical regression model predicting parents' adaptive coping strategies following bullying victimization incidents.

 $^{+}p < .05 * p < .008 * p < .001 * p < 0.001.$

high extent. The remaining of the coping strategies were less frequently used. On average parents, enforced a low degree of child restrictions (mean = 1.89, SD = 0.94), although 64% imposed some after victimization incidents. Fifty percent of the parents reported feeling self-blame to some extent, but on average self-blame was low (mean = 1.74, SD = 0.97). Parents tended not to avoid or ignore bullying (mean = 1.59, SD = 0.69). Finally, parental retaliation strategies were infrequent (mean = 1.30, SD = 0.67); only 27% stated they adopted such tactics.

Hierarchical regression models predicting parents' coping strategies revealed parents' feelings to be clearly associated with the coping strategies they tended to use (**Tables 3** and **4**). Specifically, parents' feelings of guilt were negatively associated with providing support to their child, whereas sadness and preoccupation, although not significant, tended to be positively associated to child support. Surprisingly, the child's victimization level was negatively associated with child support. Overall, the model predicting child support tactics was significant (F = 5.23; df = 17,210; p < .001) and predicted 26% of the variance.

In terms of seeking out social support and information, the prediction model was significant (F = 10.52; df = 17,210; p < .001) and accounted for 44% of the variance. However, none of the predicting variables reached the Bonfferoni adjusted significance level individually. Parents' feelings of frustration

and offense tended to be positively associated with seeking social support, but this trend did not reach the required significance level.

Parents' feelings of anger and child's level of victimization were positively associated with retaliation. Overall, the model predicting retaliation was significant (F = 2.54; df = 17,210; p < .001) and predicted 11% of the variance.

Avoidance was significantly predicted by parents' feelings of guilt and child's victimization levels. Feelings of sadness were negatively associated with avoidant tactics. Overall, the model predicting avoidant coping was significant (F = 3.23; df = 17,210; p < .001) and predicted 15% of the variance.

Not surprisingly, feelings of guilt predicted parents' selfblame. Feelings of guilt alone accounted for 58% of the variance and were the sole significant predictor (F = 3.06; df = 17,210; p < .001) in this model.

Parents' worry was predictive of child restriction strategies. Boy victims also positively predicted child restriction strategies. Overall, this model was significant (F = 5.62; df = 17,210; p < .001) and accounted for 27% of the variance.

Parental Self-Efficacy in Dealing With Bullying Victimization Incidents

The parental coping strategies of child support and retaliation positively contributed to parental self-efficacy in dealing with

TABLE 5 Hierarchical regression model predicting parental self-efficacy	
following bullying victimization incidents.	

	Parental self-efficacy					
Variable	В	SE	β			
	0.4	0.4				
Parent's age	01	.01	01			
Parent's gender	.29	.17	.11			
Parent's religiosity	07	.09	05			
Parents living together	08	.19	03			
Parents victimization history	.15	.09	.11			
Child's age	.02	.03	.06			
Child's gender	13	.15	06			
Child birth order	04	.07	06			
Child's victimization	04	.03	11			
Frustrated	01	.09	01			
Preoccupied	01	.09	02			
Offended	.10	.07	.13			
Worried	.07	.07	.09			
Irritated	10	.07	14			
Angry	.08	.07	.11			
Sad	.10	.08	.12			
Guilty	01	.10	01			
Child support	.55	.08	.48***			
Social support	22	.08	21*			
Retaliation	.37	.10	.23**			
Avoidance	.01	.10	.01			
Self-blame	04	.10	04			
Child restriction	08	.08	09			
		_{3,210} = 4.73*** Adj R² = .29				

p < .05 ** p < .01 * p < .001

victimization incidents (**Table 5**). By contrast, social support seeking was negatively associated with parental self-efficacy. The predictive model was significant (F = 4.43; df = 23,210; p < .001) and accounted for 29% of the variance. Parents' feelings did not significantly contribute to parental efficacy above and beyond coping tactics.

DISCUSSION

The main goal of the present study was to explore how parents' feelings subsequent to child victimization contributed to their preference for coping strategies and how these feelings and strategies contributed to parents' sense of efficacy in dealing with bullying victimization.

The hypotheses were partially confirmed. The findings showed that parents experience a diverse array of feelings after learning that their child has been victimized. These included a substantial amount of preoccupation, frustration, irritation, anger, sadness, and offense. This is consistent with previous qualitative studies in which parents expressed feelings such as being powerless, angry, and worried (6, 14, 32). The current study constitutes the first quantitative attempt to measure parents' feelings and explore their contribution to parents' coping choices and sense of efficacy in bullying situations. An important finding in this regard was the role of guilt. A recent study by Hale et al. (32) found guilt to be a main theme expressed by parents of bullying victims. Parents tend to take on the role of protector of their child, and assessment of their actions often led to self-blame. In some cases, parents felt responsible for their child's situation; as one mother said, "What have I done wrong or what haven't I done? ... we should have stayed in London ... what if I hadn't got divorced?" (32). The current findings go a step further and show that parents' feelings of guilt may play a maladaptive role in parents' coping choices since these feelings were predictive of adopting avoidance and self-blame strategies and negatively associated with providing support to the child. This may reflect a somewhat freeze response. Guilt has been shown to contribute to a maladaptive response to traumatic events (33). In the current study, feelings of guilt did not significantly contribute to the prediction of parental self-efficacy. Parents' feelings of sadness as compared to guilt appeared to contribute to a more adaptive coping response, since they tended to be positively linked to providing child support and negatively linked to avoidance. These feelings may be closer to the mental pain experienced by the child after being bullied, thus enabling a more adaptive response. As predicted, anger was linked to retaliative coping. By contrast, and contrary to the hypothesis, worry contributed to child restrictions. This finding may suggest that when parents worry they are more likely to exercise control and restrictions, probably in an attempt to protect their child.

Overall, parents applied adaptive coping strategies (providing support to their child, turning to social support) more frequently than maladaptive coping strategies (retaliation, avoidance self-blame, inflicting child restrictions). Interestingly, retaliation, which is considered by professionals to be a maladaptive coping strategy because it escalates violence (34), reinforced parents' sense of efficacy when dealing with bullying victimization. This was evident in one of the interviews conducted as part of the pilot for this study. A mother of a 12-year-old girl who had been victimized at school commented, "I was angry as hell and worried, worried for my child. I went to the school and talked to the teacher, but nothing helped until I went into the class and screamed at the kids that if anyone comes near my kid I don't know what I'll do to them. I didn't threaten them that I'd beat them or anything, but they were scared ... I was outraged, I threatened the principal that I would file a complaint with the Ministry of Education...." In the case of this mother and as shown in the general pattern of results, feelings of anger contributed to adopting a retaliative coping response. Some parents may resort to threatening or taking steps against the school or their child's classmates/parents because it may be the only thing they believe will be effective. High levels of victimization were found to contribute to parents adopting a retaliative tactic; because bullying is a dynamic process, it might be that parents at first turned to more mellow coping strategies, but if the bullying intensified or continued over time, they escalated to retaliation. Ranson et al. (35) dubbed parents who act aggressively toward the school as "storming parents" and suggested that such parents are actually seeking mutual understanding from school administration when engaging in angry outbursts (34). However, these forms of parental retaliation can undermine trust and cooperation between the parents and the school staff. Thus, although retaliation contributed to parents' sense of efficacy, it might not be what their child actually needs during the crisis. Retaliation was reported by only 27% of the parents. Nevertheless, this figure is important because these parents may need guidance and assistance.

Parents tended to seek more social support and information when they felt frustrated or offended by their child's victimization. Surprisingly, seeking social support and information, which is considered an adaptive coping mechanism, was negatively associated with parents' sense of efficacy in dealing with bullying. Thus, although social support can contribute to the construction of efficacy over time, within the short period of a given crisis, it may be perceived by parents as a sign of their inability to effectively deal with the situation on their own. Interestingly, social support was a fairly common coping strategy but might not be as empowering as expected, at least in the short term. Nonetheless, parents should be encouraged to keep seeking social support and information because it can contribute to parental efficacy over time by helping them to regulate negative emotions and providing information and valuable advice.

High level of child victimization was found to contribute to a maladaptive coping pattern among parents, in that child victimization level was predictive of parents adopting retaliative and avoidant coping and was negatively associated with child support. Parallel findings in the parenting literature suggest that the severity of a child's problems may overwhelm parents emotionally such that they react less adaptively, which may undermine their sense of parental efficacy (36). For instance, Kuhn and Carter (37) showed that the severity of ADHD behaviors decreased mothers' parental self-efficacy.

As hypothesized, providing support to the child as well as adopting a retaliation strategy were predictive of parental selfefficacy in dealing with victimization events. Parents' feelings were not linked to parental self-efficacy above and beyond the coping strategies. Although the current study focused on the valence of emotions, the intensity of the emotion should also be taken into account in future studies as was suggested by Dix (36). Even though parents' childhood history of victimization was found to decrease levels of concern regarding bullying in a previous study (21), in the current study it was not a significant contributing factor in parents' coping or sense of efficacy. However, in the current study, this was measured by a single item, and more extensive qualitative and quantitative measures may be needed to better understand how parents' past experiences with bullying might impact coping with their child's victimization.

Limitations

The current study has several limitations. Data were crosssectional; thus, causality cannot be established. Future studies should include longitudinal designs so that parental self-efficacy can be assessed over time, which can provide a broader and more accurate picture of the mechanisms contributing to the establishment of parental efficacy in dealing with bullying victimization. Furthermore, the current study focused only on the parents' perspective; it would be valuable in future studies to take into account the child's experience of the parental coping response. An additional limitation is that parental selfefficacy in dealing with bullying was measured by a single item. Although a single item is considered a valid way to evaluate a general sense of self-esteem (38), future studies could benefit from including subscales probing different aspects of parental efficacy in dealing with bullying (27). For example, parents might have different perceptions of their efficacy in dealing effectively with their child as compared to peers or school policies. Furthermore, parents' emotions were measured using self-reports, whereas emotions are multidimensional and include physiological changes in addition to the subjective experience reported in questionnaires. Future studies should include additional measures of emotions in order to better capture parents' emotional experiences.

Applications

The current findings have important bearing on antibullying prevention and intervention efforts. Making parents an integral part of interventions is vital to maximizing the effects of these interventions (for a systematic review, see 39, 40). However, most interventions that include parents only do so to a very limited extent, for example, by sending antibullying materials to parents, holding antibullying conferences, updating parents on school policies, or meeting individually with parents of children involved in bullying (41-43). Including parents to a greater extent in prevention and interventions efforts hinges on a better understanding of the psychological processes parents experience when dealing with bullying. The findings of the current study point to the complex emotions parents experience when their child is bullied. Thus, interventions should include emotion regulation training that can enable parents to recognize the different emotions they experience and learn to accept and regulate them so they can take the most productive steps forward for their child and their own wellbeing. In light of the findings here, it is especially important to face feelings of guilt and anger that may lead to maladaptive coping, while becoming aware of feelings of sadness, which were found to be adaptive. Interventions improving parents' general emotional regulation abilities have been found to boost parental self-efficacy (44), suggesting that similar training in the context of antibullying interventions is important. In order to further enhance parents' sense of efficacy, interventions need to provide information and guidance on the effectiveness of coping with the different dimensions of bullying. Special attention should be paid to parents who manifest aggressive reactions; professionals need to understand their position better and help them deal more constructively with bullying by utilizing prosocial coping strategies instead. Aiding parents to deal more effectively with their child's victimization can help children gain valuable parental support during crisis of bullying victimization.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Department of Health and Human Services, Ministry of Health with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in

REFERENCES

- Hospital, C.S. Mott Children's. 2017. "Mott poll report." https://mottpoll. org/reports-surveys/bullying-and-internet-safety-are-top-health-concernsparents. Retrieved June 2018 from https://mottpoll.org/reports-surveys/ bullying-and-internet-safety-are-top-health-concerns-parents.
- Moore SE, Norman RE, Suetani S, Thomas HJ, Sly PD, Scott JG. Consequences of bullying victimization in childhood and adolescence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Psychiatry* (2017) 7(1):60–76. doi: 10.5498/wjp. v7.i1.60
- Swearer SM, Hymel S. Understanding the psychology of bullying: moving toward a social-ecological diathesis-stress model. *Am Psychol* (2015) 70:344. doi: 10.1037/a0038929
- Claes L, Luyckx K, Baetens I, Van de Ven M, Witteman C. Bullying and victimization, depressive mood, and non-suicidal self-injury in adolescents: the moderating role of parental support. *J Child Family Studies* (2015) 24(11):3363–71. doi: 10.1007/s10826-015-0138-2
- Harcourt S, Green VA, Bowden C. It is everyone's problem': parents' experiences of bullying." N Z J Psychol (2015) 44:3.
- Sawyer JL, Mishna F, Pepler D, Wiener J. The missing voice: parents' perspectives of bullying. *Child Youth Serv Rev* (2011) 33(10):1795–803. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.05.010
- Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Coping and adaptation. Handb Behav Med (1984) 282325: 208.
- 8. Lazarus RS. *Stress and emotion: a new synthesis*. New York: Springer Publishing Company (2006).
- Lazarus Richard S. From psychological stress to the emotions: a history of changing outlooks. *Ann Rev Psychol* (1993) 44(1):1–22. doi: 10.1146/annurev. ps.44.020193.000245
- Compas BE, Connor-Smith JK, Saltzman H, Thomsen AH, Wadsworth ME. Coping with stress during childhood and adolescence: problems, progress, and potential in theory and research. *Psychol Bull* (2001) 127(1):87–127. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.1.87
- Visconti KJ, Troop-Gordon W. Prospective relations between children's responses to peer victimization and their socioemotional adjustment. J Appl Dev Psychol (2010) 31(4):261–72. doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2010.05.003
- Hunter SC, Boyle JME. Appraisal and coping strategy use in victims of school bullying. Br J Educ Psychol (2004) 74:83–107. doi: 10.1348/000709904322848833
- Hunter SC, Borg MG. The influence of emotional reaction on help seeking by victims of school bullying. *Educ Psychol* (2006) 26(6):813–26. doi: 10.1080/01443410600941946
- Harcourt, Jasperse M, Green VA. ""We were sad and we were angry": A systematic review of parents' perspectives on bullying." In *Child & Youth Care Forum* (2014) 43(3):373–91. Springer US. doi: 10.1007/s10566-014-9243-4
- Smorti A, Menesini E, Smith PK. Parents' definitions of children's bullying in a five-country comparison. J Cross-Cult Psychol (2003) 34(4):417–32. doi: 10.1177/0022022103034004003

accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JB conducted the study and prepared all sections of the paper.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author wishes to express her gratitude to the Research Authority of the College of Management Academic Studies, Rishon Lezion, Israel, for the financial support provided for this research/publication.

- Cassidy W, Brown K, Jackson M. "Making kind cool": Parents' suggestions for preventing cyber bullying and fostering cyber kindness. *J Educ Comput Res* (2012) 46(4):415–36. doi: 10.2190/EC.46.4.f
- Kristensen SM, Smith PK. The use of coping strategies by danish children classed as bullies, victims, bully/victims, and not involved, in response to different (hypothetical) types of bullying. *Scand J Psychol* (2003) 44(5):479– 88. doi: 10.1046/j.1467-9450.2003.00369.x
- Smith PK, Slee P, Morita Y, Catalano R, Junger-Tas J, Olweus D. *The nature of school bullying: a cross-national perspective*. London: Psychology Press (1999).
- Eslea M, Smith P. K. Pupil and parent attitudes towards bullying in primary schools. *Eur J Psychol Educ* (2000) 15(2): 207–19. doi: 10.1007/BF03173175
- Humphrey G, Crisp B. R. Bullying affects us too: Parental responses to bullying at kindergarten. *Aust J Early Child* (2008) 33(1):45–9. doi: 10.1177/183693910803300108
- Cooper LA, Nickerson A. B. Parent retrospective recollections of bullying and current views, concerns, and strategies to cope with children's bullying. *Journal of child and family studies* (2013) 22(4):526-540. doi: 10.1007/ s10826-012-9606-0
- Karga B-N, Giaglis. Parental views of children's bullying experience, coping strategies and their association with parenting practices. In: *School Bullying*. (2013). Dekker & Kas, 2013 (Chapter 1). New-York: Nova Publishers.
- Jones TL, Prinz RJ. Potential roles of parental self-efficacy in parent and child adjustment: a review. *Clin Psychol Rev* (2005) 25(3):341–63. doi: 10.1016/j. cpr.2004.12.004
- 24. Bandura A. The explanatory and predictive scope of self-efficacy theory. J Soc Clin Psychol (1986) 4(3):359–73. doi: 10.1521/jscp.1986.4.3.359
- Chwalisz K, Altmaier EM, Russell DW. Causal attributions, self-efficacy cognitions, and coping with stress. J Soc Clin Psychol (1992) 11(4):377–400. doi: 10.1521/jscp.1992.11.4.377
- Melbourne, The Royal Children's Hospital. 2018. "Childhood bullying: how are parents coping?" Retrived June 2018 from https://www.rchpoll.org.au/ polls/childhood-bullying-how-are-parents-coping/.
- Malm EK, Henrich C, Varjas K, Meyers J. Parental self-efficacy and bullying in elementary. J School Violence (2017) 16(4):411–25. doi: 10.1080/15388220.2016.1168743
- WHO. 2018. "NCDs | Global School-Based Student Health Survey (GSHS)." WHO. World Health Organization. 2018. Retrieved June 2018 from: http:// www.who.int/ncds/surveillance/gshs/en/.
- Kochenderfer-Ladd Becky. Peer victimization: the role of emotions in adaptive and maladaptive coping. Soc Dev (2004) 13(3):329–49. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2004.00271.x
- Kochenderfer-Ladd B, Skinner K. Children's coping strategies: moderators of the effects of peer victimization?. *Dev Psychol* (2002) 38(2): 267.
- Bandura A. Guide for constructing self-efficacy scales. Self-Efficacy Beliefs Adolesc (2006) 5(1):307–37.
- Hale R, Fox CL, Murray M, Hale R. As a parent you become a tiger': parents talking about bullying at school. *J Child Family Studies* (2017) 26(7):2000–15. doi: 10.1007/s10826-017-0710-z

- Lee DA, Scragg P, Turner S. The role of shame and guilt in traumatic events: a clinical model of shame-based and guilt-based PTSD. Br J Med Psychol (2001) 74(4):451–66. doi: 10.1348/000711201161109
- Lovegrove PJ, Bellmore AD, Green JG, Jens K, Ostrov JM. "My voice is not going to be silent": What can parents do about children's bullying? J Sch Violence (2013) 12(3):253–67. doi: 10.1080/15388220.2013.792270
- Ranson S, Martin J, Vincent C. Storming parents, schools and communicative inaction. Br J Sociol Educ (2004) 25(3):259–74. doi: 10.1080/0142569042000216936
- Dix T. The affective organization of parenting: adaptive and maladaptative processes. *Psychol Bull* (1991) 110(1):3. doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.110.1.3
- Kuhn JC, Carter AS. Maternal self-efficacy and associated parenting cognitions among mothers of children with autism. Am J Orthopsychiatry (2006) 76(4):564–75. doi: 10.1037/0002-9432.76.4.564
- Robins RW, Hendin HM, Trzesniewski KH. Measuring global selfesteem: construct validation of a single-item measure and the Rosenberg Self-esteem Scale. *Personal Soc Psychol Bull* (2001) 27(2):151–61. doi: 10.1177/0146167201272002
- Farrington DP, Ttofi MM. School-based programs to reduce bullying and victimization. Campbell Collab (2009) 6:1–149. doi: 10.4073/csr.2009.6
- Vreeman RC, Carroll AE. A systematic review of school-based interventions to prevent bullying. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med* (2007) 161(1):78–88. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.161.1.78

- Sharp S, Thompson D. The role of whole-school policies in tackling bullying behaviour in schools. In: *School Bullying: Insights and Perspectives*. Routledge (1994). p. 57–83.
- Bonds M, Stoker S. Bully-proofing your school: a comprehensive approach for middle schools. London Sopris; West (2000).
- Sherer YC, Nickerson AB. Anti-bullying practices in American schools: perspectives of school psychologists. *Psychol Schools* (2010) 47(3):217–29. doi: 10.1002/pits.20466
- Sanders MR, Mazzucchelli TG. The promotion of self-regulation through parenting interventions. *Clin Child Family Psychol Rev* (2013) 16(1):1–17. doi: 10.1007/s10567-013-0129-z

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Benatov. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Comparisons Between Adolescent Bullies, Victims, and Bully-Victims on Perceived Popularity, Social Impact, and Social Preference

Alexa Guy^{1,2}, Kirsty Lee^{2,3} and Dieter Wolke^{2,4*}

¹ Department of Psychology, Staffordshire University, Stoke-On-Trent, United Kingdom, ² Department of Psychology, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Psychology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada, ⁴ Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jean Marc Guile, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France

Reviewed by:

Laure Boissel, University Hospital Center (CHU) of Amiens, France Pablo Vidal-Ribas, National Institutes of Health (NIH), United States

*Correspondence:

Dieter Wolke D.Wolke@warwick.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 12 April 2019 Accepted: 04 November 2019 Published: 22 November 2019

Citation:

Guy A, Lee K and Wolke D (2019) Comparisons Between Adolescent Bullies, Victims, and Bully-Victims on Perceived Popularity, Social Impact, and Social Preference. Front. Psychiatry 10:868. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00868 This study investigated the effect of bullying role, i.e., bully, victim, and bully-victim, on three measures of peer status; perceived popularity, social preference, and social impact. In addition to completing peer nominations for these measures of peer status, adolescents (n = 2,721) aged 11 to 16 years from 5 secondary schools completed an online survey that assessed bullying involvement (self- and peer-reported), self-esteem, and behavioral difficulties. Compared to uninvolved adolescents, all bullying roles had a greater social impact. Bullies scored higher than all other roles for perceived popularity, whereas victims and bully-victims were the lowest in social preference. These significant group comparisons remained when controlling for demographic variables, behavioral difficulties, self-esteem and prosocial behavior. Overall, the perceived popularity found for bullies suggests that these adolescents are socially rewarded by peers for their victimization of others. These findings highlight the need to address the whole peer system in raising the social status of those who are victimized, whilst reducing the rewards received by bullies for their behavior.

Keywords: bullying, victimization, peer status, peer relationships, adolescence

INTRODUCTION

School bullying is a highly pervasive issue for children and adolescents world-wide, yet despite extensive efforts to identify the motivations behind bullying and ways to tackle it, interventions have been mixed in their success (1). Resource control theories propose that some aggression may be functional and can lead to potentially adaptive outcomes (2, 3) and, for some adolescents, bullying may be an effective form of aggression that is used to gain or maintain social dominance (4, 5). However other adolescents who bully are reported to be socially marginalized and rejected by their peers (6, 7). This has led to the identification of two subgroups of perpetrators: bullies and bully-victims (i.e. those who bully others but are also victimized). Bully-victims are often impulsive, high in reactive aggression, and have been reported to have poor social skills; including biases in social information processing (8, 9). Conversely, bullies are considered to be proactive and strategic in their use of aggression, and have a competent social cognition (10, 11). The differences between bullies and bully-victims in their social and behavioral characteristics may influence their status amongst the peer group in different ways. Exploring the status profiles of these perpetration groups,

36

compared to purely victimized or uninvolved adolescents, could highlight potential social motivations behind bullying behavior.

An individual's social standing within the peer group can be represented by two similar yet distinct constructs: social preference and perceived popularity (12). Social preference represents how accepted or 'liked' a person is (1, 13), and is typically measured by asking participants to nominate peers whom they most and least like, or most and least want to hang around with (14). Perceived popularity on the other hand reflects an individual's social prestige and dominance within the peer group, and is most commonly measured from peernominations of who are the most popular and least popular members of the classroom (5). Although these two aspects of peer status are often moderately correlated (15), they are distinct constructs; those who are popular are not always accepted by peers. Social preference is commonly associated with positive social attributes, such as cooperativeness (16), whereas perceived popularity may be influenced by characteristics such as attractiveness, athleticism, or having desirable possessions (17, 18). Social impact is a third aspect of peer status that refers to the prominence or visibility of an individual within the peer group (19), and has been used to determine status hierarchies in classrooms (19, 20). Thus, social impact is a measure of how visible or known a student is within the social group (e.g. classroom) however, although an individual with high social impact may have a high social presence, their overall status profiles can either be positive or negative, or indeed both.

Aggression has shown associations with perceived popularity, whereby aggressive youth are often reported to be popular, despite being largely disliked by others (13, 21). Similarly, some bullies have been found to be highly popular, but often have lower social preference than their uninvolved peers (22, 23). Low social preference however has not always been found for adolescent bullies (17), and this has led to reports that many bullies have controversial status within the peer group; i.e., they are liked by some and disliked by others (24, 25). Victims on the other hand have been reported to be low in both perceived popularity and social preference (5, 22), and may therefore be easy targets for bullies (26). Similarly peers may avoid being affiliated with victims through fear of jeopardizing their own status or being targeted themselves (27, 24). Bully-victims have been reported to be the most ostracized by peers (6, 28, 29), and therefore their bullying of others may be ineffective in achieving the same perceived popularity as the 'pure' bullies. Studies involving child and/or pre-adolescent samples have reported that bully-victims are overall less accepted and more rejected than bullies (29-31), yet despite their distinct behavioral and psychological profiles, bully-victims are not consistently assessed independently from bullies and victims (32, 33).

In addition to their involvement in bullying, adolescent bullies, victims, and bully-victims possess distinct attributes that could be either valued or considered undesirable by the peer group. Bullies are reported to be confident, have high self-esteem, and are often perceived as 'cool' amongst their peers (34, 35), while victims may often lack self-esteem (36) and show difficulties with emotion regulation (37, 38). Bully-victims are reported to be highly reactive and have been associated with the worst emotional

and behavioural difficulties (39). These attributes may influence an adolescent's status amongst their peers, and therefore it is unclear whether bullying role specifically has an effect on peer status, over and above these individual characteristics.

Two widely employed methods to measure bullying involvement are self-reports and peer-nominations (40, 41). These methods typically produce different prevalence estimates of bullying and victimization, and specifically how many are identified as bullies, victims, or bully-victims. There is a risk of bias within self-reports, whereby individuals may not admit to bullying others, or have biased perceptions of their behavior. Self-report measures commonly result in an under-reporting of bullying perpetration; approximately 1-5% (28, 42), whereas peer-reports often yield higher rates of 13-14% (29, 43). Although peer-nominations reduce the risk of subjective errors, they ultimately rely on how much of the bullying or victimization is visible to the peer group (44). In particular, victimization may often not be visible to the peer group and sometimes hidden. Therefore, a combination of self- and peer-reports may be necessary for investigating differences between the groups involved in bullying, whilst retaining sufficient statistical power.

The primary aim of this study was to investigate differences between adolescent bullies, victims, bully-victims, and those not involved (using a combination of self- and peer-reports) on three measures of peer status: social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity. Secondly, the effect of bullying role on these status measures, when controlling for other individual (e.g. emotional and behavioral problems, self-esteem) and demographic factors (e.g. gender, age) was assessed. In line with previous findings, despite much of this literature pertaining to younger children (45), it was predicted that adolescent bullies would be highest in perceived popularity but lower in social preference than those not involved. Victims were hypothesized to be lower in perceived popularity than bullies and to have lower social preference than uninvolved adolescents. It is not clear how bully-victims would compare to other roles with regards to perceived popularity, yet they were expected to be lower in social preference than those not involved in bullying. Finally, all those involved in bullying were expected to have higher social impact than uninvolved adolescents; although it is unclear whether social impact would vary between bullies, victims, and bully-victims.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

Design and Sample

Data was collected during stage one of the BASE Study (Bullying, Appearance, Social Information Processing and Emotion Study; 36, 46, 47); a two-phased study that assessed a range of physical, social, and emotional attributes in relation to bullying involvement in adolescence. Pupils aged 11–16 years (N = 3,883) from five secondary schools in Central England, United Kingdom, were recruited into the study. Schools were mostly mixed-faith, mixed-gender (except for one girls' grammar school), and represented different social-economic backgrounds. Following child and/or parent refusals, dropouts (i.e., non-participation due

to, for example, pupil absence or school scheduling difficulties), and exclusions (see **Figure 1**), the final sample comprised 2,754 pupils with complete data for the bullying/victimization items (female; 56.8%, White British; 82.6%, age in years; M = 13.51, SD = 1.35).

All participants gave their informed consent and full ethical approval for the study was obtained from the University of Warwick's Ethics Committee.

Procedure

Schools were contacted and sent written details about the study. Once a school's involvement was confirmed, all pupils (aged 11–16 years) and their parents received information sheets and consent forms. Pupils could only participate if they had provided signed consent, and their parents had not returned a refusal form for their child's participation. The online assessment was completed in groups of 20–30 pupils (approximately 50 min) during the school day. At the start of each session, pupils were provided with a written overview about the study, and were given standardized instructions for completing the assessment. The survey was accessed *via* individual passwords, and could only be completed when at least one researcher and teacher were present.

Measures

Bullying Involvement

For self-reported bullying/victimization, the bullying and friendship interview schedule (48) was used. First, pupils were given 13 behavioral descriptions of victimization (36); five items related to direct victimization (e.g., "been called nasty names"), four items to relational victimization (e.g., "been made to do things you didn't want to do"), and four items related to cybervictimization (e.g., "had rumors spread about you online"). Pupils were asked how often they had experienced each behavior in the last six months; never, sometimes, quite a lot (several times a month), or a lot (at least once a week). The same items were adapted to assess bullying perpetration. Self-reported victims were pupils who responded with "quite a lot" or "a lot" to any of the 13 victimization items; self-reported bullies were pupils who responded with "quite a lot" or "a lot" to any one of 13 bullying items; and bully-victims were those pupils who had been identified as both a self-reported victim and bully (49, 50). Good reliability was found for the victimization ($\alpha = .84$) and bullying ($\alpha = .86$) items.

For peer-nominated bullying involvement, pupils were given a numbered list of students in their tutor/form group (broadly equivalent to the 'homeroom' in US schools). Participants were



FIGURE 1 | Flow diagram of recruitment and selection of schools and participants.

asked to nominate up to three pupils (including non-participating pupils), by selecting their corresponding number on screen, who were either victims or perpetrators of the behaviors described (e.g., for relational bullying; "Some people repeatedly leave people out of get-togethers, parties, trips or groups, get others to ignore people, or spread nasty lies, rumors, or stories about people on purpose. Which people in your form/tutor do this?"). To account for the variable number of 'nominating' participants in each tutor group, the victimized and bullying nominations were standardized within tutor groups to create a 'bullying' and 'victimization' z-score for each participant. Pupils were identified as a peer-nominated bully if their z-score was greater than one for the bullying items, and peer-nominated victims were those with z-scores >1 for the victimization. Finally, pupils with z-scores >1 for both the victimization and bullying items were classified as peer-nominated bully-victims. This study limited nominations to three pupils to encourage participants to consider who best fits the descriptions, rather than simply nominating most classmates (5, 31).

Peer Status

Social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity were assessed using a standard peer-nomination procedure (5, 20 51). For social impact and social preference, pupils were asked to nominate up to three members of their tutor group who they most and least wanted to hang around with. Participants could not nominate themselves, and could respond with "Nobody," "I don't know," or "I don't want to answer." Peer-nominations were summed and standardized within tutor groups to create separate z-scores for the 'most liked' and 'least liked' nominations. Social impact was calculated by summing the most and least liked z-scores, and a social preference score was obtained by subtracting the least liked z-score from the most liked z-score (20).

Similarly, for perceived popularity, participants were asked to nominate up to three classmates who were the 'most popular' and 'least popular'. Perceived popularity was then calculated by subtracting the standardized 'most popular' z-score by the 'least popular' z-score (5).

Behavioral and Emotional Difficulties

The strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ) (52) has been widely used to assess behavioral and emotional difficulties, and prosocial behavior in 11–17 year-olds (53). This selfreport measure consists of 25 items grouped into five subscales: hyperactivity, emotional symptoms, peer problems, conduct problems, and prosocial behavior.

Participants responded on a three-point scale; from 0 = not true to 2 = certainly true, to indicate how much they agreed with each statement. A score for each subscale was calculated by summing responses from the corresponding items. Higher scores indicate more difficulties, except for the prosocial subscale in which higher scores reflect more prosocial behavior. The peer problems subscale addresses aspects of peer victimization and popularity, and was therefore excluded from the analyses. Additionally, one item was removed from the conduct problems subscale as it described behavior associated with bullying. A total difficulties score was obtained by summing the hyperactivity, emotional symptoms and conduct problems subscales, with higher scores indicating more difficulties. Cronbach's alpha for total difficulties was.71 and.70 for the prosocial behaviour subscale.

Self-Esteem

Participants completed Rosenberg's Self-Esteem (SE) Scale (54), which includes 10 self-report items, with responses on a fourpoint scale; from 0 = "disagree a lot" to 3 = "agree a lot." All items were reverse-coded, whereby higher scores indicated lower selfesteem, and responses were summed to create a total self-esteem score. Cronbach alpha for the current sample was $\alpha = .89$.

Individual Characteristics

Pupils reported their gender, ethnicity, date of birth, and their parent's highest level of education (i.e., 1–11 years; no education to basic schooling, and >11 years; further education, college or university). Ethnicity was dichotomized into 'White British' and 'Other' due to the low prevalence of individual ethnic groups (e.g., 'Asian' was the next largest group at 6.1%). Schools provided data regarding participants' attendance (%) and pupil premium status. In the UK, pupil premium refers to extra funding that schools receive for disadvantaged pupils (including pupils who have been eligible for free school meals in the past six years). Pupil premium status for each participant ('yes'/'no') was obtained as an indicator of deprivation and/or financial assistance.

Analysis

Participants with whole scales missing for the self-reported bullying and victimization measure were excluded from the final sample, along with participants with more than one missing item per scale. Missing data for a single item was replaced with the mean value for that scale (stratified by gender), and bivariate analyses found no significant differences in bullying role or any demographic variable between those with complete or missing data.

Analysis of variance (ANOVAs) or chi-square comparisons were conducted to compare scores between the bullying roles for each of the demographic variables, and participants' scores for self-esteem, total difficulties (calculated from the difficulties subscales of the strength and difficulties questionnaire; SDQ) and prosocial behavior (the prosocial subscale of the SDQ). ANOVAs and Bonferroni adjusted post-hoc comparisons were also conducted to identify differences in the mean scores for social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity between the bullying roles. Finally, analysis of covariance (ANCOVAs) and Bonferroni adjusted post-hoc comparisons were conducted to compare mean scores between the bullying roles for social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity, whilst controlling for all demographic variables, scores for self-esteem, total difficulties and prosocial behavior (which were entered as covariates).

Eta squared (η^2) and partial eta squared ($\eta\rho^2$) is reported as a measure of effect size; with values of.0099,.0588, and.1379 as indicators of small, moderate, and large effect sizes, respectively (55, 56). Statistical significance was set at p < .05 and all analyses were computed using SPSS version 22.

RESULTS

Final Sample

Thirty-Three Pupils Were Identified as Missing From the Tutor Group Lists or Included on the Incorrect List. These Pupils Could Therefore Not Be Nominated by Other Participants and Were Excluded From the Analyses. the Final Sample of Participants Was Therefore 2,721; Female = 56.9%; White British = 82.4%; Age in Years; M = 13.51, SD = 1.36 (**Table 1**).

Bullying Roles

For self-reported bullying involvement, the percentage of participants identified in each of the four bullying groups were; bullies 2.2%, victims 21.7%, bully-victims 6.5%, and uninvolved 69.6%. For peer-nominated bullying involvement, the percentage of participants identified within each group were; bullies 13.2%, victims 12.1%, bully-victims 5.2%, and uninvolved 69.5%. Pupils were then assigned to a final 'combined' bullying role (see Table 1), based on the scores obtained for both the self-reported and peer-nomination measures (36). Bullies were either a selfreported or peer-nominated bully (and not also a self-reported or peer-nominated victim), and victims were those identified as either a self-reported or peer-nominated victim (and not also a self-reported or peer-nominated bully). For the combined bully-victim role, participants were; 1) either a self-reported bully-victim or peer-nominated bully-victim, 2) either a selfreported victim and a peer-nominated bully, or 3) a self-reported bully and a peer-nominated victim. Participants who were not identified as a bully, victim, or bully-victim on the self-report or peer-nomination measures were categorized as uninvolved.

Differences Between Bullying Roles for Demographic Variables and Scores for Self-Esteem, Total Difficulties, and Prosocial Behavior

Demographic data for each bullying group is reported in **Table 1**, in addition to the mean scores for total difficulties, prosocial behavior, self-esteem, and each of the peer status variables (social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity). The results of the Bonferroni adjusted group comparisons (chi-squares, one-way ANOVAs) are also displayed.

Of the demographic variables, gender ($\chi^2(3) = 14.68$, p = .002), age (F(3,2717) = 11.87, p < .001), attendance (F(3,2263) = 9.08, p < .001), and pupil premium status ($\chi^2(3) = 46.49$, p < .001) showed significant differences between the bullying roles (**Table 1**). There were significantly more males identified as bully-victims than victims (p = .002) and those uninvolved (p < .001), and the perpetration groups (bullies and bully-victims) had a higher mean age than both the uninvolved and victim group (p < .001). Uninvolved adolescents had significantly higher attendance at school than bullies (p = .027), victims (p = .001), and bully-victims (p < .001), and there were significantly less uninvolved adolescents with pupil premium status compared to the other groups (p < .001).

There was also a significant main effect of bullying role on total difficulties (F(3,2664) = 130.41, p < .001), self-esteem

	N (%)	Total	Bully	Victim	Bully-victim	Uninvolved	Differences between
		2721	279 (10.3)	649 (23.9)	390 (14.3)	1403 (51.6)	 bullying roles
Gender	Female %	56.9	49.5	58.7	46.7	60.3	χ ² = 14.68, <i>p</i> = .002
	Male %	43.1	50.5	41.3	53.3	39.7	
Age (years)	Mean	13.51	13.88	13.36	13.73	13.44	F(3,2717) = 11.87, <i>p</i> < .001
	(SD)	(1.36)	(1.38)	(1.34)	(1.29)	(1.36)	
Ethnicity	White British %	82.4	80.7	82.2	82.7	82.8	$\chi^2(3) = 1.17, \boldsymbol{p} = .760$
	Other %	17.6	19.3	17.8	17.3	17.2	
Attendance	Mean	95.60	95.07	95.11	95.15	96.07	<i>F</i> (3,2263) = 9.08, <i>p</i> < .001
	(SD)	4.64	4.52	5.40	4.78	4.17	
Parent Ed	≤11 years %	12.3	13.3	13.3	14.6	11.0	$\chi^2(3) = 5.92 p = .116$
	> 11 years %	87.7	86.7	86.7	85.4	89.0	
PP	No %	78.1	71.2	73.7	70.2	83.7	$\chi^2(3) = 46.49, p < .001$
	Yes %	21.9	28.8	26.3	29.8	16.3	
SDQ	Mean		12.87	14.77	16.63	10.67	<i>F</i> (3,2664) = 130.41, <i>p</i> < .00
	(SD)		(5.91)	(6.49)	(6.55)	(5.68)	
Prosocial	Mean		11.61	12.10	11.13	12.10	<i>F</i> (3,2717) = 16.98, <i>p</i> < .001
	(SD)		(2.54)	(2.26)	(2.96)	(2.53)	
SE	Mean		20.48	23.17	23.28	20.25	<i>F</i> (3,2717) = 57.54, <i>p</i> < .001
	(SD)		(5.86)	(6.12)	(6.66)	(5.08)	
Impact	Mean		.276	.056	.292	154	<i>F</i> (3,2717) = 19.35, <i>p</i> < .001
	(SD)		(1.244)	(1.257)	(1.360)	(1.173)	
Preference	Mean		050	190	513	.239	<i>F</i> (3,2717) = 31.68, <i>p</i> < .001
	(SD)		(1.411)	(1.537)	(1.812)	(1.344)	- · · · ·
Popularity	Mean		.691	369	077	.079	<i>F</i> (3,2717) = 31.499, <i>p</i> < .00
. ,	(SD)		(1.553)	(1.611)	(1.854)	(1.376)	

Parent Ed, parent's education; PP, pupil premium status; SDQ, total difficulties; SE, self-esteem.

(F(3,2717) = 57.54, p < .001), and prosocial behavior (F(3,2717) = 16.98, p < .001). For total difficulties, there were significant differences between all of the groups (all p < .001), whereby those uninvolved had the lowest scores, followed by bullies, and bully-victims overall showed the highest levels of difficulties. Bullies and uninvolved adolescents had significantly higher self-esteem than both victims and bully-victims (p < .001). Bullies (p = .032) and bully-victims (p < .001) had lower levels of prosocial behavior than the uninvolved group, and victims were significantly higher in prosocial behavior than bully-victims (p < .001)

Differences Between Bullying Roles for Peer Status

One-way ANOVAs were first conducted to compare bullying roles on social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity (**Table 1**). All demographic variables, and scores for total difficulties, self-esteem, and prosocial behavior that showed significant differences between the groups, were then entered as covariates into the model. Adjusted means for and Bonferroni comparisons (whilst controlling for gender, age, attendance, pupil premium status, total difficulties, self-esteem, and prosocial behavior), are reported for the bullying roles in **Table 2**. Finally, **Figure 2** shows the mean differences in z-scores between the 'involved' roles (bullies, victims, and bully-victims) and those not involved for social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity.

Social Impact

In the unadjusted model, bullying role had a significant main effect on social impact (F(3,2717) = 19.35, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .021$), whereby the uninvolved group were significantly lower in social impact than bullies (p < .001), victims (p = .002), and bullyvictims (p < .001). Moreover, bully-victims were significantly higher in social impact than victims (p = .017). When adjusted for the inclusion of covariates, the significant main effect of bullying role remained (F(3,2197) = 17.25, p < .001, $\eta \rho^2 = .023$), whereby the uninvolved group were lower in social impact than bullies (p < .001), victims (p = .007), and bully-victims (p < .001). Bully-victims also remained significantly higher in social impact than victims (p = .006).

Social Preference

The one-way ANOVA for social preference found a significant main effect of bullying role (F(3,2717) = 31.68, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .034$). Bully-victims had significantly lower social preference than bullies (p = .001), victims (p = .004) and the uninvolved group (p < 001), and victims were also significantly lower in social preference compared to those uninvolved (p < .001). With the inclusion of covariates in the model, the main effect of bullying role remained significant (F(3,2197) = 19.18, p < .001, $\eta \rho^2 = .026$), whereby bully-victims were significantly lower in social preference than bullies (p = .001), victims (p = .004), and the uninvolved group (p < 001). Uninvolved adolescents also remained significantly higher in social preference than victims (p < .001).

Perceived Popularity

In the unadjusted model for perceived popularity, there was a significant main effect of bullying role ($F(3,2717) = 31.50 \ p < .001, \ \eta^2 = .034$); whereby bullies had significantly higher levels of perceived popularity than all other groups (p < .001). Moreover, victims were significantly lower in perceived popularity than bully-victims (p = .019) and those uninvolved (p < .001). When adjusted for the inclusion of the covariates, the significant main effect was maintained ($F(3,2717) = 31.50 \ p < .001, \ \eta \rho^2 = .027$); with bullies remaining higher in perceived popularity than all other groups (p < .001), and victims scoring significant lower than those uninvolved (p < .001). The difference between victims and bully-victims however was no longer significant.

DISCUSSION

The primary aim of this study was to explore the peer status of adolescents involved in bullying by making direct comparisons between those involved (i.e., bullies, victims, and bully-victims) and those uninvolved on social impact, social preference, and perceived popularity. Secondly, the influence that involvement in bullying has on peer status, above other demographic and individual characteristics, was investigated. Bullying role had a significant main effect on all aspects of peer status. Compared to uninvolved adolescents, all those involved in bullying had higher

		Social Impact ¹			5	Social Preference ²			Perceived Popularity ³		
	_	м	SE	95% CI	м	SE	95% CI	М	SE	95% CI	
Role	Uninvolved	170 ª	.038	243,096	.224 a	.045	.135, .313	.054 ª	.046	037, .145	
	Bully	.292 ^{b c}	.085	.126, .458	.015 ^{a b}	.102	186, .215	.653 b	.105	.447, .858	
	Victim Bully-victim	.047 ^ь .333 ∘	.054 .070	059, .152 .195, .471	166 ^ь 481 °	.065 .085	293,039 647,314	304 ^c 090 ^{a c}	.066 .087	434,174 260, .081	

Role means are adjusted for the inclusion of covariates: gender, age (in years), attendance, pupil premium status and scores for self-esteem, total difficulties and prosocial behavior.

For each model, roles that do not share the same superscript $\binom{a \ b \ c}{a}$ are significantly different at the p < .05 level.

¹Significant covariate(s); prosocial behavior only (F(1,2197) = 5.72, p = .017).

²Significant covariate(s); age (F(1,2197) = 6.75, p = .009), attendance (F(1,2197) = 9.56, p = .002), pupil premium status (F(1,2197) = 4.52, p = .034), and self-esteem (F(1,2197) = 4.33, p = .037).

³Significant covariate(s); age (F(1,2197) = 30.48, p < .001), self-esteem (F(1,2197) = 12.89, p =. < 001), and total difficulties (F(1,2197) = 5.76, p = .016).



social impact. In comparison to all other roles, bullies had higher levels of perceived popularity, whereas bully-victims were lower in social preference. These differences remained when controlling for demographic variables, and scores for overall difficulties, selfesteem, and prosocial behavior.

These findings support previous claims that during adolescence, bullies often have a dominant position within the peer group (22, 23). In this study, bullies had higher perceived popularity than their victimized and uninvolved peers, and although it is uncertain if their perceived popularity is a direct result of bullying others, this suggests that bullies incur few social costs from their behavior (57). Moreover, bullies were not significantly lower in social preference than those uninvolved, which supports previous findings that bullies in fact have an average level of social preference (17), and overall a controversial status amongst peers (24, 58, 59).

With regards to resource control theories of aggression, bullying may be used to access resources or gain social dominance (32, 60), and for many bullies, this behavior may be successful in achieving high social status (4). Thus, the high levels of perceived popularity associated with this group could act as both a motivation and a reward for their behavior (23, 32). It is possible however that this group may possess other characteristics that contribute to their popular status (18); i.e., they may be strong, athletic, or physically attractive. Bullies have also been described as callous, strategic, and manipulative (32, 61) and therefore able to adopt more sophisticated and hidden forms of bullying (62), or coax peers into believing that the bullying is justified (26). These traits and characteristics, along with a reputation for rule-breaking that many peers see as 'cool' (23, 35), may help bullies maintain their dominant status within the peer group (63).

Conversely, victims have been associated with characteristics that may make them vulnerable for victimization and its persistence over time; i.e., being anxious, sensitive, or lacking confidence (26, 64, 65). In the adjusted model, victims were perceived as less popular compared to non-victimized adolescents (i.e., bullies and uninvolved), and this low popularity can be considered both a consequence of being bullied and a risk factor for victimization (5). Bullies may see those with lower social status as 'easy targets', and believe there is less risk of being punished by the peer group for selecting these targets (45, 66). Victims in this study also had lower social preference than uninvolved peers. Victims may avoid social situations (67), but also peers may be reluctant to be affiliated with a known victim through fear of jeopardising their own social position or becoming targets themselves (24). Positive peer relationships are reported to provide resilience against victimization (68, 69), and therefore the attitudes of the whole peer group should be addressed to provide more social support and ultimately raise the social status of victimized youth.

Bullies and bully-victims both had high levels of social impact, however they were different across the other measures of peer status. Bully-victims were significantly lower in social preference and perceived popularity than bullies, and this may reflect potential differences in the way that aggression is used between these two groups. Bully-victims may represent the coercive and socially marginalized aggressors described by resource control theories (7). These adolescents may lack efficient cognitive, social, and emotional skills (8, 38, 39), and fail to successfully use a combination of coercive and prosocial strategies in their pursuit of social dominance (2, 70). Bully-victims could therefore experience feelings of hopelessness and social defeat (71), and this could account for some of the adverse physical and psychological outcomes reported for this group (39, 72, 73). Thus, although adolescent bullies and bully-victims appear to have a similar impact on their social worlds, their social experiences are distinct (74), and our findings show that having high social impact is not necessarily a positive attribute for overall peer status.

There are a number of limitations to this study. Firstly, the design was cross-sectional and therefore causality cannot be inferred from the associations reported. Longitudinal studies have reported a bi-directional association (17, 34), and some suggest that bullying/victimization and popularity reinforce each other over time (34, 45). Secondly, the findings relate to pupils from the five secondary schools recruited, and although these schools showed socioeconomic and ethnic diversity, they may not be representative of the UK as a whole, although prevalence and patterns match those of a recent nation-wide study (75). Thirdly, a number of potentially influential physical characteristics (i.e., attractiveness or athleticism) were not assessed. These attributes have shown associations with both popularity and bullying/ victimization (23, 76), and have been reported to strengthen the relationship between bullying and popularity (77). It is, therefore, possible that having positive physical attributes, along with other peer-valued characteristics, could influence the associations reported here, and have potentially varying effects on status outcomes for males and females (18).

A major strength of this study was the combined use of selfand peer-reports to identify those involved in bullying. A low agreement between informants has been shown in research in other areas such as mental health (78); where the use of multiple informants and combining measures is recommended for more accurate assessment of pervasive mental health problems (78-80). This low agreement has also been shown previously for bullying roles between self-report and peer-nominations, with only a small number of bullies are identified by self-reports (81, 82). Studies using self-reports have reduced statistical power to systematically investigate bullies, even in large samples (83). In this study, we combined the self- and peer-reports, which reduced the risk of shared variance with the peer status measures, whilst retaining the statistical power of the comparisons. Researchers should work towards reaching a consensus in how bullying and victimization is measured in order to produce more consistent and comparable findings across studies.

In conclusion, adolescent bullies, victims, and bully-victims have a greater impact on their social worlds than those not involved in bullying. Bullies receive social rewards in the form of increased perceived popularity amongst peers, whereas those who are victimized appear to be neither the popular nor accepted

REFERENCES

- Garandeau CF, Lee IA, Salmivalli C. Differential effects of the KiVa antibullying program on popular and unpopular bullies. J Appl Dev Psychol (2014) 35:44–50. doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2013.10.004
- Hawley PH. Prosocial and coercive configurations of resource control in early adolescence: a case for the well-adapted Machiavellian. *Merrill-Palmer* Q (2003) 49:279–309. doi: 10.1353/mpq.2003.0013

members of the classroom. Changing the behavior of a popular bully is a challenging task, and thus, alternative and ultimately more prosocial means by which bullies can maintain their social status should be promoted within child and adolescent populations (1). The contribution that being a bully, victim, or bully-victim has on peer status, suggests a need to address the whole peer group in order to improve the social status of victims and bully-victims, and inhibit the social environment that allows bullies to thrive.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of BPS ethical guidelines and the University of Warwick's ethics committee, with written informed consent from all subjects. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. The protocol was approved by the University of Warwick's ethics committee.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AG and DW conceived the study and all authors contributed to the study design. AG and KL carried out the data collection. AG produced the first draft of the manuscript and all authors revised the manuscript and approved the final version.

FUNDING

AG and KL were supported to undertake this research by a fellowship from the Department of Psychology, University of Warwick.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Some of the content in this report is based on information originally produced for the author's PhD thesis (unpublished). This has been referenced within the manuscript.

- Hawley PH, Little TD, Card NA. The allure of a mean friend: relationship quality and processes of aggressive adolescents with prosocial skills. *Int J Behav Dev* (2007) 31:170–80. doi: 10.1177/0165025407074630
- Caravita S, Cillessen AH. Agentic or communal? Associations between interpersonal goals, popularity, and bullying in middle childhood and early adolescence. Soc Dev (2012) 21:376–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2011.00632.x
- 5. de Bruyn EH, Cillessen AH, Wissink IB. Associations of peer acceptance and perceived popularity with bullying and victimization

in early adolescence. J Early Adolescence (2010) 30:543-66. doi: 10.1177/0272431609340517

- Cook CR, Williams KR, Guerra NG, Kim TE, Sadek S. Predictors of bullying and victimization in childhood and adolescence: a meta-analytic investigation. *School Psychol Q* (2010) 25:65. doi: 10.1037/a0020149
- Rodkin PC, Espelage DL, Hanish LD. A relational framework for understanding bullying: developmental antecedents and outcomes. *Am Psychol* (2015) 70:311. doi: 10.1037/a0038658
- Guy A, Lee K, Wolke D. Differences in the early stages of social information processing for adolescents involved in bullying. *Aggressive Behavior* (2017). doi: 10.1002/ab.21716
- Shakoor S, Jaffee SR, Bowes L, Ouellet-Morin I, Andreou P, Happé F, et al. A prospective longitudinal study of children's theory of mind and adolescent involvement in bullying. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2012) 53:254–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2011.02488.x
- Sutton J, Smith PK, Swettenham J. Bullying and 'theory of mind': a critique of the 'social skills deficit'view of anti-social behavior. *Soc Dev* (1999) 8:117–27. doi: 10.1111/1467-9507.00083
- Sutton J, Smith PK, Swettenham J. Social cognition and bullying: Social inadequacy or skilled manipulation? *Br J Dev Psychol* (1999) 17:435–50. doi: 10.1348/026151099165384
- LaFontana KM, Cillessen AH. Children's interpersonal perceptions as a function of sociometric and peer-perceived popularity. J Genet Psychol (1999) 160:225–42. doi: 10.1080/00221329909595394
- Cillessen AH, Rose AJ. Understanding popularity in the peer system. Curr Dir In Psychol Sci (2005) 14:102–5. doi: 10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00343.x
- Bukowski WM, Sippola LK. Groups, individuals, and victimization: a view of the peer system. In: Graham S, Juvonen J, editors. *Peer harassment in school*. Guilford (2001). p. 355–77.
- LaFontana KM, Cillessen AH. Children's perceptions of popular and unpopular peers: a multimethod assessment. *Dev Psychol* (2002) 38:635. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.38.5.635
- Newcomb AF, Bukowski WM, Pattee L. Children's peer relations: a meta-analytic review of popular, rejected, neglected, controversial, and average sociometric status. *Am Psychol Assoc* (1993). doi: 10.1037//0033-2909.113.1.99
- Reijntjes A, Vermande M, Olthof T, Goossens FA, Van De Schoot R, Aleva L, et al. Costs and benefits of bullying in the context of the peer group: a three wave longitudinal analysis. *J Abnormal Child Psychol* (2013) 41:1217–29. doi: 10.1007/s10802-013-9759-3
- Vaillancourt T, Hymel S. Aggression and social status: the moderating roles of sex and peer-valued characteristics. *Aggressive Behav* (2006) 32:396–408. doi: 10.1002/ab.20138
- Garandeau CF, Lee IA, Salmivalli C. Inequality matters: classroom status hierarchy and adolescents' bullying. J Youth Adolescence (2014) 43:1123–33. doi: 10.1007/s10964-013-0040-4
- Schäfer M, Korn S, Brodbeck FC, Wolke D, Schulz H. Bullying roles in changing contexts: the stability of victim and bully roles from primary to secondary school. *Int J Behav Dev* (2004) 29:323–35. doi: 10.1080/01650250544000107
- Garandeau CF, Ahn H-J, Rodkin PC. The social status of aggressive students across contexts: the role of classroom status hierarchy, academic achievement, and grade. *Dev Psychol* (2011) 47:1699. doi: 10.1037/a0025271
- Caravita S, Di Blasio P, Salmivalli C.Unique and interactive effects of empathy and social status on involvement in bullying. *Soc Dev* (2009) 18:140–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2008.00465.x
- Vaillancourt T, Hymel S, McDougall P. Bullying is power: implications for school-based intervention strategies. J Appl School Psychol (2003) 19:157–76. doi: 10.1300/J008v19n02_10
- Sentse M, Dijkstra JK, Salmivalli C, Cillessen AH. The dynamics of friendships and victimization in adolescence: a longitudinal social network perspective. *Aggressive Behav* (2013) 39:229–38. doi: 10.1002/ab.21469
- Sentse M, Scholte R, Salmivalli C, Voeten M. Person-group dissimilarity in involvement in bullying and its relation with social status. J Abnormal Child Psychol (2007) 35:1009–19. doi: 10.1007/s10802-007-9150-3
- Garandeau CF, Cillessen AH. From indirect aggression to invisible aggression: A conceptual view on bullying and peer group manipulation. *Aggression Violent Behav* (2006) 11:612–25. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2005.08.005

- de Bruyn EH, Cillessen AH. Popularity in early adolescence: Prosocial and antisocial subtypes. J Adolesc Res (2006) 21:607–27. doi: 10.1177/0743558406293966
- Copeland WE, Wolke D, Angold A, Costello EJ. Adult psychiatric outcomes of bullying and being bullied by peers in childhood and adolescence. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2013) 70:419–26. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504
- Veenstra R, Lindenberg S, Oldehinkel AJ, De Winter AF, Verhulst FC, Ormel J. Bullying and victimization in elementary schools: a comparison of bullies, victims, bully/victims, and uninvolved preadolescents. *Dev Psychol* (2005) 41:672. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.41.4.672
- Andreou E. Bully/victim problems and their association with psychological constructs in 8-to 12-year-old Greek schoolchildren. Aggressive Behav: Off J Int Soc Res Aggression (2000) 26(1):49–56. doi: 10.1002/ (SICI)1098-2337(2000)26:1<49::AID-AB4>3.0.CO;2-M
- Juvonen J, Graham S, Schuster MA. Bullying among young adolescents: The strong, the weak, and the troubled. *Pediatrics* (2003) 112:1231–7. doi: 10.1542/peds.112.6.1231
- Olthof T, Goossens FA, Vermande MM, Aleva EA, van der Meulen M. Bullying as strategic behavior: Relations with desired and acquired dominance in the peer group. J School Psychol (2011) 49:339–59. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2011.03.003
- Postigo S, González R, Mateu C, Montoya I. Predicting bullying: maladjustment, social skills and popularity. *Educ Psychol* (2012) 32:627–39. doi: 10.1080/01443410.2012.680881
- Cillessen AH, Mayeux L. From censure to reinforcement. Developmental changes in the association between aggression and social status (2004). doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2004.00660.x
- Rodkin PC, Farmer TW, Pearl R, Acker RV. They're cool: social status and peer group supports for aggressive boys and girls. Soc Dev (2006) 15:175– 204. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2006.00336.x
- Wolke D, Lee K, Guy A. Cyberbullying: a storm in a teacup? Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2017) 26:899–908. doi: 10.1007/s00787-017-0954-6
- O'Brennan LM, Bradshaw CP, Sawyer AL. Examining developmental differences in the social-emotional problems among frequent bullies, victims, and bully/victims. *Psychol In Schools* (2009) 46:100–15. doi: 10.1002/ pits.20357
- Unnever JD. Bullies, aggressive victims, and victims: are they distinct groups? Aggressive Behav (2005) 31:153–71. doi: 10.1002/ab.20083
- Haynie DL, Nansel T, Eitel P, Crump AD, Saylor K, Yu K, et al. Bullies, victims, and bully/victims: distinct groups of at-risk youth. J Early Adolescence (2001) 21:29–49. doi: 10.1177/0272431601021001002
- Solberg ME, Olweus D, Endresen IM. Bullies and victims at school: are they the same pupils? *BrJEduc Psychol* (2007) 77:441–64. doi: 10.1348/000709906X105689
- Yang A, Li X, Salmivalli C. Maladjustment of bully-victims: validation with three identification methods. *Educ Psychol* (2016) 36:1390–407. doi: 10.1080/01443410.2015.1015492
- 42. Wolke D, Woods S, Stanford K, Schulz H. Bullying and victimization of primary school children in England and Germany: prevalence and school factors. *Br J Psychol* (2001) 92:673–96. doi: 10.1348/000712601162419
- Pellegrini AD, Bohn-Gettler CM, Dupuis D, Hickey M, Roseth C, Solberg D. An empirical examination of sex differences in scoring preschool children's aggression. J Exp Child Psychol (2011) 109:232–8. doi: 10.1016/j. jecp.2010.11.003
- Card NA, Hodges EV. Peer victimization among schoolchildren: correlations, causes, consequences, and considerations in assessment and intervention. *School Psychol Q* (2008) 23:451. doi: 10.1037/a0012769
- Sentse M, Kretschmer T, Salmivalli C. The longitudinal interplay between bullying, victimization, and social status: age-related and gender differences. *Soc Dev* (2015) 24:659–77. doi: 10.1111/sode.12115
- Lee K, Guy A, Dale J, Wolke D. Does psychological functioning mediate the relationship between bullying involvement and weight loss preoccupation in adolescents? A two-stage cross-sectional study. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Activity* (2017) 14:38. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0491-1
- Guy A. The social and emotional profiles of adolescent bullies, victims, and bully-victims. (Unpublished PhD thesis). Coventry (Warwickshire): University of Warwick (2017).
- 48. Wolke D, Woods S, Bloomfield L, Karstadt L. The association between direct and relational bullying and behavior problems among primary

- Wolke D, Woods S, Bloomfield L, Karstadt L. Bullying involvement in primary school and common health problems. *Arch Dis In Childhood* (2001) 85:197–201. doi: 10.1136/adc.85.3.197
- Woods S, Wolke D. Direct and relational bullying among primary school children and academic achievement. J School Psychol (2004) 42:135–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2003.12.002
- Coie JD, Kupersmidt JB. A behavioral analysis of emerging social status in boys' groups. *Child Dev* (1983), 1400–16. doi: 10.2307/1129803
- Goodman R. The strengths and difficulties questionnaire: a research note. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (1997) 38:581–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997. tb01545.x
- Goodman R, Ford T, Simmons H, Gatward R, Meltzer H. Using the strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ) to screen for child psychiatric disorders in a community sample. *Int Rev Psychiatry* (2003) 15:166–72. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.177.6.534
- Rosenberg M. Society and the adolescent self-image. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press (1965). doi: 10.1515/9781400876136
- Cohen J. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (Rev. ed.). New York: Academic (1977).
- Richardson JT. Eta squared and partial eta squared as measures of effect size in educational research. *Educ Res Rev* (2011) 6:135–47. doi: 10.1016/j. edurev.2010.12.001
- Eslea M, Menesini E, Morita Y, O'Moore M, Mora-Merchán JA, Pereira B, et al. Friendship and loneliness among bullies and victims: data from seven countries. *Aggressive Behav* (2004) 30:71–83. doi: 10.1002/ab.20006
- Warden D, Mackinnon S. Prosocial children, bullies and victims: An investigation of their sociometric status, empathy and social problem-solving strategies. Br J Dev Psychol (2003) 21:367–85. doi: 10.1348/026151003322277757
- Wolke D, Stanford K. Bullying in school children. In: Messer D, Millar S, editors. *Developmental Psychology*. Arnold Publisher (1999). p. 341–60.
- Monks CP, Smith PK, Naylor P, Barter C, Ireland JL, Coyne I. Bullying in different contexts: commonalities, differences and the role of theory. *Aggression Violent Behav* (2009) 14:146–56. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2009.01.004
- Ciucci E, Baroncelli A. The emotional core of bullying: further evidences of the role of callous-unemotional traits and empathy. *Pers Individ Dif* (2014) 67:69–74. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2013.09.033
- Leff SS, Patterson CJ, Kupersmidt JB, Power TJ. Factors influencing teacher identification of peer bullies and victims. *School Psychol Rev* (1999) 28:505.
- Salmivalli C. Bullying and the peer group: a review. Aggression Violent Behav (2010) 15:112–20. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2009.08.007
- Salmivalli C, Kaukiainen A, Kaistaniemi L, Lagerspetz KM. Self-evaluated self-esteem, peer-evaluated self-esteem, and defensive egotism as predictors of adolescents' participation in bullying situations. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull* (1999) 25:1268–78. doi: 10.1177/0146167299258008
- Schoeler T, Choi SW, Dudbridge F, Baldwin J, Duncan L, Cecil CM, et al. Multi-polygenic score approach to identifying individual vulnerabilities associated with the risk of exposure to bullying. *JAMA Psychiatry* (2019) 76(7):730–8. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.0310
- Salmivalli C, Isaacs J. Prospective relations among victimization, rejection, friendlessness, and children's self-and peer-perceptions. *Child Dev* (2005) 76:1161–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2005.00841.x-i1
- Slee PT. Situational and interpersonal correlates of anxiety associated with peer victimization. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev* (1994) 25:97–107. doi: 10.1007/BF02253289
- Boulton MJ, Trueman M, Chau C, Whitehand C, Amatya K. Concurrent and longitudinal links between friendship and peer victimization: implications for befriending interventions. *J Adolescence* (1999) 22:461–6. doi: 10.1006/ jado.1999.0240

- Fox CL, Boulton MJ. The social skills problems of victims of bullying: self, peer and teacher perceptions. Br J Educ Psychol (2006) 75:313–28. doi: 10.1348/000709905X25517
- Hawley PH. The duality of human nature: coercion and prosociality in youths' hierarchy ascension and social success. *Curr Dir In Psychol Sci* (2014) 23:433–8. doi: 10.1177/0963721414548417
- Björkqvist K. Social defeat as a stressor in humans. *Physiol Behav* (2001) 73:435–42. doi: 10.1016/S0031-9384(01)00490-5
- Kontak JC, Kirk SF, Robinson L, Ohinmaa A, Veugelers PJ. The relationship between bullying behaviours in childhood and physician-diagnosed internalizing disorders. *Can J Public Health* (2019), 1–9. doi: 10.17269/ s41997-019-00179-3
- Wolke D, Copeland WE, Angold A, Costello EJ. Impact of bullying in childhood on adult health, wealth, crime, and social outcomes. *Psychol Sci* (2013) 24:1958–70. doi: 10.1177/0956797613481608
- Farmer TW, Petrin RA, Robertson DL, Fraser MW, Hall CM, Day SH, et al. Peer relations of bullies, bully-victims, and victims: the two social worlds of bullying in second-grade classrooms. *Elementary School J* (2010) 110:364– 92. doi: 10.1086/648983
- Przybylski AK, Bowes L. Cyberbullying and adolescent well-being in England: a population-based cross-sectional study. *Lancet Child Adolesc Health* (2017) 1:19–26. doi: 10.1016/S2352-4642(17)30011-1
- Stoltz S, Cillessen AH, van den Berg YH, Gommans R. Popularity differentially predicts reactive and proactive aggression in early adolescence. *Aggressive Behav* (2016) 42:29–40. doi: 10.1002/ab.21603
- 77. Dijkstra JK, Lindenberg S, Verhulst FC, Ormel J, Veenstra R. The relation between popularity and aggressive, destructive, and normbreaking behaviors: moderating effects of athletic abilities, physical attractiveness, and prosociality. J Res Adolescence (2009) 19:401–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2009.00594.x
- Achenbach TM, Krukowski RA, Dumenci L, Ivanova MY. Assessment of adult psychopathology: meta-analyses and implications of cross-informant correlations. *Psychol Bull* (2005) 131:361. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.131.3.361
- Ablow JC, Measelle JR, Kraemer HC, Harrington R, Luby J, Smider N, et al. The MacArthur three-city outcome study: evaluating multi-informant measures of young children's symptomatology. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry (1999) 38:1580–90. doi: 10.1097/00004583-199912000-00020
- Samara M, Marlow N, Wolke Dfor the, E. S. G. Pervasive behavior problems at 6 years of age in a total-population sample of children born at <=25 weeks of gestation. *Pediatrics* (2008) 122(3):562–73. doi: 10.1542/peds.2007-3231
- Solberg ME, Olweus D. Prevalence estimation of school bullying with the olweus bully/victim questionnaire. *Aggressive Behav* (2003) 29:239–68. doi: 10.1002/ab.10047
- Tippett N, Wolke D, Platt L. Ethnicity and bullying involvement in a national UK youth sample. J Adolescence (2013) 36:639–49. doi: 10.1016/j. adolescence.2013.03.013
- Wolke D, Lereya ST, Fisher H, Lewis G, Zammit S. Bullying in elementary school and psychotic experiences at 18 years: a longitudinal, populationbased cohort study. *Psychol Med* (2014) 44:2199–211. doi: 10.1017/ S0033291713002912

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Guy, Lee and Wolke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bullying History and Mental Health in University Students: The Mediator Roles of Social Support, Personal Resilience, and Self-Efficacy

Muyu Lin¹, Dieter Wolke², Silvia Schneider³ and Jürgen Margraf^{1*}

¹ Department of Clinical Psychology and Psychotherapy, Mental Health Research & Treatment Center, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Bochum, Germany, ² Department of Psychology and Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom, ³ Department of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology of the Faculty of Psychology, Mental Health Research & Treatment Center, Ruhr-Universität Bochum, Bochum, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

liyan Ivanov, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

Reviewed by:

Pratibha N. Reebye, University of British Columbia, Canada Cheng-Fang Yen, Kaohsiung Medical University, Taiwan

> ***Correspondence:** Jürgen Margraf juergen.Margraf@rub.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 April 2019 Accepted: 04 December 2019 Published: 14 January 2020

Citation:

Lin M, Wolke D, Schneider S and Margraf J (2020) Bullying History and Mental Health in University Students: The Mediator Roles of Social Support, Personal Resilience, and Self-Efficacy. Front. Psychiatry 10:960. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00960 Bullying victimization by peers is highly prevalent in childhood and adolescence. There is convincing evidence that victimization is associated with adverse mental health consequences. In contrast, it has been found that perpetrators suffer no adverse mental health consequences. These findings originate from Western countries such as Germany but have rarely been investigated in collectivistic societies such as China. Furthermore, it has been rarely studied whether positive intrapersonal characteristics (e.g., personal resilience and self-efficacy) and interpersonal positive resources (e.g., social support) may mediate the impact of bullying on mental health. The current study used a path analytic model to examine, firstly, whether previous bullying experiences (both victimization and perpetration) are associated with current positive and negative mental health in university students and, secondly, whether these influences are mediated by social support, resilience, and self-efficacy. The model was tested in 5,912 Chinese and 1,935 German university students. It was found that in both countries, higher victimization frequency was associated with lower levels of social support, personal resilience, and selfefficacy, which in turn predicted poorer mental health. Moreover, and only in China, perpetration was negatively associated with social support and personal resilience but not self-efficacy. In contrast, in the German sample, perpetration experience was found to enhance one's self-efficacy, and the later was associated with better mental health. The results support a mediation model in which social support, personal resilience, and selfefficacy partially mediate the influence of victimization on mental health in both countries. For the relationship between perpetration and mental health, self-efficacy was the only full mediator in Germany, whereas in China, both social support and personal resilience were partial mediators. In conclusion, peer victimization has adverse effects on mental health in both Germany and China. Only in China, however, is perpetration also associated with adverse mental health outcomes. In contrast, getting ahead by bullying in an individualistic society such as Germany is associated with increased self-efficacy and mental health. The differences found between an individualistic country and a collectivistic country have important implications for understanding and planning interventions to reduce bullying.

Keywords: bullying, perpetrators, social support, self-efficacy, resilience, cross-cultural differences, positive mental health, mental illness

INTRODUCTION

Peer bullying at school is highly prevalent and has become an international concern (e.g., 1, 2). Victimization has been universally found to be associated with cross-sectional and long-term adverse mental health consequences, including more severe depression and anxiety symptoms (e.g., 3–5) and lower levels of positive mental health (e.g., 4).

In contrast, the relationships between bullying perpetration and health problems are not consistent across countries (2). In some countries such as Germany, Austria, the UK, the USA, and Denmark, bullies appear to be as healthy as non-involved peers, in terms of adult mental and general health (5, 6), except for a higher risk for antisocial personality (7) and alcohol use (2). However, in other countries such as China, Greece, or Israel, perpetrators have reported worse health problems and emotional adjustment (2, 8). Furthermore, bullies may perceive less social support than non-involved students in the USA and China (8, 9). The differences between bullies in different countries indicate that the same behavior may have different consequences depending on context and societal norms. Thus, a cross-national study that applies the same measures in different cultures may help to clarify the relationship between perpetration and mental health.

Only recently has research focused on factors that may help to explain how being bullied may be associated with adverse mental health outcomes (e.g., 10, 11). An increasing amount of urecharacteristics (e.g., personal resilience and self-efficacy) can promote mental well-being (12–14). These may be protective factors that mitigate the negative impact of bullying experience on mental health, meanwhile, they may also be influenced by the bullying experiences.

As one of the most prominent protective factors, perceived social support plays an essential part in preventing mental illness (e.g., 12, 13, 15). It has a remarkably consistent positive association with positive mental health (e.g., 16, 17). Perceived social support refers to an individual's feeling or evaluation of whether the social network is supportive enough to facilitate the individual's coping with tasks and stress or to achieve personal goals (18, 19). The link between social support and bullying has been well established, with poor social support highly associated with victimization by peers (e.g. 20, 21). Stress may erode the perception or effectiveness of social support (22). For instance, longitudinal evidence has shown that "continuous victims of bullying" had worse school attendance rates, which further isolated them from peers and undermined a healthy peer relationship (23). Furthermore, social support has been shown to mediate the negative effect of workplace or school bullying on positive or negative well-being (24, 25).

While some use friendships and family as protective buffers, others may rely on their resilience to overcome the adversity of victimization (10). Resilience can manifest in several ways. Personal resilience refers to the capacity to adapt, recover, and avoid potential deleterious effects after facing overwhelming adversity (14). Children and adolescents are in a constant process of development. Thus, their resilience trait is more likely to be influenced by situational factors such as bullying involvement during primary or secondary school periods. For example, negative life events negatively predict resilience in students (26) and parental HIV longitudinally affected resilience in children (27). Indeed, research has shown that resilience trait mediates the relationships between workspace bullying and physical strain (28) and between primary school bullying and depressive symptoms (29).

Another essential positive factors in stress regulation is selfefficacy. The perception of self-efficacy is the belief that one can perform novel or challenging tasks and attain desired outcomes, indicating a self-confident view of one's own capability to deal with stressors in life [see Social Cognitive Theory, (30, 31)]. High self-efficacy is associated with higher levels of optimism and life satisfaction (32, 33) and lower anxiety and depression (34). Meanwhile, prior experience is one of the most influential factors that shape self-efficacy (35). It is likely that a negative peer experience (i.e., victimization) or a mastery experience (i.e., perpetration) influence one's self-efficacy appraisal. For instance, previous research indicates that self-efficacy mediates the effect of stressful life events or daily stressors on both positive and negative mental health in samples from different cultures (36, 37).

Unlike social support and personal resilience, results on the relationship between self-efficacy and bullying involvement are mixed. In some research, both victimization and perpetration were found to be negatively associated with overall self-efficacy [Greek elementary school children: 38; Turkish middle school students: (39)]. In some cases, it has been found that victims have lower self-efficacy than bullies and those not involved in Chinese primary and German secondary school bullying. Bullies, on the other hand, do not tend to differ from not-involved peers in selfefficacy (8). There are also studies indicating that firmer selfefficacy beliefs are positively correlated to high levels of selfreported cyberbullying behaviors (40). A possible explanation for the mixed results regarding self-efficacy may be that a substantial number of persons are involved in both bullying perpetration and victimization (i.e., so-called bully-victims). Therefore, in the current study, the correlations between perpetration and victimization were controlled.

In sum, there is some consistency in the findings when it comes to social support and personal resilience as single mediators in the relationship between victimization and mental health. The role of self-efficacy has not yet been established. Thus social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy may be considered potential factors that protect against being bullied and may explain the impact of previous bullying severity on mental health. Therefore, the current study aimed to explore the role of perceived social support, personal resilience, and selfefficacy in the relationship between previous peer bullying experience (both victimization and perpetration) and current mental health (both positive mental health and mental illness symptoms) in university students using a mediation model (see Figure 1 for a hypothesized model). Bullying experience was measured with a retrospective inventory regarding victimization and perpetration frequency from primary schools to current universities. Our work aims to add insight into the relationship between school bullying and its long-term consequences during university. Both perpetration and victimization experiences were examined in one model in order to control for the correlation between them. Adding perpetration into the model was also predicted to expand our knowledge of how bullying behaviors impact one's mental health. Moreover, in order to expand on previous works that typically focused on only the mental illness, both the positive and negative aspects of mental health were outcome variables [measured by the Positive Mental Health scale, PMH; (41); and the Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale, DASS; (42)].

Furthermore, as reviewed above, there appear to be cultural differences in the effects of bullying perpetration on well-being and mental health. So far, our knowledge of bullying consequences is primarily based on studies carried out in western, individualistic societies. In more collectivistic cultures such as China, however, bullying and its mechanisms have rarely been investigated. There is evidence that bullies in China also suffer from concurrent or long-term problems such as poor life satisfaction, depression, suicide ideation, or psychoticism (e.g., 8, 43, 44), unlike the phenomena found in western countries where bullies typically do well (2, 5, 6). Therefore, the hypothesized model was tested within two separate samples: university students in China, a country that fosters Eastern Asian group-oriented culture (e.g., 45, 46); and students in Germany, a West



European individualistic country, where the ties between individuals are relatively loose (45).

Based on the research regarding bullying and its aversive consequences on mental health and the protective role of social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy (e.g., 3, 4, 10, 12, 32), it is hypothesized that in both countries, (a) social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy would be positively related to PMH and negatively related to DASS; (b) victimization experience would be positively related to DASS and negatively related to PMH and (c) social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy would mediate the relationship between victimization and mental health. Giving that bullies reported different mental health levels across various countries (2, 5, 8), we further hypothesized cross-cultural differences regarding the paths on perpetration.

METHOD

Participants

This study is part of the Bochum Optimism and Mental Health (BOOM) research project, which is a large-scale cross-cultural longitudinal investigation in mental health. The Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Psychology at Ruhr University Bochum approved the project. Chinese data were collected either by paper-pencil survey or online questionnaires, while German data were all collected via an online survey.

In total, 5,912 Chinese students from Capital Normal University (Beijing city), Shanghai Normal University (Shanghai city), Nanjing University (Nanjing city), Hebei United University (Tangshan city), and Guizhou University of Finance and Economics (Guiyang city) participated in the 2015 survey. All participants were in the fourth year of bachelor degree studies (age: 21.54 ± 1.20). Among them, 3,301 (60.0%) were female and 2,202 (40.0%) were male; 3,403 (60.1%) came from low affluent families, 1,687 (29.8%) from medium affluent families, Family affluence was measured and classified based on the scores on the 4-item Family Affluence Scale-II (47).

The German sample consists of 1,935 students (age: 21.73 ± 4.93) of Ruhr University Bochum (Bochum city) who took the survey at least once between 2015 and 2017. Among them, 1166 (61.7%) were female while 725 (38.3%) were male; 242 (15.7%) came from low affluent families, 812 (52.5%) from medium, and 492 (31.8%) from high affluent families; 1156 were in the freshman year, 105 in the sophomore year, 53 in the junior year, 99 in the senior year, 352 in the fifth year or higher, and 68 were in Ph.D. programs.

Questionnaires Bullying History

Peer victimization and perpetration experiences at primary school, secondary school, and currently at university were collected with the Retrospective Bullying Questionnaire [modified from (48)]. Behaviors of direct, relational and cyberbullying were first described. Participants rated how

Peer Bullying in China and Germany

frequently they perpetrated or received (victimization) the described behavior during each school period (primary school, secondary school, current university) from 1 (*never*), 2 (*once or twice*), 3 (*occasionally*), 4 (*about once a week*), to 5 (*several times a week*). The three victimization questions across all periods were summed for a total victimization score, while the three perpetration questions were summed for a total perpetration score. The Retrospective Bullying Questionnaire was test-retested in 287 German students with a one-year gap. The one-year test-retest reliability was.81 for school victimization and ranged from.55 to.60 for school perpetration.

Depression, Anxiety, and Stress Scale (DASS)

The 21-item DASS (42) assesses depression, anxiety, and stress symptoms (seven items for each) from the last seven days. Participants checked agreement on a four-point Likert scale from 0 (*did not apply to me at all*) to 3 (*applied to me very much or most of the time*). A higher score indicates severer mental illness symptoms. Cronbach's alpha was.93 in the German sample and.96 in the Chinese sample.

Positive Mental Health Scale (PMH)

The 9-item PMH (41) measures positive aspects of emotional well-being and health on 4-point Likert scales ranging from 0 (*do not agree*) to 3 (*agree*). A higher score indicates better general positive mental health. Cronbach's alpha was.91 in the German sample and.96 in the Chinese sample.

Resilience Scale

The 11-item Resilience Scale (49) is a short unidimensional version of the 25-item Resilience Scale from (14), which measures psychosocial stress-resistance (e.g., personal competence and acceptance of self and life) on scales ranging from 1 (disagree) to 7 (agree). Higher scores indicate a higher level of resilience. Internal consistency was.87 in the German sample and.90 in the Chinese sample.

Brief Perceived Social Support Questionnaire (F-SozU K-6)

The 6-item F-SozU (50) assesses general support that one perceives from the social network. Participants indicated agreement on 5-point Likert scales ranging from 1 (*not true at all*) to 5 (*very true*). Higher scores indicate a higher level of perceived social support. Cronbach's alpha was.87 in the German sample and.90 in the Chinese sample.

General Self-Efficacy Scale (GSE)

The 10-item GSE (51) was used to assess a general sense of one's ability to cope when facing unexpected situations. Items are rated on a 4-point likely scale ranging from 1 (*not agree*) to 4 (*totally agree*). Higher sum scores indicate a greater sense of self-efficacy. In the German sample, Cronbach's alpha was.88, and in the Chinese sample, .93.

Data Analysis

Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was used to examine the difference in bullying frequency (victimization and

perpetration) at each school period between China and Germany. In order to define the relationship between bullying experience, positive factors, and mental well-being, Mplus [version 7.4, (52)] was used to test the path analytic model. Full information maximum likelihood (FIML) estimation was used. The hypothesized model was defined with two correlated predictors (victimization and perpetration), three intercorrelated mediators (social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy), and two correlated dependent variables (DASS and PMH). Sum scores of all the scales were entered into the model. Bias-corrected bootstrapping (5000 times) was applied for testing the significance of indirect effects (53). Then, insignificant paths were removed one by one to simplify the model. Final models contained only significant paths. An adequate model fit was determined by a nonsignificant chi-square statistic, a root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA) <.06, a comparative fit index (CFI) >.95, and a standardized root-mean-square residual (SRMR) <.08 (54). The effect size of the standardized regression coefficient was interpreted as small (.14), medium (.39), and large (.59) based on Cohen (55); while the effect size of standardized indirect effects was interpreted as small (.01), medium (.09), and large (.25) as suggested by Kenny and Judd (56). The datasets for this study can be found in the online Supplementary Material.

RESULTS

Bullying Frequency in Both Countries

Table 1 presents the self-reported bullying frequency at primary, secondary school, and university. Results from MANOVA showed that both countries differed significantly for all periods; however, the effect size of bullying at university was trivial ($\eta^2_{part.}$ <.01). German students reported more frequently being bullied and bullying others than Chinese students during primary and secondary school.

Correlation Table

Table 2 presents the correlations between the variables. All variables were found to be significantly correlated with each other (p < .05), except for perpetration, which was not correlated with personal resilience and self-efficacy in the German sample. As expected, in both countries, victimization was positively related to perpetration and DASS, and negatively related to social support, personal resilience, self-efficacy, and PMH. Moreover, the three positive factors were positively intercorrelated with each other and with the two outcome measures. Additionally, in China, the effect sizes between perpetration and other variables were small to modest, whereas the same correlation in Germany had only trivial to small effects.

Mediated Path Analytic Model Within the German Sample

The results of the final mediated path model in the German sample indicate an excellent fit of the data, RMSEA <.0001 (90% confidence interval from <.0001 to.027), CFI = 1, SRMR =.004. The standardized path coefficients (p <.001) of the final model are shown in **Figure 2**. Victimization experience was negatively

TABLE 1 Means (M) and standardized deviations (SD) of	f bullying frequency in each school period.
---	---

Bullying	Variables	/ariables China		Germany			F (1, 7728)	$\eta^2_{part.}$	
		М	SD	N	М	SD	N		
Victimization	Primary school	1.42	0.82	5910	2.12	1.18	1935	859.50***	.100
	Secondary school	1.22	0.61	5892	2.30	1.27	1935	2533.05***	.247
	University	1.11	0.46	5890	1.21	0.61	1934	52.71***	.007
Perpetration	Primary school	1.18	0.58	5852	1.45	0.70	1935	288.55***	.036
	Secondary school	1.12	0.49	5858	1.51	0.74	1934	711.74***	.084
	University	1.08	0.41	5884	1.06	0.28	1933	7.86**	.001

***: p <.001; **: p <.01.

Variables	М	SD	Ν	Victimization	Perpetration	Social support	Resilience	Self-efficacy	РМН
					China				
Victimization	3.74	1.46	5,912	1					
Perpetraion	3.36	1.23	5,903	.465**	1				
Social support	24.45	4.20	5,902	189**	142**	1			
Resilience	59.17	9.33	5,885	151**	118**	.553**	1		
Self-efficacy	29.41	5.00	5,904	161**	072**	.472**	.589**	1	
PMH	20.47	4.95	5,906	212**	143**	.539**	.572**	.616**	1
DASS	8.48	10.75	5,896	.293**	.244**	349**	330**	248**	443**
					Germany				
Victimization	5.63	2.34	1,935	1					
Perpertration	4.02	1.35	1,935	.262**	1				
Social support	25.38	4.61	1,889	253**	064**	1			
Resilience	58.28	9.79	1,889	173**	026	.523**	1		
Self-efficacy	28.54	4.98	1,888	180**	.044	.451**	.706**	1	
PMH	17.85	5.91	1,887	279**	052*	.561**	.674**	.666**	1
DASS	16.55	12.31	1,885	.276**	.057*	434**	520**	530**	708**



linked with all three mediators and the two dependent variables, and the three mediators further associated negatively with DASS and positively with PMH, suggesting that social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy partially mediated the effect of victimization on the two mental health measures. Perpetration experience was significantly linked only with selfefficacy, the later further regressed positively on PMH and negatively on DASS, suggesting that self-efficacy fully mediated the effect of perpetration on mental health. The correlations between the two predictors, the three mediators, and the two dependent variables were all significant at.001 level. The effect sizes of the direct and indirect effects from the bootstrapping are presented in **Table 3**. In addition, the final model explained 58.1% of the variance in PMH, 37.0% in DASS, 3.0% in personal resilience, 3.9% in self-efficacy, and 6.4% in social support.

Mediated Path Analytic Model in the Chinese Sample

The results of the final mediated path model in the Chinese sample also indicate an excellent fit of the data, RMSEA <.0001 (90% confidence interval from <.0001 to.024), CFI = 1, SRMR =.002. The standardized path coefficients are shown in **Figure 3**. Victimization experience was negatively linked with all three mediators and the two dependent variables, while perpetration frequency was negatively linked with personal resilience and social support and the two dependent variables

but not with self-efficacy. All three positive factors were positively associated with PMH, while only social support and personal resilience further regressed on DASS. The results indicate that social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy partially mediated the effect of victimization on mental health and that only social support and personal resilience partially mediated the effect of perpetration on mental health. The direct and indirect effects of the mediation are presented in **Table 3**. Moreover, all the correlations were significant at.001 level. In addition, the final model explained 49.0% of the variance in PMH, 20.8% in DASS, 2.6% in personal resilience and self-efficacy, and 3.9% in social support.

DISCUSSION

The main aim of this study was to test the mediators of previous bullying experience regarding the outcomes of both positive and

 TABLE 3
 Standardized total indirect, specific indirect, and direct effects and their 95% confidence intervals (C.I.).

Predictor	Dependent variable	Total indirect effect [95% C.I.]		Specific indirect effect	t	Direct effect [95% C.I.]
			Social support [95% C.I.]	Resilience [95% C.I.]	Self-efficacy [95% C.I.]	
			China			
Victimization	PMH	12 [14,10]	04 [05,03]	03 [03,02]	06 [07,05]	06 [09,04]
Victimization	DASS	.05 [.04,.06]	.03 [.02,.04]	.02 [.02,.03]	/	.18 [.14,.21]
Perpetration	PMH	03 [04,02]	02 [02,02]	01 [02,01]	/	03 [05,01]
Perpetration	DASS	.03 [.02,.04]	.01 [.01,.02]	.01 [.01,.02]	/	.11 [.08,.14]
			German	У		
Victimization	PMH	18 [21,14]	06 [07,04]	05 [07,04]	07 [08,05]	11 [14,08]
Victimization	DASS	.13 [.11,.16]	.04 [.03,.06]	.04 [.02,.05]	.06 [.04,.07]	.15 [.12,.18]
Perpetration	PMH	.03 [.02,.04]	/	/	.03 [.02,.04]	/
Perpetration	DASS	02 [04,01]	/	/	02 [04,01]	/



negative mental health in university students in China and Germany. For both countries, it was found that social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy partially mediate the effect of previous victimization experience on current well-being and mental illness. In contrast, cultural differences were observed for the relationship between perpetration and positive and mental health. For Germany, only self-efficacy fully mediated the effect of perpetration on mental health: more frequent perpetration promoted higher mental health status via a higher level of self-efficacy. Conversely, for students in China, social support and partially resilience partially mediated the effect of perpetration on mental health. More specifically, more frequent bullying perpetration was linked with a lower level of social support perception and lower personal resilience, which in turn was found to be associated with worse mental health.

In both countries, social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy partially mediated the negative effect of victimization on mental health, with medium-sized total indirect effects. The results replicate previous findings on similar social resources and positive traits (e.g., 24, 28, 29, 38, 57) and indicate that the long-term adverse emotional consequences of being bullied are partly explained by less social support, lower personal resilience and lower selfefficacy levels. The current results further provide some initial evidence of an important role for self-efficacy, which revealed the strongest indirect mediating effect in our data. Bullying interventions may consider promoting the social resources and the self-efficacy of the victims in order to reduce the negative impact of victimization. However, there was also a direct effect of bullying victimization, indicating that even if social support, personal resilience or self-efficacy is high, a negative effect of being excluded and beaten may not be avoided.

The relationships between perpetration, positive factors, and mental well-being were different across countries. In China, bullying others more frequently, like being bullied, was associated with a lower level of personal resilience and support perception; whereas in Germany, bullying others was unrelated to the level of social support or personal resilience, but instead even weakly increased one's self-efficacy. The results indicate that bullies from two different cultures, Germany and China, face different psychological consequences of their perpetration behavior. The associations of perpetration with positive factors were different as well. Those involved in bullying in China were less personally resilient and socially supported and had more severe mental illness symptoms (8). Thus, providing social support and strengthening personal resilience may reduce bullying perpetration in China. In contrast, in Germany, bullies were as socially supported and personally resilient but even more self-efficient than those not involved in any bullying. This is consistent with previous findings that bullying is little socially sanctioned and conducted by students who are competent social manipulators with good emotional well-being (e.g., 5, 6, 58, 59).

Cultural differences were also found in the relationship between positive and negative mental health. For instance, the

effect size of the correlation between PMH and DASS was smaller in China than that in Germany. Moreover, self-efficacy had a stronger association, as indicated by the path coefficient in Figure 3, with PMH than with DASS in Germany. This phenomenon is more pronounced in the China sample, where self-efficacy had a significant association with PMH but not with DASS. On the one hand, these results are in line with Karademas (60), who proposed that the buffering effect of self-efficacy is greater for positive than for negative mental health. On the other hand, it may be that self-efficacy may not be related to depression or anxiety in China. In China, many people believe that uncontrollable or unexpected events or "fate" (Tianming) may sometimes impact the outcome of ones' best endeavors. Thus, those having high self-efficacy may face greater disappointment, while having low self-efficacy may also link to a greater sense of powerlessness. In Germany, in contrast, having higher selfefficacy not only promoted PMH but also prevented mental illness at a certain level. Taken together, it appears that the difference between the latent constructs measured by PMH and DASS was greater in China than in Germany.

While the large sample size, cross-cultural design (allowing for direct comparison of bullying involvement in Germany and China), and the inclusion of mediators are major strengths of the current study, there are also limitations. The measure of bullying history was retrospective and self-reported. However, test-retest showed high reliability over one year. Nevertheless, reported associations need to be interpreted cautiously and require replication in prospective studies. The large sample size did allow us to detect small effects. Thus, when interpreting our results, not only the significance of paths but also the effect sizes should be considered, especially regarding the effects between perpetration and other variables (56). In addition, the current study chose three representative positive factors as a start of the coping/recourse model of bullying; however, there may be more critical mediators, especially for perpetration, that were not tested in our study. Further studies may consider other protective or buffering factors and expand the model upon the three mediators examined in the current study.

In sum, the current study found that social support, personal resilience, and self-efficacy play essential roles in regulating the influences of victimization on later mental well-being across countries considered as individualistic or collectivistic. Thus strengthening social support, personal resilience and self-efficacy are likely to help to mitigate the ill effects of peer victimization. In contrast, mechanisms of how bullying perpetration associates with mental health differ between individualistic and collectivistic cultures. In Germany, bullying increases self-efficacy and has even small positive effects on mental well-being. In contrast, in a collectivistic society such as China, bullying others is associated with reduced social support and decreased personal resilience and negative mental health. Bullying may be seen as breaking the social norms of caring for others. The model proposed here needs to be explored longitudinally and applied to the development of strategies that build psychological personal resilience and resource in bullying victims.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/ **Supplementary Material**.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study is part of the Bochum Optimism and Mental Health (BOOM) research project, which is a large-scale cross-cultural longitudinal investigation in mental health. The project was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Psychology at Ruhr University Bochum.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

REFERENCES

- Fleming LC, Jacobsen KH. Bullying among middle-school students in low and middle income countries. *Health Promot Int* (2010) 25(1):73–84. doi: 10.1093/heapro/dap046
- Nansel TR, Craig W, Overpeck MD, Saluja G, Ruan WJ. Cross-national consistency in the relationship between bullying behaviors and psychosocial adjustment. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med (2004) 158(8):730–6. doi: 10.1001/ archpedi.158.8.730
- Arseneault L. Annual research review: the persistent and pervasive impact of being bullied in childhood and adolescence: implications for policy and practice. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2018) 59(4):405–21. doi: 10.1111/ jcpp.12841
- Moore SE, Norman RE, Suetani S, Thomas HJ, Sly PD, Scott JG. Consequences of bullying victimization in childhood and adolescence: A systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Psychiatry (2017) 7(1):60. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v7.i1.60
- Wolke D, Lereya ST. Long-term effects of bullying. Arch Dis Child (2015) 100 (9):879–85. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-306667
- Wolke D, Copeland WE, Angold A, Costello EJ. Impact of bullying in childhood on adult health, wealth, crime, and social outcomes. *Psychol Sci* (2013) 24(10):1958–70. doi: 10.1177/0956797613481608
- Copeland WE, Wolke D, Angold A, Costello EJ. Adult psychiatric outcomes of bullying and being bullied by peers in childhood and adolescence. JAMA Psychiatry (2013) 70(4):419–426. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504
- 8. Lin M, Wolke D, Schneider S, Margraf J. (under review). Bullies Get Away with It But Only in Western Cultures?
- Holt MK, Espelage DL. Perceived social support among bullies, victims, and bully-victims. J Youth Adolesc (2007) 36(8):984–94. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9153-3
- Bowes L, Maughan B, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Arseneault L. Families promote emotional and behavioural resilience to bullying: evidence of an environmental effect. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2010) 51(7):809–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02216.x
- Sapouna M, Wolke D. Resilience to bullying victimization: the role of individual, family and peer characteristics. *Child Abuse Negl* (2013) 37 (11):997–1006. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.05.009
- Brailovskaia J, Teismann T, Margraf J. Cyberbullying, positive mental health and suicide ideation/behavior. *Psychiatry Res* (2018) 267:240–2. doi: 10.1016/ j.psychres.2018.05.074
- Lakey B, Orehek E. Relational regulation theory: A new approach to explain the link between perceived social support and mental health. *Psychol Rev* (2011) 118(3):482. doi: 10.1037/a0023477

FUNDING

This study was supported by Alexander von Humboldt Professorship awarded to the last author by the Alexander von Humboldt-Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge Dr. Xiao Chi Zhang and Dr. Kristen Lavallee for their support in results discussion, manuscript proofreading, and data collection management.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2019. 00960/full#supplementary-material

- 14. Wagnild G, Young H. Development and psychometric evaluation of the Resilience Scale. J Nurs Meas (1993) 1(2):165–17847.
- Rueger SY, Malecki CK, Demaray MK. Relationship between multiple sources of perceived social support and psychological and academic adjustment in early adolescence: comparisons across gender. J Youth Adolesc (2010) 39(1):47. doi: 10.1007/s10964-008-9368-6
- Kumar S, Calvo R, Avendano M, Sivaramakrishnan K, Berkman LF. Social support, volunteering and health around the world: cross-national evidence from 139 countries. *Soc Sci Med* (2012) 74(5):696–706. doi: 10.1016/ j.socscimed.2011.11.017
- Tian L, Liu B, Huang S, Huebner ES. Perceived social support and school wellbeing among Chinese early and middle adolescents: the mediational role of self-esteem. *Soc Indic Res* (2013) 113(3):991–1008. doi: 10.1007/s11205-012-0123-8
- Fydrich T, Geyer M, Hessel A, Sommer G, Brähler E. Fragebogen zur sozialen unterstützung (F-SozU): Normierung an einer repräsentativen Stichprobe. [Social support questionnaire (F-SozU): Standardization on a representative sample]. *Diagnostica* (1999) 45:212–6. doi: 10.1026//0012-1924.45.4.212
- Fydrich T, Sommer G, Tydecks S, Brähler E. Fragebogen zur sozialen unterstützung (F-SozU): Normierung der Kurzform (K-14). [Social support questionnaire (F-SozU): Standardization of the short form (K-14)]. Z für Med Psychol (2009) 18(1):43–8.
- Cui S, Cheng Y, Xu Z, Chen D, Wang Y. Peer relationships and suicide ideation and attempts among Chinese adolescents. *Child: Care Health Dev* (2011) 37(5):692–702. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2214.2010.01181.x
- Evans CB, Smokowski PR, Cotter KL. Cumulative bullying victimization: an investigation of the dose-response relationship between victimization and the associated mental health outcomes, social supports, and school experiences of rural adolescents. *Children Youth Serv Rev* (2014) 44:256–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.childyouth.2014.06.021
- Barrera Jr. M. Distinctions between social support concepts, measures, and models. Am J Community Psychol (1986) 14(4):413–45. doi: 10.1007/ BF00922627
- Smith PK, Talamelli L, Cowie H, Naylor P, Chauhan P. Profiles of non-victims, escaped victims, continuing victims and new victims of school bullying. Br J Educ Psychol (2004) 74(4):565–81. doi: 10.1348/0007099042376427
- Cassidy T, McLaughlin M, McDowell E. Bullying and health at work: the mediating roles of psychological capital and social support. *Work Stress* (2014) 28(3):255–69. doi: 10.1080/02678373.2014.927020
- 25. Seeds PM, Harkness KL, Quilty LC. Parental maltreatment, bullying, and adolescent depression: evidence for the mediating role of perceived social

support. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol (2010) 39(5):681-92. doi: 10.1080/ 15374416.2010.501289

- Liu C, Zhao Y, Tian X, Zou G, Li P. Negative life events and school adjustment among Chinese nursing students: The mediating role of psychological capital. *Nurse Education Today* (2015) 35(6):754–59. doi: 10.1016/j.nedt.2015.02.002
- Chi P, Li X, Du H, Tam CC, Zhao J, Zhao G. Does stigmatization wear down resilience? A longitudinal study among children affected by parental HIV. *Pers Individ Dif* (2016) 96:159–63. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.03.001
- Maidaniuc-Chirilă T. The mediation role of resilience on the relationship between workplace bullying and Romanian employees' strain. *Rev Cercet şi Interv Soc* (2015)(48), 120–33.
- Zhou ZK, Liu QQ, Niu GF, Sun XJ, Fan CY. Bullying victimization and depression in Chinese children: a moderated mediation model of resilience and mindfulness. *Pers Individ Dif* (2017) 104:137–42. doi: 10.1016/ j.paid.2016.07.040
- 30. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Freeman: New York (1997).
- Schwarzer R, Warner LM. Perceived self-efficacy and its relationship to resilience. In: *Resilience in children, adolescents, and adults.* Springer: New York, NY (2013). p. 139–50. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-4939-3_10
- Azizli N, Atkinson BE, Baughman HM, Giammarco EA. Relationships between general self-efficacy, planning for the future, and life satisfaction. *Pers Individ Dif* (2015) 82:58–60. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2015.03.006
- Luszczynska A, Gutiérrez-Doña B, Schwarzer R. General self-efficacy in various domains of human functioning: evidence from five countries. *Int J Psychol* (2005) 40(2):80–9. doi: 10.1080/00207590444000041
- Kwasky AN, Groh CJ. Vitamin D, depression and coping self-efficacy in young women: Longitudinal study. Arch Psychiatr Nurs (2014) 28(6):362–7. doi: 10.1016/j.apnu.2014.08.010
- Bong M, Skaalvik EM. Academic self-concept and self-efficacy: how different are they really? *Educ Psychol Rev* (2003) 15(1):1–40. doi: 10.1023/ A:1021302408382
- Maciejewski PK, Prigerson HG, Mazure CM. Self-efficacy as a mediator between stressful life events and depressive symptoms: differences based on history of prior depression. *Br J Psychiatry* (2000) 176(4):373–8. doi: 10.1192/ bjp.176.4.373
- Schönfeld P, Brailovskaia J, Bieda A, Zhang XC, Margraf J. The effects of daily stress on positive and negative mental health: mediation through self-efficacy. *Int J Clin Health Psychol* (2016) 16(1):1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ijchp.2015.08.005
- Kokkinos CM, Kipritsi E. The relationship between bullying, victimization, trait emotional intelligence, self-efficacy and empathy among preadolescents. *Soc Psychol Educ* (2012) 15(1):41–58. doi: 10.1007/s11218-011-9168-9
- Özer A, Totan T, Atik G. Individual correlates of bullying behaviour in Turkish middle schools. J Psychol Counsellors Schools (2011) 21(2):186–202. doi: 10.1375/ajgc.21.2.186
- Bussey K, Fitzpatrick S, Raman A. The role of moral disengagement and selfefficacy in cyberbullying. J School Violence (2015) 14(1):30–46. doi: 10.1080/ 15388220.2014.954045
- Lukat J, Margraf J, Lutz R, van der Veld WM, Becker ES. Psychometric properties of the Positive Mental Health Scale (PMH-scale). *BMC Psychol* (2016) 4, 8. doi: 10.1186/s40359-016-0111-x
- Henry JD, Crawford JR. The short-form version of the Depression Anxiety Stress Scales (DASS-21): Construct validity and normative data in a large nonclinical sample. Br J Clin Psychol (2005) 44(2):227–39. doi: 10.1348/ 014466505X29657
- Gu CH, Zhang WX. A survey on the relations of the bullying problem among primary school children to their personality. Acta Psychol Sin (2003) 35:101–5.
- Hong L, Guo L, Wu H, Li P, Xu Y, Gao X, et al. Bullying, depression, and suicidal ideation among adolescents in the fujian province of china: a cross-sectional study. *Medicine* (2016) 95(5):e2530. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000002530

- Hofstede G. Culture's consequences: Comparing values, behaviors, institutions and organizations across nations (2nd Ed.). Sage publications: Thousand Oaks (2001).
- Huang LL. Interpersonal Harmony and Conflict for Chinese People: A Yin-Yang Perspective. Front Psychol (2016) 7:847. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00847
- Boyce W, Torsheim T, Currie C, Zambon A. The family affluence scale as a measure of national wealth: Validation of an adolescent self-report measure. *Soc Indic Res* (2006) 78:473–87. doi: 10.1007/s11205-005-1607-6
- Wolke D, Sapouna M. Big men feeling small: Childhood bullying experience, muscle dysmorphia and other mental health problems in bodybuilders. *Psychol Sport Exercise* (2008) 9(5):595–604. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport. 2007.10.002
- Schumacher J, Leppert K, Gunzelmann T, Strauß B, Brähler E. Die resilienzskala-ein fragebogen zur erfassung der psychischen widerstandsfähigkeit als personmerkmal. Z Klin Psychol Psychiatr Psychother (2005) 53(1):16-39.
- Kliem S, Mößle T, Rehbein F, Hellmann DF, Zenger M, Brähler E. A brief form of the Perceived Social Support Questionnaire (F-SozU) was developed, validated, and standardized. *J Clin Epidemiol* (2015) 68(5):551–62. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2014.11.003
- Schwarzer R, Jerusalem M. Generalized Self-Efficacy scale. In: Weinman J, Wright S, Johnston M, editors. *Measures in health psychology: A user's portfolio. Causal and control beliefs.* NFER-NELSON: Windsor, UK (1995). p. 35–7.
- Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus User's Guide. Seventh Edition. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén (1998–2015).
- Hayes AF. Beyond Baron and Kenny: Statistical mediation analysis in the new millenium. Commun Monogr (2009) 76:408-20. doi: 10.1080/ 03637750903310360
- Hu LT, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct Equ Model* (1999) 6(1):1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- Cohen J. The effect size. Stat Power Anal Behav Sci (1988), 77–83. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.504
- Kenny DA, Judd CM. Power anomalies in testing mediation. *Psychol Sci* (2014) 25(2):334–9. doi: 10.1177/0956797613502676
- Pouwelse M, Bolman C, Lodewijkx H, Spaa M. Gender differences and social support: Mediators or moderators between peer victimization and depressive feelings? *Psychol Schools* (2011) 48(8):800–14. doi: 10.1002/pits.20589
- Guy A, Lee K, Wolke D. Differences in the early stages of social information processing for adolescents involved in bullying. *Aggress Behav* (2017) 43(6), 578–87. doi: 10.1002/ab.21716
- Sutton J, Smith PK, Swettenham J. Social cognition and bullying: Social inadequacy or skilled manipulation? Br J Dev Psychol (1999) 17:435–50. doi: 10.1348/026151099165384
- Karademas EC. Positive and negative aspects of well-being: Common and specific predictors. *Pers Individ Dif* (2007) 43:277–87. doi: 10.1016/ j.paid.2006.11.031

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Lin, Wolke, Schneider and Margraf. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Trends in Bullying and Emotional and Behavioral Difficulties Among Pakistani Schoolchildren: A Cross-Sectional Survey of Seven Cities

Sadiq Naveed^{1†}, Ahmed Waqas^{2,3†*}, Zarnain Shah⁴, Waqas Ahmad⁵, Muhammad Wasim⁶, Jawaria Rasheed⁷ and Tayyaba Afzaal⁸

¹ Department of Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, University of Kansas Medical Center, Kansas City, KS, United States, ² Department of Psychiatry, CMH Lahore Medical College & Institute of Dentistry, Lahore Cantt, Pakistan, ³ Maternal and Child Mental Health, Human Development Research Foundation, Rawalpindi, Pakistan, ⁴ Department of Critical Care, Aga Khan University, Karachi, Pakistan, ⁵ Department of internal Medicine, Punjab Medical University, Faisalabad, Pakistan, ⁶ Department of General Surgery, Nishtar Medical University, Multan, Pakistan, ⁷ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Fatima Jinnah Wornen Hospital, Multan, Pakistan, ⁸ Department of Psychology, Government College University, Lahore, Pakistan

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anat Brunstein Klomek, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Israel

Reviewed by:

Vivek Agarwal, King George's Medical University, India Melissa Holt, Boston University, United States Joy Benatov, University of Haifa, Israel

*Correspondence:

Ahmed Waqas ahmedwaqas1990@hotmail.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 16 January 2019 Accepted: 09 December 2019 Published: 17 January 2020

Citation:

Naveed S, Waqas A, Shah Z, Ahmad W, Wasim M, Rasheed J and Afzaal T (2020) Trends in Bullying and Emotional and Behavioral Difficulties Among Pakistani Schoolchildren: A Cross-Sectional Survey of Seven Cities. Front. Psychiatry 10:976. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00976 **Background:** Bullying and peer victimization among adolescents are growing public health concerns that affect victims' emotional well-being, and their social and academic functioning. Despite concerns about this public health epidemic in low- and middle-income countries, most prevalence, policy and intervention studies have been conducted in developed countries and economies.

Methods: This cross-sectional study was conducted between September 2016 and July 2017 at seven public and private schools located in five districts in Pakistan: Lodhran, Rahim Yar Khan, Bahawalpur, Faisalabad, Multan, Thatta, and Nawabshah. A total of 2,315 schoolchildren were surveyed with a specially designed instrument in Urdu with items about demographics and bullying behavior, together with a strengths and difficulties questionnaire.

Results: Mean age of the respondents was 14.63 (2.87) years. More than half of the respondents were males (n = 1301, 56.2%), and a majority reported that their mothers were housewives (n = 2,100, 90.7%). A total of 615 (26.6%) respondents reported being bullied at school, and 415 (17.9%) reported being bullied away from school. Perpetration of bullying was reported by 430 (18.6%) participants at school and 376 (16.3%) away from school. Being bullied in the past was strongly associated with becoming a perpetrator of bullying in the future. Internalizing symptoms were significantly associated with male gender, older age, being a victim of bullying, and employment status of the respondent's mother. Externalizing symptoms were significantly associated with male gender, older age, being a victim and perpetrator of bullying, and mother's employment status.

Conclusion: Bullying perpetrators have a greater tendency to exhibit externalizing symptoms, whereas victims develop both externalizing and internalizing psychopathologies.

Keywords: bullying, perpetration, victimization, Pakistan, children, behavioral problems, emotional problems

INTRODUCTION

Bullying and peer victimization among adolescents are growing public health concerns because they affect victims' emotional well-being, as well as their social and academic functioning (1). Although some of its characteristics overlap with other forms of aggression such as harassment, bullying is defined as unwanted and repetitive aggressive behaviors committed by a young individual or a group of young people towards the victim, and a perceived sense of power imbalance in favor of the aggressors (2). Unfortunately, bullying has traditionally been socially accepted as a "rite of passage" and a "developmentally appropriate" behavior among children and adolescents, despite its adverse psychological and social consequences (3). This unhealthy acceptance of bullying is also prevalent in the media and literature (4, 5).

Bullying usually occurs in settings such as classrooms or among siblings at home (2, 3, 6). Siblings or dating partners, however, are not seen as pivotal pillars in most operational definitions of bullying behaviors (2). Bullies try to assert their power over individuals with an emotional response to bullying or with limited social support (6). This epidemic is prevalent across all societies, ethnicities, races, cultures and geographies (3). The world-wide prevalence of bullying is estimated to be slightly more than 1 in 3 students aged 13 to 15 years (7), and these figures are substantiated by a recent metaanalysis of 80 studies that reported the global prevalence rate of traditional bullying to be 35% (8). Similar prevalence figures have been reported from developing countries such as Pakistan, where a nationally representative school-based health survey in 2009 estimated the prevalence of bullying behavior to be around 41% (9). These rates are significantly higher than those reported in the developed world, and the difference is substantiated by the 2011 CDC Youth Risk Behavior Survey, which estimated the prevalence of bullying among adolescents in the USA to be around 27% (10).

Bullying has also been associated with adverse physical, mental and academic consequences in children and adolescents. For example, victims of bullying were more likely to have a higher risk of depression, suicidal ideation, anxiety, sleep disturbances, social isolation and feelings of loneliness (11– 14). Moreover, the prevalence of substance use including alcohol, nicotine and inhalants was reportedly higher among victims of bullying than non-victims (12, 15, 16). The perpetration of bullying is also associated with externalizing symptoms such as aggression, truancy and delinquency (11–14). A recent metaanalysis of 14 studies suggested a dose-dependent relationship between bullying and the development of psychotic symptoms—a finding that highlights the debilitating consequences of bullying (17, 18).

Somatic symptomatology and academic underachievement have also been associated with bullying behavior among children (3, 19, 20). A recent study of a sample Pakistani children reported that more than 89% of the young respondents reported one or more occurrences of victimization, and more than 75% reported one or more acts of perpetration (21). A high prevalence of bullying behavior among Pakistani youth was found to correlate significantly with hunger, absences from school, witnessing fights between the father and another man, and patriarchal attitudes (22). Further to these findings, a deeper investigation into gender roles and violence against women and girls among youth also demonstrated that the aforementioned factors along with bullying behavior also account for acceptance of patriarchal attitudes in Pakistan (23). However, only a few high-quality studies exploring the public health aspects of bullying have been conducted in this country. Most of these studies explored bullying in the context of patriarchal and gender-biased aspects of Pakistani society (22, 23), and this research reported participants' gender to be a significant predictor of bullying behaviors. Compared to females, males were reported to be more involved in the perpetration of bullying, aggression and violence (22, 23). However, none of the studies compared the employment status of mothers or her availability at home as a possible correlate of bullying and emotional problems in children.

Recent years have seen improvements in our understanding of the psychosocial correlates of bullying behavior, owing to the progress made in data sciences. The psychosocial model of bullying behavior is viewed as complex due to potential overlaps in the frequency of involvement, perpetration and victimization among youth (24, 25). This approach reflects the view that psychosocial and health-related behaviors tend to cluster together, rather than acting as single factors in determining behavior (26, 27). Moreover, these complexities indicate that variable-centered approaches may be inferior to person-centered analytic approaches such as cluster analysis. In contrast to variable-centered analysis, cluster analysis uses patterns of behaviors, experiences, demographics and health to identify different subgroups, their frequencies, and heterogeneity in associations (28). This approach thus provides a better method to elucidate actual behavioral patterns among respondents, and thus sheds light on the conceptual overlaps in bullying behavior (24, 25).

There is a paucity of data exploring the relationships between bullying and its emotional and behavioral consequences in Pakistan. Moreover, no research has explored this phenomenon with person-centered analytical approaches. Therefore, the present study was designed with the following aims:

- a. To explore the prevalence of bullying, victimization and bully-victimization behaviors among Pakistani schoolchildren.
- b. To explore the association of mothers' employment status with bullying behaviors among children.
- c. To elucidate the strength of association of different bullying behaviors with strengths and difficulties among schoolchildren.
- d. To identify the mediating effects of pure victimization behavior on the association between externalizing symptomatology and pure perpetration.
- e. To identify the mediating effects of pure perpetration behavior on the association between internalizing symptomatology and pure victimization.

f. To use an unsupervised machine learning technique in orde to identify clusters of emotional and behavioral difficulties associated with patterns of bullying behavior among schoolchildren.

METHODS

Study Design

This cross-sectional study was conducted between September 2016 and July 2017 at seven public and private schools located in five districts in Pakistan: Lodhran, Rahim Yar Khan, Bahawalpur, Faisalabad, Multan, Thatta, and Nawabshah (29). The districts of Lodhran, Rahim Yar Khan, Faisalabad, Bahawalpur, and Multan are located in Punjab province, where the total population of 12,388,824 represents three major ethnicities, i.e. the Saraiki, Punjabi, and Urdu-speaking populations (29). The districts of Thatta and Nawabshah are located near the Indus River in Sindh province, where a total population of 13,55,131 represents a Sindhi and Urdu-speaking majority (29). Our study sample was representative of both urban and rural populations. However, all participating schools were selected based on convenience sampling methods.

Sample Size

The total sample size was calculated with two methods. A minimum sample size of 664 was calculated with the following parameters: 5% margin of error, 99% confidence level, hypothetical population size of N = 20,000, and 50% response distribution. Previous studies have reported low to moderate effect sizes for associations between bullying behavior and emotional and behavioral difficulties in children (19, 30). Therefore, for low to moderate effect sizes, an alpha error probability of 5%, a statistical power of 99% and 5 predictors, a minimum sample size of 1,342 was found to be suitable for this study (GPower, v. 3.1).

Operational Definitions

This study focused on three different patterns of bullying behaviors: pure perpetrators, pure victims, and bully-victims. Pure perpetrators were defined as those having a history of bullying other children. Pure victims were those who had a history of being bullied by other children. Children who reported a history of both perpetration and victimization were classified as bully-victims.

Survey Procedure and Questionnaire

A team of local researchers was recruited to approach the administrative staff of the schools to seek their permission to conduct the study at their sites. Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Peoples University of Medical and Health Sciences for Women, Nawabshah, and was found to meet the ethical criteria of the Declaration of Helsinki (1964) and comparable standards. An informed consent form and detailed brochure outlining the objectives of the study were mailed to each participant's parents. They were assured that all data would be anonymous and that no individual findings would be reported.

Thereafter, children enrolled at these schools and aged 10 to 17 years were approached through a convenience sampling method by a team of interviewers including their teachers and local researchers. Only those participants were recruited whose parents provided their written consent for their child to participate in the study. The study sample was not stratified based on the number of schools or potential study participants. A universal sampling technique was preferred, in which we approached all students enrolled at each school during the study period.

No incentives were provided to the parents or children taking part in the study. The children completed a three-part survey containing items on a) demographics, b) experiences of bullying and victimization, c) help-seeking behavior, and d) a strengths and difficulties questionnaire. All surveys were self-administered in the Urdu language, the national language of Pakistan. Members of the research team distributed the survey to students in their regular classrooms in the presence of their teachers, and responded to any questions or comments from the students. They were given ample time during regular classroom hours to complete the survey. These measures ensured a high response rate and high accuracy of the responses.

Measures

The first section of the survey inquired about respondents' demographic characteristics including age, gender, mother's employment status, and background. The second section comprised 11 items regarding experiences of bullying and victimization as perceived by the participants. They were asked about the frequency of both victimization and perpetration of bullying behaviors. Four items sought details on bullying behavior at school and outside school, e.g. at private tuition centers, in the previous six months. The responses to these four items were recorded on a Likert-type scale ranging from "not at all" to "most days". These items yielded good internal consistency, with a Cronbach's alpha value of 0.820, and showed a unidimensional factor pattern that explained 66.1% of the variance according to exploratory factor analysis. Internal consistency for both the victimization (alpha = 0.74) and perpetration subscale (alpha = 0.77) was acceptable. Participants who had a positive history of both bullying victimization and perpetration were classified as bully-victims.

The next three items specified the gender of bullying perpetrators as boy, girl or group. These items were rated on a four-point Likert-like scale ranging from "not at all" to "most days". The third section consisted of four items pertaining to help-seeking behavior. Out of these four items, two dichotomous questions asked whether the respondent had talked to or sought help from anyone regarding these experiences. The next question inquired about the relationship of the help provider to the respondent, i.e., teacher, parent, friend, sibling, or other. The last question asked respondents whether they sought help from parents, teachers, relatives, siblings, friends, or others.

The fourth section comprised the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ), which has undergone extensive validation in samples of Pakistani children and adolescents. This instrument yields scores across several domains of emotional difficulties and strengths including emotional symptoms, conduct problems, hyperactivity, peer relationship problems, prosocial, externalizing, and internalizing symptoms (31). The scores were grouped into three categories based on established cut-off values for normal, borderline and abnormal. The ranges of possible scores for each section were: a) total difficulties (20–40), emotional difficulties (7–10), conduct problems (5–10), hyperactivity (7–10), peer problems (6–10), prosocial behavior (0–4), and impact score (2–10). The present study used the impact supplement of the SDQ to assess the frequency of distress among participants at home, in the context of their friendships, and during leisure and classroom activities (31).

Statistical Analyses

All data were analyzed with SPSS v. 20 (IBM, Chicago, IL, USA). Categorical variables are reported here as frequencies, and quantitative variables are reported as the mean and standard deviation. A series of t-tests for independent samples quantified the association of gender and mother's employment status with scores on the SDQ. Pearson's correlation coefficient was calculated to analyze associations between age and SDQ subscales. Subsequently, a series of linear regressions were used to evaluate the associations between demographic characteristics and bullying behaviors with total SDQ scores, impact supplement scores, and internalizing and externalizing subscale scores. Before regression analysis, multicollinearity among variables was checked with the variance inflation factor (VIF) and tolerance (TOL) values. A value ≥ 10 for VIF and ≤ 0.2 for TOL for any predictor in the regression analysis was considered significant multicollinearity. Hierarchal regression was also used to assess the mediating effect of episodes of bullying in the past on the relationship between perpetration of bullying and externalizing symptoms. The significance of this mediating relationship was further verified with Sobel, Aroian, and Goodman statistics (32, 33). Thereafter, a two-step clustering algorithm was used to identify clusters of respondents based on their bullying behavior, strengths and difficulties. A loglikelihood model-based distance measure was used in the present analysis. This approach combines the clusters and evaluates the distance between them as the corresponding decrease in log-likelihood (34). First, all cases were sorted into pre-clusters, which were then clustered according to a hierarchical algorithm. Akaike's information criterion (AIC) was then used to select the "best" cluster solution. The silhouette measure of cohesion and separation was used to assess the quality of the cluster, with a cut-off value of ≥ 0.5 considered as "good".

Several approaches were used to minimize missing data. For example, respondents were given educational brochures and presentations to help them understand the importance of this study. They were asked to double-check their questionnaire to ensure no items were left unanswered. Finally, if there were any missing data, continuous values were replaced with the means of the scale for a given respondent, and values for categorical variables were replaced with the mode.

RESULTS

Demographics

Out of 2,650 parents approached, a total of 2,325 provided consent for their child to participate in the survey. There was no rejection from the children and adolescents themselves, and the final overall response rate was 87.74%. Mean age of the respondents was 14.63 (2.87) years. Independent sample t-tests revealed that mean age in boys, i.e. 14.97 (3.58) years, was significantly older than in girls ($\bar{x} = 14.20$, SD = 1.39). More than half of the respondents were males (n = 1301, 56.2%), and a majority reported that their mothers were housewives (n = 2,100, 90.7%). A high proportion of respondents reported that they had felt the need to ask for outside help in the preceding six months (n = 1,117, 48.2%), especially from their parents (n = 1,004, 43.4%).

Prevalence of Bullying Behavior

A total of 615 (26.6%) respondents reported being bullied at school, and 415 (17.9%) away from school. The perpetration of bullying was reported by 430 (18.6%) participants at school and 376 (16.3%) away from school. Approximately one fourth of the participants (n = 559, 24.4%) reported being bullied by girls, and 516 (22.3%) by boys. A smaller number (n = 413, 17.8%)reported being bullied by a group more than once a week. Further exploration of the patterns of bullying revealed a total of 735 (31.70%) bully-victims. The experience of being bullied in the past showed a strong association with bully-victim behaviors $(X_2 = 1,298.19, P < 0.001, \phi = 0.75)$. Student bullying at school showed a positive association with bullying away from school ($\rho = 0.59$, P < 0.001). Similar trends were noted for victimization behavior ($\rho = 0.56$, P < 0.001). Respondents who had been bullied in the past also scored significantly higher on the SDQ and its subscales than their counterparts who did not report any victimization experiences. Detailed demographic characteristics and patterns of bullying are presented in Table 1. The prevalence of history of victimization, perpetration and bully-victim experiences were significantly higher among children of mothers who were employed outside the home. Both boys and girls were more frequently bullied by other boys than by girls or groups (Supplementary Table 1).

Responses on the SDQ

According to these data, a total of 527 (22.8%) participants had borderline abnormal scores, and 479 (20.7%) had severe difficulties. According to SDQ subscale results, abnormal scores were seen in 600 (25.9%) participants for emotional problems, 583 (25.2%) for conduct problems, 195 (8.4%) for hyperactivity, 389 (16.8%) for peer problems, and 435 (18.8%) for poor prosocial skills. According to the results for the impact supplement scale, 299 (12.9%) participants had borderline scores and 902 participants (39.0%) had severe problems.

Bullying, Distress and Help-Seeking Behavior

Most respondents (1,646, 71.1%) had told someone about their experience of being bullied, and a high proportion indicated that

TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics and trends in bullying among Pakistani schoolchildren.

Variables	Subcategories	Frequency (n)	Percentage (%)
Gender	Воу	1,301	56.2%
	Girl	1,014	43.8%
Mother's profession	Housewife	2,100	90.7%
	Employed	215	9.3%
Have you felt the need to ask for outside help in the past six months?	No, I have not felt the need	600	25.9%
	I have considered getting outside help	599	25.9%
	I have sought outside help	1,117	48.2%
Preference for seeking help	Parents	1,004	43.4%
	Teachers	382	16.5%
	Relatives	73	3.2%
	Siblings	162	7.0%
	Friend	573	24.7%
	Other	122	5.3%
How often have you been bullied in school in the past six months?	Not at all	1,434	61.9%
tow often have you been balled in school in the past six months:	Less than once a week	267	11.5%
	More than once a week	259	11.2%
		356	15.4%
low often have you have hyllight away from asheet (auch as in trition contary) in the past six	Most days Not at all	1,651	71.3%
How often have you been bullied away from school (such as in tuition centers) in the past six		,	
nonths?	Less than once a week	250	10.8%
	More than once a week	259	11.2%
	Most days	156	6.7%
How often have you bullied others in school in the past six months?	Not at all	1470	63.5%
	Less than once a week	416	18.0%
	More than once a week	212	9.2%
	Most days	218	9.4%
How often have you bullied others away from school (such as in tuitions centers) in the past six	Not at all	1,708	73.7%
nonths?	Less than once a week	232	10.0%
	More than once a week	157	6.8%
	Most days	219	9.5%
How often have girls bullied you?	Not at all	1,532	66.8%
	Less than once a week	200	8.7%
	More than once a week	161	7.0%
	Most days	398	17.4%
How often have boys bullied you?	Not at all	1,574	68.0%
	Less than once a week	226	9.8%
	More than once a week	276	11.9%
	Most days	240	10.4%
low often has a group bullied you?	Not at all	1,705	73.6%
	Less than once a week	198	8.5%
	More than once a week	163	7.0%
	Most days	250	10.8%
Have you told anyone about your experience so that they can help you?	Yes	1,646	71.1%
	No	670	28.9%
f yes please indicate who you told:	Parents	1,126	48.6%
	Teachers	389	16.8%
	Siblings	303	13.1%
	Friends	386	16.7%
	School	44	1.9%
	Other	68	2.9%

they had sought help from their parents (n = 1,126, 48.6%). **Supplementary Table 2** presents the association of bullying experiences with individual items on the impact supplement scale.

Bullying and Emotional and Behavioral Difficulties

Linear regression analysis yielded a significant model predicting total scores on the SDQ scale (adj. $R^2 = 15\%$, F = 68.88, DF_{total} = 2,314, P < 0.001). According to this model, higher SDQ scores

were associated with male gender, older age, and mother's employment outside the home. Although a history of bullying correlated with higher SDQ scores, the strongest association was observed for children who reported both perpetration and victimization, followed by perpetration only and victimization only (**Table 2**). Similar trends were noted in the frequencies of distress reported by participants (adj. $R^2 = 8.5\%$, F = 36.64, $DF_{total} = 2,314$, P < 0.001).

Being bullied in the past exerted significant mediation effects on the relationship between bullying others and externalizing

Variables	В	Std. Error	Beta	t-value	P value
(Constant)	14.089	0.843		16.713	<0.001
Gender	-2.444	0.238	-0.212	-10.249	< 0.001
Age	0.086	0.039	0.043	2.221	0.026
Mother's profession	1.070	0.383	0.054	2.791	0.005
Bully victims	3.245	0.275	0.264	11.813	< 0.001
Pure victims	1.582	0.343	0.095	4.604	< 0.001
Pure perpetrators	2.121	0.379	0.113	5.590	< 0.001

TABLE 2 | Patterns of bullying behaviors as predictors of SDQ scores.

symptoms (**Table 3**), as shown by hierarchal regression analysis (F = 108.96, df_{total} = 2,315, P < 0.001). These variables yielded significant effects in the Sobel test (test statistic = 6.32, SE = 0.07, P < 0.001), Aroian test (test statistic = 6.32, SE = 0.07, P < 0.001) and Goodman test (test statistic = 6.33, SE = 0.07, P < 0.001). In a similar manner (**Table 5**), being victimized in the past exerted significant mediation effects on the relationship between bullying others and internalizing symptoms (**Table 4**), as shown by hierarchal regression analysis (F = 108.96, df_{total} = 2,315, P < 0.001). These variables yielded significant effects in the Sobel test (test statistic = 6.74, SE = 0.06, P < 0.001), Aroian test (test statistic = 6.74, SE = 0.06, P < 0.001).

Cluster Analysis

A two-step clustering algorithm was used to group cases into two clusters. The overall quality of the clusters was rated as good, with a silhouette measure of cohesion and separation of 0.5. The first cluster—"normal behavior"—contained lower scores on all SDQ subscales. It represented 0% of bully-victims, 100% of the pure perpetrators and 100% of the pure victims. The second cluster—"psychopathological behavior"—contained significantly higher scores on all subscales except prosocial behavior. The SDQ subscale scores clustered 100% of bully-victims and excluded respondents with a history of victimization only or perpetration only (**Table 5** and **Supplementary Figure 1**). Thereafter, cluster analysis was done by introducing variables based on pure victims, pure perpetrators, or bully-victims, with similar results (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

DISCUSSION

Our survey results show a high prevalence of bullying victimization as well as perpetration among Pakistani schoolchildren. Almost all of the students who reported being bullied in the past also reported perpetrating bullying behaviors themselves. This behavior was associated with significant distress as shown by the responses on the SDQ impact supplement, and was also associated with severe behavioral problems as identified by the main SDQ.

An especially disturbing result is that almost 45.3% of the students reported being victims of bullying, while 42.1% were perpetrators of bullying and 31.2% were both victims and perpetrators. These figures are consistent with earlier surveys in Pakistan. For example, a high prevalence of verbal (57%) and physical abuse (33.7%) was reported among schoolchildren in the cities of Karachi, Lahore and Quetta (35). Similar prevalence rates of bullying behavior were reported by Zhu and Chan among Chinese schoolchildren (36). However, lower prevalence rates of bullying behaviors were reported among children in developed countries such as Australia, where the findings were attributed to better implementation of intervention programs that targeted bullying behaviors among schoolchildren (37).

Our data thus reveal a high prevalence of behavioral problems among Pakistani schoolchildren. Interestingly, there are no systematic reviews or metaanalyses summarizing the global prevalence of behavioral problems identified with the SDQ among schoolchildren. However, a systematic review by Salmanian et al. concluded that studies based on this instrument reported higher prevalence of conduct problems than other tools such as the Kiddie Schedule for Affective Disorders and Schizophrenia or clinical interviews used in the same populations (38). These authors also concluded that the SDQ might be useful as a screening tool, and that further psychiatric research should be done to ascertain the prevalence rate of behavioral problems among children (38). Therefore, the present findings should be interpreted with caution.

In the present study, more than 43% of the children scored in the abnormal range of the SDQ. Syed et al. reported similar prevalence rates of emotional and behavioral difficulties among children 7 to 11 years old in Karachi who completed the SDQ (39). These results are consistent with findings published by Goodman et al., who reported a high prevalence of emotional difficulties (10–15%) among children and adolescents in different

TABLE 3 | Controlling effects of bullying perpetration on the association between victimizing behavior and externalizing symptomatology.

Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t-value	P value
1	(Constant)	4.975	0.146		34.060	<0.001
	Frequency of victimization	1.016	0.077	0.266	13.274	< 0.001
2	(Constant)	4.605	0.157		29.413	< 0.001
	Frequency of victimization	0.628	0.098	0.165	6.402	< 0.001
	Frequency of perpetration	0.642	0.103	0.160	6.232	< 0.001

TABLE 4 | Controlling effects of bullying victimization on the association between victimizing behavior and externalizing symptomatology.

Model		В	Std. Error	Beta	t-value	P value
1	(Constant)	11.994	0.237		50.662	<0.001
	Frequency of perpetration	1.560	0.131	0.241	11.946	< 0.001
2	(Constant)	11.247	0.253		44.386	< 0.001
	Frequency of perpetration	0.750	0.167	0.116	4.501	< 0.001
	Frequency of victimization	1.217	0.159	0.197	7.660	< 0.001

TABLE 5 | Mean (SD) scores on SDQ subscales in the two clusters.

SDQ subscales	Clusters						
		Low psychopathology n = 1581 (68.3%)	High psychopathology n = 735 (31.7%)				
Children with history of bullying	Frequency	Percentage	Frequency	Percentage			
Bully victims	0	0%	735	100%			
Perpetrators	239	15.1%	735	100%			
Victims	315	19.9%	735	100%			
Scores on SDQ scale	Mean	SD	Mean	SD			
Emotional problems	4.08	1.93	4.58	1.94			
Conduct problems	2.81	1.98	4.07	2.06			
Hyperactivity	3.13	2.04	4.16	2.05			
Peer problems	3.30	1.87	4.10	1.91			
Prosocial behavior	6.67	1.80	5.60	2.15			
Global score	13.32	5.56	16.92	5.31			
Externalizing symptoms	5.94	3.41	8.23	3.33			
Internalizing symptoms	7.38	2.99	8.68	2.92			
Impact scores	10.04	3.63	12.31	4.00			

settings such as rural Brazil and deprived British populations, and prevalence of 22% in urban Yemen and urban Brazil slum settings, 30–32% in Russia and Bangladesh, and 60% in rural Yemen (40). Our results are also consistent with those of Polanczyk et al. and Kovess-Masfety et al., who reported a significantly lower worldwide pooled prevalence of mental disorders compared to the present findings (41, 42).

The present findings show that children whose mother was employed outside the home had a higher prevalence of mental health problems and victimization by bullies at school than children from families in which the mother worked as a housewife. This highlights the patriarchal nature of Pakistani society, where working women may also be expected to shoulder a higher burden of child care than their male counterparts (43). This situation, coupled with a difficult work environment, lower wages, life stressors and the lack of day-care facilities for working women, acts as a double-edged sword that limits the ability of working mothers to provide care for their children.

Both being bullied and bullying others were associated with significant distress at school, during leisure and home activities, and in friendships, and higher SDQ scores. However, bullied victims reported more distress and more emotional and behavioral difficulties than bullies. It is usually believed that perpetrators of bullying exhibit externalizing symptoms (anger, criminality, and aggression), whereas victims of bullying exhibit internalizing symptoms (depression, anxiety, fear, and social withdrawal) (44–46). This belief is supported by Gini, who reported a higher propensity for psychosocial maladjustment and poor coping behavior among bullied schoolchildren than in their perpetrator counterparts (19). We believe that the higher

prevalence of distress among victims of bullying may therefore be partly explained by two factors: a) victims experience comorbid externalizing and internalizing disorders, and b) a high proportion of these victims are bully-victims, who are themselves involved in perpetration behavior (37). This learned behavior is a consequence of the sociocognitive development of bullied children. After their experiences of being bullied by their peers, victims begin to believe in power symmetry and develop intolerance toward power differentials among peers; this in turn can lead to a higher prevalence of counterattacks (6). Thus, the victims themselves resort to the perpetration of bullying, and contribute to the resulting vicious circle of perpetration and victimization, adding further to their psychological injuries (6).

In the present study, a two-step cluster algorithm was used to examine clusters and dimensions of psychopathologies (assessed with the SDQ) among respondents. These results indicated that perpetrators, victims and bully-victims regressed to the same clusters when psychopathologies were taken into account. This finding confirms the homogenous nature of psychopathologies among adolescents in Pakistan, once the large overlap between victimization and perpetration behavior is controlled for. As such, it is a relatively novel finding, given that previous studies with cluster analysis classified bullying subtypes rather than behavioral and emotional problems. For example, one study of bullying behavior subtypes identified unwanted sexual and internet solicitation subgroups, and another identified uninvolved adolescents, victims, verbal bullies, bully-victims, and physically aggressive bullies, based on social support and skills status and social behavior (25). A similar conclusion can be drawn from the mediation analyses, which challenge the prevalent notions that

pure victimization is categorically associated with internalizing disorders and pure perpetration with externalizing disorders. We feel that future studies should conceptualize the association between pediatric behavioral disorders and bullying behaviors from a dimensional approach (47, 48).

The present results and analysis have several practical implications. They underscore the synergistic effect of perpetration and victimization behavior among young people, leading to a plethora of emotional and behavioral psychopathologies that persist later in life. Moreover, these strengths and difficulties tend to cluster together. Therefore, intervention programs should be multimodal and comprehensive, targeting both externalizing disorders such as aggression and internalizing disorders such as depression among youth. These intervention programs should also implement psycho-educational knowledge of victimization, perpetration and bully-victim behavior together (24, 25). Our results are also corroborated by a study that found a similar clustering of physical health behaviors among different forms of bullying (27). According to that research, Dutch adolescents who showed bullying behavior had high rates of risk-prone behavior, screen use, sedentary lifestyle, higher body mass index values, problematic self-efficacy and problematic SDQ scores (27).

Strengths of the Study

The present study has several strengths. Our large sample of Pakistani schoolchildren included respondents in seven cities across two provinces of Pakistan, which provided high statistical power for the data analyses. Despite the use of a convenience sampling method, the approach used to seek voluntary participation together with the high response rate make our findings potentially generalizable to the Pakistani population of schoolchildren in the same age group. The participating schools in this study were situated in small cities catering to their respective populations. But a large proportion of these children had a rural background, which increases the generalizability of our findings to the rural population as well.

Limitations

The cross-sectional nature of this study limits inferences related to temporality and causality. These hypotheses should therefore be explored in future studies of longitudinal cohorts. In addition, the use of a self-administered instrument may have led to some recall bias; moreover, no collateral information was obtained from the children's parents or teachers.

In conclusion, the prevalence of bullying perpetration and victimization behaviors among Pakistani schoolchildren was very high and was associated with behavioral difficulties. This study also provides insights into the association between childhood psychopathologies, different patterns of bullying

REFERENCES

 Nansel TR, Overpeck M, Pilla RS, Ruan WJ, Simons-Morton B, Scheidt P. Bullying behaviors among US youth: prevalence and association with psychosocial adjustment. *Jama* (2001) 285:2094–100. doi: 10.1001/jama.285.16.2094 behavior, and the mediators governing them. Bullying perpetration was associated with externalizing symptoms, whereas being a victim was associated with both externalizing and internalizing psychopathologies. The higher prevalence of distress among victims of bullying can be explained by comorbid externalizing and internalizing disorders, and by a greater tendency of victims to engage in bullying perpetration themselves as a learned behavior.

Our findings have several implications for Pakistani policy makers and researchers. We emphasize the need to understand the patterns of behavioral difficulties in order to design effective anti-bullying initiatives, psychosocial counseling procedures, and school-based mental health services.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical approval for this study was granted by the Peoples University of Medical and Health Sciences for Women, Nawabshah, and it was found to meet the ethical criteria of the Declaration of Helsinki (1964) and comparable standards. The informed consent form and a detailed brochure outlining the objectives of the study were mailed to each participant's parents. They were assured that all data would be anonymous and that no individual findings would be reported.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SN and AW conceived and designed the study, supervised data collection, analyzed the data and interpreted it, and wrote the initial draft of the manuscript. ZS, WA, MW, JR, and TA collected the data and edited the draft extensively. All authors reviewed the final draft and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank K. Shashok (AuthorAID in the Eastern Mediterranean) for her help in improving the use of English in the manuscript. We also thank the school administrative staff members who helped our team with data collection.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt.2019. 00976/full#supplementary-material

 Gladden RM, Vivolo-Kantor AM, Hamburger ME, Lumpkin CD. Bullying surveillance among youths: uniform definitions for public health and recommended data elements, version 1.0. *Centers Dis Control Prev Atlanta Georg* (2014), 4–101. http://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/pdf/bullyingdefinitions-final-a.pdf.

- Flannery DJ, Todres J, Bradshaw CP, Amar AF, Graham S, Hatzenbuehler M, et al. Bullying prevention: a summary of the report of the national academies of sciences, engineering, and medicine: committee on the biological and psychosocial effects of peer victimization: lessons for bullying prevention. *Prev Sci* (2016) 17:1044–53. doi: 10.1007/s11121-016-0722-8
- Davis K, Randall DP, Ambrose A, Orand M. 'I was bullied too': stories of bullying and coping in an online community. *Inf Commun Soc* (2015) 18:357– 75. doi: 10.1080/1369118X.2014.952657
- 5. Milosevic T. Cyberbullying in US Mainstream Media. *J Child Media* (2015) 9:492–509. doi: 10.1080/17482798.2015.1089300
- Wolke D, Lereya ST. Long-term effects of bullying. Arch Dis Child (2015) 100:879–85. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2014-306667
- Greene JA, Herzberg D. Hidden in plain sight: a statistical analysis of violence against children. Am J Public Health (2014) 100:793–803. doi: 10.2105/ AJPH.2009.181255
- Modecki KL, Minchin J, Harbaugh AG, Guerra NG, Runions KC. Bullying prevalence across contexts: a meta-analysis measuring cyber and traditional bullying. J Adolesc Heal (2014) 55:602–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth. 2014.06.007
- 9. Ali Shaikh M. Bullying victimization among school-attending adolescents in Pakistan. J Pak Med Assoc (2013) 63:1202–3.
- Messias E, Kindrick K, Castro J. School bullying, cyberbullying, or both: Correlates of teen suicidality in the 2011 CDC youth risk behavior survey. *Compr Psychiatry* (2014) 55:1063–8. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.02.005
- Owusu A, Hart P, Oliver B, Kang M. The association between bullying and psychological health among senior high school students in ghana, west africa. *J Sch Health* (2011) 81:231–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011.00590.x
- Tharp-Taylor S, Haviland A, D'Amico EJ. Victimization from mental and physical bullying and substance use in early adolescence. *Addict Behav* (2009) 34:561–7. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.03.012
- Reijntjes A, Kamphuis JH, Prinzie P, Boelen PA, Van Der Schoot M, Telch MJ. Prospective linkages between peer victimization and externalizing problems in children: a meta-analysis. *Aggress Behav* (2011) 37:215–22. doi: 10.1002/ ab.20374
- Hong JS, Kral MJ, Sterzing PR. Pathways from bullying perpetration, victimization, and bully victimization to suicidality among school-aged youth. *Trauma Violence Abus* (2015) 16:379–90. doi: 10.1177/ 1524838014537904
- Hong JS, Davis JP, Sterzing PR, Yoon J, Choi S, Smith DC. A conceptual framework for understanding the association between school bullying victimization and substance misuse. *Am J Orthopsychiatry* (2014) 84:696. doi: 10.1037/ort0000036
- Hong J, Voisin D, Cho S, Smith D, Resko S. Peer Victimization and Substance Use Among African American Adolescents and Emerging Adults on Chicago's Southside. *Am J Orthopsychiatry* (2017) 88:431–40. Available at: http://psycnet. apa.org/record/2017-11229-001 (Accessed July 22, 2018).
- van Dam DS, van der Ven E, Velthorst E, Selten JP, Morgan C, de Haan L. Childhood bullying and the association with psychosis in non-clinical and clinical samples: a review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Med* (2012) 42:2463–74. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712000360
- Wolke D, Lee K, Guy A. Cyberbullying: a storm in a teacup? Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry (2017) 26:899–908. doi: 10.1007/s00787-017-0954-6
- Gini G. Associations between bullying behaviour, psychosomatic complaints, emotional and behavioural problems. *J Paediatr Child Health* (2008) 44:492– 7. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1754.2007.01155.x
- Baly MW, Cornell DG, Lovegrove P. A longitudinal investigation of self- and peer reports of bullying victimization across middle school. *Psychol Sch* (2014) 51:217–40. doi: 10.1002/pits.21747
- McFarlane J, Karmaliani R, Maqbool Ahmed Khuwaja H, Gulzar S, Somani R, Saeed Ali T, et al. Preventing peer violence against children: methods and baseline data of a cluster randomized controlled trial in Pakistan. *Glob Heal Sci Pract* (2017) 5:115–37. doi: 10.9745/GHSP-D-16-00215
- 22. Karmaliani R, Mcfarlane J, Somani R, Khuwaja HMA, Bhamani SS, Ali TS, et al. Peer violence perpetration and victimization: Prevalence, associated factors and pathways among 1752 sixth grade boys and girls in schools in Pakistan. *PloS One* (2017) 12:e0180833. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180833
- 23. Ali TS, Karmaliani R, Mcfarlane J, Khuwaja HMA, Somani Y, Chirwa ED, et al. Attitude towards gender roles and violence against women and

girls (VAWG): baseline findings from an RCT of 1752 youths in Pakistan. *Glob Health Action* (2017) 10:1342454. doi: 10.1080/16549716. 2017.1342454

- Ybarra ML, Espelage DL, Mitchell KJ. The Co-occurrence of internet harassment and unwanted sexual solicitation victimization and perpetration: associations with psychosocial indicators. *J Adolesc Heal* (2007) 41:S31–S41. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2007.09.010
- Peeters M, Cillessen AHN, Scholte RHJ. Clueless or powerful? identifying subtypes of bullies in adolescence. J Youth Adolesc (2010) 39:1041–52. doi: 10.1007/s10964-009-9478-9
- Conry MC, Morgan K, Curry P, McGee H, Harrington J, Ward M, et al. The clustering of health behaviours in Ireland and their relationship with mental health, self-rated health and quality of life. *BMC Public Health* (2011) 11:692. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-11-692
- Vicent B, van Stel HF, Schrijvers AJP, de Leeuw JRJ. Clustering of healthrelated behaviors, health outcomes and demographics in Dutch adolescents: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health* (2013) 13:1–29. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1118
- Grimm L, Yarnold P. Reading and understanding MORE multivariate statistics. (2000). Available at: http://psycnet.apa.org/record/2000-00427-000 (Accessed July 25, 2018).
- Pakistan Bureau of Statistics. Census- 2017 Pakistan. (2017). http://www.pbs. gov.pk/sites/default/files//DISTRICT_WISE_CENSUS_RESULTS_CENSUS_ 2017.pdf.
- de Moura DR, Cruz ACN, Quevedo L de Á. Prevalence and characteristics of school age bullying victims. J Pediatr (Rio J) (2011) 87:19–23. doi: 10.2223/ JPED.2042
- 31. Samad L, Hollis C, Prince M, Goodman R. Child and adolescent psychopathology in a developing country: testing the validity of the strengths and difficulties questionnaire (Urdu version). *Int J Methods Psychiatr Res* (2005) 14:158–66. doi: 10.1002/mpr.3
- Aroian LA. The probability function of the product of two normally distributed variables. Ann Math Stat (1944) 18:265–71. doi: 10.1214/aoms/ 1177730442
- Goodman LA. On the exact variance of products. J Am Stat Assoc (1960) 55:708–13. doi: 10.1080/01621459.1960.10483369
- SPSS. The SPSS Two Step Cluster Component: a scalable component enabling more efficient customer segmentation. (2001). Available at: http://www.spss. ch/upload/1122644952_TheSPSSTwoStepClusterComponent.pdf.
- 35. Khawaja S, Khoja AA, Motwani K. Abuse among school going adolescents in three major cities of Pakistan: is it associated with school performances and mood disorders? J Pak Med Assoc (2015) 65:142–7.
- Zhu Y, Chan KL. Prevalence and correlates of school bullying victimization in Xi'an, China. Violence Vict (2015) 30:714–32. doi: 10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-14-00006
- Thomas HJ, Connor JP, Lawrence DM, Hafekost JM, Zubrick SR, Scott JG. Prevalence and correlates of bullying victimisation and perpetration in a nationally representative sample of Australian youth. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry* (2017) 51:909–20. doi: 10.1177/0004867417707819
- Salmanian M, Asadian-koohestani F, Mohammadi MR. A systematic review on the prevalence of conduct disorder in the middle east. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2017) 52:1337–43. doi: 10.1007/s00127-017-1414-9
- Syed EU, Hussein SA, Mahmud S. Screening for emotional and behavioural problems amongst 5-11-year-old school children in Karachi, Pakistan. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2007) 42:421–7. doi: 10.1007/s00127-007-0188-x
- Goodman A, Heiervang E, Fleitlich-Bilyk B, Alyahri A, Patel V, Mullick MSI, et al. Cross-national differences in questionnaires do not necessarily reflect comparable differences in disorder prevalence. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol* (2012) 47:1321–31. doi: 10.1007/s00127-011-0440-2
- Polanczyk G, Salum G, Sugaya L, Caye A, Rohde L. Annual research review: a meta-analysis of the worldwide prevalence of mental disorders in children and adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2015) 56:345–65. doi: 10.1111/ jcpp.12381
- Kovess-Masfety V, Husky MM, Keyes K, Hamilton A, Pez O, Bitfoi A, et al. Comparing the prevalence of mental health problems in children 6–11 across Europe. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol (2016) 51(8):1093–103.

- Waqas A, Raza N, Lodhi HW, Jamal M, Muhammad Z, Rehman A. Psychosocial factors of antenatal anxiety and depression in Pakistan: Is social support a mediator? *PloS One* (2015) 10:e0116510.
- 44. Gustafsson BM, Proczkowska-björklund M, Gustafsson PA. Emotional and behavioural problems in Swedish preschool children rated by preschool teachers with the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ). BMC Pediatr (2017) 17:1-10. doi: 10.1186/s12887-017-0864-2
- Haltigan JD, Vaillancourt T. Joint trajectories of bullying and peer victimization across elementary and middle school and associations with symptoms of psychopathology. *Dev Psychol* (2014) 50(11):2426.
- 46. Syed EU, Hussein SA, Azam SI, Khan AG. Comparison of urdu version of strengths and difficulties questionnaire (SDQ) and the child behaviour check list (CBCL) amongst primary school children in Karachi. J Coll Physicians Surg Pakistan (2009) 19:375–9. doi: 06.2009/JCPSP.375379
- Chaplin TM, Aldao A. Gender differences in emotion expression in children: a meta-analytic review. *Psychological bulletin* (2013) 139(4):735.

 Sigurdson JF, Undheim AM, Wallander JL, Lydersen S, Sund AM. The longterm effects of being bullied or a bully in adolescence on externalizing and internalizing mental health problems in adulthood. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health* (2015) 9:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13034-015-0075-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Naveed, Waqas, Shah, Ahmad, Wasim, Rasheed and Afzaal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Family Violence, Sibling, and Peer Aggression During Adolescence: Associations With Behavioral Health Outcomes

Katherine M. Ingram^{1*}, Dorothy L. Espelage¹, Jordan P. Davis² and Gabriel J. Merrin³

¹ School of Education, University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC, United States, ² University of Southern California, Suzanne-Dworak Peck School of Social Work, USC Center for Artificial Intelligence in Society, USC Center for Mindfulness Science, USC Institute for Addiction Science, Los Angeles, CA, United States, ³ Department of Human Development and Family Studies, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, TX, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Tracy Vaillancourt, University of Ottawa, Canada

Reviewed by:

Kirsty S. Lee, University of Warwick, United Kingdom Ann H. Farrell, University of Ottawa, Canada

> *Correspondence: Katherine M. Ingram ingramkm@unc.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 May 2019 Accepted: 10 January 2020 Published: 11 February 2020

Citation:

Ingram KM, Espelage DL, Davis JP and Merrin GJ (2020) Family Violence, Sibling, and Peer Aggression During Adolescence: Associations With Behavioral Health Outcomes. Front. Psychiatry 11:26. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00026 Bullying and sibling aggression can appear as similar behavior, though the latter is comparatively understudied. Aligned with the Theory of Intergenerational Transmission of Violence, research suggests that exposure to family violence increases an individual's risk for perpetrating violence in their own future relationships. Additionally, Problem Behavior Theory suggests that engaging in one problem behavior (e.g., bullying) increases the likelihood of engaging in other problem behavior (e.g., substance use). In Phase 1, this study of middle school students from the U.S. examined how exposure to family violence predicted membership in latent classes of bullying and sibling aggression perpetration (N = 894, sampled from four middle schools). In Phase 2, we used mixture modeling to understand how latent classes of family violence, sibling aggression, and bullying predict future substance use, mental health outcomes, and deviance behavior later in high school. Results yielded four profiles of peer and sibling aggression: high all, high sibling aggression, high peer aggression, and low all aggression. Youth who reported witnessing more family violence at home were significantly more likely to fall into the sibling aggression only and high all classes, compared to the low all class. Phase 2 results also yielded four classes: a high all class, a sibling aggression and family violence class, a peer aggression class, and a low all class. Individuals in the high all class were more likely to experience several unfavorable outcomes (substance use, depression, delinguency) compared to other classes. This study provides evidence for pathways from witnessing violence, to perpetrating aggression across multiple contexts, to developing other deleterious mental and behavioral health outcomes. These findings highlight the negative impact family violence can have on child development, providing support for a cross-contextual approach for programming aimed at developing relationships skills.

Keywords: bullying, substance (drug) abuse, peer deviance, childhood trauma and adversity, adverse child experiences, aggressive behavior

INTRODUCTION

Aggressive behavior manifests across contexts and environments throughout adolescence, including school (e.g., bullying peers) and home (e.g., sibling aggression). Bullying estimates vary but, in general, 19.3 to 36.5% of middle and high school students report traditional bullying perpetration, and 10.9 to 15.8% of students perpetrate cyberbullying (1-3). However, sibling conflict is comparatively understudied and often understood as normative (4). Some regard sibling rivalry as a marker for positive social development (5, 6). However, Tippett and Wolke (7) identified a homotypic relationship between sibling agression and school bullying: children who bullied a sibling were also likely to bully peers at school and children who were victimized by a sibling were also more likely to be victimized by peers at school. Most children (about 80%) in the U.S. grow up with at least one sibling, and this relationship is touted as one of the longest and most relevant relationships in an individual's life (8). Prior work suggests that sibling aggression is a highly prevalent form of family violence: between 30 and 80% of youth between ages 3 and 17 report being physically assaulted at least once by a sibling during their lifetime (9, 10). An observational study reported between 7 and 12 violent events occurring between siblings in just 3 h of in-home observations (11). These instances appear to be distinctly different and more harmful than developmentally normative sibling conflict. Similar to bullying among peers, sibling aggression is associated with both short- and long-term problems including maladaptive adjustment in adolescence, increased risk for behavioral problems later in life, and greater frequency of engagement in dating violence (12-15).

Observing family violence is a well-established risk factor for youth engagment in both sibling aggression and bullying at school (16–19). Drawing from Social Learing Theory of Aggression (20), when youth observe caretakers or other relevant models invoke aggression in conflict resolution and achieve a desireable outcome, they thereby learn that this behavior is a useful tool. Others have found aggression to be a pathway to gaining social attention (21). This conceptualization also generalizes across contexts. However, the literature has yet to explore the heterogeneity that exists in peer and sibling aggression homotypicality, the extent to which exposure to parental violence predicts this heterogeneity, and the long-term outcomes associated with profiles of exposure to parental violence, peer, and sibling aggression.

Youth Aggression Across Home and School Contexts

Bullying is defined as recurring acts of aggression perpetrated by an individual or group that are intended to harm another individual. This aggression occurs across a power gradient and can be physical (e.g., hitting), verbal (e.g., name-calling), relational (e.g., social exclusion), or result in damage to property, and can happen in person or through online media (e.g., text messaging, e-mail, chats; 22–24). Among a 2015 nationally representative sample of high school students (grades 9 through 12), 20.2% reported being targets of bullying on school property in the past year (25). In a recent metaanalysis, among the 80 studies assessing bullying among adolescents, 34.5% were agents of traditional bullying and 36% were targets of traditional bullying (26). Prior work has found at the individual level, students who use alcohol and other drugs, are highly impulsive, demonstrate low levels of empathy, and hold traditional beliefs about masculinity are all at heightened risk for bullying others (27-29). At the relational level, students who face heighted risk are those who are exposed to family violence and hostility, have low parental monitoring, have low social support, and have friends involved in delinquent behavior (29-33). At the community level, risk of becoming a bully is associated with exposure to neighborhood violence (30, 34). However, also at the community level, reporting a strong sense of school belonging appears to mitigate risk in bullying involvement (29, 32).

Despite the substantial research on risk factors associated with bullying, fewer have sought to expand empirical knowledge related to sibling aggression. Unfortunately, unlike bullying, there is little consensus among scholars on how to define or operationalize sibling aggression. For example, prior work has used a variety of terminology to define sibling aggression including violence, abuse, bullying, and rivalry (35). Further, some theorists have noted the need to incorporate concepts of harmful intent or repetition of the behavior into the definition of sibling aggression (36). Informed by the current debate about a precise definition, we adopt a holistic approach to understanding sibling aggression outlined by Wolke, Tippett, and Dantchev (37) which includes "any unwanted aggressive behavior(s) by a sibling that involves an observed or perceived power imbalance and is repeated multiple times or is highly likely to be repeated; [sibling] bullying may inflict harm or distress on the targeted sibling including physical, psychological, or social harm" (p. 918). Reported prevalence rates vary by type of aggression (37). However, studies that assess multiple forms of aggression have found that victims of sibling aggression report more physical and verbal forms of aggression and fewer experiences of relational or emotional forms of aggression (38, 39). Similar to the voluminous literature on bullying, prior work notes that youth who experience more than one type of sibling aggression tend to report greater mental health problems (14). Some sibling conflict is normative, harmless, and can even be useful for learning to resolve interpersonal conflict (5, 40). However, prolonged conflict between siblings can be problematic, and differentially affect internalizing and externalizing problems. The link between sibling conflict and heightened depressive mood, loneliness, and poor self-esteem (14, 41, 42). Similarly, sibling conflict has been associated with externalizing problems (e.g., substance use, fighting) among adolescents (43) and increased conduct problems during early adolescence (44). Early longitudinal studies have also noted that, among female siblings, older sister hostility predicted increases in young sister behavior problems over time (45).

Thus, behavioral characteristics of sibling aggression are phenotypically similar to bullying behavior, with most youth reporting multiple forms of aggression (e.g., physical, verbal, relational, emotional; 46). Further, similarities exist across negative outcomes associated with both peer and sibling aggression (37). Additionally, aggressive behavior rarely occurs in isolation and most studies (with a few exceptions, e.g., 7) to date have investigated predictors and correlates of peer and sibling aggression separately. Of relevance, Problem Behavior Theory suggests that engaging in one problem behavior (e.g., bullying) increases the likelihood of engaging in other problem behavior (47). Robust research indicates that the mechanism results from three interlocking systems: the personality system (e.g., one's values and expectations), the perceived environment system (e.g., parental monitoring, peer approval), and the behavior system (e.g., behavior that elicit reward and punishment). These systems interact to either heighten or decrease risk of engagement in problem behavior. Thus, Problem Behavior Theory may explain co-occurrence of bullying and sibling aggression, as well as other problem behaviors such as substance use, peer delinquency, and delinquent behavior. In support of Problem Behavior theory, a number of studies have found that aggression and mental and behavioral health outcomes often co-occur among adolescents (48–51). For example, in a meta-analysis Ttofi, Farringon, Losel, Crago, and Theodorakis (52) found students who bully are significantly more likely to use substances (compared to students who do not bully). They also found that victims of bullying were not more likely than non-victims to use substances, although this finding should be replicated given the small number of studies examined between victimization and later drug use. Unsurprisingly, several studies, have also documented the co-occurrence between perpetration aggression as an adolescent and experiences of depression (53-55).

Exposure to Family Violence and Adolescent Aggression

One of the most commonly studied correlates of adolescent maladaptive behavior is exposure to family violence. This can include direct violence exposure such as child abuse, neglect, or emotional abuse as well as indirect forms of violence such as witnessing intimate partner violence. For example, prior work on adolescent exposure to violence has reported that 32% witness family assault, 25% witness partner assault, and almost 58% witness assaults in the community (e.g., seeing someone get attacked, hearing gun shots; 9). Witnessing parental conflict, being directly victimized in the home, and witnessing violence in the community has a graded dose-response relationship with negative outcomes (56-58). That is, the more parental violence experienced by youth the greater the risk for future social, mental, and physical health problems. Specifically, several studies have found that exposure to parental violence can increase a youth's risk for later violent experiences. For example, exposure to one or more forms of violence, including interparental violence, has been associated with both perpetration of and victimization from physical violence (59) and sexual violence (60). Recently, Davis and colleagues (56) reported on the heterogeneity in exposure to family and community violence and the association with peer aggression and victimization. Results indicated youth exposed to parental

violence early in adolescence and those who reported witnessing increasing community violence were more likely to engage in bullying and be victims of peer aggression. Similar findings have been reported for the association between exposure to family violence (and other household or family characteristics) and sibling aggression. For example, Hardy (61) found that experiences of family stress (defined broadly) was associated with higher rates of sibling aggression. Others have found exposure to maternal aggression such as low warmth, overt aggression, relational aggression, and witnessing higher rates of parent to parent violence have been associated with higher rates of sibling aggression (35, 62–64).

A useful theoretical frame for these findings is the theory of intergenerational transmission of violence (65-67), which is rooted in Social Learning Theory (20). This theory posits that witnessing intimate partner violence early in life (e.g., between parents) increases the risk that an individual will later perpetrate violence in their own relationships (66). Several studies offer support for this theory by identifying witnessing of family violence as one of the most robust and important predictors of future relationship violence (i.e., within romantic and other close relationships) among adults and adolescents (68-70). Notably, Ehrensaft and colleagues (71) found that over the course of 20 years, children who witnessed intimate partner violence were more likely to mimic these patterns as perpetrators and also become victims, compared to children who did not witness intimate partner violence. Further, extant research has found that witnessing intimate partner violence is associated with dysregulated affect, a tendency to blame oneself for negative occurrences, and an overall increase in internalizing problems (72, 73). To summarize known consequences, a 2008 metaanalysis of the effects of exposure to domestic violence on internalizing and externalizing problems found medium to large effect sizes for internalizing problems (d = 0.48), externalizing problems (d = 0.47), and trauma symptomology (d = 1.54; 74). Thus, exposure to parent or family violence appears to be highly influential in a child's life and future outcomes. Regarding mechanisms of violence transfer, Social Learning Theory lends a helpful understanding. According to Bandura (20), the home or community acts as a learning space for socialization and interpersonal relationships. Thus, when aggression is modeled in these spaces, children are learning that these strategies are normal or useful (75). Aggressive interpersonal behavior learned intergenerationally also appear to be cognitively mediated such that observing violence can shape one's belief system to accept violence as normal or acceptable (76). This increases the chances that violence will be employed across contexts (76). Thus, if youth witness positive outcomes of violence perpetration (e.g., an expression of jealousy), schemas develop that accept violence as effective means of conflict resolution with partners (71).

Current Study

Taken together, these somewhat siloed bodies of evidence suggest that witnessing family violence is associated with future violence perpetration, and that this behavior often manifest similarly across close relationships, often perpetrated by the same individuals. However, these literatures lack insight into the heterogeneity that exists in perpetrating peer and sibling aggression, and the role of witnessing and learning from parental violence in this heterogeneity. Additionally, little is known about long-term outcomes associated with profiles of exposure to parental violence, peer, and sibling aggression perpetration. A deeper understanding of these dynamics has potential to inform intervention on a number of levels. Parents, teachers, and school personel interact with students in separate settings and have varying levels of involvement and connection with each other. However, problem behavior that presents similarly in both settings may benefit from a comprehensive intervention approach that addresses the critical role of learned use of violence.

The current study had two phases. Phase 1 assessed heterogeneity in peer and sibling aggression. Specifically, we tested the theory of intergenerational transmission of violence, by using early adolescent exposure to family violence as predictors of emergent profiles of peer and sibling aggression and how these profiles differ by demographics (i.e., sex, race/ ethnicity). We expected at least two distinct profiles of peer and sibling aggression to emerge (H1). Further, and in line with the theory of intergenerational transmission of violence, we expected family violence to predict membership in classes that involve more proximal forms of aggression (e.g., sibling) versus primarily peer aggression (H2). In Phase 2, we included exposure to family violence in a mixture model with peer and sibling aggression. This phase allowed us to examine family violence exposure and engagement in peer and sibling aggression in tandem. We utilized emergent profiles to predict behavioral health outcomes such as substance use (tobacco, alcohol, and cannabis), mental health (depression), and delinquency (peer delinquency and delinquent behavior) by emergent class. We predicted that at least two classes of family violence and peer and sibling aggression would emerge (H3). Specifically, we expected at least one class will emerge that includes high family violence exposure and high endorsement of peer and sibling aggression. Finally, we predicted that youth who endorse high aggression (both peer and sibling) as well as those who are exposed to high levels of family violence would have greater substance use, mental health problems, and engagement in greater delinquent behavior (H4).

METHODS

Participants

Participants were 894 students from four Midwestern middle schools. Surveys were administered at five time points: Spring/ Fall 2008 (Waves 1/2), Spring/Fall 2009 (Waves 3/4), and Spring 2012 (Wave 5). Data were collected every semester in middle school in order to capture temporal associations among risk and protective factors of multiple forms of violence as part of a larger study. At baseline the sample was 29.9% White, 52.3% African American, 4.1% Hispanic, and 1.4% Asian or Pacific Islander and 12.3% multiracial or other. The sample was 50.7% assigned a girl at birth and 49.3% assigned a boy at birth. At baseline, students were in 5th (5.7), 6th (54.9), and 7th (39.4%) grade. See **Table 1** for demographic information.

Procedure

Parental Consent

The current study was formally announced in school newsletters, school district newsletters, and e-mails from the principals prior to the Spring of 2008. Upon receiving approval from the institutional review board (IRB) and district school board, a passive consent process was implemented. A consent form containing information about the purpose of the study and information meetings at each school was distributed to the parents or guardians of every student enrolled in the school. Parents or guardians who did not wish to have their child participate in the study were instructed to complete and return the form. Additionally, students assented (or dissented) to participantion via a procedure described on the coversheet of the survey. Surveys were identified only with a unique code number assigned to each student so researchers could track a student's responses across multiple time points, but ensure confidentiality.

Survey Administration

Students were initially informed about the nature of the study by one of the six trained research assistants, the principal investigator, or another faculty member who administered the survey. Researchers assured students that their participation in the study was entirely voluntary and that they could skip any question or stop participating in the survey at any time if they were uncomfortable completing it.

Surveys were conducted in classrooms ranging from 10 to 25 students. The survey took approximately 40–45 min to complete. Members of the research team ensured confidentiality during the survey administration by spacing students apart such that they could not see each other's answers. The survey was administered and read aloud while students responded individually. Students could ask questions if they did not understand an item. At least one trained counseling psychology doctoral-level psychology student was on site to provide immediate support and direct

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics of all study variables.

Variable	Mean (or <i>n</i>) and Standard Deviation (or %)			
Sex				
Boy	441 (49.3%)			
Girl	453 (50.7%)			
Sibling Aggression (Waves 3 and 4)	0.24 (0.35)			
Bullying Perpetration (Waves 3 and 4)	0.15 (0.29)			
Family Aggression (Waves 1 and 2)	0.99 (0.91)			
Tobacco (Wave 5)	0.18 (0.69)			
Alcohol (Wave 5)	0.28 (0.75)			
Cannabis (Wave 5)	0.73 (1.62)			
Depression (Wave 5)	1.02 (0.62)			
Delinquency (Wave 5)	0.33 (0.44)			
Peer Deviance (Wave 5)	0.82 (0.85)			

students to appropriate services if necessary. Students were also provided the research team's contact information to seek more information about the study, and online resources and hotline numbers to address bullying or violence. Also, students were reminded about in-school resources available to them (e.g., guidance counselors).

Measures

Each participant completed demographic information that included questions about their sex (boy or girl), age, grade, and race/ethnicity. For race, participants were given six options: African American (not Hispanic), Asian, White (not Hispanic), Hispanic, Native American, or Pacific Islander. Students could mark all that applied. Then, students completed questions about a wide range of scales measuring different forms of violence (e.g., peer, family) as well as risk (e.g., substance use) and protective factors (e.g., social support) associated with aggression and violence at each wave.

Family Violence

In Phase 1, we combined Waves 1 and 2 (Spring/Fall 2008). In Phase 2, we combined Waves 3 and 4 (Spring/Fall 2009). The Family Conflict and Hostility Scale (77) measured the level of past year perceived violence in the family environment. The scale contains three items from a larger survey, which was designed for the Rochester Youth Development Study. The three items were: "How often is there yelling, quarreling, or arguing in your household?", "How often do family members lose their temper or blow up for no good reason?", and "How often are there physical fights in the household, like people hitting, shoving, or throwing things?" Response options range from 0 (Never) through 3 (Always) on a 4-point Likert-type scale. One additional item was used that assessed family violence "Before you were 9 years old, did you ever see or hear one of your parents or guardians being hit, slapped, punched, shoved, kicked, or otherwise physically hurt by their spouse or partner?" Given that the survey did not assess current risk for students' safety the IRB did not require a mandated reporting protocol. Cronbach's alpha coefficient was.73 for Waves 1 and 2.

Bullying Perpetration

The nine-item Illinois Bully Scale (78) was used to assess the frequency of bullying perpetration across Waves 3 and 4. For example, students were asked how often in the past 30 days they engaged in each behavior (e.g., teased other students, excluded others from their group of friends, threatened to hit or hurt another student). Response options included 0 (Never), 1 (1 or 2 times), 2 (3 or 4 times), 3 (5 or 6 times), and 4 (7 or more times) on a 5-point Likert-type scale. Scores were averaged across Waves 3 and 4. The construct validity of this scale has been supported via exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis (78). Although a power differential is not assessed with the Illinois Bully Scale, the scale has correlated positively with peer nominations of bullying (78). The scale correlated moderately with the Youth Self-Report Aggression Scale (r = .65; 79), suggesting that it was somewhat unique from general aggression. Cronbach's alpha coefficients were.84 at Waves 3 and 4.

Sibling Aggression Perpetration

A sibling aggression perpetration scale (in Waves 3 and 4) was created for this study and included five items that assessed aggression between siblings (80). Items were selected from the University of Illinois Bullying Scale in order to parallel that scale. Five items emerged as a scale in factor analysis, which includes the following: I upset my brother or sister for the fun of it; I got into a physical fight with my brother or sister; I started arguments with my brother or sister; I hit back when a sibling hit me first; and I teased my siblings for the fun of it. Students were asked to indicate how often they did these things to a sibling or other children in their family during that last 30 days. Response options included 0 (Never), 1 (1 or 2 times), 2 (3 or 4 times), 3 (5 or 6 times), and 4 (7 or more times) on a 5-point Likert-type scale. Scores were averaged across Waves 3 and 4, with a Cronbach's alpha coefficient of.80 were found for Waves 3 and 4.

Substance Use: Tobacco, Alcohol, Cannabis

Substance use was measured using three single items addressing tobacco use, alcohol use, and cannabis use at Wave 5. Each participant was asked to indicate how many days in the past 30 days, they did the following: (1) smoked cigarettes, (2) drank at least on full drink of alcohol, and (3) smoked marijuana (weed, grass, hash and bud) on a 7-point Likert-type scale ranging from 0 (*0 Days*) to 7 (*20 to 30 Days*).

Depressive Symptoms

The Orpinas Modified Depression Scale (81) includes six items that asks adolescents how often they felt or acted in certain ways (e.g., "Did you feel happy", "Did you feel hopeless about your future") in the previous 30 days. Response options are 0 (*Never*), 1 (*Not Often*), 2 (*Sometimes*), 3 (*Often*), and 4 (*Almost Always*) on a 5-point Likert-type scale. Greater scores indicate more depressive symptoms. The Modified Depression scale has demonstrated strong construct validity through factor analyses and good internal consistency (.74) when administered to adolescents 10 to 18 years of age (81, 82). Cronbach alpha coefficient was.84 at Wave 5.

Self-Reported Delinquency

This 8-item scale is based on Jessor and Jessor's (47) General Deviant Behavior Scale and asks students to report how many items listed on the measure they took part in during the last year. The scale consists of items such as, "Skipped school", and "Damaged school or other property that did not belong to you." Response options included 0 (*Never*), 1 (*1 or 2 times*), 2 (*3 to 5 times*), 3 (*6 to 9 times*), and 4 (*10 or more times*) on a 5-point Likert-type scale. A Cronbach's alpha coefficient of.67 was found for Wave 5.

Peer Deviance

The Friend's Delinquent Behavior-Denver Youth Survey is a 7item scale (83) that asks participants to report how many of their friends within the last year "Hit or threatened to hit someone," "Purposely damaged or destroyed property that did not belong to them," and "Used alcohol", to name a few. Response options

Family Violence, Peer Aggression, and Health

were 0 (*None*), 1 (*Very Few*), 2 (*Some of them*), 3 (*Most of them*), and 4 (*All of them*) on a 5-point Likert-type scale. Cronbach's alpha coefficient was.88 for Wave 5.

Analytic Plan

The current study consists of two phases to address our research questions. Specifically, in Phase 1 we used Latent Class Analysis (LCA) to examine heterogeneity in peer and sibling aggression during middle school. LCA is a technique that identifies heterogeneity within a sample (or groups) and classifies individuals based on probability of item endorsement. We used dichotomized peer and sibling aggression perpetration items in our LCA such that non-zero scores were given a value of "1." We fit models ranging from one to six classes and examined fit statistics to determine if adding an additional class improved model fit. To assess model fit, we used decreases in the negative two log likelihood (-2LL), Akaike Information Criteria (AIC), Bayesian Information Criteria (BIC), and the sample size adjusted Bayesian Information Criteria (aBIC). Further, we utilized non-significant Vuong-Lo-Mendell-Rubin Likelihood Ratio Test (VLRT), the Lo-Mendell-Rubin adjusted likelihood ratio test (LRT), and the bootstrapped likelihood ratio test (BLRT) to indicate that a k - 1 class solution is a better fit to the data. Once the best fitting model was established for peer and sibling aggression perpetration, we used early middle school values of family violence to predict class membership, addressing hypotheses of intergenerational transmission of violence. That is, we used family violence as a predictor of emergent peer and sibling aggression perpetration classes via multi-nominal logistic regression. We also examined race and gender as predictors of class membership following class enumeration.

After examining how family violence is associated with the sibling and peer aggression classes, Phase 2 included family violence in the latent class model with sibling and peer aggression. That is, we sought to understand how the addition of family violence may influence peer and sibling aggression perpetration class structure. Once the best fitting model was established (following procedures outlined above) we examined distal outcomes across emergent classes using a Wald chi-square test, yielding pairwise comparisons of all class means on each outcome. Specifically, we assessed mean differences between classes across substance use (i.e., tobacco, alcohol, cannabis), mental health (i.e., depression), and deviance (i.e., delinquency, peer deviance) outcomes in high school (Wave 5).

All analyses were conducted using *Mplus* version 8. Missing data ranged from 4–25% on variables across the study period. We used the full information maximum likelihood (FIML) estimator in *Mplus* 8 (84). Missing data patterns were assessed using Little's test of Missing Completely at Random, χ^2 tests and Pearson's correlations in SPSS (IBM version 26).

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

Table 1 presents the means (or *n*) and standard deviations (or %) for all predictor and outcomes variables. Little's test of Missing Completely at Random suggested that data were not missing completely at random for H1-H2 [χ^2 (367) = 550.48, *p* < .001] completely at random for 111-112 ($\chi^{-}(50^{2}) = 550.48$, p < .001] nor for H3-H4 {tobacco use outcome [$\chi^{-2}(438) = 1071.60$, p < .001]; alcohol use outcome [$\chi^{-2}(438) = 1089.08$, p < .001]; marijuana use outcome [$\chi^{-2}(454) = 1121.06$, p < .001]; depression outcome [$\chi^{-2}(421) = 1059.89$, p < .001]; depression outcome $[\chi^2 (421) = 1059.89, p < .001];$ delinquency outcome $[\chi^2 (438) = 1071.68, p < .001];$ peer deviance outcome [χ^2 (438) = 1091.17, p < .001]}. Looking at patterns of missingness among repondents, Asian students were somewhat more likely to have missing data on several items compared to students of other racial identities: tobacco use (χ^2 = 7.75, p = .006), alcohol use ($\chi^2 = 7.68$, p = .006), marijuana use $(\chi^2 = 9.35, p = .002)$, delinquency $(\chi^2 = 8.19, p = .005)$, and peer deviance ($\chi^2 = 11.34$, p = .001). Also, age at baseline was negatively correlated with providing data for the Wave 5 measures including alcohol use, tobacco use, marijuana use, peer deviance, delinquency, and depression (r values range between.07 and.17, p < .01). Participant sex and other racial identities had no significant associations with providing data.

H1: Latent Classes of Peer and Sibling Aggression

Phase 1 of the analysis identified classes of peer and sibling aggression during middle school and examined family violence as a predictor of the classes. Results of the LCA with peer and sibling aggression perpetration indicated that a four-class model fit the data best (see **Table 2**). The four-class model had the lowest -2LL, AIC, BIC, CAIC, and AWE among all the models with significant LMRT. The significant LMRT and Adjusted LMRT indicated that the improvement in fit (i.e., reduction in -2LL) from the three to four-class model was statistically significant. An entropy value of 0.85 indicated good class

No. of classes	-2LL	AIC	BIC	CAIC	AWE	LMRT p value	Adj LMRT <i>p value</i>	Entropy
1	13691.35	13719.35	13786.49	13800.49	13923.63	_	_	1.00
2	11313.79	11371.79	11510.86	11539.86	11794.94	.001	.001	.875
3	10835.87	10923.87	11134.89	11178.89	11565.90	.001	.001	.829
4	10565.80	10683.80	10966.75	11025.75	11544.70	.001	.001	.850
5	10454.69	10602.69	10957.57	11031.57	11682.45	.107	.110	.863

-2LL, Negative 2 log likelihood; AlC, Akaike Information Criteria; BIC, Bayesian Information Criteria; CAIC, Consistent Akaike Information Criteria; AWE, Approximate Weight of Evidence Criterion; LMRT, Lo-Mendell-Rubin Test; Adj LMRT, Adjusted Lo-Mendell-Rubin Test. Bolded text indicates solution retained.

separation (85). The four latent classes included a high all aggression class (17.34%, n = 155: 83 boys, 72 girls), that had the highest probabilities across both sibling and peer aggression, a sibling aggression class (34.56%, n = 309: 123 boys, 186 girls, that had high probabilities of engaging in sibling aggression, but low engagement in peer aggression, a peer aggression class (8.84%, n = 79: 46 boy, 33 girl), that had high probabilities of engaging in peer aggression but low engagement in sibling aggression, and a low aggression class (39.26%, n = 351: 189 boy, 162 girl), that had the lowest probabilities of engaging in any form of sibling or peer aggression. Figure 1 displays the probability plot of the four sibling and peer aggression classes. We also looked at demographic predictors (e.g., sex, race/ ethnicity) of class membership. Regarding sex assigned at birth, girls were significantly more likely to be in the sibling aggression compared to all other classes, with all p-values lower than 0.005. Asian students were significantly more likely to fall into the sibling aggression class than all other classes. African-American/Black students were most likely to fall into the high all and sibling aggression classes, though were also significantly more likely to be in low aggression than the peer aggression class. Latinx students were most likely to fall into peer agression and sibling aggression classes. White students were most likely to fall into high all and sibling agression classes. Multiracial students were most likely to be in the low all class.

H2: Intergenerational Transmission of Violence: Family Violence Predicting Peer and Sibling Aggression Classes

After identifying the sibling and peer aggression classes, we examined the extent to which family violence was associated with differences between the aggression classes. **Table 3** presents the odds ratios and confidence intervals for a multinomial

logistic regression that examines family violence as a predictor of the sibling and peer aggression classes. The results indicated that increases in family violence were associated with higher odds of being in the high all [AOR = 2.55, CI = (1.95, 3.33)] and sibling aggression [AOR = 1.82, CI = (1.41, 2.35)] classes compared to the Low aggression class. In addition, increases in family violence were associated with lower odds of being in the sibling aggression [AOR = 0.71, CI = (0.57, 0.90)] and peer aggression [AOR = 0.47, CI = (0.32, 0.71)] classes compared to the high all class. This indicates that youth who endorse higher rates of family violence are more likely to be in the high all (e.g., high endorsement of both sibling and peer aggression) compared to classes that represent sibling or peer aggression only. Finally, youth endorsing higher family violence had lower odds of being in the *peer aggression* [AOR = 0.66, CI =(0.45, 0.98)] class compared to the sibling aggression class, indicating witnessing family violence is associated with higher odds of being in a class of individuals that perpetrates aggression towards siblings compared to peers only.

H3: Latent Classes of Peer Aggression, Sibling Aggression, and Family Violence

Phase 2 of the current study identified middle school classes of peer aggression, sibling aggression, and family violence. Further, we examined how emergent classes predicted substance use (tobacco, alcohol, and cannabis), mental health (depression), and deviance (delinquency and peer delinquency) outcomes in high school. Results of the LCA indicated that a four-class model fit the data best (see **Table 4**). The four-class model had the lowest -2LL, AIC, BIC, CAIC, and AWE among all the models with significant LMRT. Like the first LCA, the significant LMRT and Adjusted LMRT indicated that the improvement in fit (i.e., reduction in -2LL) from the three to four-class model was statistically significant. An entropy value of 0.85 indicated good


TABLE 3 | Class counts for a 4 class solution with sibling and peer aggression.

Classes	Frequency	Percentage	
High Aggression	155	17.34%	
Sibling Aggression	309	34.56%	
Peer Aggression	79	8.84%	
Low Aggression	351	39.26%	

N = 894.

class separation. The four latent classes included a *high all* class (16.56%, n = 148: 76 boy, 72 girl), that had the highest probability of endorsing sibling aggression, peer aggression, and witnessing family violence. Further, a *sibling aggression and family violence* class emerged (32.10%, n = 287: 119 boy, 168 girl, that had high probabilities of engaging in sibling aggression and witnessing family violence, but low engagement in peer aggression. The third class was labeled *peer aggression* (11.00%, n = 98: 55 boy, 43 girl), which had high probabilities of engaging in gegression and low exposure to family violence. Finally, a *low aggression* class emerged (40.38%, n = 361: 191 boy, 170 girl), that had the lowest probabilities of engaging in any form of sibling or peer aggression as well as low endorsement of family violence. **Figure 2** displays a plot of the four sibling, family, and peer aggression classes.

We also looked at demographic predictors of class membership. Regarding sex assigned at birth, girls were significantly more likely to be in the *sibling aggression and family violence* class compared to all other classes, with all *p*values lower than 0.05. Individuals who identify as African-American/Black, White, or another racial identity were no more likely to fall into any one class compared to any other (all *p*values greater than 0.05). Asian/Pacific Islander as well as Latinx students were equally likely to be in the *high all, sibling and family aggression,* and *peer aggression,* classes and significantly more likely to fall into each compared to the *low all* class.

H4: Substance Use, Mental Health, and Deviance Outcomes

After identifying the sibling, family, and peer aggression classes, we examined the extent to which the middle school classes predicted

TABLE 4 | Family aggression (waves 1 and 2) predicting sibling and peer aggression classes (waves 3 and 4).

Variables	Family Aggression Predictor				
	OR	95% OR Confidence Interval			
Reference Low All					
Vs. high all	2.55	[1.95, 3.33]			
Vs. sibling aggression	1.82	[1.41, 2.35]			
Vs. peer aggression	1.21	[0.81, 1.80]			
Reference High All					
Vs. sibling aggression	0.71	[0.57, 0.90]			
Vs. peer aggression	0.47	[0.32, 0.71]			
Reference Sibling Aggressic	n				
Vs. peer aggression	0.66	[0.45, 0.98]			

Confidence Intervals that include 1 are not significant at p < .05.

differences in substance use, mental health, and deviance in high school. Table 5 presents the means and standard errors of each outcome variable across each of the four emergent classes. Regarding substance use behavior, the high all and sibling aggression and family violence classes reported significantly higher rates of alcohol use compared to the low all class. In addition, the high all and peer aggression classes reported higher rates of cannabis use compared to the sibling aggression and family violence and low all classes. There were no differences found for tobacco use. For the mental health outcome, the high all class reported higher levels of depression compared to both the *peer aggression* and *low all* classes. Further, the sibling aggression and family violence class reported higher average levels of depression compared to the low all class. Considering deviancy, the high all class reported higher levels of delinquency compared to sibling aggression and family violence class and the low all aggression classes. Further, and the peer aggression class reported higher average levels of delinquency compared to the low all aggression class. There were no class differences found for peer delinquency or tobacco use.

DISCUSSION

Adolescence is a period of development when important physiological (e.g., puberty, brain development) and psychological (e.g., expectation of emotion regulation) changes occur in conjunction with an increasing desire for autonomy, higher reliance on peers for social context, and a propensity for experimentation with high risk behavior (e.g., substance use, delinquency; 86). Additionally, some youth also experience high rates of family violence (56-58). Prior research has shown that youth who experience some form of violence (e.g., family, community) are at increased risk of engaging in unhealthy behavior to cope with this adversity. For example, youth who are exposed to violence early in life may have a more difficult time managing internalizing symptomology (e.g., depression) and have higher rates of aggressive behavior (56, 57). Throughout the literature aggression has focused on peer-topeer and family (parental) violence, thereby limiting scholarly understanding of a unique form of violence that often transcends both spheres (87). Further, minimal research exists on how sibling aggression relates to behavioral health outcomes among youth. In the current study, we explored heterogeneity in peer and sibling aggression, and how exposure to family violence relates to engagement in multiple ecologies of aggression. Additionally, we examined heterogeneity in family violence as well as heterogeneity in peer and sibling aggression and how these dynamics relate to important behavioral health outcomes.

We found ample heterogeneity in sibling and peer aggression. Specifically, results yielded four profiles of peer and sibling aggression: *high all, high sibling aggression only, high peer aggression only, and low all* aggression. This indicates that, among adolescents, there may be specific subgroups of individuals that engage in poly-perpetration (e.g., within the peer and sibling context) and, simultaneously, there may be groups of youth who are only perpetrators of aggression within a specific context. However, our aim in Phase 1 of our study was to,



not only understand if there was heterogeneity in multiple aggression social contexts, but also to test the theory of intergenerational transmission of violence by examining early adolescent exposure to family violence as a predictor of emergent profiles of peer and sibling aggression. Specifically, we predicted that exposure to family violence would predict membership into classes that involve more proximal forms of aggression (e.g., among siblings) rather than more distal forms (e.g., among peers). We found that youth who reported witnessing more family violence at home were 82% more likely to fall into the sibling aggression only class (compared to low all), and 155% more likely to fall into the high all class (compared to low class). These findings largely align with previous research linking witnessing violence in the family to engagement in future aggression within relationships (e.g., peers and siblings; 88). Specifically, social learning theory posits that youth will mimic or model behavior that, from their perspective, appear to provide positive rewards (e.g., conflict resolution; 20). For example, youth who witness violence may see aggression (e.g., fighting, teasing, putting others down) as a way to maintain control in relationships or increase feelings of agency. Further, according to the Cycle of Violence model, fighting and/or violence are often

ways to relieve interpersonal tension that has built over time and is followed by a short pleasant "honeymoon" phase thus perpetuating the cycle (89). This is in direct relation to the theory of intergenerational transmission of violence where youth reproduce aggression typologies which they were exposed to early on in life within their own relationships (90). Previous studies have used cross-sectional data and linear regression analyses to identify general co-occurrence among these constructs (7, 37). However, the current analyses extend our understanding of these phenomena in several important ways. First, the current study clarifies temporal associations such that previously witnessing family violence is associated with polyperpetration (e.g., both peer and sibling aggression). Our study aligns with prior longitudinal work noting that parent behavior (e.g., child maltreatment, intimate partner violence) increases the risk of sibling victimization as well as bullying perpetration (62, 35, 91, 92). Further, prior work has reported the absence of parental warmth (93), and the presence of harsh parenting practices (7) are associated with higher bullying behavior between siblings. The current study also provides insight into common profiles of these aggressive behavior and prevalence of each type. Moreover, it provides an updated understanding of

TABLE 5	Model fit indices for 1	through 5 latent	class models with sibli	na neer a	nd family addression
				19, DEEL, a	

No. of Classes	-2LL	AIC	BIC	CAIC	AWE	LMRT p value	Adj LMRT <i>p value</i>	Entropy
1	17726.772	17762.772	17849.0947	17867.0947	18025.41741	_	_	1.00
2	15060.164	15134.164	15311.60511	15348.60511	15674.04623	.001	.001	.870
3	14447.094	14559.094	14827.65352	14883.65352	15376.21305	.001	.001	.837
4	14138.854	14288.854	14648.53193	14723.53193	15383.20987	.001	.001	.850
5	13970.64	14158.64	14609.43634	14703.43634	15530.23269	.626	.627	.825

-2LL, Negative 2 log likelihood; AlC, Akaike Information Criteria; BIC, Bayesian Information Criteria; CAIC, Consistent Akaike Information Criteria; AWE, Approximate Weight of Evidence Criterion; LMRT, Lo-Mendell-Rubin Test; Adj LMRT, Adjusted Lo-Mendell-Rubin Test. Bolded text indicates solution retained. behavior that may appear topographically similar (e.g., peer aggression), but have different roots (e.g., sibling aggression). For example, students that exhibit peer aggression only (no sibling aggression) are less likely to have witnessed family violence than students who exhibit peer and sibling aggression (poly-perpetration). Thus, an understanding of commonly occurring profiles and their correlates, especially across domains that do not share informants (i.e., parents see behavior at home, teachers see behavior at school), is critical to intervention policy and programming.

In Phase 2 of our study, we conducted a mixture model using peer aggression, sibling aggression, and family violence items which allowed us to examine classes of common combinations of involvement in each. This analysis yielded four classes: a high all class, a sibling aggression and family violence class, a peer aggression class, and a low all class (Table 6). We then examined mental and behavioral health outcomes across emergent classes (Table 7). It is interesting that our profiles extracted a class that included family violence and sibling aggression in addition to a class that reported high prevalence rates of both aggression typologies and family violence. This allows us to compare, directly, outcomes for aggression classifications that occur in the family with aggressive behavior that occur in the family and peer context. Looking across outcomes, the high all aggression class was significantly more likely to experience deleterious outcomes, on average, compared to the low all aggression group (specifically looking at depression, substance use, and deviance). Across some outcomes, specifically cannabis use and deviance, the peer aggression only class emerged as significantly more likely to experience undesirable outcomes compared to the low all aggression group. Further, youth in the high all class reported more alcohol use, cannabis

TABLE 6	Class counts for a 4 class solution with sibling, peer, and fan	nily
aggression.		

Classes	Frequency	Percentage	
High Aggression	148	16.56%	
Sibling and Family Aggression	287	32.10%	
Peer Aggression	98	11.00%	
Low Aggression	361	40.38%	

N = 894.

use, and delinquency compared to youth in the sibling aggression and family violence class, indicating the addition of peer aggression (the only difference between these classifications was endorsement of peer aggression) is a vital component for long term problem behavior. Thus, in general, youth who engage in multiple forms of aggressive behavior and are exposed to high levels of family violence are more likely to engage in problematic behavior over and above single aggression typologies (e.g., peer and sibling only). Our results are akin to recent work assessing poly-perpetration. For example, in a longitudinal prospective cohort design, youth who reported abuse or neglect (e.g., child maltreatment) were more likely to be perpetrators of subsequent criminal violence, child abuse, and intimate partner violence (94). Milaniak and Widom (95) also found that the youth with early childhood violence exposure were more likely to be polyperpetrators of violence compared to youth without such histories. Further, in this sample, gender and racial associations with class membership were not particularly strong. This study may not have sensitively captured relevant cultural dynamics of interpersonal violence, but perhaps these dynamics are found to some degree across racial and gender groups. However, in both analyses, girls were significantly more likely to be in the classes characterized by sibling agression (and not peer aggression). Perhaps these analyses support prior work (45) in identifying older sister aggression as a distinct behavior from general sibling aggression. Alternatively, perhaps for girls, aggression is more likely to occur in the home and is regulated across contexts whereas boys are more commonly socialized to exhibit the same behavior across contexts with less regulation. However, more information about gender and age of aggression targets among siblings is needed to draw inferences [i.e. though we know the participant is a girl, we have no information regarding sex of her sibling(s)].

Results from the current study offer further support for Problem Behavior Theory as well as Social Learning Theory. That is, our study extends Problem Behavior Theory such that youth who are poly-perpetrators of violence *and* experience high rates of family violence are more likely to experience multiple problem behavior later in life. Further, our results extend Social Learning Theory such that the cycle of violence, which is often discussed in relation to exposure to family violence, is not just limited to the family sphere. Especially for individuals who have

TABLE 7 Middle school latent classes (waves 3 and 4) predicting depression, delinguency	neer deviance, and substance use ou	comes in high school (wave 5)
TABLE / I MIDULE SCHOOL ALEHT CLASSES (WAVES 5 AND 4	predicting depression, delinquency	, peer ueviarice, ariu substarice use ou	corries in high school (wave 0).

Variable	1. High Aggression Mean/SE	2. Sibling and Family Aggression Mean/SE	3. Peer Aggression Mean/SE	4. Low Aggression Mean/SE	Chi-Square Comparisons $p < .05$
Substance Use					
Tobacco	0.37 (0.13)	0.11 (0.04)	0.32 (0.14)	0.12 (0.05)	
Alcohol	0.50 (0.14)	0.33 (0.07)	0.30 (0.10)	0.16 (0.05)	1, 2 > 4
Cannabis	1.18 (0.27)	0.56 (0.13)	1.36 (0.32)	0.50 (0.11)	1, 3 > 2, 4
Mental Health					
Depression	1.26 (0.10)	1.11 (0.06)	1.00 (0.09)	0.88 (0.43)	1 > 3, 4; 2 > 4
Deviance					
Delinguency	0.53 (0.65)	0.33 (0.04)	0.42 (0.06)	0.24 (0.29)	1 > 2, 4; 3 > 4
Peer	0.95 (0.13)	0.83 (0.08)	0.86 (0.12)	0.76 (0.06)	
Delinquency					

experienced family violence, peer aggression must be integrated into our understanding of how youth are perpetuating learned violence. Additionally, the finding that youth exhibiting the highest rates of aggression are also most likely to use substances holds implications for how peers become involved in substance use and deviant acts. Given that peer and sibling bullying inherently occur across a power dynamic, perhaps victims are also coerced either implicitly or explicitly into using substances or engaging in deviant behavior. This dynamic may partially account for individuals in the peer-only or low aggression classes reporting high rates of, for example, cannabis use and delinquency. Finally, while we did find that poly-perpetration in addition to family violence was associated with long-term problem behavior, this class also reported the highest rates of depression. Extant literature has described the entanglements between problem behavior (particularly involving aggression and substance use) and depressive symptomology. Thus, it is vital that schools, practitioners, and researchers continue to explore not just problem behavior among polyperpetrators of aggression, but also mental health outcomes as these youth may be at most risk of experiencing long term mental health problems. Findings from this study underscore the importance of assessing sibling violence when working with youth exhibiting deleterious behavior in school.

Limitations and Conclusion

The current study should be interpreted in the context of several limitations. First, the current data were drawn from only one region in the U.S., thus limiting generalizability. Second, we did not capture count of siblings, but instead asked students to think about either siblings or other children in their families when answering the sibling aggression measures. Regarding the classes that report peer aggression only, we cannot distinguish between students in this class who do not have siblings and students who do have siblings but only engage in aggression at school. Further, we did not assess changes in peer and sibling aggression as a function of exposure to family violence. Future research may wish to investigate how exposure to family violence is associated with trajectories of peer and sibling aggression. Third, we did not assess poly-victimization as a precursor to peer and sibling aggressive behavior. Future work should investigate how polyvictimization (e.g., exposure to multiple types of violence such as family, community, and peer) relates to poly-perpetration. Also, power dynamics based on identity components among agents and targets of both sibling and peer aggression were not captured in this study. Future work may consider assessing self-reported gender identity (including non-binary and trans identities), sexuality, disability, and other relevant identities. This may allow for a more nuanced analysis of identity-based agent, target, and aggression profiles. Further, the current study did not measure socio-economic status (SES). Two studies have identified inverse correlations between SES and sibling violence, indicating associations among these constructs (35, 62). Additionally, an item assessing family violence included the word "spouse," which some students may not have

understood. This item also did not ask about other forms of romantic and/or cohabitating relationships among caregivers. Finally, the current study does not provide any causal links from exposure to family violence to peer and sibling aggression. More nuanced methodologies that allow for the disaggregation of within- and between-person variance may provide a closer approximation of causality.

The current results provide evidence for pathways from witnessing violence, to perpetrating aggression across multiple contexts, to developing other deleterious mental and behavioral health outcomes. These findings highlight the deleterious impact of family violence on child development, providing support for a cross-contextual approach for programming aimed at developing relationships skills to prevent conflict and violence. Future directions should consider exploring protective factors that interrupt the pathways from witnessing violence in the family to perpetration aggression with peers, especially in the context of racial or ethno-cultural differences. Additionally, future work should aim to identify other predictive differences (e.g., environmental, personality) between perpetrating sibling only and sibling and peer aggression among students who do witness family violence. In short, the current study extends several theoretical orientations and provides the first account of how exposure to family violence is associated with polyperpetration of aggression across both sibling and peer context. Further, this study notes long-term problem behavior such as substance use and delinquency as well as mental health correlates of youth who have experienced family violence and perpetrate aggression toward both peers and siblings. Programming that addresses poly-perpetration is vital for prevention of long-term problems, especially among those youth who have experienced greater amounts of family violence.

Ethical Considerations

Our study included passive consent (e.g., waiver of consent from parents). Parents were mailed two copies of a parent information letter through US mail and through an email from the school. These letters were sent per prior approval from our IRB. In Spring 2012, two copies of a parental information letter were sent to parents of students in participating districts that included a description of the study and an option to deny their son/ daughter participation. Student waiver of parental consent was used for several reasons. First, a waiver of parental consent gave us the best chance of obtaining a representative sample and the most accurate information given the nature of this study. Moreover, evidence suggests that active consent procedures can result in biased samples with under-representation of lower achieving and less involved students (96). Our decision to use a waiver of active consent was in line with American Psychologist Association (APA) requirements. As noted by Kobor and Studwell (97), "APA has worked in coalition with a number of science, education, and public health organizations to protect the ability of scientists to conduct research in schools without having an absolute requirement of prior, written parental consent." As such, although APA states that, at a

minimum, parents should be informed about school-based research projects and offered an opportunity to withdraw their children, APA's position maintains that even in the case of sensitive research topics active consent is not a necessity.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of Illinois at Urbana Champaign. Written informed consent for participation was not provided by the participants' legal guardians/next of kin because passive consent was used—school based research.

REFERENCES

- Kowalski RM, Limber SP. Psychological, physical, and academic correlates of cyberbullying and traditional bullying. J Adolesc Health (2013) 53(1):S13–20. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2012.09.018
- Kowalski RM, Morgan CA, Limber SP. Traditional bullying as a potential warning sign of cyberbullying. Sch Psychol Int (2012) 33(5):505–19. doi: 10.1177/0143034312445244
- Schneider SK, O'donnell L, Stueve A, Coulter RW. Cyberbullying, school bullying, and psychological distress: A regional census of high school students. *Am J Public Health* (2012) 102(1):171–7. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2011.300308
- Kettrey HH, Emery BC. The discourse of sibling violence. J Family Violence (2006) 21(6):407–16. doi: 10.1007/s10896-006-9036-0
- Caspi J. Sibling aggression: Assessment and treatment. New York, NY: Springer (2012).
- 6. Gelles RJ. Intimate Violence in Families. 3rd Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage (1997).
- Tippett N, Wolke D. Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. Aggress Behav (2015) 41(1):14–24. doi: 10.1002/ab.21557
- McHale SM, Crouter AC. The family contexts of children's sibling relationships. In: Brody G, editor. Sibling relationships: Their causes and consequences. Norwood, NJ: Ablex (1996). p. 173–95.
- Finkelhor D, Turner HA, Shattuck A, Hamby SL. Prevalence of childhood exposure to violence, crime, and abuse: Results from the national survey of children's exposure to violence. *JAMA Pediatr* (2015) 169(8):746–54. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2015.0676
- Straus MA, Gelles RJ. How violent are American families? Estimates from the national family violence resurvey and other studies. In: Straus MA, Gelles RJ, editors. *Physical violence in American families: Risk factors and adaptations to violence in 8,145 families.* New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers (1990). p. 95–112. doi: 10.4324/9781315126401-8
- Martin JL, Ross HS. Sibling aggression: Sex differences and parents' reactions. Int J Behav Dev (2005) 29(2):129–38. doi: 10.1080/01650250444000469
- Duncan RD. Peer and sibling aggression: An investigation of intra-and extrafamilial bullying. J Interpers Violence (1999) 14(8):871–86. doi: 10.1177/ 088626099014008005
- Noland VJ, Liller KD, McDermott RJ, Coulter ML, Seraphine AE. Is adolescent sibling violence a precursor to college dating violence? *Am J Health Behav* (2004) 28(1):S13–23. doi: 10.5993/AJHB.28.s1.3
- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D, Turner H, Shattuck A. Association of sibling aggression with child and adolescent mental health. *Pediatrics* (2013) 132 (1):79–84. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-3801

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KI helped conceive the analyses in this manuscript, draft the manuscript, and addressed revisions. DE wrote the grant that allowed for data collection, collected the data, helped conceive the study and drafted portions of the study. GM helped analyze the data, interpret results, and drafted parts of the manuscript. JD helped conceive the analyses in manuscript, interpreted results, and helped write the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

Middle school data in this manuscript were drawn from a grant from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (1U01/ CE001677) to DE (PI). High school data in this manuscript were drawn from a grant from the National Institute of Justice (Grant #2011-90948-IL-IJ) to DE (PI).

- Wolke D, Samara MM. Bullied by siblings: Association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2004) 45(5):1015–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x
- Ehrensaft MK, Cohen P. Contribution of family violence to the intergenerational transmission of externalizing behavior. *Prev Sci* (2012) 13 (4):370–83. doi: 10.1007/s11121-011-0223-8
- Eriksen S, Jensen V. All in the family? Family environment factors in sibling violence. J Family Violence (2006) 21(8):497–507. doi: 10.1007/s10896-006-9048-9
- Nocentini A, Fiorentini G, Di Paola L, Menesini E. Parents, family characteristics and bullying behavior: A systematic review. Aggress Violent Behav (2019) 45:41–50. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2018.07.010
- Sternberg KJ, Lamb ME, Guterman E, Abbott CB. Effects of early and later family violence on children's behavior problems and depression: A longitudinal, multi- informant perspective. *Child Abuse Negl* (2006) 30 (3):283–306. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2005.10.008
- Bandura A. Social learning theory of aggression. J Commun (1978) 28(3):12– 29. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-2466.1978.tb01621.x
- Marcus BA, Vollmer TR, Swanson V, Roane HR, Ringdahl JE. An experimental analysis of aggression. *Behav Modif* (2001) 25(2):189–213. doi: 10.1177/0145445501252002
- 22. Gladden R, Vivolo-Kantor A, Hamburger M, Lumpkin C. Bullying surveillance among youths: Uniform definitions for public health and recommended data elements. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and U.S. Department of Education (2014).
- Olweus D, Limber S, Mihalic SF. Bullying in school: Evaluation and dissemination of the Olweus Bullying Prevention Program. Am J Orthopsychiatry (1999) 80 (1):124–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01015.x
- Ybarra ML, Espelage DL, Mitchell KJ. Differentiating youth who are bullied from other victims of peer-aggression: the importance of differential power and repetition. J Adolesc Health (2014) 55(2):293–300. doi: 10.1016/ j.jadohealth.2014.02.009
- Kann L, McManus T, Harris WA, Shanklin SL, Flint KH, Queen B, et al. Youth Risk Behavior Surveillance - United States, 2017. Morbid Mortal Wkly Rep Surveill Summ (2018) 67(8):1–114. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6708a1
- Modecki KL, Minchin J, Harbaugh AG, Guerra NG, Runions KC. Bullying prevalence across contexts: a meta-analysis measuring cyber and traditional bullying. J Adolesc Health (2014) 55(5):602–11. doi: 10.1016/ j.jadohealth.2014.06.007
- 27. Endresen IM, Olweus D. Self-reported empathy in Norwegian adolescents: Sex differences, age trends, and relationship to bullying. In: Bohart A, Stipek D, editors. *Constructive & destructive behavior: Implications for*

family, school, & society. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2001). p. 147-65. doi: 10.1037/10433-007

- Farrington D, Baldry A. Individual risk factors for school bullying. J Aggress Conflict Peace Res (2010) 2(1):4–16. doi: 10.5042/jacpr.2010.0001
- Tharp AT, DeGue S, Valle LA, Brookmeyer KA, Massetti GM, Matjasko JL. A systematic qualitative review of risk and protective factors for sexual violence perpetration. *Trauma Violence Abuse* (2013) 14(2):133–67. doi: 10.1177/ 1524838012470031
- Basile KC, Hamburger ME, Swahn MH, Choi C. Sexual violence perpetration by adolescents in dating versus same-sex peer relationships: Differences in associated risk and protective factors. Western J Emergency Med (2013) 14 (4):329–40. doi: 10.5811/westjem.2013.3.15684
- 31. Foshee VA, Reyes HLM, Chen MS, Ennett ST, Basile KC, DeGue S, et al. Shared risk factors for the perpetration of physical dating violence, bullying, and sexual harassment among adolescents exposed to domestic violence. J Youth Adolesc (2016) 45(4):672–86. doi: 10.1007/s10964-015-0404-z
- Hong JS, Espelage DL. A review of research on bullying and peer victimization in school: An ecological system analysis. *Aggress Violent Behav* (2012) 17 (4):311–22. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2012.03.003
- Nansel TR, Overpeck MD, Haynie DL, Ruan WJ, Scheidt PC. Relationships between bullying and violence among US youth. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med (2003) 157(4):348–53. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.157.4.348
- Low S, Espelage D. Conduits from community violence exposure to peer aggression and victimization: Contributions of parental monitoring, impulsivity, and deviancy. *J Couns Psychol* (2014) 61(2):221–31. doi: 10.1037/a0035207
- Eriksen S, Jensen V. A push or a punch: Distinguishing the severity of sibling violence. J Interpers Violence (2009) 24(1):183–208. doi: 10.1177/ 0886260508316298
- Khan R, Cooke DJ. Measurement of sibling violence: A two-factor model of severity. Crim Justice Behav (2013) 40(1):26–39. doi: 10.1177/ 0093854812463349
- Wolke D, Tippett N, Dantchev S. Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. Lancet Psychiatry (2015) 2(10):917–29. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X
- Button DM, Gealt R. High risk behaviors among victims of sibling violence. J Family Violence (2010) 25(2):131–40. doi: 10.1007/s10896-009-9276-x
- Skinner JA, Kowalski RM. Profiles of sibling bullying. J Interpers Violence (2013) 28(8):1726–36. doi: 10.1177/0886260512468327
- Dunn J. Sibling relationships in early childhood. Child Dev (1983) 54(4):787– 811. doi: 10.2307/1129886
- Finkelhor D, Turner H, Ormrod R. Kid's stuff: The nature and impact of peer and sibling violence on younger and older children. *Child Abuse Negl* (2006) 30(12):1401–1421. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2006.06.006
- 42. Osarenren N, Ajaero I. Effects of two treatment methods on self-esteem and family relationship of victims of sibling maltreatment among junior students in Lagos State. *Res J In Organ Psychol Educ Stud (RJOPES)* (2013) 2(3):93.
- Kim JE, Hetherington EM, Reiss D. Associations among family relationships, antisocial peers, and adolescents' externalizing behaviors: Gender and family type differences. *Child Dev* (1999) 70(5):1209–30. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00088
- Garcia MM, Shaw DS, Winslow EB, Yaggi KE. Destructive sibling conflict and the development of conduct problems in young boys. *Dev Psychol* (2000) 36 (1):44–53. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.36.1.44
- Slomkowski C, Rende R, Conger KJ, Simons RL, Conger RD. Sisters, brothers, and delinquency: Evaluating social influence during early and middle adolescence. *Child Dev* (2001) 72(1):271–83. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00278
- Wolke D, Skew AJ. Bullying among siblings. Int J Adolesc Med Health (2012) 24(1):17–25. doi: 10.1515/ijamh.2012.004
- 47. Jessor R, Jessor SL. Problem behavior and psychosocial development: A longitudinal study of youth. San Diego, CA: Academic Press (1977).
- Hemphill SA, Kotevski A, Heerde JA. Longitudinal associations between cyber- bullying perpetration and victimization and problem behavior and mental health problems in young Australians. *Int J Public Health* (2015) 60 (2):227–37. doi: 10.1007/s00038-014-0644-9
- Kelly EV, Newton NC, Stapinski LA, Slade T, Barrett EL, Conrod PJ, et al. Suicidality, internalizing problems and externalizing problems among adolescent bullies, victims and bully-victims. *Prev Med* (2015) 73:100–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2015.01.020
- Sangalang CC, Tran AG, Ayers SL, Marsiglia FF. Bullying among urban Mexican-heritage youth: Exploring risk for substance use by status as a bully,

victim, and bully-victim. Children Youth Serv Rev (2016) 61:216-21. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2015.12.019

- 51. Van Ouytsel J, Torres E, Choi HJ, Ponnet K, Walrave M, Temple JR. The associations between substance use, sexual behaviors, bullying, deviant behaviors, health, and cyber dating abuse perpetration. *J Sch Nurs* (2017) 33 (2):116–22. doi: 10.1177/1059840516683229
- Ttofi MM, Farrington DP, Lösel F, Crago RV, Theodorakis N. School bullying and drug use later in life: A meta-analytic investigation. *Sch Psychol Q* (2016) 31(1):8–27. doi: 10.1037/spq0000120
- Klomek AB, Sourander A, Elonheimo H. Bullying by peers in childhood and effects on psychopathology, suicidality, and criminality in adulthood. *Lancet Psychiatry* (2015) 2(10):930–41. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00223-0
- Sigurdson JF, Undheim AM, Wallander JL, Lydersen S, Sund AM. The longterm effects of being bullied or a bully in adolescence on externalizing and internalizing mental health problems in adulthood. *Child Adolesc Psychiatry Ment Health* (2015) 9:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13034-015-0075-2
- 55. Wu WC, Luu S, Luh DL. Defending behaviors, bullying roles, and their associations with mental health in junior high school students: a populationbased study. *BMC Public Health* (2016) 16(1):1066–76. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-3721-6
- 56. Davis JP, Ingram KM, Merrin GJ, Espelage DL. Exposure to parental and community violence and the relationship to bullying perpetration and victimization among early adolescents: A parallel process growth mixture latent transition analysis. *Scand J Psychol* (2018) 61:77–89. Online first. doi: 10.1111/sjop.12493
- Finkelhor D, Ormrod RK, Turner HA. Polyvictimization and trauma in a national longitudinal cohort. *Dev Psychopathol* (2007) 19(1):149–66. doi: 10.1017/S0954579407070083
- Ford JD, Hawke J, Alessi S, Ledgerwood D, Petry N. Psychological trauma and PTSD symptoms as predictors of substance dependence treatment outcomes. *Behav Res Ther* (2007) 45(10):2417–31. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2007.04.001
- Bellis MA, Hughes K, Leckenby N, Perkins C, Lowey H. National household survey of adverse childhood experiences and their relationship with resilience to health- harming behaviors in England. *BMC Med* (2014) 12(1):72–82. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-12-72
- Ports KA, Ford DC, Merrick MT. Adverse childhood experiences and sexual victimization in adulthood. *Child Abuse Negl* (2016) 51:313–22. doi: 10.1016/ j.chiabu.2015.08.017
- Hardy MS. Physical aggression and sexual behavior among siblings: a retrospective study. J Family Violence (2001) 16(3):255–68. doi: 10.1023/ A:1011186215874
- Bowes L, Wolke D, Joinson C, Lereya ST, Lewis G. Sibling bullying and risk of depression, anxiety, and self-harm: A prospective cohort study. *Pediatrics* (2014) 134(4):e1032–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-0832
- 63. Miller LE, Grabell A, Thomas A, Bermann E, Graham-Bermann SA. The associations between community violence, television violence, intimate partner violence, parent-child aggression, and aggression in sibling relationships of a sample of preschoolers. *Psychol Violence* (2012) 2(2):165– 78. doi: 10.1037/a0027254
- 64. Yu JJ, Gamble WC. Pathways of influence: Marital relationships and their association with parenting styles and sibling relationship quality. J Child Family Stud (2008) 17(6):757–78. doi: 10.1007/s10826-008-9188-z
- Langhinrichsen-Rohling J. Top 10 greatest "hits" important findings and future directions for intimate partner violence research. J Interpers Violence (2005) 20(1):108–18. doi: 10.1177/0886260504268602
- O'Leary KD. Physical aggression between spouses. In: . Handbook of family violence. Boston, MA: Springer (1988). p. 31–55. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-5360-8_3
- Widom CS, Wilson HW. Intergenerational transmission of violence. In: Lindert J, Levav I, editors. *Violence and mental health: Its manifold faces*. Dordrecht, the Netherlands: Springer Netherlands (2015). p. 27–46. doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-8999-8_2
- Lewis SF, Fremouw W. Dating violence: A critical review of the literature. Clin Psychol Rev (2001) 21(1):105–27. doi: 10.1016/S0272-7358(99)00042-2
- Lohman BJ, Neppl TK, Senia JM, Schofield TJ. Understanding adolescent and family influences on intimate partner psychological violence during emerging adulthood and adulthood. J Youth Adolesc (2013) 42(4):500–17. doi: 10.1007/ s10964-013-9923-7

- Vagi KJ, Rothman EF, Latzman NE, Tharp AT, Hall DM, Breiding MJ. Beyond correlates: a review of risk and protective factors for adolescent dating violence perpetration. J Youth Adolesc (2013) 42(4):633–49. doi: 10.1007/ s10964-013-9907-7
- Ehrensaft MK, Cohen P, Brown J, Smailes E, Chen H, Johnson JG. Intergenerational transmission of partner violence: a 20-year prospective study. *J Consult Clin Psychol* (2003) 71(4):741–53. doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.71.4.741
- Morris AS, Silk JS, Steinberg L, Myers SS, Robinson LR. The role of the family context in the development of emotion regulation. *Soc Dev* (2007) 16(2):361– 88. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2007.00389.x
- Saltzman KM, Holden GW, Holahan CJ. The psychobiology of children exposed to marital violence. J Clin Child Adolesc Psychol (2005) 34(1):129–39. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp3401_12
- Evans SE, Davies C, DiLillo D. Exposure to domestic violence: A meta-analysis of child and adolescent outcomes. *Aggress Violent Behav* (2008) 13(2):131–40. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2008.02.005
- Black DS, Sussman S, Unger JB. A further look at the intergenerational transmission of violence: Witnessing interparental violence in emerging adulthood. J Interpers Violence (2010) 25(6):1022–42. doi: 10.1177/ 0886260509340539
- Calvete E, Orue I. The impact of violence exposure on aggressive behavior through social information processing in adolescents. *Am J Orthopsychiatry* (2011) 81(1):38–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2010.01070.x
- 77. Thornberry TP, Lizotte AJ, Krohn MD, Smith CA, Porter PK. Causes and consequences of delinquency. In: *Taking Stock of Delinquency. Longitudinal Research in the Social and Behavioral Sciences: An Interdisciplinary Series.* Boston, MA: Springer (2003).
- Espelage DL, Holt MK. Bullying and victimization during early adolescence: Peer influences and psychosocial correlates. *J Emotional Abuse* (2001) 2(2-3):123–42. doi: 10.1300/J135v02n02_08
- Achenbach TM. Integrative guide for the 1991 CBCL/4-18, YSR, and TRF profiles. Burlington: University of Vermont, Department of Psychiatry (1991).
- Espelage DL, Stein ND. The University of Illinois and Wellesley College: Student Behavior Survey. Champaign, IL: University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Department of Educational Psychology (2006).
- Orpinas P. Modified Depression Scale. Houston, TX: University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston (1993).
- Espelage DL, Low S, De La Rue L. Relations between peer victimization subtypes, family violence, and psychological outcomes during early adolescence. *Psychol Violence* (2012) 2(4):313–24. doi: 10.1037/a0027386
- Institute of Behavioral Sciences. Youth Interview Schedule—Denver Youth Survey. Boulder, CO: University of Colorado (1987).
- Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus User"s Guide. Eighth Edition. Muthén & Muthén: Los Angeles, CA (1998-2017).
- 85. Grimm KJ, Ram N, Estabrook R. *Growth modeling: structural equation and multilevel modeling approaches.* New York: Guilford Publications (2016).

- Lerner RM, Steinberg LD. Handbook of adolescent psychology. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Wiley (2009). doi: 10.1002/9780470479193
- Whiteman SD, McHale SM, Soli A. Theoretical perspectives on sibling relationships. J Family Theory Rev (2011) 3(2):124–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1756-2589.2011.00087.x
- Wekerle C, Wolfe DA. Dating violence in mid-adolescence: Theory, significance, and emerging prevention initiatives. *Clin Psychol Rev* (1999) 19(4):435-56. doi: 10.1016/S0272-7358(98)00091-9
- Walker LE. Psychology and violence against women. Am Psychol (1989) 44 (4):695–702. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.44.4.695
- Kalmuss D. The intergenerational transmission of marital aggression. J Marriage Family (1984) 46(1):11-9. doi: 10.2307/351858
- Radford L, Corral S, Bradley C, Fisher HL. The prevalence and impact of child maltreatment and other types of victimization in the UK: Findings from a population survey of caregivers, children and young people and young adults. *Child Abuse Negl* (2013) 37(10):801–13. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.02.004
- Wolke D, Skew AJ. Family factors, bullying victimisation and wellbeing in adolescents. *Longitud Life Course Stud* (2011) 3(1):101–19. doi: 10.14301/ llcs.v3i1.165
- Updegraff KA, Thayer SM, Whiteman SD, Denning DJ, McHale SM. Relational aggression in adolescents' sibling relationships: Links to sibling and parent- adolescent relationship quality. *Family Relat* (2005) 54(3):373–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1741-3729.2005.00324.x
- Lansford JE, Miller-Johnson S, Berlin LJ, Dodge KA, Bates JE, Pettit GS. Early physical abuse and later violent delinquency: A prospective longitudinal study. *Child Maltreatment* (2007) 12:233–45. doi: 10.1177/1077559507301841
- Milaniak I, Widom CS. Does child abuse and neglect increase risk for perpetration of violence inside and outside the home? *Psychol Violence* (2015) 5(3):246–55. doi: 10.1037/a0037956
- Anderman C, Cheadle A, Curry S, Diehr P, Shultz L, Wagner E. Selection bias related to parental consent in school-based survey research. *Eval Rev* (1995) 19(6):663–74. doi: 10.1177/0193841X9501900604
- 97. Kobor P, Studwell K. Psychologists advocate for school-based research. Monitor Psychol (1992) 33(7):22.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Ingram, Espelage, Davis and Merrin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cybervictimization and Cyberbullying: The Role of Socio-Emotional Skills

Nikolett Arató*, András N. Zsidó, Kata Lénárd and Beatrix Lábadi

Department of Psychology, University of Pécs, Pécs, Hungary

Social and emotional competences are considered to have a crucial role in cyberbullying as, e.g., difficulties concerning emotion regulation and empathy can characterize both cyberbullies and cybervictims. Although, the dynamics of socio-emotional processes underlying cyberbullying are still open for research, as e.g., there are contradicting results concerning the role of empathy in cybervictimization. Thus, the aim of our study was to explore the specific maladaptive emotion regulation strategies characterizing cybervictims and to clarify the role of empathy in cybervictimization. Furthermore, another goal was to explore whether moral disengagement characterizes cyberbullies in absence of empathic and adaptive emotion regulation skills. 524 students (214 males, aged 12-19 years) participated in our research. We used self-report questionnaires to measure cyberbullying perpetration and cybervictimization, adaptive and maladaptive emotion regulation strategies, moral disengagement, affective, cognitive empathy, and intention to comfort. Our main findings show that cyberbullying is associated with difficulties in socio-emotional competences. Cyberbullies and bully-victims demonstrate less empathic responsiveness and display higher moral disengagement than noncyberbullies. On the other hand cybervictims tend to use both adaptive and maladaptive emotion regulation strategies to cope with their negative emotions. In addition, cybervictims have higher cognitive and affective empathy than cyberbullies and bully-victims. Our findings confirm and extend the research on the relationship among socio-emotional skills and cyberbullying as well as cybervictimization. Moreover, our results have important implications for prevention programs targeting emotion regulation and empathy.

Keywords: cyberbullying, cybervictimization, empathy, cognitive emotion regulation, moral disengagement

INTRODUCTION

Although cyberbullying is a trending research topic, we still know little about the dynamics behind perpetration and victimization. Emerging research evidence have showed that cyberbullying can have serious physical and psychological impact, for example psychosomatic and depressive symptoms, anxiety, self-harming behavior and substance abuse (1–3). Therefore, prevention and intervention programs are needed to deal with cyberbullying behavior and these consequences (4, 5). To develop these programs, targeted research is needed to understand the individual and social processes influencing the engagement in cyberbullying.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anat Brunstein Klomek, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Israel

Reviewed by:

Meytal Grimland, Tel Aviv University, Israel Meyran Boniel-Nissim, Kinneret College, Israel

*Correspondence: Nikolett Arató arato.nikolett@pte.hu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> Received: 12 April 2019 Accepted: 13 March 2020 Published: 03 April 2020

Citation:

Arató N, Zsidó AN, Lénárd K and Lábadi B (2020) Cybervictimization and Cyberbullying: The Role of Socio-Emotional Skills. Front. Psychiatry 11:248. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00248

Advances in communication technology may create specific opportunities for cyberbullying among adolescents (6, 7). Social media sites unintentionally support and maintain cyberbullying by forming groups, posting pictures and videos and commenting others' shared content (8). Cyberbullying, by a definition, is "an aggressive act or behavior that is carried out using electronic means by a group or individual repeatedly and over time against a victim who cannot easily defend himself or herself" (9, p. 376.). Cyberbullying is characterized by many specific features that distinguish it from traditional bullying (4, 10). Kwan and Skoric (8) describe three unique characteristics that are different from traditional bullying: (a) there is a broader audience who can see the humiliation of the victim, (b) Internet has unlimited capacity, the abusive content is available for longer time, it can be downloaded and uploaded repeatedly, and (c) cyberbullies can be anonymous: approximately 20%-30% of cybervictims do not know the identity of the cyberbully (9, 11). Studies investigating the consequences of anonymous cyberbullying provide conflicting results: some studies (9, 11) showed that anonymity causes more severe harm on the victim. Whereas, Nocentini and colleagues (12) found contradictory evidence showing that being cybervictimized by a known person is more harmful. Besides anonymity, online disinhibition (13) also induces cyberbullying (14) through lack of face-to-face encounter and repercussions. Additionally, as socio-emotional skills have a significant role in traditional bullying, e.g. empathy (15) and moral disengagement (16), current research aims to explore whether they also affect cyberbullying involvement.

Socio-Emotional Skills and Cyberbullying

Our current study suggests that adolescents' socio-emotional skills contribute to engagement in cyberbullying activities. A large body of literature (17-23) confirm that lack of empathy could explain cyberbullying behavior among adolescents. Empathy helps individuals to take others' perspective, to feel congruent but not identical vicarious emotions by witnessing another person's experiences, emotions or suffering (24). Cyberbullies are unable to understand and feel the vicarious emotions of others (19, 22, 23). Moreover, cyberbullies not only show low empathy in the affective domain but they tend to lack the skill to take others' perspective (17, 20). Further on, cybervictims also lack the skill of taking others' perspective and feeling others' emotions (21). Although, the link between cybervictimization and empathic skills seems to be more complicated. For instance, in some studies (19, 25, 26), findings show that empathy does not explain cybervictimization among adolescents. Further, other studies (20, 27, 28) suggest that cybervictims show empathic sensitivity to others' affective states. Taken together, previous studies have showed a consensus on the lack of empathic skills characterizing cyberbullies, whereas the role of empathy in cybervictimization is unclear.

Emotion regulation also can serve as an important factor in cyberbullying. If youngsters are unable to use adaptive forms of emotion regulation strategies, the risk of engagement in cyberbullying increases (29, 30). The adaptive regulation of emotions has crucial role in successful social functioning (31), social competence (32), emotional and cognitive well-being (33), and regulation of aggression (34). Indeed, adolescents who

dysregulate their negative emotions are more at risk to become cyberbullies (29). Cybervictims also show problems with regulating their emotions (30). Based on the Cyclic Process Model (35), if cybervictimized adolescents are not able to regulate the wide range of negative emotions—i.e. heightened levels of anger, depression, distress—that can be the antecedent of their tendency to become cyberbullies. Previous studies suggested that maladaptive emotion regulation explains perpetration of cyberbullying. Yet, it is not clear which of the maladaptive emotion regulatory strategies—blaming others, rumination, catastrophizing, or self-blame (36)—have a role in cyberbullying or cybervictimization.

Cyberbullies may use selective activation and disengagement of internal and moral standards-i.e. moral disengagement (37)-to avoid feelings of guilt in the lack of socio-emotional skills. Moral disengagement is a set of cognitive strategies that reconstruct cruel behavior as serving socially worthy or moral purposes (social and moral justification), exploit the contrast principle (advantageous comparison), use language to make the behavior socially acceptable (euphemistic language), reduce accountability for the behavior (displacement and diffusion of responsibility), ignore, minimize, or distort the consequences of the act (disregarding and denial of injurious effects) or blame the victim for the behavior (dehumanizing, attribution of blame) (38). Cyberbullies frequently use moral disengagement strategies to justify their aggressive online behavior (25, 39-41). Specifically, cyberbullies use diffusion of responsibility, distortion of consequences and attribution of blame to minimize the feelings of guilt and the consequences of their acts (25, 40). Additionally, both cyberbullies and bully-victims manipulate the reconstruction of their behavior to be seen as socially acceptable by using moral justification, euphemistic labeling and advantageous comparison (25). Although, most of the previous studies have used a generalized method to measure moral disengagement strategies (37), whereas they lack the use of a specified method [e.g. Cyber Bullying Moral Disengagement Scale, 39)] that measures moral disengagement in cyberbullying situations and might lead to a more specific conclusion about the role of moral disengagement in cyberbullying.

In sum, the findings from previous studies suggest a relationship between socio-emotional skills and cyberbullying (17–23, 29, 30, 35). Empathy, adaptive emotion regulation, and lack of use of moral disengagement strategies could be possible protective factors against cyberbullying behavior. However, findings for associations between socio-emotional competences and cybervictimization are less consistent. Previous studies reported contradictory findings from the no relationship to the high empathy associated to cybervictimization. Additionally, the specific maladaptive emotion regulation strategies cybervictims use are also unclear. Further research is necessary to understand whether impaired socio-emotional competence is responsible for the use of moral disengagement in cyberbullying.

Aim of Study

The goal of our study was to analyze the role of affective and cognitive empathy, intention to comfort, specific adaptive and maladaptive emotion regulation strategies, and moral disengagement in perpetration of cyberbullying and cybervictimization. The first objective of our study was to clarify the inconsistent previous results and examine whether lack of empathic skills also characterize the cybervictims as well as cyberbullies. We hypothesized that cybervictims are unable to feel vicarious emotions and take others' perspective. Another aim of this study was to explore the role of moral disengagement in cyberbullying and its relation to the role of empathy and emotion regulation in cyberbullying. Therefore, we hypothesized that whereas cyberbullies and bully-victims use moral disengagement to suppress the feelings of guilt, they are unable to understand their own as well as others' emotions. A third goal of this study was to explore the specific maladaptive emotion regulation strategies that may have a predictive role in cybervictimization.

METHODS

Participants

The participants were 524 Caucasian adolescents from one, rural and urban high school (40.84% boys, M=15.73, SD=1.30; 59.16% girls, M=15.72, SD=1.20), aged 12–19 years (M= 15.73, SD= 1.24). The choice of school and students was incidental based on accessibility. 6.9% of the students were cyberbullies, 13.5% were cybervictimized, 5.2% were bully-victims and 74.4% were outsiders. Ethical approval in conducting this study was granted from the Hungarian United Ethical Review Committee for Research in Psychology.

Materials

We used a quantitative comparative correlational design by means of four anonymous self-administered questionnaires (For the mean scores, standard deviations and Cronbach's alphas see **Table 1**):

Short version of the Cyber Victim and Bullying Scale (CVBS-S, Arató et al., unpublished) is an abbreviated form of the Cyber Victim and Bullying Scale (42). The Cyber Victim and Bullying Scale measures both cyberbullying perpetration and cybervictimization with 22 items. The Scale of Cyber Bullying has three subscales: cyber verbal bullying, hiding identity and cyber forgery. The Scale of the Cyber Victim has the same three subscales reworded to measure cybervictimization. Using Item Response Theory (IRT) and confirmatory factor analysis we created a shorter adaptation for both scales, 11 items remaining in both scales designed to measure cyberbullying perpetration and cybervictimization without subscales. The participants of the adaptation procedure were 632 high school students (261 men, mean age=16.47, SD=1.50). Since this scale had not been used or validated before, confirmatory factor analyses was used to test whether the items reliably reflected cyberbullying. The results confirmed an acceptable model fit: CMIN/DF=2.66; RMSEA=0.06 (90% CI=0.05; 0.06); SRMR=0.07; TLI=0.92; CFI=0.094. Cronbach Alpha for the scale of cyberbullying perpetration was 0.83, for the scale of cybervictimization it was 0.87. Participants answered on a fivepoint scale (1=never, 2=rarely, 3=occasionally, 4=frequently, 5=always) to indicate how often they engaged in cyberbullying activities or became victims of it in the last one year.

The Empathy Questionnaire for Children and Adolescents (EmQue-CA, Overgaauw, Rieffe, Broekhof, Crone, & Güroglu, 2017) is a self-report measure consisting of 14 items and three scales: (1) affective empathy measuring the extent to which someone is feeling other's distress, (2) cognitive empathy measuring the extent to which someone understands why others are in distress, (3) intention to comfort measuring the extent to which someone wants to help distressed others. The participants answered on a three-point Likert-type scale (1—not true, 2—somewhat true, 3—true) whether the empathy-related descriptions were true for them.

The Cognitive Emotion Regulation Questionnaire [CERQ, (36) trans. by Miklósi et al. (43)] consist of 36 items and has nine scales. Five scales measure adaptive emotion regulation strategies: acceptance, positive refocusing, planning, positive reappraisal and putting into perspective. An additionally four scales measure maladaptive emotion regulation strategies: self-blame, rumination, catastrophizing, and other blame. The CERQ uses a five-point

	Cyberbullying perpetration	Cybervictimization	Mean score	Std. deviation	Cronbach Alpha
(1) Cyberbullying perpetration (CVBS-S)	1	0.27**	13.54	4.08	0.83
(2) Cybervictimization (CVBS-S)	0.27**	1	23.45	8.53	0.87
(3) Affective empathy (EmQue-CA)	-0.24**	-0.01	12.21	2.65	0.66
(4) Cognitive empathy (EmQue-CA)	,-0.20**	0.16**	7.39	1.45	0.72
(5) Intention to comfort (EmQue-CA)	-0.23**	0.04	12.86	2.10	0.74
(6) Self-blame (CERQ)	-0.04	0.18**	10.41	3.51	0.81
(7)Rumination (CERQ)	-0.08	0.17**	11.62	4.00	0.83
(8) Catastrophizing (CERQ)	0.02	0.00	8.06	3.83	0.74
(9) Other blame (CERQ)	0.15**	0.02	8.53	2.89	0.75
(10) Acceptance (CERQ)	-0.02	0.17**	11.24	3.33	0.65
(11) Positive refocusing (CERQ)	-0.04	0.06	10.91	4.20	0.88
(12) Planning (CERQ)	-0.06	0.17**	13.40	3.70	0.81
(13) Positive reappraisal (CERQ)	-0.05	0.03	11.98	3.85	0.78
(14) Putting into perspective (CERQ)	-0.05	0.00	11.29	3.52	0.73
(15) Moral disengagement (CBMDS)	0.46**	0.04	13.45	4.13	0.73

Likert-type scale to measure the extent, subjects use the different emotion regulation strategies after a stressful event.

The Cyber Bullying Moral Disengagement Scale (CBMDS, Bussey et al., 2014) is a one factor scale consisting of eight items. Each item refers to cyberbullying and one item represents each of the moral disengagement mechanisms: moral justification, euphemistic language, advantageous comparison, displacement of responsibility, diffusion of responsibility, distorting consequences, attribution of blame, and dehumanizing. Participants implied on a four-point Likert-scale (1 - don't agree, 4 - totally agree) to what extent they agreed with the statements.

Procedure

After the school principal agreed to participate in the study, parents' consent were asked. The students completed the questionnaires by paper-pencil during school hours supervised by teachers or research assistants.

Statistical Analysis

We created four cyberbullying groups to test the differences between cyberbullies, cybervictims, bully-victims, and outsiders (students not involved in cyberbullying) using the mean scores and standard deviations (for the mean scores and standard deviation see Table 1). Students were considered cyberbullies if they scored higher than the sum of the mean and one standard deviation on cyberbullying perpetration scale of CVBS-S. Students scoring higher than the sum of the mean and one standard deviation on the cybervictimization scale of CVBS-S were considered as cybervictims. Students scoring higher than the sum of the mean and one standard deviation on both the cyberbullying perpetration and the cybervictimization scales of the CVBS-S were considered as bully-victims. Consequently, those scoring lower than the mean on both the cyberbullying perpetration and the cybervictimization scales of the CVBS-S were considered as outsiders.

Normality tests showed that the variables are normally distributed. Consequently, Pearson correlations, multivariate analyses of variance (MANOVAs) and linear regression analyses were used to test the associations among the variables. Pearson correlations were conducted to explore the relationship among cyberbullying perpetration, cybervictimization, empathy, adaptive and maladaptive cognitive emotion regulation strategies, and moral

TABLE 2.1 Descriptive data about the provisional of a wherhullying and a hon-interioration in

disengagement scales. Based on the correlational analyses we ran linear regression analyses. A regression analysis with stepwise extension was conducted to determine the predictors of cyberbullying perpetration with other blame, affective and cognitive empathy, intention to comfort and moral disengagement as independent variables. Another regression model with stepwise extension was tested to determine the predictors of cybervictimization with self-blame, rumination, acceptance, planning, and cognitive empathy as predictor variables. Multivariate analyses of variance (MANOVAs) with Bonferroni-corrected *post hoc* tests were performed to discover differences among the cyberbullying groups in empathy, moral disengagement and emotion regulation.

RESULTS

For the descriptive data, prevalence of cyberbullying and cybervictimization in gender and age groups see **Tables 1** and **2**.

Differences Among the Cyberbullying Groups (Cyberbullies, Cybervictims, Bully-Victims and Outsiders) in Empathy

The analysis of variance revealed statistically significant differences between the cyberbullying groups in affective empathy [F(3, 502)=7.78,p=0.00, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$]. According to the Bonferroni-corrected post hoc tests outsiders scored significantly higher than cyberbullies and bully-victims, as well as cybervictims scored significantly higher than cyberbullies and bully-victims. The two latter groups did not differ, also cybervictims and outsiders did not differ in empathy (for mean scores and standard deviations see Table 3). The cyberbullying groups also differed in cognitive empathy [F(3, 502)=7.14, p=0.00, $\eta_p^2 = 0.04$]. Reported by the Bonferroni-corrected *post* hoc tests cybervictims scored significantly higher than cyberbullies and bully-victims. The two latter groups did not differ, as well as cybervictims and outsiders did not differ (for the mean scores and standard deviation see Table 3). We also found a significant group difference on the intention to comfort scale [F $(3, 502)=9.35, p=0.00, \eta_{p}^{2} = 0.05]$. According to the Bonferronicorrected post hoc tests outsiders scored significantly higher than cyberbullies and bully-victims. The two latter groups did not

	Girls (n=309) M (SD)	Boys (n=214) M (SD	12–14 years olds (n=79) M (SD)	15–16 years olds (n=309) M (SD)	17–19 years olds (n=135) M (SD)
Cyberbullying perpetration (CVBS-S)	12.66 (3.12)	14.80 (4.92)	13.61 (4.79)	13.33 (3.81)	13.96 (4.24)
Cybervictimization (CVBS-S)	22.98 (8.14)	24.14 (9.05)	21.66 (9.48)	23.22 (8.50)	24.83 (7.47)
	Prevalence – girls (%)	Prevalence – boys (%)	Prevalence – 12–14 years olds (%)	Prevalence - 15–16 years olds (%)	Prevalence - 17–19 years olds (%)
Cyberbullies	2.60	13.10	6.30	5.50	10.40
Cybervictims	13.90	13.10	15.20	13.90	11.90
Bully-victims	2.90	8.40	3.80	5.20	5.90
Outsiders	80.60	65.40	74.70	75.50	71.90

•			,					
	Outsiders <i>(n=390)</i> M (SD)	Victims <i>(n=71)</i> M (SD)	Perpetrators <i>(n=36)</i> M (SD)	Bully-victims (n=27) M (SD)	F	df	${\eta_p}^2$	Significant Post Hoc
Self-blame	10.21 (3.48)	11.65 (3.71)	10.03 (3.58)	10.00 (2.76)	3.66*	3, 502	0.02	V-O
Acceptance	11.16 (3.35)	11.99 (3.53)	9.97 (3.13)	11.89 (2.46)	3.31*	3, 502	0.02	V-B
Rumination	11.49 (4.01)	13.14 (3.90)	10.74 (3.95)	11.00 (3.63)	4.39**	3, 502	0.03	V-B, V-O
Positive refocusing	10.91 (4.02)	10.82 (4.69)	10.66 (4.41)	10.85 (4.38)	0.05	3, 502	0.00	-
Planning	13.25 (3.67)	14.32 (3.51)	12.03 (4.09)	13.74 (3.31)	3.40*	3, 502	0.02	V-B
Positive reappraisal	12.03 (3.82)	12.00 (3.87)	10.91 (4.11)	12.07 (3.37)	0.92	3, 502	0.01	-
Putting into perspective	11.29 (3.48)	11.45 (3.68)	10.14 (3.32)	11.63 (3.48)	1.37	3, 502	0.01	-
Catastrophizing	8.05 (3.52)	8.34 (3.24)	8.06 (2.74)	8.04 (3.39)	0.14	3, 502	0.00	-
Other blame	8.48 (2.84)	8.01 (2.45)	9.23 (3.91)	9.93 (2.83)	3.61*	3, 502	0.02	B/V-V
Affective empathy	12.40 (2.69)	12.38 (2.45)	10.80 (2.51)	10.56 (2.10)	7.78**	3, 502	0.04	V-B, V-B/V, O-B, O-B/V
Cognitive empathy	7.41 (1.37)	7.89 (1.27)	6.77 (1.80)	6.74 (1.68)	7.14**	3, 502	0.04	V-B, V-B/V
Intention to comfort	13.06 (2.04)	12.94 (1.71)	11.46 (2.59)	11.74 (2.33)	9.35**	3, 502	0.05	V-B, O-B/V, O-B
Moral disengagement	13.07 (3.74)	12.44 (4.15)	16.63 (4.32)	18.56 (4.19)	26.32**	3, 502	0.14	B-V, B-O, B/V-V, B/V-O

O, outsiders; V, victims; B, cyberbullies; B/V, bully-victims *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

differ. Also, cybervictims scored significantly higher than cyberbullies (for mean scores and standard deviations see **Table 3**).

Differences Among the Cyberbullying Groups (Cyberbullies, Cybervictims, Bully-Victims and Outsiders) in Moral Disengagement

The analysis of variance revealed statistically significant differences among the cyberbullying groups in moral disengagement [F(3, 502)=26.32,p=0.00, $\eta_p^2 = 0.14$]. According to the Bonferroni-corrected *post hoc* tests cyberbullies and bully-victims scored significantly higher than cybervictims and outsiders. The two latter groups, as well as cyberbullies and bully-victims did not differ (for the mean scores and standard deviations see **Table 3**).

Differences Among the Cyberbullying Groups (Cyberbullies, Cybervictims, Bully-Victims, and Outsiders) in Emotion Regulation Strategies

The analysis of variance revealed statistically significant differences between the cyberbullying groups in self-blame [F $(3, 502)=3.66, p=0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.02]$. Based on the Bonferronicorrected post hoc tests cybervictims scored significantly higher than outsiders. The other groups did not differ (for mean scores and standard deviations see Table 3). The cyberbullying groups also differed in rumination [F(3, 502)=4.39,p= $0.01,\eta_p^2 = 0.03$]. According to the Bonferroni-corrected post hoc tests cybervictims scored significantly higher than cyberbullies and outsiders. The other groups did not differ (for mean scores and standard deviations see Table 3). There was also significant difference between the cyberbullying groups in other blame [F $(3, 502)=3.61, p=0.01, \eta_p^2 = 0.02]$. As reported by the Bonferronicorrected post hoc tests bully-victims scored significantly higher than cybervictims. The other groups did not differ in other blame (for mean scores and standard deviations see Table 3). The cyberbullying groups differed in acceptance [F(3, 502)=3.31, $p{=}0.02, \eta_p^2 = 0.02]$ as well. According to the Bonferronicorrected *post hoc* tests victims scored significantly higher than cyberbullies. The other groups did not differ significantly (for mean scores and standard deviations see **Table 3**). Furthermore, there was significant difference between the cyberbullying groups in planning [F(3, 502)=3.40,p=0.02, $\eta_p^2 = 0.02$]. As reported by the Bonferroni-corrected *post hoc* tests cybervictims scored significantly higher than cyberbullies. The other groups did not differ (for mean cores and standard deviations see **Table 3**).

Determinants of Cyberbullying Perpetration and Cybervictimization

Based on the results of Pearson correlations (see **Table 1**) we conducted two linear regression analyses with stepwise extension to discover which variables could predict cyberbullying perpetration and cybervictimization. The final model of cyberbullying perpetration could account for 21% of the variability [F(5,515)=136.24,p=0.00]. Moral disengagement (Beta=0.46,p=0.00) was found to have the most influential, significant effect on cyberbullying perpetration (for detailed results see **Table 4**). Further, the final model of cybervictimization could account for 3% of the variability [F(5,512)=17.35, p=0.00]. Self-blame (Beta=0.18,p=0.00) was found to have the most influential, significant effect on cybervictimization (for detailed results see **Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

The main goal of our study was to clarify the roles of empathy, emotion regulation and moral disengagement in cyberbullying perpetration and cybervictimization. Understanding the specific roles of socio-emotional skills can help to understand the dynamics behind cyberbullying and may serve as a base for prevention/intervention programs. Our results demonstrated a pattern of socio-emotional skills underlying cybervictimization and cyberbullying perpetration. We showed that cybervictims do not lack empathic skills. Further, they regulated their emotions in

TABLE 4	Results of linear	regression analyse	es with stepwise (extension.
---------	-------------------	--------------------	--------------------	------------

Linear regression models of cyberbullying perpetration						Linear regression models of cybervictimization					
Model 1	R ²	F	df	Beta	t	Model 1	R ²	F	df	Beta	t
Moral disengagement	0.21	136.24**	1,515	0.46**	11.67	Self-blame	0.03	17.35**	1,512	0.18**	4.15
Model 2	R ²	F	df	Beta	t	Model 2	R ²	F	df	Beta	t
Moral disengagement	0.02	75.64**	1,514	0.43**	10.73	Self-blame	0.02	13.15**	1,511	0.16**	3.51
Intention to comfort				-0.14**	-3.48	Cognitive empathy				0.13**	2.97
Model 3	R ²	F	df	Beta	t	Model 3	R ²	F	df	Beta	t
Moral disengagement	0.01	52.72*	1,513	0.41**	10.33	Self-blame	0.01	10.52*	1,510	0.12**	2.65
Intention to comfort				-0.14**	-3.55	Cognitive empathy				0.12**	2.60
Other blame				0.09*	2.36	Planning				0.10**	2.25

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

both adaptive and maladaptive ways. Moreover, moral disengagement characterized cyberbullies and bully-victims whereas they had difficulties with understanding others' emotions and perspective.

Our first hypothesis was that cybervictims have the same problems concerning empathic skills as cyberbullies. However, our results demonstrated that cybervictims and cyberbullies differ in empathic competences. This is in line with previous findings (17, 19, 20, 22, 23) showing that cyberbullies are unable to take others' perspective or feel vicarious emotions. In contrast, cybervictims did not show the same deficit in affective and cognitive empathy or intention to comfort. Cybervictims were more focused on others' distress and had a stronger tendency to help others than cyberbullies and bully-victims. This result can serve as an explanation why bully-victims are engaged in cyberbullying as both perpetrators and victims. Bully-victims' difficulties in understanding others' emotions and perspective can be a risk factor why after cybervictimization, instead of adaptively coping with their negative experiences, bully-victims turn to cyberbullying. Whereas, cybervictims' better empathic skills can be a protective factor against their subsequent cyberbullying perpetration. It is possible that the experience of being victimized leads adolescents to pay more attention to others' feelings. Also, such social sensibility could be an antecedent of cybervictimization. In all, further longitudinal research could help understand more about the role of empathy. As well as empathy could serve as a base for programs against cyberbullying to help prevent cybervictims' subsequent cyberbullying behavior and to prevent cyberbullies' repeated aggressive acts.

Our second hypothesis was that moral disengagement plays a crucial role in cyberbullying. We showed that moral disengagement is indeed associated with cyberbullying perpetration. This is consistent with previous studies (25, 39–41) showing a link between cyberbullying and the use of moral disengagement strategies. A previous study (25) found that only cyberbullies are characterized by affective empathy deficit and heightened use of moral disengagement. In contrast, our results showed that moral disengagement characterized not only cyberbullies but also bully-victims. Cyberbullies and bully-victims used these strategies more

often compared to cybervictims and outsiders. Whereas bullyvictims and cyberbullies used cognitive strategies to suppress the feelings of guilt, they were unable to understand other people's emotions and perspective. An explanation may be that cyberbullies and bully-victims disengage from moral standards in the absence of certain socio-emotional skills. They are unable to understand others' emotions and their own affective states. Without these socioemotional skills, cyberbullies and bully-victims will use alternative strategies to regulate their negative emotions. Further, bully-victims used other blame as an emotion regulation strategy that is also a way of moral disengagement such as attribution of blame and dehumanization. Consequently, using less moral disengagement strategies may lead to an opportunity for cyberbullies and bullyvictims to learn how to understand their own and others' emotional states.

The third aim of the current study was to find the specific emotion regulation strategies that characterize cybervictims. Our results showed that bully-victims used other blame to regulate their affective states compared to victims. According to the Cyclic Process Model (35) there is a risk of using maladaptive emotion regulation strategies for cybervictims to deal with their anger and distress. As a consequence of using maladaptive emotion regulation strategies, another risk of becoming a cyberbully emerges for cybervictims. Indeed, other blame may be the maladaptive emotion regulation strategy underlying cybervictims' cyberbullying perpetration. Although previous results state that both cyberbullies and cybervictims are unable to adaptively regulate emotions (29, 30); our results showed specific emotion regulation strategies characterizing cybervictims but not cyberbullies. Cybervictims used a set of adaptive and maladaptive emotion regulation strategies, e.g. rumination, self-blame, acceptance and planning, compared to cyberbullies and outsiders. One possible explanation could be that cybervictims first use maladaptive emotion regulation strategies but then they switch to using adaptive ones. This shifting might be the result of their better empathic skills, or they receive social support helping them to regulate their distress adaptively. Furthermore, self-blame had a predictive role in cybervictimization. Thus, cybervictims who blame themselves for what happened to them will deem themselves victims of cyberbullying. Consequently,

they will be in risk of substance use, depressive symptoms, anxiety, self-harming behavior etc. (1).

Some limitations of our study shall be noted. First, although anonymity should have lowered the risk of socially desirable answers, adolescents might have underreported their involvement in cyberbullying. On account of opportunity sampling, our sample was not representative of the Hungarian adolescent population. Further, it is important to be noted that the estimates of partial eta squared are weak, though the multivariate analysis of variance showed significant differences between the cyberbullying groups. Moreover, on account of the cross-sectional design of our study we could not test whether cybervictims regulate their emotions first by negative emotion regulation strategies and later shift to adaptive regulation. Without longitudinal data we can only hypothesize the temporal change in the use of cybervictims' affect regulation. Also, our research did not include traditional bullying that could have been informative being highly correlated with cyberbullying. Finally, we used an unpublished scale to measure cyberbullying engagement.

Overall, our results demonstrated the importance of empathy, emotion regulation strategies and moral disengagement in both cyberbullying perpetration and cybervictimization. An interesting outcome of this study was that cybervictims used both adaptive and maladaptive emotion regulation strategies. Moreover, cybervictims were able to understand others' emotions and perspective. Both of these results are worth further research to help understand why adolescents are victimized on the Internet and how they can be helped to adaptively overcome the consequences of cyberbullying. In addition, cyberbullies and bully-victims used moral disengagement strategies to justify their aggressive online behavior whereas they lacked empathic skills. Based on our results, decreasing the degree of using moral justification, cyberbullies and bully-victims may be capable of learning how to understand others' and their own affective states. Consequently, our results might serve as a base for prevention/intervention programs. Higher levels of affective and cognitive empathy, intention to comfort others and adaptive emotion regulation could be protective factors against cyberbullying.

REFERENCES

- Goebert D, Else I, Matsu C, Chung-Do J, Chang JY. The impact of cyberbullying on substance use and mental health in a multiethnic sample. *Maternal Child Health J* (2011) 15(8):1282–6. doi: 10.1007/s10995-010-0672-x
- Hinduja S, Patchin JW. Offline consequences of online victimization: School violence and delinquency. J Sch Violence (2007) 6(3):89–112. doi: 10.1300/ J202v06n03_06
- Ybarra ML. Linkages between depressive symptomatology and Internet harassment among young regular Internet users. *CyberPsychology Behav* (2004) 7(2):247–57. doi: 10.1089/109493104323024500
- Li Q, Smith PK, Cross D. Research into cyberbullying. In: Li Q, Cross D, Smith PK, editors. Cyberbullying in the Global Playground: Research from International Perspectives. Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell (2012). p. 3–12.
- Slonje R, Smith PK, Frisén A. The nature of cyberbullying, and strategies for prevention. *Comput Hum Behav* (2013) 29:26–32. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.05.024
- Vandebosch H, Van Cleemput K. Defining cyberbullying: A qualitative research into the perceptions of youngsters. *CyberPsychology Behav* (2008) 11:499–503. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2007.0042
- Ybarra ML, Mitchell KJ. Online aggression/targets, aggressors, and targets: a comparison of associated youth characteristics. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2004) 45:1308–16. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00328.x

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/ supplementary material.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical approval in conducting this study was granted from the Hungarian United Ethical Review Committee for Research in Psychology (2017/96). The consent procedure (approved by the Hungarian United Ethical Review Committee for research in Psychology) was the following: We gave written information about the research project in the selected high schools. Whereas, our participants were aged between 14 and 18, first we asked the written consent of their parents, then the written consent of the adolescent participants. We granted anonymity for the participants and help to find psychological care if needed or asked for.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

NA, BL, and KL designed the study. NA directed the research project. NA and AZ analyzed the data. All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

FUNDING

The paper has been supported EFOP-3.6.1.-16-2016-00004 "Comprehensive Development for Implementing Smart Specialization Strategies at the University of Pécs,"17886-4/ 2018/FEKUTSTRAT, ÚNKP-19-3-I-PTE-156 and ÚNKP18-3-IV-PTE-135, New National Excellence Program of the Ministry of Human Capacities.

- Kwan GCE, Skoric MM. Facebook bullying: An extension of battles in school. Comput Hum Behav (2013) 29:16–25. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.07.014
- Smith PK, Mahdavi J, Carvalho M, Fisher S, Russell S, Tippett N. Cyberbullying: Its nature and impact in secondary school pupils. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2008) 49:376–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01846.x
- Smith PK. Cyberbullying and cyber aggression. In Jimerson SR, Nickerson AB, Mayer MJ, and Furlong MJ, editors. *Handbook of School Violence and School Safety: International Research and Practice*. New York, NY: Routledge (2012), 93–103. doi: 10.4324/9780203841372
- Slonje R, Smith PK. Cyberbullying: Another main type of bullying? Scand J Psychol (2008) 49:147–54. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9450.2007.00611.x
- Nocentini A, Calmaestra J, Schultze-Krumbholtz A, Scheitauer H, Ortega R, Menesini E. Cyberbullying: Labels, behaviors and definition in three European countries. *Aust J Guidance Counselling* (2010) 20:129–42. doi: 10.1375/ ajgc.20.2.129
- Suler J. The online disinhibition effect. *CyberPsychology Behav* (2004) 7:321–6. doi: 10.1089/1094931041291295
- 14. Hinduja S, Patchin JW. Bullying Beyond the Schoolyard: Preventing and responding to cyberbullying. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press (2009).
- Caravita SC, Di Blasio P, Salmivalli C. Unique and interactive effects of empathy and social status on involvement in bullying. *Soc Dev* (2009) 18 (1):140–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2008.00465.x

- Perren S, Gutzwiller-Helfenfinger E. Cyberbullying and traditional bullying in adolescence: Differential roles of moral disengagement, moral emotions, and moral values. *Eur J Dev Psychol* (2012) 9:195–209. doi: 10.1080/17405629.2011.643168
- Ang RP, Goh DH. Cyberbullying among adolescents: The role of affective and cognitive empathy, and gender. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev* (2010) 41(4):387– 97. doi: 10.1007/s10578-010-0176-3
- Barlińska J, Szuster A, Winiewski M. Cyberbullying among adolescent bystanders: Role of the communication medium, form of violence, and empathy. J Community Appl Soc Psychol (2013) 23(1):37–51. doi: 10.1002/casp.2137
- Brewer G, Kerslake J. Cyberbullying, self-esteem, empathy and loneliness. Comput Hum Behav (2015) 48:255–60. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2015.01.073
- Del Rey R, Lazuras L, Casas JA, Barkoukis V, Ortega-Ruiz R, Tsorbatzoudis H. Does empathy predict (cyber) bullying perpetration, and how do age, gender and nationality affect this relationship? *Learn Individ Dif* (2016) 45:275–81. doi: 10.1016/j.lindif.2015.11.021
- Schultze-Krumbholz A, Scheithauer H. Social-behavioral correlates of cyberbullying in a German student sample. Z für Psychologie/J. Psychol (2009) 217(4):224–6. doi: 10.1027/0044-3409.217.4.224
- Steffgen G, König A, Pfetsch J, Melzer A. The role of empathy for adolescents' cyberbullying behaviour. *Kwartalnik Pedagogiczny/Pedagogical Q* (2009) 214 (4):183–98.
- Steffgen G, König A, Pfetsch J, Melzer A. Are cyberbullies less empathic? Adolescents' cyberbullying behavior and empathic responsiveness. *Cyberpsychology Behav Soc Networking* (2011) 14(11):643–8. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2010.0445
- Batson CD, Fultz J, Schoenrade PA. Distress and empathy: Two qualitatively distinct vicarious emotions with different motivational consequences. J Pers (1987) 55(1):19–39. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6494.1987.tb00426.x
- Renati R, Berrone C, Zanetti MA. Morally disengaged and unempathic: Do cyberbullies fit these definitions? An exploratory study. *Cyberpsychology Behav Soc Networking* (2012) 15(8):391–8. doi: 10.1089/cyber.2012.0046
- Zych I, Baldry AC, Farrington DP, Llorent VJ. Are children involved in cyberbullying low on empathy? A systematic review and meta-analysis of research on empathy versus different cyberbullying roles. *Aggression Violent Behav* (2018) 45:83–97. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2018.03.004
- 27. Almeida A, Correia I, Marinho S, García D, Li Q, Cross D, et al. Virtual but not less real: A study of cyberbullying and its relations to moral disengagement and empathy. In: . *Cyberbullying in the Global Playground: Research from International Perspectives*. Chichester, UK: Wiley-Blackwell (2012). p. 223–44.
- Casas JA, Del Rey R, Ortega-Ruiz R. Bullying and cyberbullying: Convergent and divergent predictor variables. *Comput Hum Behav* (2013) 29:580–7. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2012.11.015
- Baroncelli A, Ciucci E. Unique effects of different components of trait emotional intelligence in traditional bullying and cyberbullying. J Adolescence (2014) 37 (6):807–15. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2014.05.009
- 30. Gianesini G, Brighi A. Cyberbullying in the era of digital relationships: The unique role of resilience and emotion regulation on adolescents' adjustment. In: Blair SL, Claster PN, Claster SM, editors. *Technology and Youth: Growing Up in a Digital World*. Bingley, UK: Emerald Group Publishing (2015). p. 1–46.

- Gross JJ, John OP. Individual differences in two emotion regulation processes: implications for affect, relationships, and well-being. *J Pers Soc Psychol* (2003) 85(2):348–62. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.85.2.348
- Eisenberg N, Fabes RA. Emotion, regulation, and the development of social competence. In: Clark MS, editor. *Review of Personality and Social Psychology: Emotion and Social Behavior*. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications, Inc. (1992). p. 119–50.
- Quoidbach J, Berry EV, Hansenne M, Mikolajczak M. Positive emotion regulation and well-being: Comparing the impact of eight savoring and dampening strategies. *Pers Individ Dif* (2010) 49(5):368–73. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2010.03.048
- Roberton T, Daffern M, Bucks RS. Emotion regulation and aggression. Aggression Violent Behav (2012) 17(1):72–82. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2011.09.006
- Den Hamer AH, Konijn EA. Can emotion regulation serve as a tool in combating cyberbullying? *Pers Individ Dif* (2016) 102:1–6. doi: 10.1016/ j.paid.2016.06.033
- Garnefski N, Kraaij V, Spinhoven P. Negative life events, cognitive emotion regulation and emotional problems. *Pers Individ Dif* (2001) 30(8):1311–27. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(00)00113-6
- Bandura A, Barbaranelli C, Caprara GV, Pastorelli C. Mechanisms of moral disengagement in the exercise of moral agency. J Pers Soc Psychol (1996) 71 (2):364–74. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.71.2.364
- Bandura A. Moral disengagement in the perpetration of inhumanities. Pers Soc Psychol Rev (1999) 3(3):193–209. doi: 10.1207/s15327957pspr0303_3
- Bussey K, Fitzpatrick S, Raman A. The role of moral disengagement and selfefficacy in cyberbullying. J Sch Violence (2015) 14(1):30–46. doi: 10.1080/ 15388220.2014.954045
- Robson C, Witenberg RT. The influence of moral disengagement, morally based self-esteem, age, and gender on traditional bullying and cyberbullying. J Sch Violence (2013) 12(2):211–31. doi: 10.1080/15388220.2012.762921
- Wang X, Lei L, Liu D, Hu H. Moderating effects of moral reasoning and gender on the relation between moral disengagement and cyberbullying in adolescents. *Pers Individ Dif* (2016) 98:244–9. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2016.04.056
- Çetin B, Yaman E, Peker A. Cyber victim and bullying scale: a study of validity and reliability. *Comput Educ* (2011) 57(4):2261–2271.
- 43. Miklósi M, Martos T, Kocsis-Bogár K, Perczel Forintos D. Psychometric properties of the hungarian version of the cognitive emotion regulation questionnaire.. *Psychiatr Hung* (2011) 26(2):102–111.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Arató, Zsidó, Lénárd and Lábadi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Association Between Sub-types of Sibling Bullying and Mental Health Distress Among Chinese Children and Adolescents

Xiaoqun Liu¹, Chang Peng^{1,2*}, Yizhen Yu², Mengsi Yang¹, Zaihua Qing³, Xiaoyan Qiu⁴ and Xinhua Yang⁵

¹ Department of Maternal and Child Health, Xiangya School of Public Health, Central South University, Changsha, China, ² Department of Maternal, Child and Adolescent Health, School of Public Health, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, China, ³ Department of Student Affairs, Hunan University of Finance and Economics, Changsha, China, ⁴ Institute of Higher Education, Hunan University of Science and Engineering, Yongzhou, China, ⁵ Institute of Education, Hunan Agricultural University, Changsha, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anat Brunstein Klomek, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Israel

Reviewed by:

Cheng-Fang Yen, Kaohsiung Medical University, Taiwan Maya lohan Barak, Schneider Children's Medical Center, Israel

*Correspondence:

Chang Peng pengchang333@hust.edu.cn

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 02 February 2019 Accepted: 14 April 2020 Published: 14 May 2020

Citation:

Liu X, Peng C, Yu Y, Yang M, Qing Z, Qiu X and Yang X (2020) Association Between Sub-types of Sibling Bullying and Mental Health Distress Among Chinese Children and Adolescents. Front. Psychiatry 11:368. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00368 Sibling bullying is a common phenomenon in childhood and adolescence worldwide and has a significant association with mental health distress. However, there have been few studies that have examined the associations between any specific sub-type of sibling bullying and depression as well as anxiety. Besides, the association between sibling bullying and psychological well-being was never explored among the Chinese population. The purpose of this cross-sectional study was to examine the associations between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression as well as anxiety among Chinese children and adolescents. Multi-stage stratified cluster sampling was used to recruit 5.926 participants aged 10 to 18 who had at least one sibling living in the household. Different sub-types of sibling bullying involvement were determined by using Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire (OBVQ). The nine-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) and the seven-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD-7) were used to screen clinical ranges of major depression and generalized anxiety disorder, respectively. Of the participants, 1,235 (20.8%) were bullied by siblings, and 1,230 (20.8%) perpetrated bullying behavior against siblings over the past 6 months. After controlling potential confounders, adjusted model of logistic regression analyses indicated that all three subtypes of sibling victimization and perpetration were significantly associated with both depression and anxiety. There were linear associations between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying victimization and depression (adjusted OR = 1.49, 95% Cl 1.32 to 1.68) as well as anxiety (adjusted OR = 1.68, 95% Cl 1.48 to 1.90). Besides, linear trends were found between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying perpetration and depression (adjusted OR = 1.44, 95% CI 1.26 to 1.64) as well as anxiety (adjusted OR = 1.63, 95% CI 1.42 to 1.87). The findings underline dose-response relationships between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and mental health distress. Intervention programs should be conducted to focus on developing mental health status of those children and adolescents who are involved in multiple sub-types of sibling victimization or perpetration.

Keywords: sibling bullying, mental health, depression, anxiety, adolescents

INTRODUCTION

Sibling bullying refers to any unwanted, repeated, and harmful aggressive behavior among siblings (1), and it encompasses three major sub-types, including verbal (e.g., name-calling, teasing), physical (e.g., kicking, hitting), and relational (e.g., excluding from social situation, spreading rumors) bullying (2, 3). Compared to a substantial body of studies related to peer bullying, bullying behavior among siblings has received less research attention (4, 5). However, if all sub-types are considered, the prevalence of sibling bullying is much higher than that of peer bullying, which is perpetrated by a peer or a group of peers (6, 7). According to a systematic review including four quantitative studies conducted in different countries, nearly 50% of children are involved in sibling bullying every month, and 16% to 20% of them experience sibling bullying more than once a week (7-9). Though sibling bullying is usually considered by the parents as a normal or harmless phenomenon (10, 11), there is ample evidence that sibling bullying increases the odds of reporting a number of psychological and adjustment problems in childhood or early adulthood, which include depression (12, 13), anxiety (14, 15), emotional and conduct problems (9, 16), self-harm behavior (13), and even suicide (12). In addition, given the overlap of sibling and peer interactions in childhood and adolescence, previous studies have found that sibling bullying has significant association with peer bullying (3, 6).

Depression and anxiety are two of the most common psychiatric symptoms (17, 18). Many research studies have examined the associations between sibling bullying and depression or anxiety on the overall experiences of victimization (being bullied by siblings) or perpetration (perpetrating bullying behaviors to siblings) (13, 19). Yet, there were few studies to examine the associations based on any specific sub-type of sibling bullying involvement (15, 20). The previous studies suggest that associations between peer bullying and mental health problems are varied and complex since peer bullying involvement was categorized into different sub-types, including verbal, physical, and relational bullying (21, 22). In a cross-sectional study, Yen et al. found that only physical peer victimization was significantly associated with all dimensions of anxiety symptoms (17). Therefore, there is an important clinical implication to explore whether different sub-types of sibling bullying have distinct or similar association with depression as well as anxiety.

Existing literature has shown that there is a dose-effect relationship between the frequency of sibling bullying involvement and mental health distress. Indeed, those children and adolescents who were involved in sibling bullying victimization or perpetration several times a month or a week were at a particular risk of suffering psychological distress compared with those who never experienced sibling bullying or were involved in sibling bullying only ever once or twice (13, 19). Likewise, involvement in both sibling and peer victimization exhibited a dose-response association with psychological problems (6), with those were bullied both at home and at school having the highest odds for psychotic disorder (19). However, to the best of our knowledge, there is no study to explore the association between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and mental health problems. A previous study indicated that children and adolescents who were involved in multiple sub-types of sibling bullying victimization had reported greater mental health distress compared with those who experienced only one sub-type of sibling bullying victimization (15), and the effects seem to be cumulative (3). From this perspective, it is reasonable to explore if there is a dose-response association between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression or anxiety.

Aggressive behavior between siblings being a common form of family violence in childhood and adolescence worldwide and the fact that sibling bullying involvement can predict mental health problems (1, 23), in eastern countries, a small group of studies have analyzed the prevalence and risk of bullying, aggression, or violence betweem siblings (24, 25). Besides, there is no previous literature that has examined the link between sibling bullying and psychological well-being among a Chinese population (26). Although the one-child policy had been in effect in China since 1980, the implementation of the policy was less stringent in rural areas. People who lived in remote regions might be allowed to have more than one child when their first child was a girl or a disabled boy (27). On the other hand, the one-child policy was replaced by a universal two-child policy in 2015, and the number of families with two or more kids in both rural and urban areas is expected to increase reasonably (28). Therefore, it is necessary to explore the characteristics and potential risks of sibling bullying among Chinese population.

Taken together, there is a paucity of studies considering the association between different sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and mental health distress. Hence, we conducted a cross-sectional study with a large sample of Chinese children and adolescents to investigate (1) associations between three major sub-types (verbal, physical, and relational) of sibling bullying involvement (victimization and perpetration) and mental health distress (depression and anxiety) as well as (2) the associations between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression as well as anxiety. To this effect, we made some hypotheses: (1) all three major sub-types of sibling bullying have significant associations with mental health distress; and (2) there might be dose–response associations between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression as well as anxiety.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Procedures

This study was a cross-sectional survey conducted from April to July 2018. The participants were recruited from Hunan Province, China, by using multi-stage cluster sampling. We used a geography-based stratified sampling frame, which included three cities selected randomly from southern, central, and northern parts of the province, respectively. Three junior high schools and three senior high schools were selected randomly from each chosen city, and all the students of grade 7 to 12 were invited to the research. Before the field investigation, we requested permission from the principals of each school. Once the permissions were granted, investigators conducted the research in each class with the help of the form teachers. All participants signed informed consent forms, and the purpose of the study as well as the questionnaire sections were explained to them by investigators. The students were assured of the anonymity and confidentiality of the information provided in the selfreported questionnaires, and the respondents were free to discontinue their participation at any time of the study. The study received the approval from the ethical committee of Xiangya School of Public Health, Central South University.

The data collection was carried out by double input and through logical verification and sampling inspection of 10% of the input data to control the quality of data collection. If there was a problem with the input data, the researcher would check the original questionnaires in time to ensure the accuracy and reliability of the data.

Participants

Questionnaires were sent out to 8,918 students from 18 sampled schools; of these, 8,520 (95.5%) completed the survey without apparent logical errors, and missing items were fewer than 15% of those in the questionnaire. Participants with no siblings (N = 2,415) and those aged 18 or above (N = 179) were excluded. The current study focused on 5,926 children and adolescents aged 10 to 18 who had at least one brother or sister living in the household at the time of the survey. Of the sample, 2,667 were boys (45.0%) and 3,259 were girls (55.0%). The average age was 14.55 ± 1.63 . Most participants lived in a two-parent family (89.9%), while 566 children were from a single-parent family or other (9.6%). Of the 5,926 students, 4,518 had one sibling (76.2%), 1,114 had two siblings (18.8%), and 294 had three or more siblings (5.0%). Furthermore, 2,815 were the first child of their family (47.5%), 2,641 were the second-born child (44.6%), and 446 were the third-born or other birth order child in the household (7.5%).

Assessment of Sibling and Peer Bullying

Sibling bullying was surveyed *via* the Chinese version of Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire (OBVQ). First, participants were provided with a definition of bullying according to Olweus that sibling bullying refers to any unwanted, repeated, and harmful aggressive behavior among siblings (29). Second, sibling bulling victimization was assessed by asking the participants whether they had ever been bullied by siblings in the last 6 months using the following six items: (1) having been hit, kicked, pushed, or shoved; (2) having belongings been taken or damaged; (3) having been called nasty name; (4) having been made fun of; (5) having been kept out of things on purpose, excluded from the group, or completely ignored; or (6) having had lies or rumors been spread about you and/or having had their sibling(s) try to make others dislike you. Then, sibling bullying perpetration was measured by asking whether the participant had even bullied their sibling(s) over the past half a year using the six items above. Items (1) and (2) relate to physical sibling bullying, (3) and (4) relate to verbal sibling bullying, and (5) and (6) relate to relational sibling bullying. The frequency was coded on a five-point scale ranging from 1 to 5 (1= never happened, 2 = only once or twice, 3 =two or three times a month, 4 = about once a week, and 5 = several times a week) (30). Children and adolescents were considered to be involved in any sub-type of sibling bullying victimization or perpetration if the frequency of bullying behavior mentioned above happened more than two or three times a month (2, 19).

For the status of sibling bullying, a pure victim was defined as his/her being involving in victimization but not engaging in perpetration, a pure bully was classified as his/her perpetrating bullying behavior but not being bullied, and a bully-victim was defined as his/her experiencing both victimization and perpetration of bullying. Those who neither bullied siblings nor were bullied by siblings were classified as "noninvolved" (31).

Peer bullying was assessed by the Chinese version of OBVQ in the same way as sibling bullying, while the questions were adjusted for bullying behaviors between peers. Participants were asked whether they have had other students or friends bully them and had they ever bullied other students or their friends in the last 6 months using the six items as mentioned above. The Chinese version of Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire showed good reliability according to the existing literature (32).

In this study, the range of the internal consistency reliability (alpha Cronbach) for sub-scales of sibling bullying is from 0.76 to 0.83, and the Cronbach's alpha for sub-scales of peer bullying ranged from 0.77 to 0.84.

Depression

The Chinese version of the nine-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) was used to screen depression of participants (33). The PHQ-9 has nine questions with a score ranging from 0 to 3 for each item and total score ranging from 0 to 27. A higher score indicates that the participant has more depressive symptoms. A total score of 10 or more is considered to meet the clinical range of major depression (1 = Yes, 0 = No) (34, 35). The prior study showed good reliability of the Chinese version of PHQ-9 in children and adolescent population (36). In the present study, the Cronbach's alpha of PHQ-9 was 0.88.

Anxiety

The Chinese version of the seven-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder Scale (GAD-7) was used to assess anxiety disorders of children (37). The GAD-7 has seven questions with a score ranging from 0 to 3 for each item. Therefore, total score of GAD-7 ranges from 0 to 21 (38). A total score \geq 10 of the GAD-7 is considered to meet the criterion for diagnosing generalized anxiety disorder (1 = Yes, 0 = No) (38, 39). The Chinese version of GAD-7 had good reliability among Chinese population according to early findings (40). In this study, the alpha Cronbach for GAD-7 was 0.93.

Confounding Variables

Potential confounding factors were selected based on the literature with regard to the association between sibling bullying and psychological problems (12, 13), which included gender, age, number of siblings (one, two, or more than three), birth order (the first, the second, the third, or other), family composition (living in a two-parent family or a one-parent family), maternal education (primary school or less, junior high school, senior high school, college, or higher). Besides, parental conflict and parental abuse were considered as confounding variables in this study according to prior work (14, 25). Parental conflict and parental abuse were measured by asking participants "how often your parents fight with each other" and "how often your parents hit or abused you". The frequency coded on a five-point scale in the last half year, ranging from 1 to 5 (1= never happened, 2 =only once or twice, 3 =two or three times a month, 4 = about once a week, and 5 = several times a week). Peer bullying (0 = not involved and 1 = involvedin victimization or perpetration).

Statistical Analysis

In our analyses, if the participant completed the survey with the missing items more than 15% in the questionnaire, we would exclude the whole information of the participant.

First, prevalence of participants involved in sibling bullying involvement was summarized by descriptive statistics [n (%)]. To assess associations between sibling bullying status (pure victim, pure bully, and bully-victim) and major depression as well as generalized anxiety disorder, two adjusted model of logistic regression analyses were performed separately. Second, for examining whether there were associations between different sub-types of sibling bullying and depression as well as anxiety, a set of adjusted model of logistic regression analyses were conducted to assess the associations after excluding those participants who were involved in any two or three sub-types of sibling bullying victimization or perpetration. Then, in order to examine the associations between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression or anxiety, a set of adjusted model of logistic regression analyses were performed with all participants who were categorized into four sub-groups (0 = participants not involved in any types of sibling bullying, 1 =participants involved in any one type of sibling bullying, 2 = participants involved in any two types of sibling bullying, and 3 = participants involved in all three types of sibling bullying).

Finally, for testing if there is a dose–response relationship between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression or anxiety, we ran a set of adjusted model of logistic regression analyses again with the number treated as a continuous term.

Dependent variables of all adjusted logistic regression analyses mentioned above were major depression (total score \geq 10) and generalized anxiety disorder (total score \geq 10) separately. To address possible bias, potential confounding variables included gender, age, family composition, maternal education, number of siblings, birth order, parental conflict, parental abuse, and peer bullying. The associations were reported *via* adjusted odd ratios (OR) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI). The significance level was set at *p* < 0.05. All of the statistical analyses were conducted by SPSS 22.0.

RESULTS

Of the 5,926 children and adolescents, 1,235 (20.8%) reported at least one sub-type of sibling bullying victimization over the past 6 months. The prevalence of three sub-types of sibling bullying victimization was 13.8% (verbal), 7.6% (physical), and 4.0% (relational). In addition, 1,230 (20.8%) participants had bullied their siblings with any sub-type of sibling bullying in the last half a year. The prevalence of three sub-types of sibling bullying perpetration were 14.5% (verbal), 6.5% (physical), and 2.8% (relational). With respect to sibling bullying status, 448 (7.6%) of children were pure victim, 443 (7.5%) were pure bully, and 787 (13.3%) were bully-victim.

In mental health distress, 1,171 (19.8%) and 875 (14.8%) children met a threshold score of diagnosing major depression and generalized anxiety disorder respectively (**Table 1**).

Associations Between Sibling Bullying Status and Depression and Anxiety

When looking at the status involved in sibling bullying (pure victim, pure bully, and bully-victim), results of adjusted logistic regression analyses indicated that any role of sibling bullying involvement was significantly associated with both depression and anxiety (**Table 2**).

TABLE 1 | The prevalence of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement, depression, and anxiety (N = 5,926).

	n (%)
Sub-types of sibling bullying victimization	
Verbal	818 (13.8)
Physical	450 (7.6)
Relational	237 (4.0)
Any	1235 (20.8)
Sub-types of sibling bullying perpetration	
Verbal	859 (14.5)
Physical	387 (6.5)
Relational	165 (2.8)
Any	1230 (20.8)
Depression	1171 (19.8)
Anxiety	875 (14.8)

10/1

Associations Between Three Sub-types of Sibling Bullying Involvement and Depression and Anxiety

In victimization, after excluding 150 participants who experienced any two sub-types of sibling bullying victimization and 60 who were involved in all three sub-types of sibling bullying victimization, results of adjusted logistic regression analyses indicated that all verbal, physical, and relational victimization of sibling bullying were significantly associated with both depression and anxiety.

In terms of perpetration, after excluding 111 children or adolescents who acted any two sub-types of sibling bullying to their siblings and 35 who perpetrated all three sub-types of sibling bullying, there were significant associations between all three major sub-types of sibling bullying perpetration and depression as well as anxiety (**Table 3**).

Associations Between the Number of Subtypes of Sibling Bullying Involvement and Depression and Anxiety

The adjusted model of logistic regression analyses indicated that children and adolescents had more risk of experiencing major depression when they reported being bullied by siblings with any one, two, or three sub-types of sibling bullying than those who were not involved in sibling bullying victimization. Meanwhile, there were significant associations between any number of subtypes of sibling bullying victimization and anxiety. What is more, a linear trend was found between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying victimization and depression (adjusted OR = 1.49, 95% CI 1.32 to 1.68, p < 0.001) as well as anxiety (adjusted OR = 1.68, 95% CI 1.48 to 1.90, p < 0.001).

The results of adjusted logistic regression analyses illustrated that participants who perpetrated any one, two, or three subtypes of sibling bullying would be more likely to report major depression than those who never acted bullying behavior to their siblings. Children and adolescents who acted any number of sub-types of sibling bullying had greater risk of anxiety compared to those who did not report sibling bullying perpetration. Afterwards, the number of sub-types of sibling bullying was treated as a continuous variable for logistic regression analyses. Liner associations were found between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying perpetration and depression (adjusted OR = 1.44, 95% CI 1.26 to 1.64, p < 0.001) as well as anxiety (adjusted OR = 1.63, 95% CI 1.42 to 1.87, p < 0.001) (**Table 4**).

DISCUSSION

This is the first study to examine the association between sibling bullying and mental health distress *via* a large and random

TABLE 2 | The associations between sibling bullying status and depression and anxiety [Adjusted OR (95% CI)].

	Sibling bullying status						
	Non-involved	Pure victim	Pure bully	Bully-victim			
Bullying involvement (N = 5926)	4248	448	443	787			
Depression (%yes)	16.8	28.3	25.5	27.4			
Depression	1.00	1.73 (1.35-2.22)***	1.52 (1.17-1.98)**	1.71 (1.39-2.10)***			
Anxiety (%yes)	11.8	21.7	20.1	23.6			
Anxiety	1.00	1.85 (1.41-2.44)***	1.50 (1.12-2.01)**	2.09 (1.68-2.62)***			

Significant confounding variables:

Depression = female gender, older age, living in a one-parent family, parental conflict, parental abuse, and peer bullying.

Anxiety = female gender, older age, living in a one-parent family, maternal education with college or more, parental conflict, parental abuse, and peer bullying. **p < 0.01. ***p < 0.001.

TABLE 3 | The associations between different sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression and anxiety [Adjusted OR (95% CI)].

	Sub-types of sibling bullying						
	Non-involved	Verbal only	Physical only	Relational only			
Victimization (N = 5716)	4691	620	281	124			
Depression (%yes)	17.7	22.6	29.5	29.8			
Depression	1.00	1.38 (1.10-1.74)**	1.83 (1.35-2.47)***	1.71 (1.11-2.64)*			
Anxiety (%yes)	12.6	18.1	21.7	24.2			
Anxiety	1.00	1.65 (1.29-2.12)***	1.64 (1.16-2.30)**	1.93 (1.21-3.07)**			
Perpetration (N = 5780)	4696	715	258	111			
Depression (%yes)	17.9	23.9	30.6	26.1			
Depression	1.00	1.46 (1.18-1.80)***	1.78 (1.30-2.44)***	1.72 (1.06-2.78)*			
Anxiety (%yes)	12.8	18.7	24.4	23.4			
Anxiety	1.00	1.55 (1.23-1.96)***	1.80 (1.27-2.54)**	1.87 (1.12-3.15)*			

Significant confounding variables:

Depression (Victimization/Perpetration) = male gender, older age, living in a one-parent family, parental conflict, parental abuse, and peer bullying.

Anxiety (Victimization/Perpetration) = male gender, older age, living in a one-parent family, maternal education with college or more, parental conflict, parental abuse, and peer bullying. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. sample in a non-western country. Moreover, the current study contributes new information with regard to the association from specific sub-type of sibling bullying involvement. The findings highlight the associations between three major sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and mental health problems. After controlling potential confounding variables, including individual characteristics, family characteristics, and other forms of family violence, we found that all verbal, physical, and relational victimization and perpetration of sibling bullying were associated with major depression as well as generalized anxiety disorder. More importantly, the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement is significantly associated with mental health distress in a dose–response fashion.

Confirmed our hypothesis, linear associations were found between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression and anxiety. Children and adolescents had higher odds of suffering major depression and generalized anxiety disorder with the number increasing, and those who were involved in all three sub-types of sibling bullying victimization or perpetration were at the highest risk of experiencing mental health distress. The finding extends existing studies that have identified dose-effect relationships between the frequency, the role, and the context of bullying involvement and mental health problems (13, 19). Therefore, target population of anti-bullying programs and mental health promotion must include not only those children who are involved in frequent bullying behavior (13), those who are bully-victims (a child that is both bully and victim) (2, 9), and those who are bullied by both siblings and peers (6) but also those who are involved in multiple types of victimization or perpetration.

Our work provides a new insight into the measurement of sibling bullying when examining the associations between bullying behavior among siblings and negative health outcomes. According to previous studies, sibling bullying involvement was generally treated as a binary term, and a victim or a bully of sibling bullying could be identified as long as any one item of the questionnaire met the cutoff value (13, 19). For example, a child would be classified as a victim when he or she had been hit by a brother or sister several times a month over the past half a year. Meanwhile, another child who had been hit, completely ignored, and made fun of by his or her siblings several times a month in the last 6 months was also identified as a victim of sibling bullying (19). From the findings of this study, the two children mentioned above may have different odds of experiencing mental health distress. Thus, future research should to treat sibling bullying involvement as a continuous variable according to the number of sub-types of sibling bullying in which participants are involved.

On the other hand, the cutoff value of sibling bullying in this study was "more than two or three times a month" (2, 19), which is different from some studies using the more stringent cutoff value, such as "more than once a week" (12, 31). When we chose "about once a week" as cutoff value in the study, the prevalence of sibling bullying was less than 5%, and it is much lower than 30.8% that reported in some western country (12). The difference might stem from different culture and concept of sibling relationship. Sibling bullying is a new issue but not a wellaccepted topic in China in recent years. Chinese children and adolescents would avoid revealing their frequent aggressive behaviors among siblings because of traditional family values, which underline harmony and endurance.

Despite the potential contribution to the literature of sibling bullying, there are several limitations to this study. First, the nature of a cross-sectional survey limits our study to draw causality between sibling bullying and mental health distress. Moreover, there may be a bidirectional relationship between sibling bullying and depression or anxiety, which had been identified as the relationship between peer bullying and poor mental health outcomes (21, 41). Therefore, future longitudinal studies need to explore whether there is a bidirectional model between sibling bullying and mental health distress. Second, the study recruited children and adolescents aged 10 to 18 due to the fact that children aged under 10 may be unable to understand the questionnaire completely. However, the prevalence of sibling bullying

	Number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement								
	0	1	2	3	Linear trend				
Victimization (N = 5926)	4691	1025	150	60					
Depression (%yes)	17.7	25.4	36.0	48.3					
Depression	1.00	1.54 (1.28-1.85)***	1.86 (1.26-2.76)**	3.77 (2.10-6.77)***	1.49 (1.32-1.68)***				
Anxiety (%yes)	12.6	19.8	36.0	43.3					
Anxiety	1.00	1.65 (1.35-2.02)***	2.80 (1.88-4.17)***	4.90 (2.72-8.84)***	1.68 (1.48-1.90)***				
Perpetration ($N = 5926$)	4696	1084	111	35					
Depression (%yes)	17.9	25.7	28.8	51.4					
Depression	1.00	1.56 (1.30-1.86)***	1.62 (1.03-2.55)*	2.89 (1.37-6.11)**	1.44 (1.26-1.64)***				
Anxiety (%yes)	12.8	20.6	28.8	57.1					
Anxiety	1.00	1.61 (1.33-1.96)***	2.28 (1.44-3.61)***	5.79 (2.73-12.26)***	1.63 (1.42-1.87)***				

TABLE 4 | The associations between the number of sub-types of sibling bullying involvement and depression and anxiety [Adjusted OR (95% CI)].

Significant confounding variables:

Depression (Victimization/Perpetration) = male gender, older age, living in a one-parent family, parental conflict, parental abuse, and peer bullying.

Anxiety (Victimization/Perpetration) = male gender, older age, living in a one-parent family, maternal education with college or more, parental conflict, parental abuse, and peer bullying. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001 peaks in childhood according to previous studies (6, 42). In the future study, we might invite younger children as our sample and information of investigation will be provided by their caregivers. In addition, the prevalence of sibling bullying in this study was measured by one of the siblings in a family through self-reported questionnaire, and there might be a information bias. Future research should consider the characteristics of sibling bullying behaviors and conduct research within a family and investigate bullying behaviors among all siblings. Finally, although the sample size of this study was rather large, the present study was conducted in a limited geographical setting. The extent to which this sample represents is unclear due to that the data of participants was only collected from students in Hunan Province, central China. Future research can recruit more children and adolescents in different regions of China.

Although there are limitations in some aspects of this study, our findings provide practical implications for clinicians, professionals, and policy makers. First, measure of sibling bullying should include specific sub-types of bullying behavior since they may have a cumulative effect on mental health outcomes. What is more, future research could take more sub-types of bullying into consideration, such as cyber bullying. At the same time, mental health education and promotion could be provided first to those children who are involved in multiple sub-types of sibling victimization or perpetration as they are at particular greater risk of mental health distress. In addition, since both sibling bullying and peer bullying are associated with depression as well as anxiety, effective preventive programs of anti-bullying should be conducted at home and at school simultaneously.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

REFERENCES

- Wolke D, Tippett N, Dantchev S. Bullying in the family: sibling bullying. Lancet Psychiat (2015) 2(10):917–29. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00262-X
- Wolke D, Samara MM. Bullied by siblings: association with peer victimisation and behaviour problems in Israeli lower secondary school children. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry* (2004) 45(5):1015–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.t01-1-00293.x
- 3. Tippett N, Wolke D. Aggression between siblings: Associations with the home environment and peer bullying. *Aggress Behav* (2015) 41(1):14–24. doi: 10.1002/ab.21557
- Skinner JA, Kowalski RM. Profiles of Sibling Bullying. J Interpers Violence (2013) 28(8):1726–36. doi: 10.1177/0886260512468327
- Eriksen S, Jensen V. A push or a punch: distinguishing the severity of sibling violence. J Interpers Violence (2009) 24(1):183-208. doi: 10.1177/ 0886260508316298
- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D, Turner H, Shattuck AM. Sibling and peer victimization in childhood and adolescence. *Child Abuse Negl* (2014) 38 (10):1599–606. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.05.007
- Wolke D, Skew AJ. Bullying among siblings. Int J Adolesc Med Health (2012) 24(1):17–25. doi: 10.1515/ijamh.2012.004

ETHICS STATEMENT

The protocol was reviewed and approved by National Office for Philosophy and Social Science (Beijing, China). The study received the approval from the ethical committee of Xiangya School of Public Health, Central South University (grant number is XYGW-2017-056). Informed consents were obtained from the principal of each chosen school, the students who participated in the study, and their parents.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

XL, as the first author, developed the initial manuscript. XL and MY were also responsible for the data collection and the data analysis. CP guided the overall design of the study. CP and YY also negotiated for program management of data and field access. ZQ, XQ, and XY contributed substantially to the revision and refinement of the final manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by The National Social Science Fund of China (grant number is BBA170061).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank students who took part in the research, parents and teachers who supported and assisted with the research, and investigators who have contributed to the field implementation of this study, including Hong Lin from Central South University, Dongfang Wang, and Shu Wang from Hunan Agricultural University.

- Menesini E, Camodeca M, Nocentini A. Bullying among siblings: the role of personality and relational variables. Br J Dev Psychol (2010) 28 (Pt 4):921–39. doi: 10.1348/026151009X479402
- 9. Wolke D, Skew A. Bullied at home and at school: Relationship to Behaviour Problems and Unhappiness. *Understanding Soc* (2011) pp:23–32.
- Dale J, Russell R, Wolke D. Intervening in primary care against childhood bullying: an increasingly pressing public health need. J Roy Soc Med (2014) 107(6):219–23. doi: 10.1177/0141076814525071
- 11. Kettrey HH, Emery BC. The discourse of sibling violence. J Fam Violence (2006) 21(6):407-16. doi: 10.1007/s10896-006-9036-0
- Bar-Zomer J, Klomek AB. Attachment to Parents As a Moderator in the Association between Sibling Bullying and Depression or Suicidal Ideation among Children and Adolescents. *Front Psychiatry* (2018) 9(72):1–9. doi: 10.3389/Fpsyt.2018.00072
- Bowes L, Wolke D, Joinson C, Lereya ST, Lewis G. Sibling Bullying and Risk of Depression, Anxiety, and Self-Harm: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Pediatrics* (2014) 134(4):E1032–9. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-0832
- van Berkel SR, Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D. The Combination of Sibling Victimization and Parental Child Maltreatment on Mental Health Problems and Delinquency. *Child Maltreatment* (2018) 23(3):244–53. doi: 10.1177/ 1077559517751670

- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D, Turner H, Shattuck A. Association of Sibling Aggression With Child and Adolescent Mental Health. *Pediatrics* (2013) 132(1):79–84. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-3801
- Mathis G, Mueller C. Childhood Sibling Aggression and Emotional Difficulties and Aggressive Behavior in Adulthood. J Fam Violence (2015) 30(3):315–27. doi: 10.1007/s10896-015-9670-5
- Yen CF, Huang MF, Kim YS, Wang PW, Tang TC, Yeh YC, et al. Association between types of involvement in school bullying and different dimensions of anxiety symptoms and the moderating effects of age and gender in Taiwanese adolescents. *Child Abuse Negl* (2013) 37(4):263–72. doi: 10.1016/ j.chiabu.2013.01.004
- Arroll B, Goodyear-Smith F, Crengle S, Gunn J, Kerse N, Fishman T, et al. Validation of PHQ-2 and PHQ-9 to screen for major depression in the primary care population. *Ann Fam Med* (2010) 8(4):348–53. doi: 10.1370/ afm.1139
- Dantchev S, Zammit S, Wolke D. Sibling bullying in middle childhood and psychotic disorder at 18 years: a prospective cohort study. *Psychol Med* (2018) 48(14):2321–8. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717003841
- Gallagher AM, Updegraff KA, Padilla J, McHale SM. Longitudinal Associations Between Sibling Relational Aggression and Adolescent Adjustment. J Youth Adolesc (2018) 47(10):2100–13. doi: 10.1007/s10964-018-0871-0
- Brunstein KA, Barzilay S, Apter A, Carli VH, Christina W, Sarchiapone M, et al. Bi-directional longitudinal associations between different types of bullying victimization, suicide ideation/attempts, and depression among a large sample of European adolescents. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (2018) 60 (2):209–15. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12951
- Barzilay S, Brunstein KA, Apter A, Carli V, Wasserman C, Hadlaczky G, et al. Bullying Victimization and Suicide Ideation and Behavior Among Adolescents in Europe: A 10-Country Study. J Adolesc Health (2017) 61 (2):179–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2017.02.002
- Krienert JL, Walsh JA. My Brother's Keeper: A Contemporary Examination of Reported Sibling Violence Using National Level Data, 2000-2005. J Fam Violence (2011) 26(5):331–42. doi: 10.1007/s10896-011-9367-3
- 24. Yu JJ, Lim GO, Gamble WC. Big Five Personality Traits and Physical Aggression between Siblings in South Korea: an Actor-Partner Interdependence Analysis. J Fam Violence (2017) 32(2):257-67. doi: 10.1007/s10896-016-9825-z
- Chen M, Ling CK. Parental absence, child victimization, and psychological well-being in rural China. *Child Abuse Negl* (2016) 59:45–54. doi: 10.1016/ j.chiabu.2016.07.009
- Peng C, Luo JY, Qin ZH, Qiu XY, Wen LH, Liu XQ. Prevalence of sibling violence among primary and middle school students in rural areas. *Chin Ment Health J* (2018) 32(10):849–54. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-6729.2018.10.008
- Kubo M, Chaudhuri A. Gender Gap in Health Status of Children in the Context of One Child Policy in China: Is it Sibling Rivalry or Son Preference? J Fam Econ Iss (2017) 38(2):204–17. doi: 10.1007/s10834-016-9506-3
- Zeng Y, Hesketh T. The effects of China's universal two-child policy. *Lancet* (2016) 388(10054):1930–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31405-2
- Olweus D. Bullying at school: basic facts and effects of a school based intervention program. J Child Psychol Psychiatry (1994) 35(7):1171–90. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01229.x
- Gothwal VK, Sumalini R, Irfan SM, Giridhar A, Bharani S. Revised Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire: Evaluation in Visually Impaired. Optometry Vision Sci (2013) 90(8):828–35. doi: 10.1097/OPX.0b013e3182959b52

- Toseeb U, McChesney G, Wolke D. The Prevalence and Psychopathological Correlates of Sibling Bullying in Children with and without Autism Spectrum Disorder. J Autism Dev Disord (2018) 48(7):2308–18. doi: 10.1007/s10803-018-3484-2
- Zhang WX, Wu JF. Revision of the Chinese version of the Olweus Child Bullying Questionnaire. *Psychol Dev Educ* (1999) 38(2):8–12. doi: 10.16187/ j.cnki.issn1001-4918.1999.02.002
- Nease DJ, Maloin JM. Depression screening: a practical strategy. J Fam Pract (2003) 52(2):118–24. doi: 10.1080/02813430310000582
- 34. Adewuya AO, Ola BA, Afolabi OO. Validity of the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) as a screening tool for depression amongst Nigerian university students. J Affect Disord (2006) 96(1-2):89–93. doi: 10.1016/ j.jad.2006.05.021
- Min BQ, Zhou AH, Liang F, Jia JP. Clinical application of Patient Health Questionnaire for self-administered measurement (PHQ-9) as screening tool for depression. J Neurosci Ment Health (2013) 13(6):569–72. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1009-6574.2013.06.009
- Hu XC, Zhang YL, Liang W, Zhang HM, Yang SC. Reliability and validity of the patient health questionnaire-9 in Chinese adolescents. *Sichuan Ment Health* (2014) 27(4):357–60. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1007-3256.2014.04.021
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW, Monahan PO, Lowe B. Anxiety disorders in primary care: Prevalence, impairment, comorbidity, and detection. Ann Intern Med (2007) 146(5):317–25. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-146-5-200703060-00004
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Lowe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder - The GAD-7. Arch Intern Med (2006) 166 (10):1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Loewe B, Decker O, Mueller S, Brahler E, Schellberg D, Herzog W, et al. Validation and standardization of the generalized anxiety disorder screener (GAD-7) in the general population. *Med Care* (2008) 46(3):266–74. doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e318160d093
- Zeng QZ, He YL, Liu H, Miao JM, Chen JX, Xu HN, et al. Reliability and validity of Chinese version of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7) scale in screening anxiety disorders in outpatients from traditional Chinese internal department. *Chin Ment Health J* (2013) 27(3):163–8. doi: 10.3969/ j.issn.1000-6729.2013.03.001
- Kelleher I, Keeley H, Corcoran P, Ramsay H, Wasserman C, Car V, et al. Childhood trauma and psychosis in a prospective cohort study: cause, effect, and directionality. *Am J Psychiatry* (2013) 170(7):734–41. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.2012.12091169
- Tucker CJ, Finkelhor D, Shattuck AM, Turner H. Prevalence and correlates of sibling victimization types. *Child Abuse Negl* (2013) 37(4):213–23. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.01.006

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Liu, Peng, Yu, Yang, Qing, Qiu and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Free2B Multi-Media Bullying Prevention Experience: An Exemplar of Scientific Edutainment

Stephen S. Leff^{1,2*}, Tracy Evian Waasdorp¹, Brooke S. Paskewich¹, Katherine B. Bevans^{1,3} and Flaura K. Winston^{1,2}

¹ The Violence Prevention Initiative, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ² The Perelman School of Medicine, The University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, PA, United States, ³ The College of Public Health, Temple University, Philadelphia, PA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anat Brunstein Klomek, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Israel

Reviewed by:

Soonjo Hwang, University of Nebraska Medical Center, United States Karin Frey, University of Washington, United States

*Correspondence:

Stephen S. Leff Leff@email.chop.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> **Received:** 14 May 2019 **Accepted:** 29 June 2020 **Published:** 16 July 2020

Citation:

Leff SS, Waasdorp TE, Paskewich BS, Bevans KB and Winston FK (2020) The Free2B Multi-Media Bullying Prevention Experience: An Exemplar of Scientific Edutainment. Front. Psychiatry 11:679. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00679 **Objective:** The objective of the current article is to highlight an example of a new paradigm, *Scientific Edutainment*. The manuscript describes how educational researchers and technologists worked together to develop a multi-media bullying prevention experience, called Free2B for middle school students paying particular attention to ensure that the programming was not only relevant to all students but also was appealing and responsive to the needs of urban youth. Bullying is the most common form of aggression experienced among school-aged youth, which impairs students' learning and social-emotional functioning and has financial costs to society. Given that the prevalence of bullying is highest in middle school, finding brief and feasible methods for motivating and sustaining change at this age is critically important, especially in the case of urban, under-resourced schools.

Method: In response to this challenge, multidisciplinary bullying prevention researchers collaborated with international technologists to develop the Free2B multi-media bullying prevention experience through an iterative Community-Based Participatory Research (CBPR) approach. In addition, the research team conducted a series of pilot studies to iteratively develop and initially evaluate the multi-media program, helping to ensure relevance specifically for urban middle school youth.

Results: Results from the pilot studies indicated that the vast majority of middle school students found the Free2B multi-media bullying prevention experience to be enjoyable, relevant to their needs, and addressed important strategies to handle peer bullying and victimization. In addition, the brief prevention experience was associated with increases in problem-solving knowledge, prosocial attitudes about bullying, increased sympathy, and confidence in handling peer conflicts.

Conclusion: The current paper illustrates the use of a new paradigm, termed *Scientific Edutainment*, as a way to combine evidenced-based developmental science with the

95

latest in entertainment technology to provide innovative, engaging, and technologicallysophisticated educational programming.

Keywords: scientific edutainment, edutainment, bullying, prevention, school-based, community-based participatory research

INTRODUCTION

The term Edutainment has been used relatively frequently over the past 15-20 years to broadly describe the combination of education and entertainment in order to help children and adolescents, and sometimes institutions and/or other entities, learn and promote new skills (1-6). Some have emphasized that Edutainment denotes that the learner is actively engaged in their learning through the entertainment and technology aspects (7), and that the teaching of new skills can occur in any setting and not just within a classroom or school context (7). Thus, there has been an emphasis on the use of interactive and immersive technologies (e.g., augmented reality, immersive virtual reality, mixed reality environments) with the idea that the entertainment technology can stimulate stronger cognitive engagement from participants thereby helping to facilitate the learning process (8, 9). These interventions have been applied with some level of success to a range of different topics, including the promotion of safer teen driving (4), health education related to HIV and AIDS in 3rd world countries (10), sexual abuse prevention (11), and preschoolers' reading skills (12). The strengths of Edutainment approaches are that they may enhance creativity, transform traditional learning into interactive and immersive learning experiences, improve participant engagement and motivation, and utilize the latest innovations in technology. However, from our perspective, the strengths of Edutainment can be negated if best practice science and strong theory are not used to design the content delivered. In those cases the entertainment value may be high but the effectiveness and generalizability of the intervention strategies may be limited. As such, we refer to our work throughout the remainder of this paper as "Scientific Edutainment" to indicate that this signifies best practice science and theory combined with strong educational practices and the latest in entertainment technology.

The goal of the current manuscript is to provide an example of *Scientific Edutainment*, in which bullying prevention researchers partnered with an international technology team to develop a multi-media bullying prevention experience (called Free2B) for middle school students, given that bullying peaks during these years (13, 14), paying particular attention through a community-based participatory research (CBPR) process to ensure that the program not only had global relevance but also was engaging and responsive for urban youth and educators. Descriptions for how program materials were developed and initially evaluated will be described through a series of pilot studies. Through this process we will highlight how researchers can collaborate with multimedia experts to develop and iteratively evaluate and adapt materials to ensure that resulting programs are both engaging and scientifically-grounded. Challenges for researchers in trying to

bridge the gap between theory, practice, and innovation will be highlighted, including the need for balancing the use of technology to engage students in learning best practice strategies in an entertaining way without depicting extreme violence.

The Problem of Peer Bullying

Peer bullying at school is a significant childhood experience that is associated with considerable behavioral, social, and academic difficulties that can be prevented and/or ameliorated through systematic prevention and intervention programs (15, 16). Bullying prevention programming for middle school students is particularly important given that bullying increases in late childhood and peaks in early adolescence (13, 14). This makes the middle school years an extremely important time period to intervene to help suppress this increase and lessen the impact of bullying. This is especially true for urban minority youth, as previous research suggests that programming has not typically been adapted to be culturally-responsive to the needs of many of these high-risk youth (15, 17, 18). A critique of empiricallysupported bullying prevention programs is that some educators feel that programs are too time- and labor-intensive, not engaging to students, as well as not being culturally-relevant for urban minority youth (17, 18).

Brief technology-based bullying prevention experiences may play a role in building youth knowledge of bullying prevention facts while promoting students' attitudes that they can play an important role in reducing bullying behaviors at their school. These approaches can simultaneously provide survey results so that they each school can have a data-informed approach to addressing their school's unique bullying climate and culture, and illuminate next steps needed to create more lasting change during adolescence. As such, we developed and pilot tested an empirically-supported multi-media bullying prevention experience to support middle school students in the initial stages of bullying prevention programming through initiating collective action and evidence-based decision making. This paper details how a Scientific Edutainment experience was developed through CBPR as researchers and technologists partnered in the iterative design of this prevention experience. A CBPR approach combines psychological theory and best practice science with key stakeholder feedback (17), and it is similar to prior research focused on engaging youth in collaborative decision-making techniques to determine intervention preferences (19, 20). Results will be presented from a series of pilot studies that were used to ensure that Free2B is universally relevant yet scientifically rigorous and sensitive to minority youth living in urban communities.

Strengths and Weaknesses of Published Research in Bullying Prevention

Although all states have mandates requiring schools to address bullying (21), there is great variability in how schools accomplish this. Common approaches are to conduct stand-alone anti-bullying programs or a single-session assembly (22). Stand-alone bullying programs, have historically been developed and conducted in European countries (e.g., Olweus' Bullying Prevention Program) but have become more common in the United States over the past 15 years (16, 23). Strengths of some of the most well-known bullying prevention programs are that they are theoretically grounded and they include the necessary elements for bullying prevention (24-26). For instance, best practice programs address broad school climate, aim to improve supervision and monitoring in the unstructured school settings, support clear and consistent rules preventing bullying, and involve all students, school staff, and parents in supporting these efforts. Despite this, many of these efforts have resulted in relatively small reductions of bullying (16, 25) with effects declining in older adolescents (27). Limitations of stand-alone programs, even the more successful ones, are that they are labor-intensive to implement fully or as intended, especially outside of the context of a well-controlled research study, sometimes resulting in suboptimal impact (16, 28). For these reasons, use of a well-respected bullying prevention program often does not translate into positive changes. This is particularly true for urban under-resourced schools that grapple with additional stressors, such as single-parent homes, poverty, and community violence (17).

As an alternative, schools will turn to quick fixes such as a school assembly. Assemblies appeal to schools because of their minimal time commitment and lack of burden on busy teachers. However, assemblies have several inherent limitations. First, many existing bullying prevention assemblies are "lecture-style" and therefore are variably engaging. Further, many use punitive messages and reprimand bullying behavior (e.g., a zero tolerance approach), which is a reactive response to bullying (22, 29) that does not engage students to create a lasting impact when used alone (23, 29). Assemblies are often not theoretically-grounded and it is not always clear how they have integrated best practice bullying prevention core content of problem-solving, perspective-taking, sympathy, and instructions for bystanders of bullying (16, 23). This makes it impossible for assemblies to be systematized and/or scaled. Finally, an assembly is rarely coupled with data-collection that could be used to provide tailored feedback. In sum, while convenient, assemblies often lack the theoretical foundation and a positive, engaging approach that is necessary to capture student interest and foster behavior change.

>In summary, the goal of this paper was to describe how researchers and technologists can work together to establish engaging programming that is theoretically-based and empirically supported. In order to accomplish this goal, we describe how brief bullying prevention programming was developed through an iterative partnership-based approach to ensure that the result would be scientifically-grounded, theoretically-based, and make use of innovative technology to engage students in a 90 min interactive learning assembly about bullying prevention programming.

METHODS AND ITERATIVE DEVELOPMENT OF PROGRAMMING

All aspects of the project described in this manuscript were approved by the authors' institutional review board (IRB). As such, all students at participating schools received the multimedia programming and completed pre- and post-questions anonymously on a hand-held remote device. Children who participated in focus groups were required to obtain parental permission (and child consent) prior to participation.

Initial Partnership

Researchers with considerable expertise in intervention development for aggression and bullying prevention programming were approached by an international technology team who had extensive experience in developing interactive educational programming for youth. The technology team approached the researchers with their desire to develop a brief multi-media bullying prevention experience for middle school-aged youth, given the high prevalence of bullying during these years (13, 14). Each partner (e.g., the research team and the technology team) brought particular expertise and limitations to the collaboration. For example, the research team had experience in program design and methodology, psychological theory related to intervention programming, and knowledge of empirically-based best practice strategies for bullying prevention programming. In addition, the research team had substantial experience working in urban school environments, developing effective evidence-based universal and indicated aggression and bullying prevention programs (17, 30, 31) and had a good understanding of strategies for anti-bullying programming that are considered ineffective and/or could "cause harm" by scaring students as opposed to engaging and/or teaching them (32, 33). However, the research team had limited experience working with technologists and producers and were not familiar with the production process and related time-lines.

The technology team had notable strengths in developing 3D interactional experiences related to educational topics, knowing the latest in technological advances, and having considerable experience developing, producing, and scaling programming through a portable school-based assembly-style format. The technologists had also worked with research teams in the development of their prior programs, which allowed the current research team to build upon this foundation in developing a systematic and iterative process for the development of Free2B using the community-based participatory research (CBPR) model. Given that a CBPR approach can lead to stronger and more culturally-sensitive programs, but invariably also be a slower process, the research team had to figure out how to provide meaningful data-driven advice quickly and efficiently so that the production portion of the team could meet projected timeline goals. Many times this was accomplished by having the research team prioritize feedback given to the broader team in order to emphasize which aspects were most crucial.

In sum, the initial partnership took a number of meetings across several months whereby leaders of both teams met together to speak openly about the ways in which they liked to work, their respective strengths, and projected challenges. The end result was the agreement to have weekly virtual "working meetings" between lead researchers and technologists to further establish goals, timelines, and ways to communicate and collaborate most successfully.

Developing Working Relationship and Goals

Early weekly meetings included discussing how a brief multimedia prevention program could be used to increase student awareness of bullying and motivate students to be ready for making changes to their school climate. The research team emphasized the importance of taking a positive-based approach to the project which would likely foster more engagement and change (34, 35) rather than a fear-based approach trying to scare children (29) that has often been used in docudramas and popular media. For example, researchers suggested highlighting the positive implications and power that students could gain back from a child who bullies by being a positive and proactive bystander as opposed to highlighting the negative effects of depression and suicide that peer victims can experience. Over the course of several months, A Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was developed between the research and technology team that outlined the goals, expectations, and proposed production schedules. For instance, the MOU indicated that the research team would be responsible for developing a white paper and logic model that would help articulate the main concepts and constructs to be illustrated in the multi-media production (see below for a more detailed description), and that the white paper and logic model would be used to help ensure that different aspects of the programming were grounded in the empirical literature on best-practice strategies for peer bullying prevention. These same concepts and constructs were used to help determine outcome metrics. At the same time the MOU laid out production time-tables and the detailed type of feedback the technologists required from the research team for iteratively developing components of the program (e.g., including drafting of scripts, story-boarding, focus group feedback, and production schedules).

Generation of a White Paper on Bullying Prevention

The research team then worked for several months to develop a White Paper (e.g., Concept Paper) to clearly articulate the scientific foundation for the multi-media program in bullying. This document included: a) key background literature review and summaries related to bullying and victimization; b) diagrams and articulation of the program theory (see **Figure 1**); c) details on recommended content and associated constructs based upon best practice scientific principles related to peer bullying prevention programming; d) projected immediate, intermediate, and long-term behavioral outcomes for the program¹; and e) representative items to utilize as part of a pre- and post-test interactive survey.

Description of Prevention Experience Components

The goal for the team working together to design the Free2B bullying prevention experience was to develop a 90 min multimedia bullying prevention experience grounded in best practice science and relevant psychological theory. In general, meetings occurred about once per month over approximately 6 months with specific tasks laid out for the research team and for the technology team between meetings. The original prevention experience that was rolled out in pilot study #1 described below consisted of four primary intervention components and 13 pre- and post-assembly questions which were completed using the interactive hand-held devices. First, an engaging 3D movie that highlights the harmful impact of all forms and modes of bullying (e.g., physical, relational, and cyber) and the role that positive bystanders can play in helping to promote a safe school climate. This included the "director's cut" following the 3D movie, where the director, actors and actresses talk openly about the impact that peer bullying has had on their lives, how it directly affected many of them growing up, and the steps they took to overcome and/or try to make it better. Second, video testimonials in which adolescents share their bullying and victimization experiences through social media (e.g., simulating a YouTube[©] posted video displaying thoughts on index cards) in an effort to inspire students' to take a stand against bullying. Third, an interactive quiz show in which youth learn basic knowledge about bullying, emotion regulation, and being a positive bystander. During the quiz show the youth answer multiple choice questions using interactive hand-held devices, questions include concepts related to myths and facts of bullying, how to recognize when they are becoming angry, how to best evaluate social situations before reacting quickly and/or impulsively towards others, and strategies for being a positive and proactive bystander. Finally, the dark room audio experience, during which time students hear a story in a darkened room so that they must use their auditory senses to listen, learn, and react to a story as it unfolds.

All participants completed a 13-item pre- and post-program questionnaire (outside of the interactive quiz show) through the interactive hand-held remote devices, viewed the 3D movie, listened to the dark room audio experience, and engaged and actively participated in the interactive experiences.

Underlying Program Theory of the Prevention Experience

Three psychological theories, social information processing (36), developmental-ecological (37, 38), and cognitive-behavioral theories (39, 40), as described below, were combined with a positive approach to bullying prevention in order to provide a theoretically-grounded and engaging learning experience for students. Social information processing (SIP) models of aggression suggest that a child approaches each interpersonal situation through a combination of biologically determined capabilities, memories of prior practices, and models for social situations. A child's behavioral response in a particular peer interaction is posited to be a function of how these pre-existing

¹Intermediate and long-term outcomes were outlined with the expectation that the multi-media experience could be combined with more intensive ongoing programming to make lasting behavioral change.



capabilities interact with the way in which children process a series of social cognitive steps (36). Free2B is grounded in an SIP re-training framework, modeled after attributional re-training programs, such as the Coping Power Program (41), the Brain Power Program (42), and Friend to Friend (17, 30). These programs were chosen because they have shown aggression reduction among urban African American youth. For instance, the interactive quiz show component of Free2B focused upon illustrating several basic social problem-solving strategies including how to recognize when you are getting angry, how to slow yourself down and examine social situations prior to acting, and how to give others the benefit of the doubt when their motives are unclear. Bronfenbrenner's developmental ecological theory (37, 38) and more recently the bioecological theory (43, 44) also influenced the design of Free2B. This model suggests that development is influenced by relationships and interactions with significant others in one's social environment. As such, Free2B was designed to motivate and change the behaviors of the bystanders of bullying (both youth and adult) such that these individuals interact more positively when confronted with bullying. Finally, cognitive behavioral strategies (observing behaviors through the 3D movie and inspirational videos; shaping new behaviors) derived from social learning theory (39, 40) were also used to make Free2B engaging and impactful. For example, the video testimonial and the "director's cut" components (components 1 and 2 listed above) of Free2B were designed with the idea that by observing other youth and young adults successfully handling and/or talking about how they handle bullying would provide a model for how the students themselves could use positive bystander techniques to enhance school climate.

Researchers developed the program theory (see **Figure 1**) and primary teaching content, consulted with a local youth advisory

group, and developed evaluation procedures². They also recommended that the program target middle school youth, as this is the time in which rates of bullying are the highest (13, 14). The program theory illustrates how all four primary intervention components are thought to impact both proximal (e.g., knowledge of bullying facts; prosocial attitudes about positive bystander behavior) and distal (e.g., increases in positive bystander behavior and collective action to prevent bullying) outcomes. As program materials were being developed the technology team asked for more detailed guidance as to the main teaching points the researchers hoped to achieve within the program. As a result, the researchers developed a Most Important Concepts/Key Teaching Points document (see Table 1). This helped to articulate the main constructs and take-away messages that needed to be covered in one or multiple components of the intervention in order to ensure that the content was covered and emphasized in a scientificallygrounded manner.

ITERATIVE PILOT STUDIES RESULTS

The first pilot study of Free2B was conducted at two urban middle schools serving ethnic minority students (121 8th graders) within a large urban school district. All components of the intervention had been fully developed through the partnership previously described, and although quantitative data was

²All items used for pre- and post-testing were selected from validated measurement tools by examining their psychometric properties in past studies combined with the cognitive testing of the specific items with small numbers of middle school youth to ensure adequate understanding.

TABLE 1 | Most important concepts and key teaching points.

Key Point	Description	Broader Construct	Take Away Message
#1	Defining	Knowledge/	-Bullying is aggressive behavior that
	Bullying	Myths re:	occurs repeatedly in context of a power
#2	Subtypes of	bullying Knowledge/	imbalance -Physical (hitting, kicking, threatening),
	Bullying	Myths re:	Relational (harming others by damaging
	, 0	bullying	reputation through gossip, social
			exclusion)
			-Verbal (insulting through words)
	Duille in a	Kana da alaya (-Cyber (Using technology to harm others)
#3	Bullying hotspots at	Knowledge/ Myths re:	-Occurs most often in unstructured settings (e.g., lunchroom, hallways) when
	school	bullying	adults are not present
#4	Who is a	Knowledge/	-Anyone can be a bully or victim (can't
	Bully or	Myths re:	tell by how someone looks), and bullies
	Victim?	bullying	are often quite popular & socially
			influential despite not being well-liked
#5	Impact of	Norms	-Bullying has a negative impact on
	bullying	supporting prosocial as	behavior, class climate, academics, & social relations
		opposed to	Social relations
		bullying climate	
#6	Preventing	Norms	-Necessary for youth, diverse school
	bullying &	supporting	personnel, & parents to work together to
	improving	prosocial as	develop positive ways of encouraging
	school	opposed to	peer interactions, establishing clear rules
	climate	bullying climate	to prevent bullying, & forums for discussing concerns
#7	Bullying is	Understanding	-Bullies have the power, victims have little
	about Power	the unique role	power, and bystanders don't realize their
		of the	power potential (e.g., bystanders can
		Bystander	have power by exhibiting prosocial
			behaviors and messages)
#8	Teaching a series of	Knowledge of Problem-	-Recognizing our own body language
	problem-	Solving	when becoming angry/upset -Staying calm (e.g, taking deep breaths,
	solving	Conting	using visual imagery, counting to 10)
	steps		-Looking at each situation closely (not
			just assuming others "meant" to be mear
			or aggressive)
			-Considering our choices in social conflict situations
#9	Seeing	Perspective-	-Important to consider other's
	others'	Taking	perspectives
	points of	5	, , ,
	view		
#10	Recognizing	Empathy	-Recognizing that behavior impacts
	others'		others' feelings
	feelings		

collected and evaluated as part of this initial implementation, the focus was on ensuring the acceptability, relevance, and feasibility of the 90 min program. Further, the goal of this pilot was to obtain qualitative feedback from randomly selected 8th graders, teachers, and counselors from each school who participated in focus groups immediately following the multi-media experience. Both quantitative data and focus groups with students and staff indicated that Free2B was engaging and enjoyable, and that the show enhanced students' knowledge and prosocial attitudes about bullying. Despite this, students reported that they could not fully relate to some of the characters and/or settings in the

show. This was important feedback, for which a CBPR approach was used to ensure relatability and relevance with urban minority youth by making slight adaptations to Free2B including: 1) refilming the video testimonial component with a more diverse group of actors and actresses, 2) depicting more contextually relevant themes for bullying that any student audience should be able to relate to (e.g., the original video testimonial had the youth being bullied for having red hair, this was changed to being bullied for being overweight and not having nice clothes in the revised version), 3) enhancing the visibility and roles of the minority characters in the 3D component, and 4) adapting several visual prompts on the interactive quiz show in order to better highlight the main teaching points and constructs. Through the qualitative feedback, overwhelmingly students did not find the dark room component as informative or engaging as compared to the other components. For instance, they found the story hard to follow, having trouble differentiating the different voices and characters and at times finding the story too complicated. As a result, the research team suggested that the revised program not include the dark room experience, or that this component be substantially revised and adapted.

Following the iterative changes described above, a second pilot study was conducted with 714 7th and 8th graders from five middle schools. These schools were chosen in order to ensure that there was diversity in school type (urban versus suburban) and in terms of school neighborhood (e.g., SES level, rates of violence in community). Of the five schools, two were urban low-income schools, one was a suburban school with a moderately high SES, and two were suburban schools in relatively impoverished neighborhoods. All aspects of the 90 min experience were conducted and results indicated that 88% of students found Free2B to be enjoyable, 92% thought it taught helpful strategies to stop bullying, and 85% indicated that it addressed issues important to them. Significant paired sample t-tests and McNemar χ^2 also suggested that Free2B produced immediate post-assembly changes related to increased social problem-solving knowledge, prosocial attitudes about bullying, increased sympathy, and confidence in resolving conflicts (see Table 2). Further, focus groups with participating students in the two urban schools suggested that changes to Free2B after the 1st study, made it more culturally-relevant, relatable, and impactful. For example, students reported that they were able to relate to characters depicted in the 3D and video testimonial parts of the program in line with the changes made following pilot study 1.

A 3rd pilot study was conducted with 1155 6th grade students from eight middle schools in a large predominately minority urban school district in another part of the country. Results produced similar positive results to those described in pilot study 2 above. For instance, 87% of students found Free2B to be enjoyable, 93% thought it taught helpful strategies to stop bullying, and 87% indicated that it addressed issues important to them. Finally, significant paired sample t-tests and McNemar χ^2 were found across the same domains outlined above. The similar positive results obtained demonstrated that the program has promise with younger (6th graders) predominately urban youth and across different geographic regions of the country.

Likert Questions ^a	Pre Mean	Post Mean	Paired t	p –value
It is my responsibility to help students who are bullied.	2.30	2.42	-3.30	<.001
l could help someone who was bullied.	2.84	2.94	-2.88	.004
How bad would you feel for a student who was bullied?	2.91	3.07	-5.09	<.001
Dichotomous Questions	Pre % Correct	Post % Correct	McNemar χ2	p
Bullying is a normal pat of growing up (correct answer: False)	40%	72.1%	165.42	<.001
What is the BEST way to keep calm in an argument? (correct answer: Take deep breaths)	27.8%	52.5%	96.46	<.001
When you're having an argument, what is the BEST reason to pay attention to other student's face and body? (correct answer: Because it can help you figure out how he/she is feeling)	46.6%	63.4%	62.11	<.001

Note. ^a Items were on a scale from 1 = not at all to 4 = a whole lot.

DISCUSSION

The primary goal of the project was to iteratively develop and preliminarily evaluate an engaging, interactive, easily administered experience aimed at bullying prevention that is effective for all youth, with particular focus on the relevance for an urban minority population given that programs are not always responsive to these children's needs and concerns (17, 18). In order to accomplish this a *Scientific Edutainment* approach was utilized which combined state-of-the-art entertainment technology, a strong theoretical foundation applied to bullying prevention research, and CBPR with youth and educators. The program was continually adapted and fine-tuned through stakeholder feedback in order to ensure engagement, relatability, and relevance for urban ethnic minority youth in addition to other student audiences.

The current manuscript highlights a number of advantages as well as challenges for using a Scientific Edutainment approach to program development. Strengths of this approach include that it is a paradigm that allows for the integration of multiple disciplines and fields to work together to ensure scientific rigor as well as strong youth engagement and entertainment value. Further, this paradigm illustrates how this approach can be used to address a gap in the field of bullying prevention for middle schoolers; that is, how to utilize the assembly-style format which is feasible and brief (that schools continue to use despite the availability of evidencebased effective programming) in a way that is systematic, theoretically-grounded, data-driven, and designed to provide clear teaching and training strategies for bullying prevention without glorifying violence or inducing fear in youth. The integration of technology and entertainment into the program also ensures that students are provided materials and teaching concepts through modalities and techniques of which they are familiar. This study also provides a model for how educational

researchers and technologists representing the entertainment field can work together through a CBPR format to impact youth positively while ensuring that they are "doing no harm."

An additional strength of this *Scientific Edutainment* approach is that a multi-media experience such as the one presented here can be fully implemented with strong fidelity across diverse school types and settings as it only requires a large auditorium or gymnasium. Given that the 90 min experience simulates a film or movie, it requires only an MC to help redirect students and/or to answer questions if needed as the program begins. This helps to ensure that all aspects of the experience occur during each program showing. As such, the systematic procedures and high treatment fidelity which is built in to this system also addresses inherent limitations for typical school assembly programs (e.g., variable content and presentation styles, different presenters) as well as more established stand-alone programs which are often infeasible to implement as intended outside the context of a large research grant or trial (16).

There were a number of challenges that also are illustrated through the current use of a Scientific Edutainment approach in the current study. First, utilizing the most engaging technology while keeping the budget to a reasonable scope was a challenge, especially when utilizing a CBPR iterative approach to project development. As a result, the combined research and technology team agreed that they would provide suggestions based on their past experiences and/or quantitative or qualitative data by organizing concerns into different domains for prioritization. These included feedback and changes that were: 1) absolutely essential because if not changed they may send the wrong message and/or cause harm; 2) essential for more clearly articulating valuable teaching content or strategies; 3) nonessential but suggested in order to potentially strengthen program effects; and 4) non-essential but if budget allowed would make the final production more systematic or professional but would likely have no major impact on program effects. Given the strong relationship between the teams, researchers and technologists were able to work closely together to avoid any priority #1 issues by articulating that the goal was to motivate students to want to make a change at their school, and therefore all team members agreed that it would be much more important to tell stories of hope, of overcoming obstacles, and teaching of feasible strategies as opposed to showing the worst case scenarios for bullying victims (e.g., depression and suicide; homelessness). Given these early conversations through the CBPR process there were no times where researchers or technologists were fearful that the program could cause harm. In contrast, there were a number of times in the early stages of development where researchers used iterative data or qualitative feedback to suggest changes to the way teaching points were phrased or presented on screen, and to the diversity and/or main messages of the characters, in order to help ensure that the main teaching content was optimally portrayed and presented to diverse audiences.

It should be noted that there was a steep learning curve for both groups due to the unfamiliarity as to the production process and time-table for researchers, and to the ways in which CBPR research teams work to represent youth voice and input at each stage of the iterative development process for the technology and producer team. Weekly virtual meetings, frequent discussions, and sharing of documents (e.g., scripts, white paper, examples) helped bridge this gap in experience for both teams. By virtue of having a close partnership between teams, the initial feedback obtained from urban students in pilot study 1, which necessitated making some changes to aspects of the program components (e.g., re-filming the video testimonial component with a new set of actors; emphasizing to a greater degree the important role held by the minority actors within the 3D film), was able to be utilized in a quick and efficient manner prior to pilot study 2.

The current study served as an illustration of the Scientific Edutainment paradigm. This paradigm has direct implications for bullying prevention programming and related interventions. While we recognize that any single-day experience is unlikely to reduce bullying alone³, it is clear from these pilot studies that Free2B is unique in its ability to produce very strong immediate changes that require minimal reinforcement or involvement from teachers or school personnel. However, as suggested by best practice science and our focus group feedback, programming should go beyond a 1-day assembly in order for schools to promote and maintain an anti-bullying climate. Given that Free2B utilizes handheld devices to collect student self-reported data pre-, post- and during the interactive quiz show portion of the program, this information can be utilized to help schools move beyond a 1-day program. For instance, in the future, this data could be used to customize "school bullying need reports" based upon each school's data. The use of this data will allow for near real-time comparative studies of bullying surveillance and advance our understanding of bullying in a wide range of contexts. Further, in an age of data-based decision making in the schools the use of school-specific data to personalize planning and action steps is a crucial component that is missing from most current "one size fits all" bullying prevention programs. Finally, the use of school specific data could be used to determine current prevention programming success, plan for future programming, and/or track progress over time. Thus, future research examining the Free2B experience when combined with "school bullying needs assessment reports" can be helpful for planning and choosing more intensive or targeted bullying prevention efforts that would be important in capitalizing upon the positive initial steps from Free2B and promoting longer-term behavioral change in the schools.

Based upon our experience in using a *Scientific Edutainment* paradigm to develop bullying prevention programming we have several recommendations for helping educators think through their use of assembly-style programs to address peer bullying including that it: a) draws upon a strong scientific foundation, b) uses a positive and interactive approach which may help facilitate learning as opposed to a "fear-based" approach, and c) provides data back to schools that could include online and free resources for students, school staff, and parents. In addition, it is recommended that school personnel come up with a list of discussion questions to help

students better articulate and apply the concepts learned, and use follow-up surveys to ascertain student feedback and understanding.

In summary, Free2B demonstrates rigor in its series of pilot studies, use of CBPR to ensure relevance and meaning to urban youth, and significant findings across samples varying in grade and geographic location. The use of the data collected during Free2B may address the limitation of the brief program by expanding beyond the focus on immediate changes and providing schools with a data-driven approach to influence the bullying climate through collective action and positive bystander behavior. The *Scientific Edutainment* approach utilized in the current research holds promise for detailing how diverse groups of educators, researchers, and entertainment industry groups can work together to design innovative, scientifically-grounded, and engaging means for addressing key educational problems such as peer bullying through future research.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by The Institutional Review Board, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SL, TW, BP, KB, and FW conceptualized the study and prepared the manuscript. BP and SL recruited schools for participation and oversaw study implementation, and TW conducted data analyses. SL and TW played a key role in writing the paper with critical review provided by FW. SL, TW, BP, KB, and FW gave final approval for the submitted version.

FUNDING

This research was supported in part by an NIH grant, 1R01HD094833-01A1 and by the Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. This research was made possible, in part, by the support of the School District of Philadelphia in whose schools data collection and showings of the Free2B experience occurred. Opinions contained in this report reflect those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of NIH, Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, Life Changing Experiences, and/or the School District of Philadelphia.

³Free2B was <u>not</u> examined for its potential long-term impact and/or influence on bullying behaviors themselves, which could be a goal for future research.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the following individuals who contributed to the project: producer and creator Ori Yardeni and Life Changing Experiences (LCE) and Children and Parents

REFERENCES

- Addis M. New technologies and cultural consumption-edutainment is born! Eur J Marketing. (2005) 39(7/8):729–36. doi: 10.1108/03090560510601734
- Anikina OV, Yakimenko EV. Edutainment as a modern technology of education. *Procedia-Social Behav Sci* (2015) 166:475–9. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.12.558
- Corona F, Cozzarelli C, Palumbo C, Sibilio M. Information technology and edutainment: Education and entertainment in the age of interactivity. *Int J Digital Literacy Digital Competence (IJDLDC)*. (2013) 4(1):12–8. doi: 10.4018/ jdldc.2013010102
- Zeedyk MS, Wallace L. Tackling children's road safety through edutainment: An evaluation of effectiveness. *Health Educ Res* (2003) 18(4):493–505. doi: 10.1093/her/cyf033
- Glik D, Berkanovic E, Stone K, Ibarra L, Jones MC, Rosen B, et al. Health education goes Hollywood: Working with prime-time and daytime entertainment television for immunization promotion. *J Health Communication*. (1998) 3 (3):263–82. doi: 10.1080/108107398127364
- Bergmann L, Clifford D, Wolff C. Edutainment and teen modeling may spark interest in nutrition & physical activity in elementary school audiences. J Nutr Educ Behavior. (2010) 42(2):139–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jneb.2009.10.001
- Bertacchini F, Bilotta E, Pantano P, Tavernise A. Motivating the learning of science topics in secondary school: A constructivist edutainment setting for studying Chaos. *Comput Education*. (2012) 59(4):1377–86. doi: 10.1016/ j.compedu.2012.05.001
- Pallud J. Impact of interactive technologies on stimulating learning experiences in a museum. *Inf Management*. (2017) 54(4):465–78. doi: 10.1016/j.im.2016.10.004
- Bradshaw CP, O' Brennan LM, Waasdorp TE, Pas ET, Leff SS. The new frontier: Leveraging innovative technologies to prevent bullying. In: Vazsonyi A, Flannery D, DeLisi M, editors. *Cambridge Handbook of Violent Behavior and Aggression*, (2nd Ed.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (2018). p. 724–35.
- Jana M, Letsela L, Scheepers E, Weiner R. Understanding the role of the OneLove campaign in facilitating drivers of social and behavioral change in southern Africa: A qualitative evaluation. *J Health communication*. (2015) 20 (3):252–8. doi: 10.1080/10810730.2014.925014
- Gesser-Edelsburg A, Fridman T, Lev-Wiesel R. Edutainment as a Strategy for Parental Discussion With Israeli Children: The Potential of a Children's Play in Preventing Sexual Abuse. J Child sexual abuse. (2017) 26(5):553–72. doi: 10.1080/10538712.2017.1319003
- Rohaya D, Rambli A, Matcha W, Sulaiman S, Nayan MY. Design and development of an interactive augmented reality edutainment storybook for preschool. *IERI Procedia*. (2012) 2:802–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ieri.2012.06.174
- Bradshaw CP, Sawyer AL, O'Brennan LM. Bullying and peer victimization at school: Perceptual differences between students and school staff. *School Psychol Rev* (2007) 36(3):361–82.
- Zhang J, Musu-Gillette L, Oudekerk B. Indicators of School Crime and Safety: 2015 (NCES 2016-079/NCJ 249758). Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice, Washington, D.C.: National Center for Education Statistics, U.S. Department of Education, and Bureau of Justice Statistics (2016).
- Leff SS, Power TJ, Manz PH, Costigan TE, Nabors LA. School-based aggression prevention programs for young children: Current status and implications for violence prevention. *School Psychol Rev* (2001) 30(3):344–62.
- Ttofi MM, Farrington DP. Effectiveness of school-based programs to reduce bullying: A systematic and meta-analytic review. J Exp Crim. (2011) 7(1):27– 56. doi: 10.1007/s11292-010-9109-1
- Leff SS, Gullan RL, Paskewich BS, Abdul-Kabir S, Jawad AF, Grossman M, et al. An initial evaluation of a culturally adapted social problem-solving and relational aggression prevention program for urban African-American relationally aggressive girls. *J Prev Intervention Community*. (2009) 37 (4):260–74. doi: 10.1080/10852350903196274

Resource group (CPR), and Danielle Centeno, Katherine Streit, Amanda Parks, Shani Gardner, and other members of the research team at Children's Hospital of Philadelphia. The authors would also like to thank all the participants and their schools for their time and support.

- Leff SS, Waasdorp TE, Mehari KR. An updated review of existing relational aggression programs. In: Coyne SM, Ostrov JM, editors. *The Development of Relational Aggression*. (England: Oxford University Press) (2018). p. 283–317.
- Cunningham CE, Chen Y, Vaillancourt T, Rimas H, Deal K, Cunningham LJ, et al. Modeling the anti-cyberbullying preferences of university students: Adaptive choice-based conjoint analysis. *Aggressive behavior*. (2015) 41(4):369–85. doi: 10.1002/ab.21560
- Cunningham CE, Vaillancourt T, Rimas H, Deal K, Cunningham L, Short K, et al. Modeling the bullying prevention program preferences of educators: a discrete choice conjoint experiment. J Abnorm Child Psychol (2009) 37(7):929–43. doi: 10.1007/s10802-009-9324-2
- Cornell D, Limber SP. Law and policy on the concept of bullying at school. Am Psychol (2015) 70(4):333–43. doi: 10.1037/a0038558
- Good CP, McIntosh K, Gietz C. Integrating Bullying Prevention Into Schoolwide Positive Behavior Support. *Part special issue: Behav Intentions*. (2011) 44(1):48–56. doi: 10.1177/004005991104400106
- Evans CBR, Fraser MW, Cotter KL. The effectiveness of school-based bullying prevention programs: A systematic review. *Aggression Violent Behavior*. (2014) 19(5):532–44. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2014.07.004
- Ferguson CJ, San Miguel C, Kilburn JCJr., Sanchez P. The effectiveness of school-based anti-bullying programs: A meta-analytic review. *Crim Just Rev* (2007) 32(4):401–14. doi: 10.1177/0734016807311712
- Merrell KW, Gueldner BA, Ross SW, Isava DM. How effective are school bullying intervention programs? A meta-analysis of intervention research. *School Psychol Quart.* (2008) 23(1):26–42. doi: 10.1037/1045-3830.23.1.26
- Ryan W, Smith JD. Antibullying programs in schools: How effective are evaluation practices? *Prev Sci* (2009) 10(3):248–59. doi: 10.1007/s11121-009-0128-y
- Yeager DS, Fong CJ, Lee HY, Espelage DL. Declines in efficacy of anti-bullying programs among older adolescents: Theory and a three-level meta-analysis. *J Appl Dev Psychol* (2015) 37:36–51. doi: 10.1016/j.appdev.2014.11.005
- Hicks TB, Shahidullah JD, Carlson JS, Palejwala MH. Nationally Certified School Psychologists' use and reported barriers to using evidence-based interventions in schools: The influence of graduate program training and education. *School Psychol Quart*. (2014) 29(4):469–87. doi: 10.1037/spq0000059
- Skiba R, Reynolds CR, Graham S, Sheras P, Conoley C, Garcia-Vazquez E. Are zero tolerance policies effective in the schools?: an evidentiary review and recommendations. *Am Psychol* (2008) 63(9):852–62. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.63.9.852
- Leff SS, Paskewich BS, Waasdorp TE, Waanders C, Bevans KB, Jawad AF. Friend to friend: A randomized trial for urban African American relationally aggressive girls. *Psychol Violence*. (2015) 5(4):433–43. doi: 10.1037/a0039724
- Leff S, Waasdorp TE, Paskewich B, Gullan RL, Jawad AF, Paquette MacEvoy J, et al (2010). The preventing relational aggression in schools everyday program: A preliminary evaluation of acceptability and impact. *Sch Psychol Rev* 39(4):569–57.
- 32. Klenowski PM, Bell KJ, Dodson KD. An empirical evaluation of juvenile awareness programs in the United States: Can juveniles be "scared straight"? J Offender Rehabilitation. (2010) 49(4):254–72. doi: 10.1080/10509671003716068
- Lewis RV. Scared straight—California style: Evaluation of the San Quentin SQUIRES program. Criminal Justice Behavior. (1983) 10(2):209–26. doi: 10.1177/0093854883010002005
- Bradshaw CP. Preventing bullying through positive behavioral interventions and supports (PBIS): A multitiered approach to prevention and integration. *Theory Into Practice*. (2013) 52(4):288–95. doi: 10.1080/00405841.2013.829732
- Orpinas P, Horne AM. Bullying prevention: Creating a positive school climate and developing social competence. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2006).
- Crick NR, Dodge KA. A review and reformulation of social information processing mechanisms in children's social adjustment. *Psychol Bull* (1994) 115:74–101. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.115.1.74

- Bronfenbrenner U. Ecology of the family as a context for human development: Research perspectives. *Dev Psychol* (1986) 22(6):723–42. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.22.6.723
- 38. Espelage DL, Swearer SM. A social-ecological model for bullying prevention and intervention: Understanding the impact of adults in the social ecology of youngsters. In: Jimerson SR, Swearer SM, Espelage DL, editors. *Handbook of bullying in schools: An international perspective*. New York, NY US: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group (2010). p. 61–72.
- Bandura A. Aggression: A social learning analysis. Englewood Clifts, NJ: Prentice Hall (1973).
- 40. Bandura A. Social Cognitive Theory for Personal and Social Change by Enabling Media. In: Singhal A, Cody MJ, Rogers EM, Sabido M, editors. *Entertainment-education and social change: History, research, and practice.* Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates Publishers (2004). p. 75–96.
- Lochman JE, Wells KC. Effectiveness of the coping power program and of classroom intervention with aggressive children: Outcomes at a 1-year followup. *Behav Ther* (2003) 34(4):493–515. doi: 10.1016/S0005-7894(03)80032-1
- 42. Hudley C, Graham S. An attributional intervention to reduce peer-directed aggression among African-American boys. *Child Dev* (1993) 64(1):124–38. doi: 10.2307/1131441

- 43. Swearer SM, Espelage DL, Koenig B, Berry B, Collins A, Lembeck P. A socio-ecological model for bullying prevention and intervention in early adolescence. In: *Handbook of school violence and school safety: International research and practice, 2nd ed.* (New York: Routledge/Taylor & Francis Group) (2012). p. 338–60.
- Swearer SM, Hymel S. Understanding the psychology of bullying: Moving toward a social-ecological diathesis-stress model. *Am Psychol* (2015) 70 (4):344–53. doi: 10.1037/a0038929

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Leff, Waasdorp, Paskewich, Bevans and Winston. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bullying Perpetration and Narcissistic Personality Traits across Adolescence: Joint Trajectories and Childhood Risk Factors

Ann H. Farrell¹ and Tracy Vaillancourt^{1,2*}

¹ Counselling Psychology, Faculty of Education, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada, ² School of Psychology, Faculty of Social Sciences, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Objectives: Although there is some evidence on the longitudinal associations between bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits, their joint developmental trajectories across early to late adolescence are largely unknown. Accordingly, we examined the co-development of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits across adolescence and examined the childhood predictors of these joint trajectories.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

David Cohen, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, France

Reviewed by:

Nishant Goyal, Central Institute of Psychiatry, India Jean Marc Guile, University of Picardie Jules Verne, France

> *Correspondence: Tracy Vaillancourt tracy.vaillancourt@uottawa.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 05 July 2019 Accepted: 12 October 2020 Published: 10 November 2020

Citation:

Farrell AH and Vaillancourt T (2020) Bullying Perpetration and Narcissistic Personality Traits across Adolescence: Joint Trajectories and Childhood Risk Factors. Front. Psychiatry 11:483229. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.483229 **Method:** Self-reports of bullying and narcissistic personality traits were assessed across 6 years of adolescence from Grade 7 (i.e., age 13) to Grade 12 (i.e., age 18) in a sample of 616 Canadian adolescents and childhood predictors were assessed in Grades 5 and 6.

Results: As predicted, latent class growth analyses demonstrated that most adolescents were reflected in a trajectory of low decreasing bullying (82.0%) and a smaller group followed a moderate stable trajectory of bullying (18.0%). The majority of adolescents followed a moderate stable trajectory of narcissistic traits (56.3%), followed by a high increasing trajectory of narcissistic traits (22.8%), and a low decreasing trajectory of narcissistic traits (20.9%). Six percent of adolescents followed a high-risk dual trajectory of moderate stable bullying and high increasing narcissistic traits (high-risk group). Also as predicted, higher hyperactivity, higher frustration, and lower anxiety in childhood differentiated the high-risk group from a low-risk group (low decreasing bullying and low decreasing narcissistic traits; 19.0%). Higher childhood hyperactivity also differentiated a group of adolescents who followed a trajectory of moderate stable bullying and moderate stable narcissistic traits (10.0%) from the low-risk group. Results showed that moderate stable bullying was a better indicator of high increasing and moderate stable trajectories of narcissistic personality traits than the reverse.

Conclusions: Findings suggest adolescence is a time when personality and bullying reflect dynamic and heterogeneous development. Early intervention of childhood risk factors may help prevent a high-risk developmental course of bullying and narcissistic personality traits across adolescence.

Keywords: bullying, narcissistic personality traits, joint trajectory, hyperactivity, anxiety, frustration, adolescence

INTRODUCTION

Bullying is a significant social problem that affects up to 30% of youth and has demonstrated heterogeneous developmental pathways (1). Research from a person-centered approach has shown that the majority of youth follow a developmental trajectory pattern of low stable or decreasing bullying perpetration (approximately 42-87%), with a smaller proportion of youth following high or moderate stable or increasing trajectories [approximately 7-16% (2-5)]. Some researchers have also found evidence for a third and/or fourth group of youth following moderate stable or decreasing levels of bullying between the high and low groups [e.g., 11-35%; (4, 5)]. Identifying different subgroups of youth at risk for engaging in particular patterns of bullying can be helpful to tailor prevention and intervention efforts to adolescents. However, the joint trajectory patterns with individual differences are largely unknown. Developmental patterns of antisocial personality traits like narcissism could provide significant insight on the developmental course of bullying and youth that are at risk [e.g., (6, 7)]. Accordingly, the joint trajectories of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits and their childhood predictors were examined in this study.

Bullying is a behavior that is affected by developmental and social-ecological contextual processes. From a developmental framework, bullying is a form of aggressive behavior used by children and adolescents within a power imbalance to intentionally hurt others (8, 9). This behavior peaks between early to middle adolescence, a developmental period that coincides with important biological (i.e., puberty), cognitive, psychological, and social changes (9, 10). Bullying may be one means for youth to navigate and adapt to changes such as the transition to high school, increased number of peers, and growing interest in romantic partners (11, 12). Indeed, pure bullying perpetration (i.e., engaging in bullying, but not being victimized) has been associated with important social resources such as higher social status and peer-perceived popularity (5, 13-15), dominance [e.g., (16)], power [e.g., (15)], and a greater number of dating and/or sexual partners (17, 18). Bullying can also be considered a behavior influenced by ecological contextual processes, as not all individuals use bullying behavior.

According to the ecological theory (19, 20), there are multiple nested systems varying from proximate (e.g., individual characteristics, personality) to distal (e.g., community factors, culture) that can affect development. Personality traits are important individual characteristics reflecting ways of thinking and feeling that can influence adolescent bullying perpetration directly [e.g., (21)] and indirectly by working alongside broader ecological contexts at home, school, or in the community [e.g., (22, 23)]. Bullying perpetration has been concurrently associated with personality traits reflecting antisocial tendencies including higher levels of psychopathy-linked narcissism (24) and higher levels of narcissistic exploitation (6). Children and youth who have a tendency to be exploitative and have a sense of entitlement can intentionally harm peers who they feel that they have more power over. Tendencies to be exploitative could facilitate the pursuit of bullying over time to obtain status and resources that reinforce an inflated self-image [e.g., (25, 26)]. These crosssectional studies highlight the need for longitudinal research to determine the developmental course of antisocial personality traits alongside the development of bullying.

Personality traits are based in genetic variations, and across development, most individuals preserve their rank-order stability [i.e., rank from highest to lowest relative to all individuals (27)]. Personality research on adult samples also indicates that average levels of traits that reflect maturation such as agreeableness, conscientiousness, and emotional stability typically rise across the lifespan [e.g., (28)]. However, evidence suggests that adolescence is a developmental period when average levels of these three personality traits can drop as a result of biological, social, and psychological changes (29–31). Given the theoretical negative association between agreeableness and narcissism [e.g., (32, 33)], early adolescence is an ideal time to start examining the development of narcissism (31).

The development of moderate levels of narcissism are linked to a healthy self-worth and a positive self-concept, but higher levels of this trait reflect a sense of grandiosity, superiority, and entitlement (6, 33, 34). High levels of narcissism can also be characterized by a tendency to easily feel vulnerable and threatened when this self-view is challenged by others (25, 26, 35-37). Starting around age 8, children's developmentally normative tendencies to overestimate their own abilities begin to diminish, yet a desire for maintaining a positive self-view is evident (33, 38). During adolescence, there is some evidence suggesting variability in narcissism. In one longitudinal study, overall trends of mother-rated narcissism of children across 4 years starting at age 10 primarily reflected stability for the overall sample, but showed significant variability in individual growth trajectories [i.e., (39)]. Researchers have also begun to examine longitudinally narcissism with bullying perpetration. In one study based on a sample of youth between the ages of 11 and 13, Fanti and Henrich (34) found that baseline levels of higher narcissism and lower self-esteem predicted bullying perpetration across 1 year. In another study, Fanti and Kimonis (40) found that initial levels of narcissism were positively associated with high stable levels of bullying across 3 years of early to middle adolescence. These studies demonstrate that there can be variability in narcissism and its association with bullying but a more complete understanding of the temporal sequencing of narcissism and bullying across adolescence requires the examination of their joint trajectories.

To our knowledge, the joint trajectories of narcissism and bullying have been examined in only one study. In a sample of 393 youth followed annually across three waves starting at age 10, Reijntjes et al. (7) found four trajectory patterns of total bullying (i.e., composite of direct and indirect bullying). The majority of youth reflected a low stable pattern of bullying (37.2%), followed by an average stable pattern (27.8%), a moderate stable pattern (24.0%), and a high stable pattern (11.0%). Three trajectory groups of narcissism were found, with the largest being a medium stable group (46.8%), followed by a low stable group (43.5%), then a high stable group (9.4%). For each gender, the joint trajectories of narcissism with direct, indirect, and total bullying were examined. The majority of boys followed trajectory groups of low bullying, with low to medium narcissism (19–28% depending on the form of bullying examined), whereas the majority of girls followed trajectory groups of low bullying with low narcissism (26–42%). A small number of boys reflected high-risk joint trajectory patterns that followed high bullying and high narcissism (3–6%) and no girls followed high-risk joint trajectory patterns. In sum, Reijntjes et al. found that boys who followed the highest trajectory of narcissism were more likely to also follow a trajectory of high bullying; whereas boys following the high bullying trajectory were equally likely to follow the three narcissism trajectories. There were also a substantial number of boys who displayed high trajectories of bullying, but not narcissism. These findings suggest that high narcissism is one of many risk factors for bullying.

In the present study, we wanted to extend the study by Reijntjes et al. (7) by examining the joint developmental trajectories of bullying and narcissistic personality traits across a longer time span from early to late adolescence. Knowing the developmental pattern of narcissistic traits and bullying perpetration could help determine whether targeting cognitiveaffective processes associated with exploitative and entitled tendencies in narcissistic personality may help prevent future bullying perpetration. We also wanted to contribute novel findings regarding childhood psychological and emotional risk factors of the joint trajectories of bullying and narcissistic traits. By determining childhood predictors of high-risk joint trajectory patterns, early intervention could prevent psychological and emotional patterns from escalating into long-term bullying and narcissistic traits.

Our first objective was to examine the joint developmental trajectories of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits across 6 years of adolescence, starting from Grade 7 in Canada (i.e., age 13) followed annually until Grade 12 (i.e., age 18; end of high school). Based on previous studies, we predicted to find at least two trajectories of bullying perpetration, reflecting a low stable or decreasing trajectory group and a high stable or increasing trajectory group [e.g., (2, 4, 5, 22)]. We also predicted to find at least two trajectories of narcissistic traits, reflecting a low stable or decreasing trajectory group and a high stable or increasing trajectory group [e.g., (7)]. We were primarily interested in examining high-risk joint trajectory groups characterized by high bullying and high narcissistic personality traits, or moderate and/or high bullying and narcissistic personality traits. Our second objective was to examine the temporal pattern of these two trajectories. We expected that narcissistic personality traits would more readily predict bullying perpetration than the reverse given findings by Reijntjes et al. (7), but also expected that not all youth reflecting high trajectories of bullying would be high on narcissistic personality traits, as other factors could predict bullying.

To further differentiate the high-risk group from the low-risk group (low bullying perpetration and low narcissistic personality traits), our third objective was to examine childhood predictors of the joint trajectory groups assessed in Grade 5 (i.e., age 11) and Grade 6 (i.e., age 12). Childhood psychological and emotional variables that have previously been associated with bullying were examined including hyperactivity, anxiety, frustration, and empathic concern. Bullying has been associated with traits related to childhood impulsivity and a lack of inhibitory control or conscientiousness [e.g., (21, 41)]. Evidence also links bullying with lower emotional distress such as a lack of anxiety or fear [e.g., (42, 43)], and a lack of empathic concern for others (44, 45). Difficulty with emotion regulation such as suppressing anger or frustration has also been linked with bullying (46). We predicted that these childhood psychological and emotional risk factors would differentiate youth reflecting high-risk joint trajectory patterns from their peers found in a low-risk joint trajectory group.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

Participants were from the McMaster Teen Study, which is an ongoing cohort based longitudinal study on bullying, mental health, and academic achievement. In the spring of 2008, participants were recruited from 51 randomly selected primary schools from a school district in southern Ontario, Canada. Participants were in Grade 5 at Time 1 of the study and this cohort of individuals have been followed annually by the second author until Time 13, with data collection on-going. For the longitudinal study, 875 students agreed to participate, with 703 (80.6%) actually participating in at least one of the annual follow-ups from Time 2 (Grade 6) to Time 8 (Grade 12). In Grade 5, participants had a mean age of 10.91 years (SD = 0.36). Participants also had a median parent reported yearly household income of \$70,000-\$80,000 at Time 1, which was similar to that of the city of recruitment (\$76,222) and province (\$70,910; http://statscan.gc. ca). To be included in the current study, participants needed to have data from at least one time point across Grade 7 to Grade 12, as these were the time points available for the variables of interest for the latent class growth models. For this analytic sample, data from Grades 5 and 6 were used as predictors of the latent class growth trajectories. This led to a final analytic sample of 616 participants (87.6% of longitudinal sample; 54.2% girls). The majority of participants were White (76.1%), had a median parent reported household income of more than \$80,000, and a median completed parent education level of college diploma or trades certificate.

Procedure

Study approval was obtained from the relevant school board. At Time 1, when participants were in Grade 5, they completed measures using paper and pencil in classrooms. In subsequent time points, each year participants had the option of completing either a paper/pencil or online version of measures in their homes. Parents of participants were interviewed over the telephone by a research assistant. Every year, parental consent and youth assent forms were collected [see (47) for additional details regarding procedure]. Ethics approval was obtained from the associated university ethics councils.
Measures

Trajectories From Grade 7 to Grade 12 *Bullying*

Bullying perpetration was assessed with five self-report items from an adapted version of the widely used Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire (1, 8). Participants were first provided with a definition of bullying followed by the question, "Since the start of the school year (September), how often have you taken part in bullying another student?" The remaining questions assessed specific forms of bullying including physical, verbal, social and cyber bullying. A five-point scale was used to assess each item (0 = not at all to 4 = many times a week), and all items were averaged to form a composite for each grade. Higher scores indicated higher bullying perpetration. The Cronbach's alphas were 0.72 in Grade 7, 0.78 in Grade 8, 0.77 in Grade 9, 0.77 in Grade 10, 0.81 in Grade 11 and 0.80 in Grade 12.

Narcissistic personality traits

Narcissistic personality traits were assessed using 10 items from the Narcissistic Personality Questionnaire-Revised [NPQ-R; (48)]. This measure was developed using the Narcissistic Personality Inventory as a framework [NPI; (49, 50)]. The NPI is the most commonly used scale to assess trait narcissism in nonclinical adult samples and was developed based on the criteria for narcissistic personality disorder (51, 52). Unlike other youth measures of narcissistic personality, which were designed for higher risk youth including juvenile offenders, the NPQ-R was created to assess maladaptive trait narcissism in communitybased non-clinical samples of youth.

Although this measure was developed using an Asian youth sample (ages 12–19), it has been validated in North American samples (53, 54). An example of an item includes, "I can make people believe anything I want them to." A five-point scale was used to assess each item (0 = not at all true of me to 4 = very true of me), and all items were averaged to form a composite for each grade. Higher scores indicated higher narcissistic personality traits. The Cronbach's alphas were 0.78 in Grade 7, 0.80 in Grade 8, 0.81 in Grade 9, 0.81 in Grade 10, 0.81 in Grade 11 and 0.81 in Grade 12.

Childhood Predictors Assessed at Grade 5 and Grade 6

Emotional and psychological variables

All childhood variables were assessed in Grade 5 and Grade 6. Childhood psychological variables included hyperactivity and anxiety and were assessed using the Self-Report of Personality (SRP) form of the Behavior Assessment System for Children-2 [BASC-2; (55)]. Both hyperactivity and anxiety were comprised of items that were assessed on either a four-point scale (0 = never to 3 = almost always) or a dichotomous response (0 = false and 2 = true). Hyperactivity was comprised of eight items and a sample includes, "I often do things without thinking." Anxiety was comprised of 13 items, but one item was omitted at the request of the school board, resulting in 12 items. A sample item includes, "I worry about little things." Items were reverse coded where appropriate and summed for each grade adjusting for missing items (55). The Cronbach's alpha reliabilities for

hyperactivity were 0.79 in Grade 5 and 0.80 in Grade 6. The scores for Grade 5 and Grade 6 were then averaged to create a composite hyperactivity score (r = 0.51, p < 0.001). The alpha reliabilities for anxiety were 0.88 in Grade 5 and 0.86 in Grade 6. The scores for Grade 5 and Grade 6 were then averaged to create a composite anxiety score (r = 0.51, p < 0.001). Higher values indicated higher hyperactivity and anxiety, respectively.

Childhood emotional variables included frustration and empathic concern. Frustration was assessed with seven items from the Early Adolescent Temperament Questionnaire-Revised (EATQ-R) self-report (56, 57). A sample item includes, "It really annoys me to wait in long lines." Each item was rated on a fivepoint scale (0 = very false and 4 = very true) and averaged to create a composite for each grade. Empathic concern was assessed with seven items from the Interpersonal Reactivity Index selfreport [IRI; (58)]. A sample item includes, "I am a person who cares about the feelings of others." Each item was rated on a fivepoint scale (0 = not at all like me and 4 = always like me) and averaged to create a composite for each grade. The Cronbach's alpha reliabilities for frustration were 0.83 in Grade 5 and 0.79 in Grade 6. The scores for Grade 5 and Grade 6 were then averaged to create a composite frustration score (r = 0.33, p <0.001). The Cronbach's alpha reliabilities for empathic concern were 0.85 in Grades 5 and 6. The scores for Grade 5 and Grade 6 were then averaged to create a composite score (r = 0.52, p <0.001). Higher values indicated higher frustration and empathic concern, respectively.

Demographic variables

Demographic variables assessed at Time 1 were biological sex, race/ethnicity, household income, and parent education. Due to the small number of races reported, race was recoded into White (83.0%) or non-White (17.0%). Household income was reported by parents using an eight-point scale ($1 \le \$19,999$; 2 = \$20,000-29,999; 3 = \$30,000-39,999; 4 = \$40,000-49,999; 5 = \$50,000-59,999; 6 = \$60,000-69,999; 7 = \$70,000-\$79,999; $8 \ge \$80,000$) and highest level of completed education was reported by parents using a five-point scale (1 = did not complete high school; 2 = high school; 3 = college diploma or trades certificate; 4 = university undergraduate degree; 5 = university graduate degree).

Analytic Plan

Using MPlus version 7.4 (59), semi-parametric group-based methods were estimated through latent class growth analysis. With this procedure, the number and shapes of trajectories of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits across Grade 7 to Grade 12 were examined and posterior probabilities were used to identify the probability of each participant belonging to a particular trajectory group. Full information maximum likelihood estimation was used to deal with missing values. The best fitting model was determined by examining the Bayesian information criterion [BIC; (60)], the Lo-Mendell-Rubin likelihood ratio test [LMR-LRT; (61)], the bootstrapped likelihood ratio test [BLRT; (62)], and entropy. Lower values for the BIC indicate a more parsimonious model. A lower LMR-LRT and a significant BLRT indicates that the solution is a better fit than the model with one less group. Finally, entropy ranges from

0 to 1, with values closer to 1 indicating a better fit (63-65). The final selected model was also examined for theoretical and conceptual clarity. Starting values were increased to STARTS = 200 40 and LRTSTARTS = 0 0 500 200 to prevent local solutions (63). The OPTSEED function was also used to ensure that estimates were replicated. Up to four classes were tested for both bullying and narcissistic personality traits, and the best fitting univariate trajectories were used to examine the joint trajectory models. Once the final models were selected, group membership was saved and imported into SPSS for each latent class growth trajectory process (bullying perpetration, narcissistic personality traits, and joint) to allow for examining group predictors.

Before examining the significant childhood predictors of the trajectory groups, all predictors were standardized. Participants had to have data on predictors either in Grade 5 or Grade 6 and if data were available for both grades, a mean score was computed. The core analysis involved a series of multinomial logistic regression models conducted in SPSS with the saved trajectory groups and therefore participants had to have data on trajectory groups and predictors. For each latent class growth trajectory process (bullying perpetration, narcissistic personality traits, and joint), in the first series of multinomial logistic regression models, only the demographic variables were simultaneously entered as predictor variables of group membership. This was followed by a second separate series of multinomial logistic regression models which included only the childhood emotional and psychological variables entered simultaneously as predictor variables of group membership in each latent class growth trajectory process. For the univariate trajectory groups (bullying, narcissistic personality traits), the low group was selected a priori as the reference group and contrasts between high and/or moderate groups were conducted. For the joint trajectory groups (i.e., bullying and narcissistic personality traits), we were mainly interested in the groups characterized by trajectories that were high or moderate on both bullying and narcissistic personality traits (i.e., highrisk groups). Therefore, we specified three contrasts a priori and these were the only contrasts tested: (a) high bullying/high narcissistic personality traits vs. low/low (i.e., low-risk group), (b) moderate bullying/moderate narcissistic personality traits vs. low/low, and (c) high bullying/high narcissistic personality traits vs. moderate bullying/moderate narcissistic personality traits. The Benjamini-Hochberg (BH) correction was separately applied to each multinomial regression model to control for Type 1 error in multiple testing (66). For the final set of multinomial logistic regression models, all demographic, emotional, and psychological predictors were entered simultaneously for each trajectory process.

RESULTS

Missing Data

The analytic sample varied slightly based on whether bullying or narcissism was available across Grades 7 to 12. The trajectory analysis for bullying included 616 participants and the trajectory analysis for narcissistic personality traits included 615 participants. For the dual trajectory, the analytic sample included 616 participants. The analytic sample was compared against the other participants in the longitudinal portion of the study (i.e., non-analytic sample) on the demographic variables using chi-square tests for sex and race, and *t*-tests for household income, parent education, and the childhood predictors (i.e., Grade 5 and 6 composites). Compared to the non-analytic sample, participants in the analytic sample were more likely to be White, have a higher household income, and have a higher level of completed parental education (all p < 0.001).

Descriptive Statistics

Means and standard deviations of bullying and narcissistic personality traits across Grades 7–12 overall and by sex are shown in **Table 1**. All variables demonstrated acceptable skewness and kurtosis values except for bullying in Grades 9, 11, and 12, which had kurtosis values exceeding 10, and also had extreme univariate outliers (67). Winsorizing these univariate outliers allowed us to preserve rank-ordering of these individuals, reduce the skewness and kurtosis values of the variables, and reduce the impact of these individuals on the distribution of the variables (68). Overall means revealed that bullying and narcissistic personality traits were stable as they both had significant positive intercepts, but no significant slope or quadratic terms (p > 0.05). There were no significant sex differences in the bullying variables, but narcissistic personality trait scores were significantly higher among boys than girls at all time points except Grade 7.

Bullying and narcissistic personality traits had significant small to moderate correlations in all grades except for Grade 9 (r = 0.12 in Grade 7, r = 0.11 in Grade 8, r = 0.10 in Grade 10, r = 0.20 in Grade 11, and r = 0.12 in Grade 12). Bullying perpetration and narcissitic personality traits were also stable across each adjacent time point (bullying: r = 0.54 - 0.60; narcissism: r = 0.50 - 0.74). The means and standard deviations for the childhood predictor variables before standardizing for the primary analyses were as follows: hyperactivity, M = 5.39, SD = 3.66, anxiety, M = 9.09, SD = 5.53, frustration: M = 2.20, SD = 0.72, empathic concern: M = 2.73, SD = 0.61, household income, M = 6.26, SD = 2.25, and parental education, M = 3.20, SD = 1.00.

Developmental Trajectories Bullying Perpetration

The two-group solution was chosen as the final model (see Table 2 and Figure 1). Although the two-group solution had a higher BIC than the three-group solution, it was lower than the one-group solution. The entropy value for the two-group solution was also good and the same in value as the threegroup solution. However, the BLRT and LMR-LRT values were significant for the two-group solution. The three- and four- group solutions did not add theoretically meaningful information. The majority of participants reflected a trajectory that started with low bullying perpetration and decreased over time (low decreasing; 82.0%, n = 505; 235 boys, 270 girls; intercept = 0.166, p < 0.001; slope = -0.034, p < 0.001; quadratic = 0.002,p = 0.139). A smaller number of the remaining participants reflected a trajectory of moderate predominately stable bullying perpetration over time, but with a slightly lower level of bullying toward the end of high school (moderate stable; 18.0%, n =111; 47 boys, 64 girls; intercept = 0.619, p < 0.001; slope =

	Analyti sample range	e	Bo	bys	Gi	irls	Test	Το	otal
	Min	Мах	М	SD	М	SD	t	М	SD
Bullying perpe	etration								
Grade 7	0.00	2.20	0.23	0.31	0.23	0.35	0.02	0.23	0.33
Grade 8	0.00	2.40	0.30	0.40	0.27	0.39	0.87	0.28	0.39
Grade 9	0.00	3.20	0.22	0.41	0.21	0.33	0.55	0.21	0.36
Grade 10	0.00	2.40	0.17	0.27	0.18	0.33	-0.39	0.18	0.31
Grade 11	0.00	2.40	0.15	0.28	0.17	0.33	-0.56	0.16	0.30
Grade 12	0.00	3.40	0.16	0.34	0.15	0.27	0.41	0.15	0.30
Narcissistic p	ersonality traits	;							
Grade 7	0.00	3.90	2.16	0.61	2.08	0.66	1.49	2.11	0.64
Grade 8	0.00	4.00	2.19	0.63	2.03	0.68	2.77**	2.10	0.66
Grade 9	0.00	3.90	2.21	0.62	1.98	0.71	3.85***	2.08	0.68
Grade 10	0.10	4.00	2.23	0.63	1.99	0.72	3.71***	2.09	0.69
Grade 11	0.00	3.90	2.20	0.60	2.02	0.70	2.87**	2.10	0.66
Grade 12	0.20	4.00	2.24	0.61	2.05	0.66	3.13**	2.13	0.65

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics for joint trajectory variables.

Descriptive statistics are based on analytic sample N = 616; Sex coded as 0 = boys, and 1 = girls.

**p < 0.01.

***p < 0.001.

 TABLE 2 | Fit indices for latent class trajectory models for bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits.

No. of groups	BIC	LMR-LRT	BLRT	Entropy
Bullying perpetra	ation			
1 Class	1,538.881	NA	NA	NA
2 Class	543.949	0.0003	< 0.0001	0.887
3 Class	383.820	0.1935	< 0.0001	0.887
4 Class	222.736	0.1617	< 0.0001	0.867
Narcissistic pers	onality traits			
1 Class	5,847.648	NA	NA	NA
2 Class	5,080.095	0.0001	< 0.0001	0.712
3 Class	4,763.161	0.0011	< 0.0001	0.746
4 Class	4 Class 4,653.383		<0.0001	0.736

BIC, Bayesian information criterion; LMR-LRT, Lo-Mendell-Rubin likelihood ratio test; BLRT, bootstrapped likelihood ratio test.

0.051, p = 0.154; quadratic = -0.016, p = 0.012). Participants were well-identified within their trajectory group as the posterior probabilities were 0.97 for the low decreasing group and 0.94 for the moderate stable group.

Narcissistic Personality Traits

The three-group solution was chosen as the final model (see **Table 2** and **Figure 2**). Although the three-group solution had a higher BIC than the four-group solution, it was lower than the two-group solution. The entropy value for the three-group solution was better than the other solutions. The BLRT and LMR-LRT values were also significant for the three-group solution.

The four-group solution did not add any theoretically meaningful information. The majority of participants reflected a trajectory that was moderate on narcissistic personality traits over time (moderate stable; 56.3%, n = 346; 159 boys, 187 girls; intercept = 2.078, p < 0.001; slope = 0.014, p = 0.654; quadratic =-0.002, p = 0.654). The next largest group of participants reflected a trajectory that started with high narcissistic traits and predominately increased over time with a slight decrease at the end of high school (high increasing; 22.8%, n = 140; 78 boys, 62 girls; intercept = 2.640, p < 0.001; slope = 0.105, p =0.003; quadratic = -0.014, p = 0.046). The smallest group of participants reflected a trajectory that started with low narcissistic traits and predominately decreased over time with a slightly higher level toward the end of high school (low decreasing; 20.9%, n = 129; 44 boys, 85 girls; intercept = 1.639, p < 0.001; slope = -0.248, p < 0.001; quadratic = 0.039, p < 0.001). Participants were well-identified within their trajectory group as the posterior probabilities were 0.88 for the moderate stable group, 0.87 for the high increasing group, and 0.88 for the low decreasing group.

Joint Trajectories of Bullying Perpetration and Narcissism

There were six possible joint trajectory groups (2×3) with distinct developmental patterns of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits. The top section of **Table 3** reflects the proportion of participants in each group. The majority of participants reflected a joint trajectory pattern of low decreasing bullying and moderate stable narcissistic traits (46%, n = 284; 136 boys, 148 girls). The next largest group of participants reflected patterns of low decreasing trajectories of both bullying



FIGURE 1 | Developmental trajectories of bullying perpetration. Bully, bullying perpetration; G, grade.



and narcissistic traits (low-risk; 19%, n = 115; 39 boys, 76 girls). The third largest group of participants reflected low decreasing bullying and high increasing narcissistic traits (17%, n = 106; 60 boys, 46 girls). Another 10% of the sample reflected trajectories of moderate stable bullying and moderate stable narcissistic traits (n = 63; 24 boys, 39 girls). The second smallest group of participants reflected joint trajectory patterns of moderate stable bullying and high increasing narcissistic traits (6%, n = 34; 18 boys, 16 girls) and the smallest group of participants reflected moderate stable bullying and low decreasing narcissistic traits (2%, n = 14; 5 boys, 9 girls). Therefore, the group reflecting moderate stable bullying and moderate stable narcissistic traits and the group reflecting moderate stable bullying and high increasing narcissistic traits and the group reflecting moderate stable bullying and high increasing narcissistic traits were considered the two high-risk groups. Participants were

well-identified within their trajectory group as the posterior probabilities for all joint trajectory groups were >0.81.

The bottom section of **Table 3** shows the conditional probabilities of the trajectories of bullying as a function of the trajectories of narcissistic traits, and the conditional probabilities of the trajectories of narcissistic traits as a function of the trajectories of bullying. These results suggest that a trajectory of moderate bullying was a slightly better indicator of moderate (0.57) or high (0.32) narcissistic traits than low narcissistic traits (0.11), whereas a trajectory of low bullying was a better indicator of moderate narcissistic traits (0.54) than low (0.24) and high (0.22) narcissistic traits. In contrast, all three trajectory groups of narcissistic personality traits were better indicators of low bullying than moderate bullying.

TABLE 3 Joint and conditional probabilities of bullying perpetration and	
narcissistic personality traits.	

	Narcissistic personality traits							
Bullying perpetration	High increasing	Moderate stable	Low decreasing					
Probabilities of joint traj membership ^a	ectory							
Moderate stable	0.06 (n = 34)	0.10 (<i>n</i> = 63)	0.02 (<i>n</i> = 14)					
Low decreasing	0.17 (<i>n</i> = 106)	0.46 (n = 284)	0.19 (n = 115)					
Probabilities of bullying on narcissistic traits ^b	conditional							
Moderate stable	0.26	0.20	0.10					
Low decreasing	0.74	0.80	0.90					
Probabilities of narcissis conditional on bullying ^c	stic traits							
Moderate stable	0.32	0.57	0.11					
Low decreasing	0.22	0.54	0.24					

^aCells total 1.

^bColumns total 1.

^cRows total 1.

Childhood Predictors of Trajectory Group Membership

We examined whether there were significant differences in the proportion of boys and girls within each of the trajectory groups. There were no significant differences in boys and girls in the bullying groups, $\chi^2(1) = 0.64$, p = 0.442, but there was a significant difference in boys and girls in the narcissistic traits groups, $\chi^2(2) = 12.65$, p = 0.002, and in the joint trajectory groups, $\chi^2(5) = 14.81$, p =0.011. There were significantly more girls (65.9%) than boys (34.1%) in the low decreasing narcissistic traits group, and more boys (55.7%) than girls (44.3%) in the high increasing narcissistic traits group. There were significantly more boys (56.6%) than girls (43.4%) in the joint trajectory group of low decreasing bullying and high increasing narcissistic traits, and more girls (66.1%) than boys (33.9%) in the joint trajectory group of low decreasing bullying and low decreasing narcissistic traits.

Contrasts for bullying groups are displayed in **Table 4**. The model with childhood demographic variables demonstrated that no demographic factors significantly differentiated the bullying groups. The model with childhood emotional and psychological variables indicated that higher hyperactivity significantly differentiated the moderate stable bullying perpetration group from the low decreasing bullying group, and this effect remained significant after the BH correction. When demographic, emotional, and psychological predictors were entered simultaneously, higher hyperactivity significantly differentiated the moderate group from the low group (OR = 1.463, 95% *CI* [1.122, 1.907], p = 0.005). Contrasts for

narcissistic traits groups are displayed in Table 4. The model with childhood demographic variables demonstrated that sex significantly differentiated the high increasing narcissistic traits group from the low decreasing narcissistic traits group, with boys being more likely to predict membership in the high increasing group. This is consistent with results when examining the proportion of boys and girls in each trajectory group. The model with childhood emotional and psychological variables indicated that lower anxiety and higher frustration significantly differentiated the high increasing narcissistic traits group from the low decreasing narcissistic traits group. Lower anxiety also significantly differentiated the moderate stable group from the low decreasing group. All effects remained statistically significant after the BH correction. When all predictors were entered simultaneously, lower anxiety significantly differentiated the high (OR = 0.552, 95% CI [0.393, 0.774], p = 0.001) and moderate (OR = 0.737, 95% CI [0.563, 0.965], p = 0.026) narcissistic traits groups from the low group. Additionally, being a boy (OR = 0.513, 95% CI [0.290, 0.908], p = 0.022) and higher frustration (OR = 1.406, 95% CI [1.011, 1.954], p = 0.043) significantly differentiated the high group from the low group.

For the joint trajectory group contrasts, the groups were first recoded into two dependent variables to allow for contrasting only the groups of interest. In the first dependent variable, the moderate bullving/moderate narcissistic traits group was coded as 1 (high-risk group 1), the moderate/high group was coded as 2 (high-risk group 2), and the low/low group was coded as 3 (lowrisk comparison group). In the second dependent variable, the moderate/high group was coded as 1 and the moderate/moderate group was coded as 2, with the latter group assigned as the comparison group. Contrasts for joint trajectory groups are displayed in Table 5. The model with childhood demographic variables demonstrated that no demographic factors significantly differentiated any of the groups. The model with childhood emotional and psychological variables indicated that higher hyperactivity, lower anxiety, and higher frustration significantly differentiated the moderate bullying and high narcissistic traits group from the low-risk group, whereas higher hyperactivity and lower empathic concern significantly differentiated the moderate bullying and moderate narcissistic traits group from the lowrisk group. None of the variables significantly differentiated the two high-risk groups from one another. All effects remained statistically significant after the BH correction, except for the effect of empathic concern. When all predictors were entered simultaneously, lower anxiety significantly differentiated the moderate bullying and high narcissistic traits group from the low-risk group (OR = 0.508, 95% *CI* [0.278, 0.927], *p* = 0.027). In addition, higher hyperactivity (OR = 1.620, 95% CI [1.048, 2.504], p = 0.030) and lower empathic concern (OR = 0.636, 95% CI [0.426, 0.950], p = 0.027) significantly differentiated the moderate bullying and moderate narcissistic traits group from the low-risk group. Considering Chen et al.'s (69) criteria for effect sizes of odds ratios (i.e., small = 1.68, medium = 3.47, large = 6.71), all significant odds ratios reflected small effect sizes.

TABLE 4 | Multinomial logistic regression of childhood variables predicting trajectory groups of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits.

	Trajec	ctory group contrasts of bullying
	Mode	erate stable vs. low decreasing
	OR	95% CI
Demographic variables		
Sex	1.286	[0.811, 2.039]
Race	1.370	[0.742, 2.529]
Household income	0.888	[0.698, 1.129]
Parent education	0.997	[0.782, 1.272]
Psychological and emotional variables		
Hyperactivity	1.570*	[1.240,1.987]
Anxiety	1.085	[0.839, 1.404]
Frustration	1.200	[0.915, 1.573]
Empathic concern	0.808	[0.645, 1.012]

	Trajectory group contrasts of narcissistic personality traits								
	High	increasing vs. low decreasing	Moderate stable vs. low decre						
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI					
Demographic variables									
Sex	0.435*	[0.255, 0.742]	0.642	[0.405, 1.020]					
Race	1.336	[0.598, 2.985]	1.527	[0.773, 3.016]					
Household income	1.258	[0.942, 1.679]	1.135	[0.898, 1.435]					
Parent education	1.302	[0.980, 1.730]	1.185	[0.930, 1.511]					
Psychological and emotional variables									
Hyperactivity	1.224	[0.914, 1.634]	1.073	[0.836, 1.378]					
Anxiety	0.478*	[0.349, 0.655]	0.682*	[0.534, 0.871]					
Frustration	1.519*	[1.128, 2.046]	1.116	[0.874, 1.424]					
Empathic concern	1.053	[0.803, 1.380]	0.897	[0.715, 1.124]					

Sex coded as 0 = boys and 1 = girls. Low decreasing trajectory group was comparison group for all contrasts.

*p < 0.05.

DISCUSSION

The joint developmental trajectories of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits were examined across 6 years of adolescence from Grade 7 to the end of high school in Grade 12. We extended Reijntjes et al.'s (7) findings by examining these joint trajectories across a longer time span starting from early to late adolescence and examining childhood predictors of the trajectories.

Trajectories of Bullying Perpetration and Narcissistic Personality Traits

When examining trajectories of bullying perpetration alone, we found the predicted two group solution. The majority of youth reflected a low decreasing bullying trajectory (82.0%). Although the second group was higher on bullying than the low group, mean levels across the time points reflected a moderate stable trajectory (18.0%). These two groups are generally consistent with previous findings on trajectories of bullying [e.g., (2, 4, 5, 22)]. Bullying appears to be a developmentally salient form of aggressive behavior that is prevalent during the transition from

early to middle adolescence as adolescents attempt to navigate social networks (9-11). The small number of youth engaging in continued moderate levels of bullying indicates that individual development can be dependent on transactions with multiple ecological contexts for some adolescents, with one of these contexts being individual differences in narcissistic personality traits [e.g., (19)].

When examining trajectories of narcissistic personality traits alone, we found three trajectory groups. The majority of participants reflected a trajectory of moderate stable narcissistic personality traits (56.3%), with the remaining youth split across the predicted low decreasing (20.9%) and high increasing (22.8%) groups. The moderate stable trajectory group indicates that the majority of youth reflect a generally positive and realistic selfconcept. The high increasing group reflects a smaller proportion of adolescents who begin to display rising levels of grandiosity, superiority, and exploitative tendencies (6, 34, 38). Researchers have noted that despite theoretical proposals, there has yet to be much empirical evidence for mean level increases in narcissism during adolescence (70). One reason that we may have found significant changes in narcissistic personality traits is that we had TABLE 5 | Multinomial logistic regression of childhood variables predicting joint trajectory groups of bullying perpetration and narcissistic personality traits.

	Joint trajectory group contrasts									
	MB/H	N vs. LB/LN ^b	MB/M	IN vs. LB/LN ^b	MB/HN vs. MB/MN					
	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI	OR	95% CI				
Demographic variables										
Sex	0.545	[0.234, 1.269]	0.949	[0.461, 1.954]	0.550	[0.211, 1.433]				
Race	1.994	[0.593, 6.707]	1.937	[0.718, 5.231]	1.042	[0.280, 3.882]				
Household income	1.456	[0.852, 2.487]	0.833	[0.575, 1.209]	1.785	[0.980, 3.251]				
Parent education	1.204	[0.758, 1.912]	1.262	[0.853, 1.868]	0.885	[0.520, 1.504]				
Psychological and emotional variables										
Hyperactivity	1.686*	[1.067, 2.665]	1.567*	[1.069, 2.297]	1.090	[0.639, 1.859]				
Anxiety	0.466*	[0.266, 0.818]	0.831	[0.555, 1.245]	0.573	[0.314, 1.048]				
Frustration	1.987*	[1.115, 3.540]	1.382 [0.883, 2.164]		1.468	[0.742, 2.901]				
Empathic concern	1.050	[0.665, 1.658]	0.684ª	[0.479, 0.976]	1.461	[0.914, 2.335]				

MB/HN, moderate stable bullying/high increasing narcissistic personality traits; LB/LN, low decreasing bullying/low decreasing narcissistic personality traits; MB/MN, moderate stable bullying/moderate stable narcissistic personality traits; sex coded as 0 = boys and 1 = girls.

^aNon-significant after Benjamini–Hochberg correction.

^bLB/LN was comparison group in contrast.

^cMB/MN was comparison group in contrast.

*p < 0.05.

twice the number of assessment periods compared to Reijntjes et al. (7). The six assessment periods allowed for the examination of quadratic change across the full range of adolescence, which is difficult to identify with three assessment occasions. The trajectories of narcissistic traits found in our study support adolescence as an important period of personality variability and development (29–31, 38, 39, 71). This assertion was further evident in our joint trajectory findings.

Of the six possible joint trajectory groups, our primary interest was in adolescents comprising the groups deemed to follow highrisk dual trajectories. We found that 6% of adolescents reflected a trajectory pattern of moderate stable bullying and high increasing narcissistic personality traits and 10% of adolescents reflected a trajectory pattern of moderate stable bullying and moderate stable narcissistic personality traits. We also found that 19% of adolescents reflected a trajectory pattern of low-risk (i.e., low stable bullying and narcissistic traits). These prevalence rates are somewhat consistent with findings by Reijntjes et al. (7) who found that depending on the form of bullying (i.e., indirect or direct), 3–6% of adolescent boys reflected trajectories of high bullying and high narcissism and 19-42% of adolescent boys and girls reflected low-risk joint trajectories.

The trajectory of moderate bullying was a better indicator of moderate or high narcissistic traits than the reverse. All three trajectories of narcissistic traits were better indicators of low bullying rather than moderate bullying. Only 2% of adolescents were moderate on bullying and low on narcissistic traits whereas 17% of adolescents were high on narcissistic traits and low on bullying. These results were in contrast to our predictions and findings by Reijntjes et al. (7) as these researchers found that boys who displayed high narcissism were more likely to follow trajectories of high bullying, whereas boys who displayed high bullying were equally likely to follow the three narcissism trajectories. It is possible that our findings were due to the low frequency of moderate bullying relative to low bullying and can also suggest that bullying is one of many behavioral manifestations of adolescent narcissistic personality traits [e.g., (13, 15, 25, 34)]. Further differences in these trajectory groups are evident in childhood predictors.

Psychological and Emotional Predictors of Trajectory Groups

For the individual trajectories of bullying perpetration, hyperactivity was the only significant predictor. Youth demonstrating moderate stable bullying seem to have difficulty regulating behavior, with one form of behavior being bullying [e.g., (21, 41)]. For the individual trajectories of narcissistic personality traits, lower anxiety and higher frustration significantly differentiated membership in the high increasing group from the low decreasing group, and lower anxiety significantly differentiated membership in the moderate stable group from the low decreasing group. Our findings with anxiety have previously been supported and indicate that children who are less worried about, sensitive to, or fearful of others can be higher on narcissism [e.g., (72, 73)]. The finding with frustration has been supported in evidence linking characteristics of adolescent psychopathy, a correlate of narcissism, with lower agreeableness [e.g., (32, 74, 75)]. Youth who are easily frustrated and irritated by others could develop a sense of superiority over these peers. Sex significantly differentiated the group characterized by high increasing narcissistic traits from the group characterized by low decreasing narcissistic traits, with more boys than girls in the high group. Researchers have previously found gender differences in meta-analyses regarding some aspects and forms of narcissism but not others (76).

Childhood hyperactivity differentiated both of the highrisk joint trajectory groups from the low-risk joint trajectory group and had the largest effect relative to the other childhood predictors. Childhood anxiety and frustration also differentiated the group reflecting moderate stable bullying and high increasing narcissistic traits from the group reflecting lowrisk patterns. Empathic concern additionally differentiated the group reflecting moderate stable bullying and moderate stable narcissistic traits from the group reflecting low-risk patterns prior to correcting for multiple testing, and remained significant when all childhood predictors were entered simultaneously. Previously, lower anxiety has been associated with higher antisocial tendencies including callous-unemotional traits, which could indicate lower sensitivity or care for others and a lack of fear for negative consequences [e.g., (77, 78)]. In addition to low anxiety, difficulty regulating behavioral impulses (i.e., hyperactivity), potentially during frustrating interactions with peers, could also contribute to youth developing increasing feelings of superiority and entitlement over peers. Accordingly, a moderate stable trajectory of bullying perpetration can be a behavioral indication of these early risk factors. Engaging in bullying within the context of a power imbalance is likely to further reinforce the development of superior, entitled, and narcissistic self-perceptions across adolescence. Finally, despite significant differences in the proportion of boys and girls in the low-risk group (i.e., more girls than boys), the demographic variables did not significantly differentiate the joint trajectory groups, indicating that groups were relatively similar across sex, race, and socioeconomic status.

Limitations

There were some limitations to this study. First, all measures were self-report and subject to shared-method variance. The inclusion of additional informants such as peer-rated bullying may help reduces these biases [e.g., (79)]. However, selfreports can be valid in revealing underlying motivations of bullying perpetration that are not as easily assessed by observers (80). Second, the joint trajectory design allowed for examining the dynamics between narcissistic traits and bullying, but did not allow us to know if one causes the other. It is also possible that psychological and emotional difficulties are outcomes of the joint trajectory groups. Third, although our sample size was large, it resulted in some joint trajectory groups having smaller cell sizes. This could have underpowered our ability to find effects with our high-risk groups (n = 34 for the group reflecting moderate bullying and high narcissistic traits, and n = 63 for the group reflecting moderate bullying and moderate narcissistic traits). We also did not find a high bullying trajectory group which could have been a result of participants underreporting bullying perpetration when using self-reports. Larger sample sizes could help increase the ability to further identify individuals at-risk. Fourth, we used the Narcissistic Personality Questionnaire-Revised to assess narcissistic personality traits, which includes exploitation and superiority subscales (48). Reijntjes et al. (7) used the Childhood Narcissism Scale (33), which assesses a general construct of narcissism, and other researchers such as Fanti and Kimonis (40) have used the Antisocial Process Screening Device, which captures narcissism that co-occurs with psychopathic traits and was designed for higher-risk samples including juvenile offenders (81). We are unable to make direct comparisons of our conclusions on narcissistic traits and bullying with previous researchers' findings because we used a different measure. Researchers can investigate whether results are replicated across measures.

Implications and Conclusions

Our findings provide support for the developmental and ecological frameworks of bullying and provide several novel contributions. First, our results revealed that a small proportion of individuals who continue to use bullying across adolescence were likely to also demonstrate high increasing or moderate and stable narcissistic personality traits. This finding suggests that addressing cognitions and attitudes related to entitlement, superiority, and exploitation can help reduce bullying behavior. Second, we found significant changes in the high increasing and low decreasing trajectories of narcissistic personality traits. Adolescence has been suggested to be an important developmental period for personality development, yet limited empirical evidence demonstrates these mean level changes [e.g., (31, 70)]. Our findings support adolescence as a malleable developmental period for narcissistic personality traits. Fourth, our results indicate that childhood psychological and emotional characteristics can predict high-risk trajectories of adolescent bullying and narcissistic traits. Intervening early signs of difficulty with behavioral and emotion regulation and a lack of sensitivity or care for others may be key methods of preventing the development of bullying and narcissistic traits in the long-term. Additional longitudinal studies examining the development of bullying and narcissistic traits can further help reveal developmental continuity and change across the lifespan, important predictors and outcomes, and critical periods for intervention.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the McMaster University Research Ethics Board and the University of Ottawa Office of Research Ethics and Integrity. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AF and TV created the current study idea. AF performed the statistical analyses and drafted the manuscript. TV is the principal investigator of the broader longitudinal study and also helped draft the manuscript. All authors contributed to the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was supported by grants to TV from the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada

REFERENCES

- Vaillancourt T, Trinh V, McDougall P, Duku E, Cunningham L, Cunningham C, et al. Optimizing population screening of bullying in school-aged children. *J Sch Viol.* (2010) 9:233–50. doi: 10.1080/15388220.2010.483182
- Barker ED, Arseneault L, Brendgen M, Fontaine N, Maughan B. Joint development of bullying and victimization in adolescence: relations to delinquency and self-harm. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2008) 47:1030–8. doi: 10.1097/CHI.ObO13e31817eec98
- Haltigan JD, Vaillancourt T. Joint trajectories of bullying and peer victimization across elementary and middle school and associations with symptoms of psychopathology. *Dev Psychol.* (2014) 50:2426–36. doi: 10.1037/a0038030
- Pepler D, Jiang D, Craig W, Connolly J. Developmental trajectories of bullying and associated factors. *Child Dev.* (2008) 79:325–38. doi: 10.1111/j.14678624.2007.01128.x
- Reijntjes A, Vermande M, Goossens FA, Olthof T, Van de Schoot R, Aleva L, et al. Costs and benefits of bullying in the context of the peer group: a three wave longitudinal analysis. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2013) 41:1217–29. doi: 10.1007/s10802-013-9759-3
- Ang RP, Ong EY, Lim JC, Lim EW. From narcissistic exploitativeness to bullying behavior: the mediating role of approval of aggression beliefs. *Soc Dev.* (2010) 19:721–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00557.x
- Reijntjes A, Vermande M, Thomaes S, Goossens F, Olthof T, Aleva L, et al. Narcissism, bullying, and social dominance in youth: a longitudinal analysis. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2016) 44:63–74. doi: 10.1007/s10802 015-9974-1
- 8. Olweus D. *The Revised Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire*. Bergen, Norway: Research Center for Health Promotion, University of Bergen (1996).
- Pepler DJ, Craig WM, Connolly JA, Yuile A, McMaster L, Jiang DP. A developmental perspective on bullying. *Aggress Behav.* (2006) 32:376– 84. doi: 10.1002/ab.20136
- Wang W, Brittain H, McDougall P, Vaillancourt T. Bullying and school transition: context or development? *Child Abuse Negl.* (2015) 51:237–48. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2015.10.004
- Volk AA, Camilleri JA, Dane AV, Marini ZA. Is adolescent bullying an evolutionary adaptation? *Aggress Behav.* (2012) 38:222–38. doi: 10.1002/ab.21418
- 12. Volk AA, Dane AV, Marini ZA. What is bullying? *Dev Rev.* (2014) 34:327–43. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2014.09.001
- Sentse M, Veenstra R, Kiuru N, Salmivalli C. A longitudinal multilevel study of individual characteristics and classroom norms in explaining bullying behavior. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2015) 43:943–55. doi: 10.1007/s10802-014-9949-7
- Sijtsema JJ, Veenstra R, Lindenberg S, Salmivalli C. Empirical test of bullies' status goals: Assessing direct goals, aggression, and prestige. *Aggress Behav.* (2009) 35:57–67. doi: 10.1002/ab.20282
- Vaillancourt T, Hymel S, McDougall P. Bullying is power. J Appl Sch Psychol. (2003) 19:157–76. doi: 10.1300/J008v19n02_10
- Reijntjes A, Vermande M, Goossens FA, Olthof T, van de Schoot R, Aleva L, et al. Developmental trajectories of bullying and social dominance in youth. *Child Abuse Neglect*. (2013) 37:224–34. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2012.12.004
- Connolly J, Pepler D, Craig W, Taradash A. Dating experiences of bullies in early adolescence. *Child Maltreat.* (2000) 5:299–310. doi: 10.1177/1077559500005004002
- Volk AA, Dane AV, Marini ZA, Vaillancourt T. Adolescent bullying, dating, and mating: testing an evolutionary hypothesis. *Evol Psychol.* (2015) 13:1–11. doi: 10.1177/1474704915613909

(Grant Numbers 833-2004-1019, 435-2016-1251), Ontario Mental Health Foundation (Grant Number PA-13-303), and Canadian Institutes of Health Research (Grant Numbers 201009MOP-232632-CHI-CECA-136591, 201603PJT-365626-PJT-CECA-136591). AF was also supported by the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Postdoctoral Fellowship.

- Bronfenbrenner U. The Ecology of Human Development: Experiments by Nature and Design. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press (1979).
- Bronfenbrenner, U, Morris PA. The bioecological model of human development. In Lerner RM, editor. *Theoretical Models of Human Development. Volume 1 of Handbook of Child Psychology*. 6th ed. Editors-in Chief: Damon W, Lerner RM. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley (2006). p. 793–828.
- Mitsopoulou E, Giovazolias T. Personality traits, empathy and bullying behavior: a meta-analytic approach. Aggress Violent Behav. (2015) 21:61– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2015.01.007
- Espelage DL, van Ryzin MJ, Holt MK. Trajectories of bully perpetration across early adolescence: Static risk factors, dynamic covariates, and longitudinal outcomes. *Psychol Violence*. (2018) 8:141–50. doi: 10.1037/vio0000095
- Farrell AH, Volk AA, Vaillancourt T. Empathy, exploitation, and adolescent bullying perpetration: a longitudinal social–ecological investigation. J Psychopathol Behav Assess. (2020) 42:436–49. doi: 10.1007/s10862-019-09767-6
- 24. Stellwagen KK, Kerig PK. Ringleader bullying: association with psychopathic narcissism and theory of mind among child psychiatric inpatients. *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2013) 44:612–20. doi: 10.1007/s10578-012-0355-5
- Salmivalli C. Feeling good about oneself, being bad to others? Aggress Violent Behav. (2001) 6:375–93. doi: 10.1016/S1359-1789(00)00012-4
- Salmivalli C, Kaukiainen A, Kaistaniemi L, Lagerspetz KM. Self-evaluated selfesteem, peer-evaluated self-esteem, and defensive egotism as predictors of adolescents' participation in bullying situations. *Pers Soc Psychol Bull.* (1999) 25:1268–78. doi: 10.1177/0146167299258008
- Roberts BW, DelVecchio WF. The rank-order consistency of personality traits from childhood to old age: a quantitative review of longitudinal studies. *Psychol Bull.* (2000) 126:3–25. doi: 10.1037/00335-2909.126.1.3
- Roberts BW, Walton KE, Viechtbauer W. Patterns of mean-level change in personality traits across the life course: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Psychol Bull.* (2006) 132:1–25. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.132.1.1
- Caspi A, Roberts BW, Shiner RL. Personality development: stability and change. Ann Rev Psychol. (2005) 56:453–84. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.55.090902.141913
- Denissen JA, Van Aken MG, Penke L, Wood D. Self-regulation underlies temperament and personality: An integrative developmental framework. *Child Dev Perspect.* (2013) 7:255–60. doi: 10.1111/cdep.12050
- Soto CJ, Tackett JL. Personality traits in childhood and adolescence: Structure, development, and outcomes. *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (2015) 24:358– 62. doi: 10.1177/0963721415589345
- 32. Tackett JL, Mackrell S. Emerging personality in childhood and adolescence: implications for the development of narcissism and Machiavellianism. In: Barry CT, Kerig PK, Stellwagen KK, Barry TD, editors. Narcissism and Machiavellianism in Youth: Implications for the Development of Adaptive and Maladaptive Behavior. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association (2011). p. 11–23.
- Thomaes S, Stegge H, Bushman BJ, Olthof T, Denissen J. Development and validation of the Childhood Narcissism Scale. J Person Assess. (2008) 90:382–91. doi: 10.1080/00223890802108162
- Fanti KA, Henrich CC. Effects of self-esteem and narcissism on bullying and victimization during early adolescence. J Early Adolesc. (2015) 35:5–29. doi: 10.1177/0272431613519498
- Baumeister RF, Bushman BJ, Campbell WK. Self-esteem, narcissism, and aggression: Does violence result from low self-esteem or from threatened egotism? *Curr Dir Psychol Sci.* (2000) 9:26–9. doi: 10.1111/14678721.00053
- Miller JD, Campbell WK, Pilkonis PA. Narcissistic personality disorder: relations with distress and functional impairment. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2007) 48:170–7. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2006.10.003

- Morf CC, Rhodewalt F. Unraveling the paradoxes of narcissism: a dynamic self-regulatory processing model. *Psychol Inq.* (2001) 12:177–96. doi: 10.1207/S15327965PLI1204_1
- Thomaes S, Bushman BJ, Stegge H, Olthof T. Trumping shame by blasts of noise: narcissism, self-esteem, shame, and aggression in young adolescents. *Child Dev.* (2008) 79:1792–801. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.2008.01226.x
- De Clercq B, Hofmans J, Vergauwe J, De Fruyt F, Sharp C. Developmental pathways of childhood dark traits. J Abnorm Psychol. (2017) 126:843– 58. doi: 10.1037/abn0000303
- Fanti KA, Kimonis ER. Bullying and victimization: the role of conduct problems and psychopathic traits. J Res Adolesc. (2012) 22:617–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2012.00809.x
- Terranova AM, Morris AS, Boxer P. Fear reactivity and effortful control in overt and relational bullying: a six-month longitudinal study. *Aggress Behav.* (2008) 34:104–15. doi: 10.1002/ab.20232
- van Geel M, Toprak F, Goemans A, Zwaanswijk W, Vedder P. Are youth psychopathic traits related to bullying? *Child Psychiatry Hum Dev.* (2017) 48:768–77. doi: 10.1007/s10578-016-0701-0
- Panayiotou G, Fanti KA, Lazarou C. Fearful victims and fearless bullies? Subjective reactions to emotional imagery scenes of children involved in school aggression. *Person Individ Diff*. (2015) 78:29–33. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2015.01.011
- van Noorden TH, Haselager GJ, Cillessen AH, Bukowski WM. Empathy and involvement in bullying in children and adolescents: a systematic review. J Youth Adolesc. (2015) 44:637–57. doi: 10.1007/s10964-014-0135-6
- Zych I, Ttofi MM, Farrington DP. Empathy and callous—unemotional traits in different bullying roles: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Trauma Violence Abuse.* (2019) 20:3–21. doi: 10.1177/1524838016683456
- Marini ZA, Dane AV, Bosacki SL, YLC-CURA. Direct and indirect bully victims: differential psychosocial risk factors associated with adolescents involved in bullying and victimization. *Aggress Behav.* (2006) 32:551–69. doi: 10.1002/ab. 20155
- Vaillancourt T, Brittain HL, McDougall P, Duku E. Longitudinal links between childhood peer victimization, internalizing and externalizing problems, and academic functioning: developmental cascades. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2013) 41:1203–15. doi: 10.1007/s10802-013-9781-5
- Ang RP, Raine A. Reliability, validity and invariance of the Narcissistic Personality Questionnaire for Children-Revised (NPQC-R). J Psychopathol Behav Assess. (2009) 31:143–51. doi: 10.1007/s10862-008-9112-2
- Raskin RN, Hall CS. A narcissistic personality inventory. *Psychol Rep.* (1979) 45:590. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1979.45.2.590
- Raskin RN, Hall CS. The Narcissistic Personality Inventory: alternate form reliability and further evidence of its construct validity. *J Person Assess*. (1981) 45:159–62. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4502_10
- Emmons RA. Factor analysis and construct validity of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory. J Person Assess. (1984) 48:291–300. doi: 10.1207/s15327752jpa4803_11
- Raskin R, Terry H. A principal-components analysis of the Narcissistic Personality Inventory and further evidence of its construct validity. J Person Soc Psychol. (1988) 54:890–902.
- Loke SW, Lowe PA. Validation of the narcissistic personality questionnaire for children—revised among U.S. students. *Psychol Assess.* (2014) 26:619– 27. doi: 10.1037/a0035442
- Loke SW, Lowe PA, Ang RP. Examination of construct bias in the Narcissistic Personality Questionnaire for children—revised across culture and gender. J Early Adolesc. (2018) 38:714–37. doi: 10.1177/0272431617 692442
- 55. Reynolds CR, Kamphaus RW. *Behavior Assessment System for Children: Manual*. 2nd ed. Minneapolis, MN: Pearson (2004).
- Capaldi DM, Rothbart MK. Development and validation of an early adolescent temperament measure. J Early Adolesc. (1992) 12:153–73. doi: 10.1177/0272431692012002002
- 57. Ellis LK, Rothbart MK. Revision of the early adolescent temperament questionnaire. In: *Poster Presented at the 2001 Biennial Meeting of the Society for Research in Child Development*. Minneapolis, MN (2001).
- Davis MH. A multidimensional approach to individual differences in empathy. JSAS Catalog Selected Documents Psychol. (1980) 10:85.
- Muthén LK, Muthén BO. (1998–2017). Mplus User's Guide. 8th ed. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén and Muthén.
- 60. Schwartz G. Estimating the dimension of a model. Ann Statist. (1978) 6:461-4.

- Lo Y, Mendell N, Rubin D. Testing the number of components in a normal mixture. *Biometrika*. (2001) 88:767-78. doi: 10.1093/biomet/ 88.3.767
- 62. McLachlan G, Peel D. Finite Mixture Models. New York, NY: Wiley (2000).
- 63. Jung T, Wickrama KAS. Recent advances in longitudinal data analysis in social and psychological research: an introduction to latent class growth analysis and growth mixture modeling. *Soc Personal Psychol Compass.* (2007) 2:302–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-9004.2007.00054.x
- 64. Nagin DS. Group-Based Modelling of Development. Cambridge: Harvard Press (2005).
- Nylund KL, Asparouhov T, Muthén BO. Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: a Monte Carlo simulation study. *Struct Equ Modeling*. (2007) 14:535–69. doi: 10.1080/10705510701575396
- Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y. Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. J R Stat Soc. Series B Methodol. (1995) 57:289–300.
- Kline RB. Principles and Practice of Structural Equational Modeling (4th ed.). New York, NY: The Guilford Press (2016).
- Tabachnick BG, Fidell LS. Using Multivariate Statistics (6th ed.). Boston, MA: Pearson Education (2013).
- Chen H, Cohen P, Chen S. How big is a big odds ratio? Commun Stat Simul Comput. (2010) 39:860–4. doi: 10.1080/03610911003650383
- Hill PL, Roberts BW. Narcissism as a life span construct: describing fluctuations using new approaches. In: Hermann A, Brunell A, Foster J, editors. *Handbook of Trait Narcissism*. Cham: Springer (2018). p. 165–72.
- Ashton MC, Lee K. Age trends in HEXACO-PI-R self-reports. J Res Pers. (2016) 64:102–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jrp.2016.08.008
- Calhoun GB, Glaser BA, Stefurak T, Bradshaw CP. Preliminary validation of the narcissistic personality inventory-juvenile offender. *Int J Offender Ther Comp Criminol.* (2000) 44:564–80. doi: 10.1177/0306624X00445004
- Lau KS, Marsee MA, Kunimatsu MM, Fassnacht GM. Examining associations between narcissism, behavior problems, and anxiety in nonreferred adolescents. *Child and Youth Care Forum.* (2011) 40:163–76. doi: 10.1007/s10566-010-9135-1
- Essau CA, Sasagawa S, Frick PJ. Callous-unemotional traits in a community sample of adolescents. Assessment. (2006) 13:454–69. doi: 10.1177/1073191106287354
- Lynam DR, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Raine A, Loeber R, Stouthamer-Loeber M. Adolescent psychopathy and the Big Five: results from two samples. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2005) 33:431–43. doi: 10.1007/s10648-005-5724-0
- Grijalva E, Newman DA, Tay L, Donnellan MB, Harms PD, Robins RW, et al. Gender differences in narcissism: a meta-analytic review. *Psychol Bull.* (2015) 141:261–310. doi: 10.1037/a0038231
- 77. Kahn RE, Frick PJ, Golmaryami FN, Marsee MA. The moderating role of anxiety in the associations of callous- unemotional traits with self-report and laboratory measures of affective and cognitive empathy. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2017) 45:583–96. doi: 10.1007/s10802-016-0179-z
- Vaillancourt T, Brittain H. Longitudinal associations among primary and secondary psychopathic traits, anxiety, and borderline personality disorder features across adolescence. *Personal Disord.* (2019) 10:354–64. doi: 10.1037/per0000325
- Pellegrini AD, Long JD. A longitudinal study of bullying, dominance, and victimization during the transition from primary school through secondary school. Br J Dev Psychol. (2002) 20:259–89. doi: 10.1348/2F026151002166442
- Volk AA, Veenstra R, Espelage DL. So you want to study bullying? Aggress Violent Behav. (2017) 36:34–43. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2017.07.003
- Frick PJ, Hare RD. Antisocial Process Screening Device: APSD. Toronto: Multi Health Systems (2001).

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Farrell and Vaillancourt. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Bullying Victimization and Trauma

Thormod Idsoe^{1*}, Tracy Vaillancourt², Atle Dyregrov³, Kristine Amlund Hagen¹, Terje Ogden¹ and Ane Nærde¹

¹ Norwegian Center for Child Behavioral Development, Oslo, Norway, ² Department of Psychology, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada, ³ Center for Crisis Psychology, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

Bullying victimization and trauma research traditions operate quite separately. Hence, it is unclear from the literature whether bullying victimization should be considered as a form of interpersonal trauma. We review studies that connect bullying victimization with symptoms of PTSD, and in doing so, demonstrate that a conceptual understanding of the consequences of childhood bullying needs to be framed within a developmental perspective. We discuss two potential diagnoses that ought to be considered in the context of bullying victimization: (1) developmental trauma disorder, which was suggested but not accepted as a new diagnosis in the DSM-5 and (2) complex post-traumatic stress disorder, which has been included in the ICD-11. Our conclusion is that these frameworks capture the complexity of the symptoms associated with bullying victimization better than PTSD. We encourage practitioners to understand how exposure to bullying interacts with development at different ages when addressing the consequences for targets and when designing interventions that account for the duration, intensity, and sequelae of this type of interpersonal trauma.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Laura Stoppelbein, University of Alabama, United States

Reviewed by:

Daniel Stein, Edmond and Lily Safra Children's Hospital, Israel Iliyan Ivanov, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, United States

*Correspondence:

Thormod Idsoe thormod.idsoe@nubu.no

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 23 June 2019 Accepted: 16 December 2020 Published: 14 January 2021

Citation:

Idsoe T, Vaillancourt T, Dyregrov A, Hagen KA, Ogden T and Nærde A (2021) Bullying Victimization and Trauma. Front. Psychiatry 11:480353. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.480353 Keywords: bullying victimization, consequences, PTSD (posttraumatic stress disorder), complex PTSD, developmental trauma disorder

INTRODUCTION

In this article, we argue that bullying victimization be considered a repetitive interpersonal trauma where reactions are understood within the combined framework of a developmental trauma disorder and a complex post-traumatic stress disorder. This comprehensive and integrated understanding requires that the research gap between the fields of bullying and interpersonal trauma to be bridged.

Even though exposure to bullying is about being harmed intentionally by others, it is unclear from the literature whether bullying victimization (i.e., being the target of bullying; henceforth called bullying) should be considered as a form for interpersonal trauma. With some exceptions, the bullying and trauma research traditions operate quite separately. This is confirmed by examining the table of contents of bullying and trauma journals, as well as conference proceedings and agendas related to conventions within these two respective fields. Trauma journals and trauma conferences seem more or less to lack contributions about the topic of bullying. There may be several reasons why this is the case. Originally, the bullying research tradition among children and adolescents emerged from the educational field where the purpose was to define the phenomenon, estimate prevalence, and understand its etiology (1, 2). The intent was to help identify perpetrators and implement effective interventions to stop this devastating behavior (2). Trauma research, emerged within the fields of psychiatry and psychology (3), with a focus on how to reduce or heal symptoms attributed to traumatic experiences. From its conception, there has been discussions about what constitutes trauma and which criteria must be satisfied in order to define a life event

118

as traumatic (4). This discussion is particularly pertinent for the classification of trauma required for the diagnosis of post-traumatic stress disorder [PTSD; American Psychiatric Association (5)]. Perhaps the focus on the psychiatric sequelae is a contributing factor for why research on bullying has not been integrated within the trauma field. There is also some disagreements about whether bullying can be classified as a traumatic event and whether it can satisfy the diagnostic criteria for PTSD (6).

In this article, we discuss these issues. First, we review studies that connect bullving with symptoms of PTSD. We then demonstrate that the research on the outcomes of bullying show far more complex consequences than the classic symptoms of PTSD. A discussion concerning whether the negative mental health correlates and outcomes of bullying are related to the fact that bullying often goes on over time, sometimes for years, and thus should be approached within a developmental perspective is advanced. Given the stability of bullying victimization (7), we discuss another potential framework that could be better suited for understanding the consequences of bullying. Specifically, the "developmental trauma disorder" (DTD) that was suggested as a new diagnosis for the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders 5 [DSM-5, (5); see (8, 9)]. Even though the proposed diagnosis was not accepted by the DSM-5 committee, a somewhat similar diagnosis, termed "complex post-traumatic stress disorder" has been included in the ICD-11 in the new conceptualization of stress-related disorders (10). As the DSM-5 is still the predominant disorder classification system used for research on trauma, we nevertheless discuss whether it could be a source for, or give ideas to, the development of a possible conceptual framework for an integrated understanding of the consequences of being exposed to bullying within a trauma perspective. This idea is explored by examining how empirically established consequences of bullying fit with the symptomatology defined for the proposed diagnostic criteria for DTD. We conclude by discussing the significance this may have for future research and practice.

CONCEPTUAL DEFINITION AND PREVALENCE OF BULLYING

Bullying is understood as a systematic abuse of power (11–13). An often used operationalization of bullying is provided by Olweus (2) who states that a "A student is being bullied or victimized when he or she is exposed, repeatedly, and over time, to negative actions on the part of one or more other students" (p. 1,173). Olweus further adds that "in order to use the term bullying, there should also be an imbalance in strength" (p. 1,173).

Bullying can also happen to adults (6). Although there seems to be some consensus to define cyberbullying as bullying that occurs via the internet or cell phones, some researchers are more specific in terms of taxonomies and measurement (14).

The prevalence of bullying depends on which population is studied and how bullying is defined and operationalized. For example, child respondents self-report different prevalence

rates depending on whether they are provided with a definition of bullying or not in the questionnaire (13). Even when a standardized definition is provided, along with identical measures and sampling procedures, large differences are still noted between countries. For example, Craig et al. (15) report prevalence rates ranging from 5% to about 45% in a crossnational study of bullying conducted in 40 countries. When it comes to gender differences, the meta-analysis by Cook et al. (16) of 153 studies demonstrated that boys were more involved in bullying as perpetrators, targets, and target-perpetrators (i.e., bully-victims, targets who become bullies), although the strength of the gender effect varied somehow for these three groups. In terms of ethnic group difference in bullying victimization, a recent meta-analysis by Vitoroulis and Vaillancourt (17) demonstrated no main effect difference across countries among ethnic majority and minority children and adolescents. However, moderator analyses indicated that ethnic majority youth were more exposed to peer victimization than minority youth in the US (Cohen's d = 0.23).

BULLYING AND PTSD SYMPTOMS

The major diagnosis that captures the aftermath of potential traumatic experiences is PTSD. In recent years, several studies have revealed strong associations between bullying and PTSD symptoms (18-24). Two studies found that between 30% and 40% of bullied teens scored above the clinical cutoff for PTSD symptoms (20, 25). Rivers (23) investigated 119 individuals who identified as lesbian, gay, or bisexual, and about 25% of them reported having trouble with negative memories of bullying well after leaving school. Seventeen percent had profiles of PTSD in accordance with the DSM-IV (26), with one in 10 reporting that they regularly experience flashbacks. In a recent meta-analysis by Nielsen et al. (6) representing 2,132 children from seven combined studies, a correlation of 0.39 (95% CI: 0.24-0.52; p < 0.01) was reported between bullying and an overall score for PTSD symptoms. The authors concluded that there was a strong association between bullying exposure and PTSD symptoms in children and adolescents.

IS BULLYING A TRAUMATIC EVENT AND THEREBY RESULTS IN A TRAUMATIZED RESPONSE?

PTSD is different from most other psychiatric disorders insofar as there is an established link between exposure to (a) traumatic event(s) and resulting symptoms (5). Eight diagnostic criteria are listed in the DSM-5 (labeled A through H). Of relevance to our review is the A criterion (stressor) which states that the person was exposed to "actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence" (p. 271). The exposure can be direct, as a witness, by learning that a relative or close friend was exposed, or indirectly by being exposed to aversive details of the trauma (e.g., as first responders medics). Whether bullying fulfills the A criterion for PTSD depends on how the A criterion is understood and interpreted. Although criterion A refers to exposure to

"actual or threatened death, serious injury, or sexual violence," it is not clear if exposure to bullying satisfies this condition. Idsoe et al.'s (27) review concluded that it remains unclear if criterion A is indeed met. However, two studies involving adults suggested that bullying does fulfill the A criterion for PTSD (28, 29). In a third study, Signorelli et al. (30) concluded that the A criterion was not fulfilled, and thereby PTSD was not regarded as an adequate diagnosis for exposure to bullying. There were several problems with these studies that raise concerns about their conclusions. All three studies had small sample sizes [from n = 1 (case study) to n = 64], as well as poor descriptions of, and lack of control for, potential alternative traumatic events that could have been present before, during, or after the period that bullying took place. Nielsen et al. (6) pointed to these problems when they concluded that no existing studies could provide good evidence for or against bullying exposure as satisfying the A criterion for adults and recommended that future studies investigate these issues using longitudinal designs and clinical interviews.

What about the studies mentioned above (20, 25) that reported clinically significant levels of PTSD symptoms among bullied children? The problem with these studies is that the symptoms could indicate disorders other than PTSD. Moreover, because we do not have valid information about the duration of symptoms, we cannot disentangle the problems from alternative diagnoses of acute stress disorder (when symptoms consistent with PTSD last for a minimum of 2 days and a maximum of 4 weeks after the traumatic event) or adjustment disorder (when symptoms consistent with PTSD occur in response to a stressor that is not consistent with the A criterion, they start within 3 months after exposure, and resolve within 6 months—if not, they occur in response to a chronic stressor).

There has been a general discussion within the trauma field about whether the A criterion has been given too much importance [e.g., (4)]. Bedard-Gilligan and Zoellner (31) studied this within three different samples: (1) undergraduate women recruited through participant pools at two large metropolitan university campuses, (2) undergraduate men and women recruited through an undergraduate participant pool at a third metropolitan university campus, and (3) women responding to advertisements seeking women with trauma histories. Participants were included if they endorsed an event that "bothers you the most" from a checklist of events (Item 14) on the Post-traumatic Diagnostic Scale [PDS; (32)]. Bedard-Gilligan and Zoellner (31) calculated rates of criterion A events and PTSD and applied them to investigate the predictive utility of Criterion A for PTSD symptoms, duration, and functional impairment. The Criterion A did not predict much better than chance and the authors questioned the importance of this criterion. In another study, Robinson and Larson (33) found that life events like expected death, serious illness of someone close, romantic relationship problems, family relationship problems, predicted similar, if not higher, levels of PTSD symptoms than individuals reporting a traumatic event in accordance with the A criterion. These researchers questioned whether traumatic

events are necessary to elicit symptoms of post-traumatic stress. Based on such discussions, the removal of the A criterion from the PTSD diagnosis has been suggested because of the possibilities of identifying people with high levels of symptoms without it (4). It should be noted however, that the DSM-5 committee narrowed the definition of trauma, to be specific to life threatening events or sexual violence. This was done to avoid what some researchers labeled "criterion creep" (34, 35), which refers to expanding the pool of qualifying events. Notwithstanding this important discussion, it is worthy to recognize that studies have identified a wide range of childhood events beyond exposure to bullying that are associated with PTSD symptoms without the stressor meeting the DSM-5 criteria for trauma [see (34), for a review]. It is also possible that bullying sometimes, but not always, constitutes a life event that satisfies the A criterion. There are cases in which children and adolescents feared for their lives because of being bullied by their peers. For example, a former student from Howell Cheney Technical High School in the US sued the state after being bullied during her junior year, claiming that she feared for her life (36). In our clinical encounters we have also had clients describe that they thought they were going to die in relation to being bullying.

IF BULLYING IS A TRAUMATIC EVENT FOR SOME, ARE SYMPTOMS OF PTSD THE MAJOR OUTCOME?

Even though bullying is associated with PTSD symptoms, it has also been linked to a range of other mental health outcomes like loneliness, anxiety, depression, suicide ideation/attempts (37-39). Terr (40, 41) suggested two categories of trauma-Type I traumas and Type II traumas-that may elicit different reactions. Type I trauma is mainly the result of a single traumatic event like a car accident or an attack by a violent dog, while Type II trauma is the experience of repeated exposure to traumatic situations, like bullying, which by definition, is repeated in nature (11-13). Terr suggested that although Type I traumas are more closely linked to PTSD than Type II traumas, Type II traumas nevertheless seem to result in a much more complex symptomatology. When Bremner (42) suggested the concept "trauma-spectrum disorders," his reasoning was to capture a whole range of psychological problems associated with childhood trauma, not only PTSD, but also borderline personality disorder, dissociative identity disorder, depression, substance abuse, and psychosomatic problems. Although his proposal was related to child abuse, consequences of bullying, as an interpersonal repetitive trauma, could be conceptualized to capture a range of problems as well. This would be consistent with empirical findings demonstrating complex mental health problems linked to bullying (37-39, 43).

To move forward, we believe a closer look at what is occurring within the field of childhood trauma in general is needed. It has been suggested that early interpersonal childhood trauma like

physical or sexual abuse and neglect are associated with complex symptomatology (8, 44). Also questioned is whether traditional psychiatric disorders and possible comorbid diagnoses fit with such complex symptoms and whether assigning traditional diagnoses for such problems could reduce the possibilities of providing proper treatment (8, 9). In 2009, a group of merited researchers within the trauma field proposed to include a diagnosis for children and adolescents in the forthcoming DSM-5 (9) that they named "Developmental Trauma Disorder" (DTD). The authors underscored the importance of understanding childhood trauma within a developmental psychopathological framework (45) with increased attention paid to the effects of early adverse life experiences on brain development (46) in order to establish interventions that were developmentally appropriate. They pointed to the adverse problems that can emerge if children are exposed to chronic interpersonal stressors, especially if they are followed by inadequate caregiving systems from parents, and how these environmental risks could be the onset of developmental trajectories that include a range of emotional and behavioral difficulties. Even if children with complex trauma-related clinical presentations also met diagnostic criteria for PTSD, this diagnosis alone could fail to capture the broader range of psychiatric symptoms that could result in the provision of incomplete or inadequate interventions. van Der Kolk et al. (47) have demonstrated that DTD cannot be reduced to a combination of PTSD plus psychiatric comorbidities nor is it simply a variant of PTSD. They have also argued that evidence-based treatments for PTSD do not address the developmental impairments that many of these children suffer from, even though they may lead to a reduction in PTSD symptoms.

In the literature on developmental trauma, little is explicitly stated about bullying, although it is sometimes briefly mentioned like when D'andrea et al. (48) mentioned that "victimization in childhood may take many forms, including assault, abduction, bullying, and neglect" (p. 187-188). DTD was suggested based on studies of child sexual abuse and exposure to family violence. Exposure to these forms of interpersonal violence is often part of children's life from very early on and can impact the development of the brain's anatomy, functionality, and connectivity [e.g., (49); see review by (50)]. When applying a developmental perspective, we need to understand how exposure interacts with development at different ages (e.g., pre-adolescence vs. adolescence). For example, will a child with a "safe" early childhood be less susceptible to later stress? [For a review of PTSD and the neurodevelopmental network perspective, see (51)].

Even though bullying exposure does not fulfill the kind of event(s) needed to satisfy the proposed diagnosis of DTD, it is useful to examine empirical findings to see how the sequelae of symptoms fit with the suggested criteria for DTD proposed for the DSM-5. Toward this aim, we go through the seven main diagnostic criteria (labeled A through F) as proposed by van der Kolk et al. [(9), p. 5–7], and we link each criterion to empirical findings for bullying.

PROPOSED CRITERIA FOR A DEVELOPMENTAL TRAUMA DIAGNOSIS AND HOW SYMPTOMS AMONG CHILDREN WHO EXPERIENCED BULLYING FIT WITHIN THIS FRAMEWORK

A. Exposure

The child or adolescent has experienced or witnessed multiple or prolonged adverse events over a period of at least 1 year beginning in childhood or early adolescence, including:

- A. 1. Direct experience or witnessing of repeated and severe episodes of interpersonal violence; and
- A. 2. Significant disruptions of protective caregiving as the result of repeated changes in primary caregiver; repeated separation from the primary caregiver; or exposure to severe and persistent emotional abuse [(9), p. 5].

"Criterion A requires multiple, ongoing exposures to both interpersonal violence and disruptions in caregiving" [(9), p. 8].

Criterion A and Bullying

The nature of bullying exposure fits well with the ongoing negative interpersonal acts that constitutes the A1 criterion. When it comes to the A2 criterion it becomes less clear to what extent this holds true for bullying. Nevertheless, we explore why adequate care/support is regarded important for normal functioning and development. Findings from seminal research in developmental psychology clearly demonstrate that experiencing comforting, responsive, and supportive relationships with secure and predictable primary caregivers are important for adequate development and adaptation (52-55). A fundamental tenet of attachment theory is that the attachment style developed between the infant and the caregiver influences future relationships (56). Indeed, attachment theory has been suggested as a useful conceptual framework for linking problematic parentchild relationships to peer bullying (57) and empirical evidence show that children with secure attachments to parents and peers are less likely to be perpetrators or targets of bullying (58). Moreover, warm, supportive, and well-structured families help protect children from the negative outcomes associated with bullying victimization and thus promote emotional and behavioral resilience to bullying (59). The capacities associated with the regulation of emotions are likely anchored in the nature of the attachment between the child and the primary caregiver in the first year of life. The quality of the responses elicited in the caregiver to meet physiological needs provide the child with a sense of security that consequently is "encoded physiologically in the experience of non-disruptive and need-satisfying regulation of early states" [(60), p. 20].

When a child experiences danger, he/she is likely to experience fear. In this case, caregivers can provide support by functioning as an external regulatory system through soothing, caressing, or talking to calm to the child. Early experiences of such emotion regulating relationships lay an important basis for the child's development of regulatory capacities as a gradual shift from other-regulated to self-regulated affective responses throughout childhood. Children who experience trauma in the context of caregivers that do not provide this kind of support can develop emotion dysregulation that can give rise to adverse psychological symptoms. However, traumas are major developmental events potentially leading to emotion dysregulation even in favorable relationships in the family. Likewise, ongoing unfavorable relationships in the family can cause emotion dysregulation without necessitating the development of DTD. The two problems do not have to occur simultaneously. Many factors can lead to emotion dysregulation in a child and increase the risk of bullying becoming a traumatic event (criterion A1) without implicating criterion A2 (for example genetic, constitutional, and temperamental vulnerabilities—i.e., dysregulated parents having dysregulated children because of the aforementioned factors).

One reason for why children who live in unsupportive, neglectful, or dangerous families show problems with emotionbased regulation is that they can be inclined to be vigilant, distrustful, and wary or they may develop an aggressive and confrontational stance (as modeled at home). Children living in such environments can experience an exaggerated need to defend themselves (61). Some can even act on impulse as a self-protecting strategy in violent homes. The taxing effect of maltreatment or other catastrophic stressors on children may exhaust their socio-emotional resources leaving them less able to integrate external stimuli and their own affective experiences to produce a desired outcome. An additional explanation for their dysregulation may be that they have not had enough experience with "desirable outcomes." Successful regulation of emotion is at least partly influenced by the goals a child wants to achieve and if these goals are inappropriate, the expression of emotion is likely to be dysfunctional as well.

When children become older, support and care within other social environments becomes important such as relationships with peers, teachers, and coaches (62, 63). Lereya et al. (64) found that children who were bullied by peers only, were more likely than children who were maltreated only [assessed as physical, emotional, or sexual abuse, or severe maladaptive parenting (or both)] to have mental health problems in young adulthood. It is possible that the stronger association found for bullying was because its assessment occurred closer to the onset of mental health problems than the assessment of child maltreatment. Another reason could be that associations with specific abuse types were obscured in the overall maltreatment variable. However, it has also been found that social support moderates the effects of bullying on anxiety/depression (65). These findings suggest that relationships with peers can be associated with a potential "double" negative impact, similar to what is seen with parents. By "double" we mean that peers not only cause pain through bullying, but also fail to provide the type of support needed to cope with the abuse at hand. It is possible that inadequate support from peers and negative acts from peers happen concomitantly, and thereby-when experienced over time-interfere with healthy development. Accordingly, bullying could be interpreted in line with the A-criteria (1 and 2), constituting a kind of developmental trauma by being exposed to long-lasting stress in combination with inadequate support for regulating negative emotions, that again could be reflected in a dysregulated neurobiological stress response system and an under stimulated regulatory system (50, 66). This is in accordance with Harris' group socialization theory (63), postulating that as children get older, the peer group becomes their primary socializing agent, and if this socializing context is problematic, like the socializing context of parents, negative outcomes should be expected. Keeping in mind this new socializing context, it is clear how the A2 criterion can relate to bullying exposure.

B. Affective and Physiological Dysregulation

The child exhibits impaired normative developmental competencies related to arousal regulation, including at least two of the following:

- B. 1. Inability to modulate, tolerate, or recover from extreme affect states (e.g., fear, anger, shame), including prolonged and extreme tantrums, or immobilization.
- B. 2. Disturbances in regulation in bodily functions (e.g., persistent disturbances in sleeping, eating, and elimination; over-reactivity or under-reactivity to touch and sounds; disorganization during routine transitions).
- B. 3. Diminished awareness/dissociation of sensations, emotions, and bodily states.
- B. 4. Impaired capacity to describe emotions or bodily states [(9), p. 5].

Criterion B and Bullying

B. 1. Inability to Modulate, Tolerate, or Recover From Extreme Affect States

Several studies have shown that children and adolescents who are targets of bullying score particularly high on emotion dysregulation and suppression, reactive aggression, hostility, sadness, and depressive symptoms (67-73).

B. 2. Disturbances in Regulation in Bodily Functions

Children/adolescents exposed to bullying are found to be at increased risk for disordered eating behavior (70, 74–76). We recommend that bullying should be considered when evaluating risk and treatment planning for children with eating problems. Targets of bullying and bully-victims also report sleep disturbances (77, 78) and it is therefore recommended to consider sleep problems as a possible sign that a child is being bullied.

B. 3. Diminished Awareness/Dissociation of Sensations, Emotions, and Bodily States

There is a significant emerging literature demonstrating that bullying is related to dissociation (79, 80). In a meta-analysis and review of 10 prospective studies, Cunningham et al. (81) found that exposure to bullying prior to age 18 predicted the later development of psychotic symptoms.

B.4. Impaired Capacity to Describe Emotions or Bodily States To the best of our knowledge, there are not many studies directly examining impaired capacity to describe emotions or bodily states in relation to bullying. However, as we have reported,

impaired emotional regulation has been noticed (82, 83). In these studies, emotional constriction following parental maltreatment and other emotional regulation problems were risk factors for bullying. Impaired capacity to describe emotions or bodily states are also close to alexithymia, which has been related to bullying (19).

In sum, several studies have established a link between exposure to bullying and several outcomes belonging to the B criteria in the proposed diagnosis of DTD.

C. Attentional and Behavioral Dysregulation

The child exhibits impaired normative developmental competencies related to sustained attention, learning, or coping with stress, including at least three of the following:

C. 1. Preoccupation with threat, or impaired capacity to perceive threat, including misreading of safety and danger cues.

C. 2. Impaired capacity for self-protection, including extreme risk-taking or thrill-seeking.

C. 3. Maladaptive attempts at self-soothing (e.g., rocking and other rhythmical movements, compulsive masturbation).

C. 4. Habitual (intentional or automatic) or reactive self-harm. C. 5. Inability to initiate or sustain goal-directed behavior [(9), p. 5].

Criterion C and Bullying

C. 1. Preoccupation With Threat, or Impaired Capacity to Perceive Threat, Including Misreading of Safety and Danger Cues

Several studies on bullied adolescents have documented important findings with respect to criterion C1—preoccupation with threat, or impaired capacity to perceive threat, including misreading of safety and danger cues, including hostile attributions (84), distressing paranoid thinking and subsequent misappraisal of threat (85), and biased interpretations of social situations and the intentions of others (86). fMRI studies have found that peer victimization is associated with increased neural response to being socially excluded (87–89), greater activation than controls in the amygdala, orbitofrontal cortex, and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex when viewing video clips of facial expressions that depicted negative interpersonal feedback (90), and thicker cortex in the fusiform gyrus compared to children who were not bullied by their peers [see review by Vaillancourt and Palamarchuk (50)].

C. 2. Impaired Capacity for Self-Protection, Including Extreme Risk-Taking or Thrill-Seeking

Bullying victimization is associated with several types of health risk behavior such as violence, obesity, decreased physical activity, sexual risk, and substance use (91–94).

C. 3. Maladaptive Attempts at Self-Soothing

Criterion C.3 has been documented as chronic masturbation, rocking, self-harm, or other repetitive self-stimulating types of behavior. Bullying victimization is associated with impaired

capacity for self-protection, including sexual risk, and substance use (91, 94).

C. 4. Habitual (Intentional or Automatic) or Reactive Self-Harm

Exposure to bullying has been related to non-suicidal self-harm such as cutting, self-hitting, skin picking, head banging, and self-burning (95, 96), and suicidal thoughts and attempts (97–99).

C. 5. Inability to Initiate or Sustain Goal-Directed Behavior

An inability to sustain goal-directed behavior may include lack of curiosity, difficulties with planning or completing tasks, and/or avolition. Carroll et al. (100) found that twins (M =15.39 years, SD = 1.74) who experienced more severe bullying were biased toward detecting goal relevant stimuli during an affective go/no go task. We believe preoccupation with detecting threats triggered by bullying may interfere with and redirect attention from other goal-directed behavior. In a study of 390 African American and Iraqi refugee adolescents, Kira et al. (101) reported that exposure to bullying had significant effects on perceptual reasoning, processing speed, and working memory, after controlling for cumulative trauma and discrimination. Vaillancourt et al. (102) found that peer victimization predicted memory problems over a 2-year period in a study of 168 children, controlling for prior peer victimization, symptoms of depression, and levels of cortisol. These neurocognitive deficits likely interfere with the initiation and sustainment of goaldirected behavior.

The link between being the target of bullying and concurrent and subsequent depression is one of the most robust findings in the literature [see meta-analyses by Moore et al. (94, 103–105)]. Although not directly examined, depression, a disorder of motivation (5), likely interferes with the ability to initiate and sustain goal directed behavior in children who were bullied.

D. Self and Relational Dysregulation

The child exhibits impaired normative developmental competencies in his/her sense of personal identity and involvement in relationships, including at least three of the following:

D. 1. Intense preoccupation with safety of the caregiver or other loved ones (including precocious caregiving) or difficulty tolerating reunion with them after separation.

D. 2. Persistent negative sense of self, including self-loathing, helplessness, worthlessness, ineffectiveness, or defectiveness.

D. 3. Extreme and persistent distrust, defiance or lack of reciprocal behavior in close relationships with adults or peers. D. 4. Reactive physical or verbal aggression toward peers, caregivers, or other adults.

D. 5. Inappropriate (excessive or promiscuous) attempts to get intimate contact (including but not limited to sexual or physical intimacy) or excessive reliance on peers or adults for safety and reassurance.

D. 6. Impaired capacity to regulate empathic arousal as evidenced by lack of empathy for, or intolerance of,

expressions of distress of others, or excessive responsiveness to the distress of others [(9), p. 6].

Criterion D and Bullying

D. 1. Intense Preoccupation With Safety of the Caregiver or Other Loved Ones (Including Precocious Caregiving) or Difficulty Tolerating Reunion With Them After Separation

We could not find any studies linking this criterion to bullying exposure, so this remains to be investigated (many of the studies for the DTD proposal involved younger children who are dependent on caregivers).

D. 2. Persistent Negative Sense of Self, Including Self-Loathing, Helplessness, Worthlessness, Ineffectiveness, or Defectiveness

Being exposed to bullying is associated with lower self-esteem and poorer self-concept (14, 103), that are more pronounced in children than in adolescents (106). It is noteworthy, however, that most of the studies' participants were between the ages of 8 and 13 years. The development of self-esteem has been shown to be highest at around ages 9–12 and to decrease thereafter (107, 108). Saint-Georges and Vaillancourt (109) found evidence for a selfperception driven model that was characterized by the indirect effect of self-esteem on later peer victimization via depressive symptoms in adolescents followed prospectively for 5 years. Bullying exposure has also been associated with helplessness (110) and shame (71).

D. 3. Extreme and Persistent Distrust, Defiance, or Lack of Reciprocal Behavior in Close Relationships With Adults or Peers

Exposure to bullying is associated with distrust of adults (111), paranoid ideation and suspiciousness (112), and psychotic symptoms (81, 113). However, causality needs to be discussed, at least for paranoid thinking and psychotic symptomatology. In contrast to the assumed role of bullying as an environmental trigger, the results of a study conducted by Shakoor et al. (114) suggest that exposure to bullying is linked to self-rated paranoia almost entirely via genetic influences.

D. 4. Reactive Physical or Verbal Aggression Toward Peers, Caregivers, or Other Adults

This criterion refers to aggressive behavior which is reactive (i.e., impulsive or dysregulated) as opposed to instrumental (i.e., intentionally coercive or manipulative). A consistent finding from the bullying field is that targets score higher than control children on reactive aggression (115) but this can be moderated by gender and age (12). Haltigan and Vaillancourt (116) found, in a longitudinal study of bullied children, strong associations between child reported reactive temperament and elevated features of borderline personality disorder (BPD). Specifically, being in a high trajectory group membership for elevated BPD features was 10.23 times higher among children bullied by their peers.

D. 5. Inappropriate (Excessive or Promiscuous) Attempts to Get Intimate Contact (Including but Not Limited to Sexual or Physical Intimacy) or Excessive Reliance on Peers or Adults for Safety and Reassurance

This criterion refers to inappropriate boundaries often displayed in children exposed to DTD Criteria A traumatic stressors. This may include sexualized behavior, inappropriate physical boundaries, or excessive self-disclosure. It should be kept in mind that with DTD, most of the research is from the sexual abuse field, where intimacy boundaries have been extensively violated. Accordingly, it is expected that this criterion will not be as prominent in relation to bullying exposure. Nevertheless, there are studies showing links between bullying perpetration and increased sexual behavior [i.e., number of partners, younger sexual debut; e.g., (91, 117)], which is linked to higher social status (118). It seems reasonable to assume that some bullied children and adolescents will engage in sexual behavior as a way of elevating their standing in the peer group or to create protective alliances.

D. 6. Impaired Capacity to Regulate Empathic Arousal as Evidenced by Lack of Empathy for, or Intolerance of, Expressions of Distress of Others, or Excessive Responsiveness to the Distress of Others

Criterion D.6 refers to an inability to appropriately gauge perspective in social situations, such that one is either excessively responsive to others' emotions, or unable to feel empathy. Such emotional lability can be seen in the features of borderline personality, which has been linked to bullying (116, 119, 120). The link between empathy and bullying is mixed. A review by Van Noorden et al. (121) found an association between lower perspective taking and bullying victimization, whereas others have found non-significant effects (122, 123). Estévez et al. (124) found that targets of school violence scored significantly higher on the dimension of emotional attention, but significantly lower on emotional clarity (more confused about their emotions), and their ability to regulate their emotion, as well as less affective empathy, indicating that they were less able to share the positive emotions of others.

E. Post-traumatic Spectrum Symptoms

The child exhibits at least one symptom in at least two of the three PTSD symptom clusters B–D [(9), p. 6].

Criterion E and Bullying

We refer to our previous section on PTSD symptoms in this article which demonstrates a link between exposure to bullying and PTSD symptoms.

F. Duration of Disturbance

Symptoms in DTD Criteria B–E at least 6 months [(9), p. 6].

Criterion F and Bullying

We did not find any published study explicitly looking into the duration of symptoms in criteria B–E. However, in general we know that consequences of bullying can last for a very long time. Sigurdson et al. (125) found that being involved in bullying at the

age of 14–15 years, predicted lower education, increased risk of poor general health, illegal drug use, and poorer spouse/partner relations at the age of around 27. The negative long-term impact of bullying has also been shown in other studies spanning decades post-exposure (64, 126).

G. Functional Impairment

The disturbance causes clinically significant distress or impairment in at two of the following areas of functioning:

- Scholastic: under-performance, non-attendance, disciplinary problems, drop-out, failure to complete degree/credential(s), conflict with school personnel, learning disabilities or intellectual impairment that cannot be accounted for by neurological or other factors.
- Familial: conflict, avoidance/passivity, running away, detachment and surrogate replacements, attempts to physically, or emotionally hurt family members, non-fulfillment of responsibilities within the family.
- Peer Group: isolation, deviant affiliations, persistent physical or emotional conflict, avoidance/passivity, involvement in violence or unsafe acts, age-inappropriate affiliations, or style of interaction.
- Legal: arrests/recidivism, detention, convictions, incarceration, violation of probation or other court orders, increasingly severe offenses, crimes against other persons, disregard or contempt for the law or for conventional moral standards.
- Health: physical illness or problems that cannot be fully accounted for physical injury or degeneration, involving the digestive, neurological (including conversion symptoms and analgesia), sexual, immune, cardiopulmonary, proprioceptive, or sensory systems, or severe headaches (including migraine) or chronic pain or fatigue.
- Vocational (for youth involved in, seeking or referred for employment, volunteer work or job training): disinterest in work/vocation, inability to get or keep jobs, persistent conflict with co-workers or supervisors, under-employment in relation to abilities, failure to achieve expectable advancements [(9), p. 6–7].

Criterion G and bullying

Bullying was found to be associated with lower academic achievement (127), poorer health outcomes (125), difficulties in keeping jobs (128), unemployment (126, 129), problems with making or keeping friends (128), and lack of having a romantic partner (126).

COMPLEX TRAUMA IN ICD-11

In ICD-11, the description of complex trauma is as follows: "Complex post-traumatic stress disorder" (Complex PTSD) is a disorder that may develop following exposure to an event or series of events of an extremely threatening or horrific nature, most commonly prolonged or repetitive events from which escape is difficult or impossible (e.g., torture, slavery, genocide campaigns, prolonged domestic violence, repeated childhood sexual, or physical abuse). All diagnostic requirements for PTSD are met. In addition, Complex PTSD is characterized by severe and persistent (1) problems in affect regulation; (2) beliefs about oneself as diminished, defeated, or worthless, accompanied by feelings of shame, guilt, or failure related to the traumatic event; and (3) difficulties in sustaining relationships and in feeling close to others. These symptoms cause significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational, or other important areas of functioning (10).

The studies pertaining to bullying and the DSM are relevant for ICD-11 as well. The diagnosis requires an event or series of events of an extremely threatening or horrific nature, where the possibility of escape is difficult or impossible. In our clinical encounters, targets of bullying have described that they thought they were going to die. As for the accompanying overwhelming emotions to intrusive memories such as fear or horror, we expect that reactions can become blunted when targets suppress, blunt, or dissociate over time to escape the emotional pain involved. Memories and associated emotions change over time and individual adaptations take place to accommodate and dampen them. We argue that studies on bullying confirm the subjective experience of this as extremely threatening and that the narrowing or widening of the stressor criterion [Criterion A, see (4)] would make little difference as to whether bullying is a stress related disorder.

Danzi and La Greca (130, 131) have shown that ICD-11 identifies more children with PTSD than DSM-5. However, the DSM systems identified children with complex symptom presentations with non-core symptoms, while ICD-11 identifies children with more severe core PTSD symptoms. It is evident that inclusion of stressors and different symptoms can impact the rates of PTSD and complex PTSD that will be reported in future studies. Although the ICD-11 tries to reduce the number of PTSD symptoms to a smaller number of core elements to ease diagnosis and reduce comorbidity, the DSM-5 has added to the number of symptoms. The DSM-5 definition of PTSD places it somewhere between ICD-11's PTSD and Complex-PTSD definitions (132).

NEUROBIOLOGY

From the empirical studies we have reviewed above, it follows that the consequences of bullying exposure in childhood and adolescence are characterized by complexity, revealing a symptomatology that fits with stress-related illnesses (43). It is thereby important to review studies that have linked changes in stress hormones and brain activity to bullying exposure to see whether this is in accordance with the complex sequelae of psychological and functional consequences that can occur in the aftermath of bullying within a conceptual framework of developmental interpersonal trauma. Exposure to child abuse has been related to dysregulation of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, suggesting this as an important factor in the development of stress-related disorders caused by interpersonal trauma (133). In this literature, child maltreatment has been linked to both high and low cortisol levels, although more typically, lower levels of cortisol [see meta-analysis by Bernard et al. (134)]. Relatedly, exposure to bullying has also been associated with alterations in the HPA axis [see review by Vaillancourt and Palamarchuk (50)], particularly decreased levels (135–138).

These findings may suggest that long periods of higher cortisol levels caused by a hyperactive HPA axis responding to stress can be followed by hyposecretion as part of an adaptive process (139). However, peer rejection (140) and bullying victimization (102) have also been related to higher levels of cortisol. Vaillancourt et al. (138) found that sex to moderate the association between bullying exposure and cortisol secretion in that for boys, occasional exposure to bullying was associated with higher levels of cortisol, while for girls it was associated with lower levels. Although Vaillancourt et al. (138) interpreted the sex differences to the possibility of higher social goals among girlshaving a higher stress perception in relation to being bullied, they also suggest that more severe or chronic stress can result in hyposecretion when compared to occasional stress. These findings underscore that the association between dysregulations of the HPA axis and stress exposure is a complicated process that requires more research (138, 141). For example, in a recent study of preschool aged children, Vaillancourt et al. (142) found an intricate interplay between the social environment and the biobehavioral system of children, suggesting differential susceptibility is at play. Specifically, they found that for boys and not girls, higher levels of bullying victimization was associated with higher levels of physical aggression at lower levels of basal cortisol, while at higher levels of basal cortisol, higher bullying victimization was associated with lower levels of physical aggression. The results were the reverse at lower levels of bullying.

We also remind readers about the findings related to criterion C1 where fMRI studies demonstrated associations with increased neural responses to being socially excluded (87–89), and greater activation than controls in the amygdala, orbitofrontal cortex, and ventrolateral prefrontal cortex when viewing video clips of facial expressions that depicting negative interpersonal feedback.

CAUSALITY, MULTIPLE VICTIMIZATION, AND DEVELOPMENTAL PSYCHOPATHOLOGY

Although the central question for the present review is whether bullying exposure in childhood and adolescence can be interpreted as an interpersonal trauma resulting in complex symptomatology as conceptualized in the proposed diagnosis of DTD (9), we cannot ignore empirical findings showing that exposure to one type of interpersonal trauma increases the risk of exposure to other kinds of victimization (143). Victimization is not randomly distributed, and can for some children, result in what is called "polyvictimization" (144, 145). Finkelhor et al. (144) defined polyvictimization as having experienced multiple types of victimizations, such as exposure to family violence, physical abuse, sexual abuse, and bullying. They found that polyvictims scored higher than one standard deviation above targets of a single type of abuse even though the exposure was chronic/repeated over time (143, 144). For example two longitudinal studies carried out on the UK (144) and USA (64) found that 7% (UK) and 10% (USA) of the children studied were exposed to childhood maltreatment by a caregiver and bullying by peers. In both studies, maltreated children were more likely to be bullied by their peers than children who were not maltreated. The researchers suggested that polyvictimization could signal a more generalized vulnerability for cumulative victimization exposure and that this underscored the need for studies of bullying exposure to assess a broader range of victimization experiences. Because polyvictimization has a high degree of stability (144), the need to investigate bullying exposure within a developmental perspective is further emphasized. Shields and Cicchetti (83) found that early maltreatment within the family increased the chance of being exposed to subsequent bullying victimization. They related this to evidence describing targets of bullying as more aroused and anxious than non-abused children. They suggested that emotion dysregulation as a result of early maltreatment puts children at risk for subsequent bullying. This cumulative process could be understood as a mechanism for polyvictimization and is in line with developmental perspectives suggesting early poor caregiving experiences as causes of later negative peer interactions.

For some children and adolescents, there is stability in victimization through the accumulation of exposures across time; however, longitudinal research suggests that the experience of being bullied does not result in the same symptom pattern over time. Rather, there is marked variability in terms of outcomes [i.e., multi finality; (43, 133, 146)]. It is not clear why exposure to bullying has more impact on some children than others. So far the focus has been mostly on environmental characteristics like family and school. For instance, Bowes et al. (59) found that warm family relationships (i.e., maternal warmth, sibling warmth) and positive home environments helped buffer children from the negative outcomes associated with being bullied. Other studies suggest that genetic mechanisms can moderate the associations between bullying exposure and health outcomes (66, 146). As stated in a report published by the American Academy of Pediatrics "many adult diseases should be viewed as developmental disorders that begin early in life and that persistent health disparities associated with poverty, discrimination, or maltreatment could be reduced by the alleviation of toxic stress in childhood" [(147), p. 323].

CONCLUDING REMARKS—CAN THE CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK OF DEVELOPMENTAL TRAUMA DISORDER BE APPLIED TO BULLYING?

We agree that the provisional cluster for DTD as a construct adds to PTSD. One, because of the specifications in the criterion A, where DTD captures the ongoing nature of many traumatic experiences and includes interpersonal violence and the concomitant disruptions in caregiving. Two, because of the consequences that are characterized by an array of symptoms that are much more comprehensive than the clusters of PTSD. van Der Kolk et al. (47) demonstrated that DTD cannot simply be seen as a variant of PTSD nor just a combination of PTSD plus psychiatric comorbidities. Rather, these authors have argued that the evidence-based treatments for PTSD do not address the developmental impairments that many of these children suffer from, even though they may lead to a reduction in PTSD symptoms.

From our review of the literature it is clear that exposure to bullying is associated with a more complex sequelae than what is captured in traditional PTSD criteria. We suggest that DTD, proposed but not included in the DSM-5, and complex PTSD (ICD-11), capture the symptoms' complexity to a better extent than the DSM-5 PTSD criteria. However, we remind readers that our review is far from exhaustive. Even though DTD provides a better understanding of the consequences of bullying, it still does not represent a complete understanding. Not all the criteria proposed for DTD are linked to bullying and we are unsure whether they would be even if empirical studies existed. DTD was suggested based on studies of child sexual abuse and exposure to family violence that often take part in children's life from very early on. Bullying tends to occur more frequently at a later age (16), and when perpetrated by peers, does not implicate major attachment figures. Still, it is important to understand how exposure to interpersonal traumas interact with development at different ages when addressing consequences and designing interventions. We hope our work will inspire further investigations into the complexities of the consequences of bullying exposure within frameworks like DTD and complex PTSD.

LIMITATIONS

This is not a systematic review and/or meta-analysis but rather a theoretical and conceptual review.

Implications for Research and Practice

Before we talk about directions related to the consequences of bullying, we think it is important to make it clear that it is crucial that the bullying stops. There will be no effective treatment for those who are bullied until the exposure has come to an end. Effective strategies to stop bullying has been implemented in anti-bullying programs and is described elsewhere for those interested (2, 11).

The complexity and severity of the consequences following bullying are likely related to the intensity and duration of the exposure that interact with a range of risk and protective factors. Treatment of bullied children within the conceptual framework of DTD should acknowledge the importance of a dysregulated stress-response system and problems related to emotion regulation. A first step should be to help children feel safe and support them in how to regulate their arousal (27, 44). A core issue in the treatment of developmental trauma is the focus on how to change the environments from fear-inducing relationships with others into safe environments for healthy development. For treatment, we recommend that a thorough mapping/assessment of the potential traumatic relationships the child has experienced be conducted (criteria A1 and A2), along with the ongoing stressors they face, and the broad array of potential moderators present (e.g., age, gender, genetic vulnerabilities, and access to social support). Assessment must reflect the complexity of interacting factors, as they can contribute to potential multi finality (diversity) of developmental outcomes (148). The treatment should also be tailored to the specific child. After stopping the bullying, increasing the number of healthy relationships is helpful for healing traumatized children. They should be given the opportunity to be involved in positive, nurturing, and caring interactions with peers, teachers, and other caregivers (27, 149). Idsoe et al. (27) accentuate how the many daily hours children spend in schools put educators and school staff in a unique position to support traumatized children. Educators can create trauma-sensitive environments and help traumatized children to feel safe and calm down. If teachers and school staff manage to calm dysregulated children, this will most likely help them with concentration and learning and improve mental health. Educators should also try to identify and be aware of potential triggers children associate with bullying episodes from the past, because if still present, they may elicit fear reactions in bullied children. If necessary, learning environments should be adjusted so that they are better tailored to the needs of the bullied children. However, teachers need to know when they should refer these children to a specialist. This makes it reasonable to assume that treatments must be developed at several tiers so that the interventions can be tailored according to severity. Within schools, three-tier interventions may be a fruitful solution. Then proper interventions can be implemented at the universal tier (for the majority of students), combined with more comprehensive and intensive strategies for students showing moderate problems (selected level), and finally the ones showing high levels of consequences (indicated level). This allows for different combinations of treatments for bullied children and for implementing interventions targeting environmental factors.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TI conceptualized and drafted the manuscript and conducted critical revisions. TV, AD, KH, TO, and AN contributed to the conception, drafting of the work, and conducted critical revisions. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The source of funding for this article processing fee was Norwegian Center for Child Behavioral Development, that has funding for open access publication fees.

REFERENCES

- 1. Olweus D. Hakkekyllinger og Skolebøller: Forskning om Skolemobbing. Oslo: Cappelen (1974).
- Olweus D. Bullying at school: basic facts and effects of a school based intervention program. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (1994) 35:1171– 90. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.1994.tb01229.x
- van der Kolk BA, Herron N, Hostetler A. The history of trauma in psychiatry. Psychiatr Clin. (1994) 17:583–600. doi: 10.1016/S0193-953X(18)30102-3
- Brewin CR, Lanius RA, Novac A, Schnyder U, Galea S. Reformulating PTSD for DSM-V: life after criterion A. J Traumatic Stress. (2009) 22:366– 73. doi: 10.1002/jts.20443
- 5. APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-5®). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association (2013).
- Nielsen MB, Tangen T, Idsoe T, Matthiesen SB, Magerøy N. Post-traumatic stress disorder as a consequence of bullying at work and at school. A *literature review and meta-analysis. Aggr Violent Behav.* (2015) 21:17– 24. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2015.01.001
- Haltigan JD, Vaillancourt T. The influence of static and dynamic intrapersonal factors on longitudinal patterns of peer victimization through mid-adolescence: a latent transition analysis. *J Abnorm Child Psychol.* (2018) 46:11–26. doi: 10.1007/s10802-017-0342-1
- van der Kolk BA. Developmental trauma disorder: toward a rational diagnosis for children with complex trauma histories. *Psychiatr Ann.* (2017) 35:401–8. doi: 10.3928/00485713-20050501-06
- van der Kolk BA, Pynoos RS, Cicchetti D, Cloitre M, D'Andrea W, Ford JD, et al. Proposal to include a developmental trauma disorder diagnosis for children and adolescents in DSM-V. Unpublished manuscript. Verfügbar Unter. (2009). Available online at: https://www.cttntraumatraining.org/ uploads/4/6/2/3/46231093/dsm-v_proposal-dtd_taskforce.pdf (accessed May 20, 2011).
- WHO. International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (11th Revision) (2018). Retrieved from: https://icd.who.int/ browse11/l-m/en (accessed May 20, 2019).
- Olweus D. School bullying: development and some important challenges. Ann Rev Clin Psychol. (2013) 9:751– 80. doi: 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-050212-185516
- 12. Roland E, Idsoe T. Aggression and bullying. *Aggr Behav.* (2001) 27:446–62. doi: 10.1002/ab.1029
- Vaillancourt T, McDougall P, Hymel S, Krygsman A, Miller J, Stiver K, et al. Bullying: are researchers and children/youth talking about the same thing? *Int J Behav Dev.* (2008) 32:486–95. doi: 10.1177/0165025408095553
- Kowalski RM, Giumetti GW, Schroeder AN, Lattanner MR. Bullying in the digital age: a critical review and meta-analysis of cyberbullying research among youth. *Psychol Bull.* (2014) 140:1073–137. doi: 10.1037/a0035618
- Craig W, Harel-Fisch Y, Fogel-Grinvald H, Dostaler S, Hetland J, Simons-Morton B, et al. A cross-national profile of bullying and victimization among adolescents in 40 countries. *Int J Public Health.* (2009) 54:216– 24. doi: 10.1007/s00038-009-5413-9
- Cook CR, Williams KR, Guerra NG, Kim TE, Sadek S. Predictors of bullying and victimization in childhood and adolescence: a meta-analytic investigation. *Sch Psychol Q.* (2010) 25:65–83. doi: 10.1037/a0020149
- Vitoroulis I, Vaillancourt T. Meta-analytic results of ethnic group differences in peer victimization. Aggr Behav. (2015) 41:149–70. doi: 10.1002/ab.21564
- Crosby JW, Oehler J, Capaccioli K. The relationship between peer victimization and post-traumatic stress symptomatology in a rural sample. *Psychol Sch.* (2010) 47:297–310. doi: 10.1002/pits.20471
- Guzzo G, Pace U, Cascio VL, Craparo G, Schimmenti A. Bullying victimization, post-traumatic symptoms, and the mediating role of alexithymia. *Child Indicat Res.* (2014) 7:141–53. doi: 10.1007/s12187-013-9206-6
- Idsoe T, Dyregrov A, Idsoe EC. Bullying and PTSD symptoms. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2012) 40:901–11. doi: 10.1007/s10802-012-9620-0
- McKenney KS, Pepler DJ, Craig WM, Connolly JA. Psychosocial consequences of peer victimization in elementary and high school - an examination of posttraumatic stress disorder symptomatology. In: Kendall-Tackett KA, Giacomoni SM, editors.

Child Victimization. Kingston, NJ: Civic Research Institute (2005). p. 151-7.

- 22. Pessall L. Childhood Experiences of Bullying: Trauma Symptoms and Attributions: their Relation to Violent Offending. Leicester: University of Leicester (2001).
- Rivers I. Recollections of bullying at school and their long-term implications for lesbians, gay men and bisexuals. *Crisis.* (2004) 24:169– 75. doi: 10.1027/0227-5910.25.4.169
- 24. Storch EA, Esposito LE. Peer victimization and posttraumatic stress among children. *Child Study J.* (2003) 33:91–8.
- Mynard H, Joseph S, Alexander J. Peer victimization and posttraumatic stress in adolescents. *Person Individ Differ*. (2000) 29:815–21. doi: 10.1016/S0191-8869(99)00234-2
- 26. APA. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders. 4th ed. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association (1994).
- Idsoe T, Dyregrov A, Idsoe EC, Nielsen MB. Bullying and PTSD symptoms in children and adolescents. In: Martin C, Preedy V, Patel VB, editors. *Comprehensive Guide to Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder*. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company (2015). p. 1–12. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-08613-2_101-1
- Kreiner B, Sulyok C, Rothenhausler HB. Does mobbing cause posttraumatic stress disorder? Impact of coping and personality. Neuropsychiatrie. (2008) 22:112–23.
- Leymann H, Gustafsson A. Mobbing at work and the development of post-traumatic stress disorders. *Eur J Work Organ Psychol.* (1996) 5:251– 75. doi: 10.1080/13594329608414858
- Signorelli MS, Costanzo MC, Cinconze M, Concerto C. What kind of diagnosis in a case of mobbing: post-traumatic stress disorder or adjustment disorder? *BMJ Case Rep.* (2013) 2013:bcr2013010080. doi: 10.1136/bcr-2013-010080
- Bedard-Gilligan M, Zoellner LA. The utility of the A1 and A2 criteria in the diagnosis of PTSD. *Behav Res Ther.* (2008) 46:1062–9. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2008.06.009
- Foa EB, Cashman L, Jaycox L, Perry K. The validation of a self-report measure of posttraumatic stress disorder: the posttraumatic diagnostic scale. *Psychol Assess.* (1997) 9:445. doi: 10.1037/1040-3590.9.4.445
- Robinson JS, Larson C. Are traumatic events necessary to elicit symptoms of posttraumatic stress? *Psychol Trauma*. (2010) 2:71–6. doi: 10.1037/a0018954
- Kerig PK. Emotion dysregulation and childhood trauma. In: Beauchaine TP, Crowell SE, editors. The Oxford Handbook of Emotion Dysregulation. Oxford: Oxford University Press (2018). p. 265–80, doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780190689285.013.19
- Kilpatrick DG, Resnick HS, Acierno R. Should PTSD criterion A be retained? J Traumatic Stress. (2009) 22:374–83. doi: 10.1002/jts.20436
- Buffa D. Bullied tech school student: I feared for my life. New York Daily News. (2012). Retrieved from: http://www.nydailynews.com/hc-xpm-2012-03-12-hc-high-school-bullying-20120310-story.html (accessed May 20, 2019).
- Arseneault L. Annual research review: the persistent and pervasive impact of being bullied in childhood and adolescence: implications for policy and practice. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2018) 59:405– 21. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12841
- Arseneault L, Bowes L, Shakoor S. Bullying victimization in youths and mental health problems: 'Much ado about nothing'. *Psychol Med.* (2010) 40:717–29. doi: 10.1017/S0033291709991383
- Arseneault L, Walsh E, Trzesniewski K, Newcombe R, Caspi A, Moffitt TE. Bullying victimization uniquely contributes to adjustment problems in young children: a nationally representative cohort study. *Pediatrics*. (2006) 118:130. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-2388
- Terr LC. Children of chowchilla: a study of psychic terror. *Psychoanal Study Child*. (1979) 34:547–623. doi: 10.1080/00797308.1979.11823018
- 41. Terr LC. Childhood traumas: an outline and overview. *Am J Psychiatry*. (1991) 148:10–20. doi: 10.1176/ajp.148.1.10
- Bremner JD. Traumatic stress from a multilevel developmental psychopathology perspective. In: Cicchetti D, editor. *Developmental Psychopathology*. 3rd ed. Vol. 3. New York: Wiley (2016). p. 1–39. doi: 10.1002/9781119125556.devpsy309

- McDougall P, Vaillancourt T. Long-term adult outcomes of peer victimization in childhood and adolescence: pathways to adjustment and maladjustment. Am Psychol. (2015) 70:300–10. doi: 10.1037/a0039174
- Courtois CA. Complex trauma, complex reactions: assessment and treatment. *Psychotherapy.* (2004) 41:412– 25. doi: 10.1037/0033-3204.41.4.412
- Maughan A, Cicchetti D. Impact of child maltreatment and interadult violence on children's emotion regulation abilities and socioemotional adjustment. *Child Dev.* (2002) 73:1525–42. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00488
- Cicchetti D, Cohen DJ. Developmental Psychopathology, Vol 2: Developmental Neuroscience. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons, Inc. (2006).
- van Der Kolk BA, Ford JD, Spinazzola J. Comorbidity of developmental trauma disorder (DTD) and post-traumatic stress disorder: findings from the DTD field trial. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2019) 10:1562841. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2018.1562841
- 48. D'andrea W, Ford J, Stolbach B, Spinazzola J, van der Kolk BA. Understanding interpersonal trauma in children: why we need a developmentally appropriate trauma diagnosis. *Am J Orthopsychiatry*. (2012) 82:187–200. doi: 10.1111/j.1939-0025.2012.01154.x
- Tyborowska A, Volman I, Niermann HC, Pouwels JL, Smeekens S, Cillessen AH, et al. Early-life and pubertal stress differentially modulate grey matter development in human adolescents. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:9201. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27439-5
- Vaillancourt T, Palamarchuk I. Neurobiological factors of bullying victimization. In: Smith PK, Norman JO, editors. *The Wiley Blackwell Handbook of Bullying*. New York, NY: John Wiley and Sons Inc. (2020) (in press).
- Weems CF, Russell JD, Neill EL, McCurdy BH. Annual research review: pediatric posttraumatic stress disorder from a neurodevelopmental network perspective. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2019) 60:395–408. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12996
- 52. Ainsworth MDS, Bell SM, Stayton DF. Infant-mother attachment and social development: socialization as a product of reciprocal responsiveness to signals. In: Richards MPM, editor. *The Integration of a Child into a Social World*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (1974). p. 99–135.
- 53. Repetti RL, Taylor SE, Seeman TE. Risky families: family social environments and the mental and physical health of offspring. *Psychol Bull.* (2002) 128:330. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.128.2.330
- 54. Sanson A, Rothbart MK. Child temperament and parenting. *Handb* Parenting. (1995) 4:299–321.
- Wachs TD. (2000). Necessary but not Sufficient: The Respective Roles of Single and Multiple Influences on Individual Development. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi: 10.1037/10344-000
- Bowlby J. Attachment and loss: volume II: separation, anxiety and anger. London: The Hogarth Press and the Institute of Psycho-Analysis (1973). p. 1–429.
- Eliot M, Cornell DG. Bullying in middle school as a function of insecure attachment and aggressive attitudes. Sch Psychol Int. (2009) 30:201– 14. doi: 10.1177/0143034309104148
- Murphy TP, Laible D, Augustine M. The influences of parent and peer attachment on bullying. J Child Fam Stud. (2017) 26:1388– 97. doi: 10.1007/s10826-017-0663-2
- Bowes L, Maughan B, Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Arseneault L. Families promote emotional and behavioural resilience to bullying: evidence of an environmental effect. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2010) 51:809– 17. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2010.02216.x
- Lyons-Ruth K, Zeanah CH Jr. The family context of infant mental health: I. affective development in the primary caregiving relationship. In: Zeanah CH Jr., editor. *Handbook of Infant Mental Health.* New York, NY: The Guilford Press (1993). p. 14–37.
- Shields A, Cicchetti D. Reactive aggression among maltreated children: the contributions of attention and emotion dysregulation. *J Clin Child Psychol.* (1998) 27:381–95. doi: 10.1207/s15374424jccp 2704_2
- Barber BK, Olsen JA. Socialization in context: connection, regulation, and autonomy in the family, school, and neighborhood, and with peers. J Adolesc Res. (1997) 12:287–315. doi: 10.1177/07435548971 22008

- Harris JR. Where is the child's environment? A group socialization theory of development. *Psychol Rev.* (1995) 102:458. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.102.3.458
- 64. Lereya ST, Copeland WE, Costello EJ, Wolke D. Adult mental health consequences of peer bullying and maltreatment in childhood: two cohorts in two countries. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2015) 2:524–31. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(15)00165-0
- Holt MK, Espelage DL. Perceived social support among bullies, victims, and bully-victims. J Youth Adolesc. (2007) 36:984–94. doi: 10.1007/s10964-006-9153-3
- 66. Vaillancourt T. The neurobiology of bullying victimization. In: Vazsonyi A, Flannery D, DeLisi M, editors. *Cambridge Handbook of Violent Behavior* and Aggression. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press (2018). p. 175–186. doi: 10.1017/9781316847992.011
- Camodeca M, Goossens FA. Aggression, social cognitions, anger and sadness in bullies and victims. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2005) 46:186– 97. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2004.00347.x
- Cooley JL, Fite PJ. Peer victimization and forms of aggression during middle childhood: the role of emotion regulation. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2016) 44:535–46. doi: 10.1007/s10802-015-0051-6
- Herts KL, McLaughlin KA, Hatzenbuehler ML. Emotion dysregulation as a mechanism linking stress exposure to adolescent aggressive behavior. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2012) 40:1111–22. doi: 10.1007/s10802-012-9629-4
- Lee KS, Vaillancourt T. Longitudinal associations among bullying by peers, disordered eating behavior, and symptoms of depression during adolescence. *JAMA Psychiatry.* (2018) 75:605–12. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018. 0284
- Strøm IF, Aakvaag HF, Birkeland MS, Felix E, Thoresen S. The mediating role of shame in the relationship between childhood bullying victimization and adult psychosocial adjustment. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2018) 9:1418570. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2017.1418570
- Vranjes I, Erreygers S, Vandebosch H, Baillien E, De Witte H. Patterns of cybervictimization and emotion regulation in adolescents and adults. *Aggr Behav.* (2018) 44:647–57. doi: 10.1002/ab.21790
- 73. Walters GD, Espelage DL. From victim to victimizer: hostility, anger, and depression as mediators of the bullying victimization–bullying perpetration association. *J Sch Psychol.* (2018) 68:73–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jsp.2017.12.003
- Copeland WE, Bulik CM, Zucker N, Wolke D, Lereya ST, Costello EJ. Does childhood bullying predict eating disorder symptoms? *Int J Eat Disord*. (2015) 48:1141–9. doi: 10.1002/eat.22459
- 75. Lee KS, Vaillancourt T. Body mass index, peer victimization, and body dissatisfaction across 7 years of childhood and adolescence: evidence of moderated and mediated pathways. *Dev Sci.* (2019) 22:e12734. doi: 10.1111/desc.12734
- Lie SØ, RØ Ø, Bang L. Is bullying and teasing associated with eating disorders? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Eat Disord*. (2019) 52:497–514. doi: 10.1002/eat.23035
- Donoghue C, Meltzer LJ. Sleep it off: bullying and sleep disturbances in adolescents. J Adolesc. (2018) 68:87– 93. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.07.012
- van Geel M, Goemans A, Vedder PH. The relation between peer victimization and sleeping problems: a meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2016) 27:89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.05.004
- Campbell ML, Morrison AP. The relationship between bullying, psychoticlike experiences and appraisals in 14–16-year olds. *Behav Res Ther.* (2007) 45:1579–91. doi: 10.1016/j.brat.2006.11.009
- Penning SL, Bhagwanjee A, Govender K. Bullying boys: the traumatic effects of bullying in male adolescent learners. *J Child Adolesc Mental Health.* (2010) 22:131–43. doi: 10.2989/17280583.2010.528580
- Cunningham T, Hoy K, Shannon C. Does childhood bullying lead to the development of psychotic symptoms? *Psychosis.* (2016) 8:48– 59. doi: 10.1080/17522439.2015.1053969
- Mahady Wilton MM, Craig WM, Pepler DJ. Emotional regulation and display in classroom victims of bullying: characteristic expressions of affect, coping styles and relevant contextual factors. *Soc Dev.* (2000) 9:226– 45. doi: 10.1111/1467-9507.00121
- Shields A, Cicchetti D. Parental maltreatment and emotion dysregulation as risk factors for bullying and victimization in middle childhood. *J Clin Child Psychol.* (2001) 30:349–63. doi: 10.1207/S15374424JCCP3003_7

- Hoglund WL, Leadbeater BJ. Managing threat: do social-cognitive processes mediate the link between peer victimization and adjustment problems in early adolescence? J Res Adolesc. (2007) 17:525–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-7795.2007.00533.x
- Jack AH, Egan V. Childhood bullying, paranoid thinking and the misappraisal of social threat: trouble at school. *Sch Mental Health.* (2018) 10:26–34. doi: 10.1007/s12310-017-9238-z
- Guy A, Lee K, Wolke D. Differences in the early stages of social information processing for adolescents involved in bullying. *Aggr Behav.* (2017) 43:578– 87. doi: 10.1002/ab.21716
- McIver TA, Bosma RL, Sandre A, Goegan S, Klassen JA, Chiarella J, et al. Peer victimization is associated with neural response to social exclusion. *Merrill Palmer Q.* (2018) 64:135–61. doi: 10.13110/merrpalmquar1982.64.1.0135
- Rudolph KD, Miernicki ME, Troop-Gordon W, Davis MM, Telzer EH. Adding insult to injury: neural sensitivity to social exclusion is associated with internalizing symptoms in chronically peer-victimized girls. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. (2016) 11:829–42. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsw021
- Will G-J, van Lier PA, Crone EA, Güroglu B. Chronic childhood peer rejection is associated with heightened neural responses to social exclusion during adolescence. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2016) 44:43– 55. doi: 10.1007/s10802-015-9983-0
- Lee HS, Lee JE, Lee KU, Kim YH. Neural changes associated with emotion processing in children experiencing peer rejection: a functional MRI study. J Korean Med Sci. (2014) 29:1293–300. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2014.29.9.1293
- Dane AV, Marini ZA, Volk AA, Vaillancourt T. Physical and relational bullying and victimization: differential relations with adolescent dating and sexual behavior. *Aggr Behav.* (2017) 43:111–22. doi: 10.1002/ab.21667
- Hertz MF, Everett Jones S, Barrios L, David-Ferdon C, Holt M. Association between bullying victimization and health risk behaviors among high school students in the United States. J Sch Health. (2015) 85:833– 42. doi: 10.1111/josh.12339
- Hong JS, Voisin DR, Kim JW, Allen-Meares P, Espelage DL. Pathways from peer victimization to sexual risk-taking behavior among African American adolescents in Chicago's southside. *Psychol Violence*. (2019) 9:88– 97. doi: 10.1037/vio0000164
- 94. Moore SE, Norman RE, Suetani S, Thomas HJ, Sly PD, Scott JG. Consequences of bullying victimization in childhood and adolescence: a systematic review and meta-analysis. World J Psychiatry. (2017) 7:60. doi: 10.5498/wjp.v7.i1.60
- 95. Klomek AB, Snir A, Apter A, Carli V, Wasserman C, Hadlaczky G, et al. Association between victimization by bullying and direct self injurious behavior among adolescence in Europe: a ten-country study. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry.* (2016) 25:1183–93. doi: 10.1007/s00787-016-0840-7
- van Geel M, Goemans A, Vedder P. A meta-analysis on the relation between peer victimization and adolescent non-suicidal self-injury. *Psychiatry Res.* (2015) 230:364–8. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2015.09.017
- Holt MK, Vivolo-Kantor AM, Polanin JR, Holland KM, DeGue S, Matjasko JL, et al. Bullying and suicidal ideation and behaviors: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics*. (2015) 135:e496-e509. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-1864
- Koyanagi A, Oh H, Carvalho AF, Smith L, Haro JM, Vancampfort D, et al. Bullying victimization and suicide attempt among adolescents aged 12– 15 years from 48 countries. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2019) 58:907–18. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2018.10.018
- Van Geel M, Vedder P, Tanilon J. Relationship between peer victimization, cyberbullying, and suicide in children and adolescents: a meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatrics*. (2014) 168:435–42. doi: 10.1001/jamapediatrics.2013.4143
- 100. Carroll IC, Planalp EM, Van Hulle CA, Goldsmith HH. Peer victimization and selective attention in adolescence: evidence from a monozygotic twin difference design. J Abnorm Child Psychol. (2019) 47:1303–13. doi: 10.1007/s10802-019-00516-7
- 101. Kira IA, Lewandowski L, Ashby JS, Somers C, Chiodo L, Odenat L. Does bullying victimization suppress IQ? The effects of bullying victimization on IQ in Iraqi and African American adolescents: a traumatology perspective. J Aggr Maltreat Trauma. (2014) 23:431–53. doi: 10.1080/10926771.2014.904463
- 102. Vaillancourt T, Duku E, Becker S, Schmidt LA, Nicol J, Muir C, et al. Peer victimization, depressive symptoms, and high salivary

cortisol predict poorer memory in children. Brain Cogn. (2011) 77:191–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2011.06.012

- 103. Hawker DSJ, Boulton MJ. Twenty years' research on peer victimization and psychosocial maladjustment: a meta-analytic review of crosssectional studies. J Child Psychol Psychiatry All Discip. (2000) 41:441–69. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00629
- Reijntjes A, Kamphuis JH, Prinzie P, Telch MJ. Peer victimization and internalizing problems in children: a meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2010) 34:244–52. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2009.07.009
- 105. Ttofi MM, Farrington DP, Lösel F, Loeber R. Do the victims of school bullies tend to become depressed later in life? J Aggr Conflict Peace Res. (2011) 3:63–73. doi: 10.1108/17596591111132873
- 106. Tsaousis I. The relationship of self-esteem to bullying perpetration and peer victimization among schoolchildren and adolescents: a meta-analytic review. *Aggr Violent Behav.* (2016) 31:186–99. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2016.09.005
- 107. Robins RW, Trzesniewski KH. Self-esteem development across the lifespan. Curr Direct Psychol Sci. (2005) 14:158– 62. doi: 10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00353.x
- Robins RW, Trzesniewski KH, Tracy JL, Gosling SD, Potter J. Global self-esteem across the life span. *Psychol Aging*. (2002) 17:423. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.17.3.423
- 109. Saint-George Z, Vaillancourt T. The temporal sequence of depressive symptoms, peer victimization, and self-esteem across adolescence: evidence for an integrated self-perception driven model. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2019) 32:975–84. doi: 10.1017/S0954579419000865
- Salmivalli C, Karhunen J, Lagerspetz KM. How do the victims respond to bullying? Aggr Behav. (1996) 22:99–109. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1098-2337(1996)22:2<99::AID-AB3>3.0.CO;2-P
- Bjereld Y. The challenging process of disclosing bullying victimization: a grounded theory study from the victim's point of view. J Health Psychol. (2018) 23:1110–8. doi: 10.1177/1359105316644973
- 112. Masillo A, Valmaggia LR, Saba R, Brandizzi M, Lo Cascio N, Telesforo L, et al. Interpersonal sensitivity, bullying victimization and paranoid ideation among help-seeking adolescents and young adults. *Early Interv Psychiatry*. (2019) 13:57–63. doi: 10.1111/eip.12447
- 113. van Dam DS, van der Ven E, Velthorst E, Selten J-P, Morgan C, de Haan L. Childhood bullying and the association with psychosis in non-clinical and clinical samples: a review and meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2012) 42:2463– 74. doi: 10.1017/S0033291712000360
- 114. Shakoor S, McGuire P, Cardno AG, Freeman D, Plomin R, Ronald A. A shared genetic propensity underlies experiences of bullying victimization in late childhood and self-rated paranoid thinking in adolescence. *Schizophr Bull.* (2014) 41:754–63. doi: 10.1093/schbul/sbu142
- 115. Salmivalli C, Nieminen E. Proactive and reactive aggression among school bullies, victims, and bully-victims. Aggr Behav. (2002) 28:30– 44. doi: 10.1002/ab.90004
- Haltigan JD, Vaillancourt T. Identifying trajectories of borderline personality features in adolescence: antecedent and interactive risk factors. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2016) 61:166–75. doi: 10.1177/0706743715625953
- 117. Provenzano DA, Dane AV, Farrell AH, Marini ZA, Volk AA. Do bullies have more sex? The role of personality. *Evol Psychol Sci.* (2018) 4:221– 32. doi: 10.1007/s40806-017-0126-4
- Lee KS, Brittain H, Vaillancourt T. Predicting dating behavior from aggression and self-perceived social status in adolescence. *Aggr Behav.* (2018) 44:372–81. doi: 10.1002/ab.21758
- 119. Winsper C, Hall J, Strauss VY, Wolke D. Aetiological pathways to borderline personality disorder symptoms in early adolescence: childhood dysregulated behaviour, maladaptive parenting and bully victimisation. *Borderline Person Disord Emot Dysregul.* (2017) 4:10. doi: 10.1186/s40479-017-0060-x
- 120. Wolke D, Schreier A, Zanarini MC, Winsper C. Bullied by peers in childhood and borderline personality symptoms at 11 years of age: a prospective study. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2012) 53:846– 55. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2012.02542.x
- 121. Van Noorden TH, Haselager GJ, Cillessen AH, Bukowski WM. Empathy and involvement in bullying in children and adolescents: a systematic review. J Youth Adolesc. (2015) 44:637–57. doi: 10.1007/s10964-014-0135-6

- Mitsopoulou E, Giovazolias T. Personality traits, empathy and bullying behavior: a meta-analytic approach. Aggr Violent Behav. (2015) 21:61– 72. doi: 10.1016/j.avb.2015.01.007
- 123. Zych I, Ttofi MM, Farrington DP. Empathy and callous-unemotional traits in different bullying roles: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Trauma Violence Abuse*. (2019) 20:3–21. doi: 10.1177/1524838016683456
- Estévez E, Jiménez T, Segura L. Emotional intelligence and empathy in aggressors and victims of school violence. J Educ Psychol. (2019) 111:488. doi: 10.1037/edu0000292
- 125. Sigurdson JF, Wallander J, Sund A. Is involvement in school bullying associated with general health and psychosocial adjustment outcomes in adulthood? *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2014) 38:1607–17. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2014.06.001
- 126. Takizawa R, Maughan B, Arseneault L. Adult health outcomes of childhood bullying victimization: evidence from a fivedecade longitudinal British birth cohort. Am J Psychiatry. (2014) 171:777-84. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2014.13101401
- 127. Nakamoto J, Schwartz D. Is peer victimization associated with academic achievement? A meta-analytic review. Soc Dev. (2010) 19:221–42. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-9507.2009.00539.x
- Wolke D, Copeland WE, Angold A, Costello EJ. Impact of bullying in childhood on adult health, wealth, crime, and social outcomes. *Psychol Sci.* (2013) 24:1958–70. doi: 10.1177/0956797613481608
- 129. Brown S, Taylor K. Bullying, education and earnings: evidence from the national child development study. *Econ Educ Rev.* (2008) 27:387– 401. doi: 10.1016/j.econedurev.2007.03.003
- Danzi BA, La Greca AM. DSM-IV, DSM-5, and ICD-11: identifying children with posttraumatic stress disorder after disasters. *J Child Psychol Psychiatry*. (2016) 57:1444–52. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.12631
- Danzi BA, La Greca AM. Optimizing clinical thresholds for PTSD: extending the DSM-5 preschool criteria to school-age children. *Int J Clin Health Psychol.* (2017) 17:234–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijchp.2017.07.001
- 132. Maercker A, Brewin CR, Bryant RA, Cloitre M, van Ommeren M, Jones LM, et al. Diagnosis and classification of disorders specifically associated with stress: proposals for ICD-11. World Psychiatry. (2013) 12:198–206. doi: 10.1002/wps.20057
- Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA. Diverse patterns of neuroendocrine activity in maltreated children. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2001) 13:677–93. doi: 10.1017/S0954579401003145
- Bernard K, Frost A, Bennett CB, Lindhiem O. Maltreatment and diurnal cortisol regulation: a meta-analysis. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2017) 78:57–67. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2017.01.005
- 135. Hansen ÅM, Hogh A, Persson R, Karlson B, Garde AH, Ørbaek P. Bullying at work, health outcomes, and physiological stress response. *J Psychosomatic Res.* (2006) 60:63–72. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2005.06.078
- Kliewer W. Violence exposure and cortisol responses in urban youth. Int J Behav Med. (2006) 13:109–20. doi: 10.1207/s15327558ijbm1302_2
- 137. Ouellet-Morin I, Odgers CL, Danese A, Bowes L, Shakoor S, Papadopoulos AS, et al. Blunted cortisol responses to stress signal social and behavioral problems among maltreated/bullied 12-year-old children. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2011) 70:1016–23. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2011.06.017
- 138. Vaillancourt T, Duku E, Decatanzaro D, Macmillan H, Muir C, Schmidt LA. Variation in hypothalamic–pituitary–adrenal axis activity among bullied

and non-bullied children. Aggr Behav. (2008) 34:294-305. doi: 10.1002/ab. 20240

- Bremner JD, Vermetten E. Stress and development: behavioral and biological consequences. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2001) 13:473– 89. doi: 10.1017/S0954579401003042
- 140. Gunnar MR, Sebanc AM, Tout K, Donzella B, van Dulmen MM. Peer rejection, temperament, and cortisol activity in preschoolers. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2003) 43:346–68. doi: 10.1002/dev.10144
- 141. Johnson DM, Delahanty DL, Pinna K. The cortisol awakening response as a function of PTSD severity and abuse chronicity in sheltered battered women. *J Anxiety Disord*. (2008) 22:793–800. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2007.08.006
- 142. Vaillancourt T, Brittain H, Haltigan JD, Ostrov JM, Muir C. Cortisol moderates the relation between physical peer victimization and physical aggression in preschoolers attending high-quality child care: evidence of differential susceptibility across informants. *Merrill Palmer Q.* (2018) 64:101–34. doi: 10.13110/merrpalmquar1982.64. 1.0101
- 143. Finkelhor D, Ormrod R, Turner H, Holt M. Pathways to polyvictimization. *Child Maltreat.* (2009) 14:316–29. doi: 10.1177/10775595093 47012
- 144. Finkelhor D, Ormrod RK, Turner HA. Lifetime assessment of polyvictimization in a national sample of children and youth. *Child Abuse Neglect*. (2009) 33:403–11. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2008.09.012
- Tseloni A, Pease K. Repeat personal victimization. 'Boosts' or 'Flags'? Br J Criminol. (2003) 43:196–212. doi: 10.1093/bjc/43.1.196
- 146. Vaillancourt T, Sanderson C, Arnold P, McDougall P. The neurobiology of peer victimization: longitudinal links to health, genetic risk, and epigenetic mechanisms. In: Bradshaw CP, editor. *Handbook of Bullying Prevention: The Life Course Perspective*. Washington, DC: National Association of Social Workers Press (2017). p. 35–47.
- 147. Shonkoff JP, Garner AS, Siegel BS, Dobbins MI, Earls MF, McGuinn L, et al. The lifelong effects of early childhood adversity and toxic stress. *Pediatrics*. (2012) 129:e232–e46. doi: 10.1542/peds.2011-2663
- 148. Cicchetti D, Rogosch FA. Equifinality and multifinality in developmental psychopathology. *Dev Psychopathol.* (1996) 8:597–600. doi: 10.1017/S0954579400007318
- 149. Perry BD. Applying principles of neurodevelopment to clinical work with maltreated and traumatized children: the neurosequential model of therapeutics. In: Webb NB, editor. *Social Work Practice with Children and Families. Working with Traumatized Youth in Child Welfare.* The Guilford Press (2006). p. 27–52.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Idsoe, Vaillancourt, Dyregrov, Hagen, Ogden and Nærde. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Mediating Role of Bullying and Victimisation on the Relationship Between Problematic Internet Use and Substance Abuse Among Adolescents in the UK: The Parent–Child Relationship as a Moderator

Muthanna Samara^{1*†}, Adeem Ahmad Massarwi^{1,2†}, Aiman El-Asam¹, Sara Hammuda¹, Peter K. Smith³ and Hisham Morsi⁴

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Anat Brunstein Klomek, Interdisciplinary Center Herzliya, Israel

Reviewed by:

André Berchtold, University of Lausanne, Switzerland Damanjit Sandhu, Punjabi University, India

*Correspondence:

Muthanna Samara m.samara@kingston.ac.uk

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 23 August 2019 Accepted: 09 July 2021 Published: 28 October 2021

Citation:

Samara M, Massarwi AA, El-Asam A, Hammuda S, Smith PK and Morsi H (2021) The Mediating Role of Bullying and Victimisation on the Relationship Between Problematic Internet Use and Substance Abuse Among Adolescents in the UK: The Parent–Child Relationship as a Moderator. Front. Psychiatry 12:493385. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.493385 ¹ Department of Psychology, Kingston University London, Kingston upon Thames, United Kingdom, ² Department of Social Work, Ben-Gurion University of the Negev, Beersheba, Israel, ³ Department of Psychology, Goldsmiths University of London, London, United Kingdom, ⁴ National Centre for Cancer Care and Research (NCCCR), Hamad Medical Corporation (HMC), Doha, Qatar

Over the last decade, research into the negative effects of problematic internet use has greatly increased. The current study adopted a mediation-moderation model in exploring the relationship between problematic internet use and substance abuse (drinking, drug use, and smoking tobacco cigarettes) among 1,613 adolescents (aged 10-16) in the UK. The findings of the study revealed a significant positive correlation between problematic internet use and substance abuse, which is mediated by traditional and cyber bullying and victimisation. Furthermore, the parent-child relationship was found to be a protective factor that moderated the correlation between problematic internet use and substance abuse and the correlation between problematic internet use and traditional bullying. The study emphasises the critical need to reduce problematic internet use among adolescents as a risk factor for involvement in bullying as perpetrators and victims, in addition to substance abuse. Furthermore, the findings of the study highlight the importance of a good parent-child relationship as a protective factor among adolescents. In light of the findings of the study, interventions for reducing problematic internet use taking into account bullying and the parent-child relationship are needed among adolescents.

Keywords: parent-child relationship, parenting, victimisation, bullying, cyberbullying, addiction, problematic internet use, substance (ab)use (drugs, alcohol, smoking)

INTRODUCTION

The Internet has become an integral part of adolescent's lives as a communication tool for establishing relationships and participating in social groups (1). However, there are some risks and problems that adolescents may face while using the internet (2, 3). Problematic Internet Use (PIU) is described as a general behavioural addiction, which refers to cognitive

132

preoccupation with the internet, psychological dependence on it, and an inability to control time spent on the network (4, 5). Research studies indicated that PIU is a growing problem among adolescents (6). A study of 11,956 adolescents from 11 different countries showed that the average prevalence of PIU is 4.4% (7), while it is 5.2% amongst British adolescents (aged 11–18) (8). Previous studies showed that PIU is correlated with a broad array of adverse social and psychological outcomes, such as depression, bullying, drinking and drug use (9–12).

Problematic Internet Use (PIU) and Substance Abuse: The Mediating Role of Bullying Involvement

Problem Behaviour Theory (13, 14) suggests that problem behaviours tend to correlate and co-occur among adolescents. In other words, adolescents that are involved in one problem behaviour would be more likely to be involved in others. In line with this theory, several studies revealed a positive association between PIU and substance use among adolescents (15, 16). For example, a study conducted among 3,067 adolescents in Switzerland found that problematic internet use is an important predictor of substance use, including tobacco smoking, drinking alcohol, and consumption of drugs (17). In a similar vein, a study of 1,325 Italian adolescents (aged 11–13) found a positive correlation between problematic social networking usage and substance use (18).

While previous studies emphasised the direct association between problematic internet use and substance use, to the best of our knowledge, no research to date has explored the mediating effect of bullying and victimisation on the relationship between PIU and substance use. Bullying is defined as a specific type of aggressive behaviour that is intentional, repeated over time, and involves an imbalance of power between the bully and the victim (19). Bullying can be physical (e.g., hitting, pushing, and kicking), verbal (e.g., name calling, teasing), or relational (e.g., spread rumours, gossiping). In addition to these traditional types, bullying can also take place in electronic contexts (e.g., email, cell phones, text messages, and internet sites), which is defined as "cyber" bullying (20). Prior studies showed a significant correlation between PIU and involvement in bullying and victimisation (5, 12, 21, 22). For example, a study conducted among 6,237 Hungarian middle school adolescents revealed a significant association between PIU and involvement in traditional and cyber bullying as perpetrators and victims (23).

The few studies that examined the correlation between involvement in bullying and substance use have consistently found a link between involvement in bullying and substance use (24–27). For instance, a study conducted among middle-school adolescents in Florida found that students involved in different types of bullying as perpetrators or victims were significantly more likely to be engaged in substance use than those not involved in bullying (28).

According to Agnew's General Strain Theory (29), involvement in bullying is one type of strain that increases the likelihood of involvement in crime and anti-social behaviours

(e.g., substance use), as a way to cope with the negative emotions that result from the strain.

Based on these theories (14, 29), we assume that adolescents who use the internet in problematic ways are at higher risk for involvement in bullying and/or victimisation, which may in turn lead to substance use (30, 31).

The Moderating Role of Parent–Child Relationship

Problem Behaviour Theory (14) focused on the social perceived environment (e.g., parental factors) as a protective factor that could have a buffer effect on risky behaviours. The theory suggests that adolescents who have healthy positive relationships with their families are expected to maintain fewer problematic and risky behaviours. Previous studies showed a negative association between positive parenting and risky behaviours (e.g., problematic internet use and substance use) (32–35). For example, a study of 4,925 adolescents from France and the UK (aged 15–16) found that adolescents who were not satisfied with their relationships with their parents were more likely to be heavy substance users than others (36). Another study of 3,662 high school students in Taiwan found that a conflictual parent–child relationship was linked positively with both problematic internet use and substance use (37).

Prior studies also showed a negative association between healthy parent-child relationships and involvement in bullying as perpetrators and victims (32, 38–40). For instance, a study conducted among school students (aged 13–17) revealed that all adolescents that were victims of bullying had lower levels of social connexions with their parents (41). A meta-analysis study also found that victimisation was related to higher negative parenting (abuse and neglect, maladaptive parenting, and overprotection) and lower positive parenting (authoritative, communication, parental involvement and support, supervision, warmth, and affection) (39). In healthy and positive parent-child relationships, children tend to share their experiences of bullying with their parents and ask them for help, which protects them from further involvement in bullying (32).

Although previous studies focused on the direct effect between PIU, substance abuse, and parental factors, to the best of our knowledge, no study has explored the moderating effect of the parent-child relationship on this association, including bullying and victimisation as mediators.

Aims of the Study

The current study examines the relationship between PIU and substance abuse (including drug use, smoking tobacco cigarettes, and drinking alcohol) among adolescents in the UK, and explores whether this association is mediated by involvement in traditional and cyber bullying and victimisation. Furthermore, we will examine the moderating effect of the parent-child relationship on the relationship between PIU and involvement in bullying, and the relationship between involvement in bullying and substance abuse (see **Figure 1**).



FIGURE 1 | (A) Simple slope analysis shows that parent-child relationship moderated the relation between PIU and substance abuse. The function was graphed for two levels of independent variable and moderator: 1 SD above the mean and 1 SD below the mean. (B) Simple slope analysis shows that parent-child relationship moderated the relation between PIU and cybervictimisation. The function was graphed for two levels of independent variable and moderator: 1 SD above the mean and 1 SD below the mean. (C) Simple slope analysis shows that parent-child relationship moderated the relation between PIU and traditional bullying. The function was graphed for two levels of independent variable and moderator: 1 SD above the mean and 1 SD below the mean. (D) Simple slope analysis shows that parent-child relational victimisation. The function was graphed for two levels of independent variable and moderator: 1 SD above the mean and 1 SD below the mean. (D) Simple slope analysis shows that parent-child relational victimisation. The function was graphed for two levels of independent variable and moderator: 1 SD above the mean and 1 SD below the mean.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Design and Participants

A cross-sectional research design was adopted. In total, six public secondary schools across the UK agreed to take part in the study, representing northern and central UK. The original sample included 1,969 participants; however, 155 questionnaires were deemed invalid or incomplete. The final sample that included valid data for the main variables consisted of 1,613 participants who completed all related variables. Independent t-test analysis showed that in comparison to those who filled the full questionnaire, the participants that have not completed the question on substance abuse and thus were not included in the final analysis were more likely to be involved in cyber victimisation (Incomplete: N: 117; M = 2.74, SD = 8.10; complete: M = 0.84, SD = 2.80, p < 0.05), cyber bullying (Incomplete: N: 135; M = 2.16, SD = 7.98; complete: M = 0.31, SD = 2.09, p < 0.05, traditional victimisation (Incomplete: N: 135; *M* = 8.04, *SD* = 12.35; complete: *M* = 4.46, *SD* = 6.82, *p* < 0.01), and traditional bullying (Incomplete: N: 127; M = 5.39, SD = 11.82; complete: M = 1.68, SD = 4.08, p < 0.01). On the other hand, those who filled the question on substance abuse were more likely to have higher total internet use score (Complete: M = 8.38, SD = 8.62; incomplete: N: 20; M = 3.55, SD = 5.10, p < 0.001) and positive parent-child relationships (complete: M = 5.26, SD = 1.12; incomplete: N: 156; M = 4.86, SD = 1.41, p < 0.01). The participants age ranged from 10 to 16 years (M = 12.6, SD = 1.3); 53% males (M = 12.5, SD = 1.0) and 47% females (M = 12.7, SD = 1.4). All participants completed structured anonymous self-report questionnaires (hardcopy or an online version of the questionnaires). Most of the participants were white British (83.2%), 7.6% were (mostly Southern Asia), and the rest (9.2%) are non-British of different ethnic groups (e.g., Black African, White Europeans, Mixed, etc.). In addition, the participants were mostly living with both parents (75.7%), while 16.7% were living only with the mother, 1.8% only with the father and 5.8% with other people (e.g., mother and stepdad, grandparents, etc.). The mean number of siblings was 1.79 (SD: 1.37).

Measurements

Parent-Child Relationship

Participants were asked to evaluate their relationship with their mothers and fathers (How would you describe your relationship with your mother; How would you describe your relationship with your father?) ranging from not good at all (0) to very good (3). The variable was constructed by adding up the two items and thus reflected the relationship with one or both parents.

Problematic Internet Use (PIU)

This questionnaire included 15 items ($\alpha = 0.89$) adapted from Demetrovics et al. (42), and included three subscales: *Obsession* (six items, $\alpha = 0.82$) (e.g., How often do you daydream about the

Internet?); *Neglect* (six items, $\alpha = 0.80$) (e.g., How often do you neglect school work to spend more time online?); and *Control Disorder* (three items, $\alpha = 0.67$) (e.g., How often do you try to limit the amount of time spent online?). Responses ranged from never (0) to most days (4). Total Problematic Internet Use (PIU) constituted the sum of the 15 items. The total PIU and its subscales were validated using the same sample [see (9)]. In this study, the total PIU will be used.

Substance Use and Cigarette Smoking

This variable was assessed using a Brief Screening Test for Adolescent Substance Abuse using six Yes\No questions (α = 0.85) adapted from the CRAFT Screening Interview (43). Participants were asked to report their experiences with alcohol and drug use (1. Have you ever ridden a car driven by someone (including yourself) who was "high" or had been using alcohol or drugs?; 2. Do you ever use alcohol or drugs to relax, feel better about yourself, or fit in?; 3. Do you ever use alcohol or drugs while you are by yourself, or alone?; 4. Do you ever forget things you did while using alcohol or drugs?; 5. Do your family or friends ever tell you that you should cut down on your drinking or drug use?; 6. Have you ever gotten into trouble while you were using alcohol or drugs?). In addition, one question was regarding smoking cigarettes (tobacco). Participants were asked about the frequency of smoking cigarettes. Responses for this question ranged from never smoked (0) to more than five times a week (4). The frequency of smoking was recoded into two categories; never smoked vs. smoked. Then the seven questions were added up to form a total substance abuse variable.

Bullying and Victimisation

This was assessed using 16 bullying items (total traditional and cyber bullying: $\alpha = 0.93$) and 16 items about victimisation (total traditional and cyber victimisation: $\alpha = 0.91$).

Traditional Bullying and Victimisation

This was assessed using eight items for bullying and eight items for victimisation from the Olweus Bullying Questionnaire (44).

Participants were asked to indicate how many times they had bullied others in the last 6 months. Four items were related to direct bullying (e.g., hit, kicked, pushed, or threatened someone; called someone bad or nasty names) and four items were related to relational bullying (e.g., told someone I did not want to be their friend anymore; I excluded someone from groups and activities). These eight items were put together to construct a *traditional bullying variable* ($\alpha = 0.92$).

Participants were also asked to indicate how many times they had experienced bullying from others as victims, in the last 6 months. Four items were related to direct victimisation (e.g., I was hit, kicked, or threatened; I was tricked in a nasty way) and four items were related to relational victimisation (e.g., other children told lies or nasty storeys about me; I was excluded from groups and activities). These eight items were put together to construct a *traditional victimisation variable* ($\alpha = 0.91$).

Cyber Bullying and Victimisation

This was assessed using items from Smith et al. (45). Participants were asked whether they send or receive rude, offensive, cruel,

or mean messages, pictures, video and comments through text messages, iMessages (e.g., WhatsApp), Emails, phone/mobile or video calls (e.g., Skype), Chat rooms (e.g., normal chat rooms, games chat rooms), Websites, Social Networks (e.g., Facebook, Twitter), or other. This could take the form of bullying others (being a bully) ($\alpha = 0.96$) or being bullied by others ($\alpha = 0.92$).

Responses for both traditional and cyber bullying items ranged from 0 (never) to 4 (several times a week).

Ethical Consideration

The study was approved by the Ethical Committee of Kingston University London, U.K., according to the British Psychological Society's ethical standards and regulations. All parents gave written informed consent for their children and adolescents to participate in the study.

Procedure

Following ethical approval from Kingston University London, schools were sent parental consent forms and obtained an agreement from the entire sample. The questionnaires were available either online (in a designated school IT room) or as a hardcopy in the classroom; 70% of the children completed the online questionnaire (*via* Qualtrics.com) and 30% completed the hardcopy. In both cases, the researcher gave instructions and help on how to fill in the questionnaires. Children were told that participation was voluntary and that they could withdraw at any time without explanation. Children were encouraged to provide as accurate information as possible and to talk to the school counselling team if they felt uncomfortable because of their participation.

Data Analysis

First, descriptive statistics were examined regarding the variables of the study. Second, bivariate analyses were conducted to test the relationships between the research variables using Pearson's correlations. Third, we performed a PROCESS mediationmoderation analysis using SPSS 26 [PROCESS-Model #59 developed by Preacher and Hayes (46)], which simultaneously explores mediation and moderation, to test the mediating role of bullying and victimisation (traditional and cyber) on the relationship between total PIU and substance abuse (model 4). In addition, we explored the moderating effect of the child–parent relationship on three paths: The direct relationship between PIU and substance abuse; the relationship between PIU with the mediators (traditional and cyber bullying and victimisation), and the relationship between the mediators (bullying and victimisation) and substance abuse (model 59).

The mediation path and the direct effects are assumed to be moderated by the child–parent relationship. The 95% confidence interval obtained with 1,000 bootstrap resamples was used (46). Once a bootstrap sample of the original data is generated, the regression coefficients for the statistical model are estimated. This procedure yields an upper and lower bound of the confidence interval on the likely value of the indirect effect for the three cut points of the moderating factor (mean, +-SD). If the confidence interval does not straddle zero, this leads to the inference that the

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics and correlations among the main variables ($N = 1,613$).	

Variable	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1. Substance abuse	0.331	1.07	1						
2. Total PIU	8.32	8.60	0.199*	1					
3. Traditional bullying	1.94	5.14	0.355**	0.344**	1				
4. Cyber bullying	0.42	2.86	0.364**	0.238**	0.644**	1			
5. Traditional victimisation	4.73	7.44	0.261**	0.280**	0.617**	0.533**	1		
6. Cyber victimisation	0.97	3.44	0.310**	0.302**	0.577**	0.806**	0.653**	1	
7. Parent-child relationship	5.23	1.15	-0.152**	-0.117**	-0.217**	-0.149**	-0.265**	-0.216	1

 $^{*}P < 0.05; ^{**}P < 0.01.$

indirect effect is not zero and that there is a significant mediation. The means of all the variables were centred.

RESULTS

Descriptive Statistics

The descriptive statistics for each variable (mean, s.d.) are given in Table 1. Regarding the items of substance abuse, 8% of the adolescents reported that they rode in a car driven by someone who had been using alcohol or drugs, 4.9% reported that they used drugs or alcohol to relax or feel better about themselves, 3.6% reported that they used drugs or alcohol while they are alone, 3.1% reported that their families or friends tell them that they should cut down on their drinking or drug use, and 3.8% reported they gotten in trouble while they are using alcohol or drugs. In addition, 2.7% of adolescents reported that they smoke cigarettes 1–5 times in the last 6 months, 0.6% 1–5 times a month, 0.6% 1-5 times a week, and 1.4% more than 5 times a week. This was categorised into smoked a cigarette at least once in the last 6 months (5.2%) vs. none. Substance abuse was then constructed of the above seven items (six on drugs and alcohol and one on smoking) ranging from 0 to 7; the higher the number the more frequent the substance abuse behaviour.

The independent samples *t*-test showed that those who do not live with both parents (mother only, father only or other) were more likely to be involved in substance abuse behaviour [$t_{(1,622)} = -2.78, p < 0.01$], to be traditional victims [$t_{(1,748)} = -2.67, p < 0.01$] and cyber victims [$t_{(1,726)} = -3.65, p < 0.001$], and to have negative parent–child relationship [$t_{(1,761)} = -12.09, p < 0.001$].

Bivariate Analysis: Relationship Between PIU, Substance Abuse, and Bullying/Victimisation

The correlational findings in **Table 1** show that total PIU was significantly correlated positively with substance abuse, bullying, and victimisation (traditional and cyber). In addition, bullying and victimisation (traditional and cyber) were correlated positively with substance abuse. On the other hand, parent-child relationship was significantly correlated negatively with substance abuse, PIU total, bullying, and victimisation (except for cybervictimisation) (see **Table 1**).

Mediation Effect Analysis

Model 4 is a simple mediating model in the SPSS macro PROCESS compiled by Hayes (47). This was adopted to test the mediating effect of bullying/victimisation on the relationship between PIU and substance abuse. The results are shown in **Table 2**. Model 1 of **Table 2** shows that the positive predictive effect of PIU on substance abuse was significant (B = 0.02, t = 7.49, p < 0.001). Model 2 of **Table 2** shows that PIU had a significant positive predictive effect on both forms of bullying and victimisation (traditional and cyber). In turn, bullying and victimisation (both forms) had a significant positive predictive effect of PIU on substance abuse. Moreover, when mediating variables were added, the direct predictive effect of PIU on substance abuse was still significant, as shown in Model 3 of **Table 2** (see **Table 2**).

In addition, the upper and lower bounds of the bootstrapped 95% CI for the direct effect of PIU on substance abuse and the mediating effect of bullying and victimisation (both forms) did not include 0, indicating that the mediating effect was significant [Traditional bullying: indirect effect = 0.014, SE = 0.004, 95% CI = (0.005, 0.023); Cyberbullying: indirect effect = 0.010, SE = 0.005, 95% CI = (0.002, 0.019); Traditional victimisation: indirect effect = 0.003, 95% CI = (0.003, 0.014); Cybervictimisation: indirect effect = 0.011, SE = 0.004, 95% CI = (0.004, 0.019)]. Of the total effect, the mediation effect accounted for 13.2% for traditional bullies, 14.4% for cyberbullies, 8.5% for traditional victimis, and 10.9% for cybervictimisation, which suggests that bullying and victimisation played a partial mediating role in the relationship between PIU and substance abuse.

Moderated Mediation Effect Analysis

To test the moderated mediation model, we used Model 59 of the SPSS macro PROCESS compiled by Hayes (47). The results of the child-parent relationships moderation test are shown in **Table 3**. After putting child-parent relationships into the model, the product (interaction term) of PIU and child-parent relationships had a significant negative predictive effect on substance abuse, as shown in Model 1 of **Table 3** (B = -0.011, t = -5.28, p < 0.001) (see **Table 3** and **Figure 1A**). In addition, the interaction term of PIU and child-parent relationships had a significant negative predictive effect on traditional bullying and victimisation and cybervictimisation

TABLE 2 Regression model summary of the mediating effect of bullying/victimisation (traditional and cyber) on the relationship between PIU and substance abuse	
(Model 4) ($N = 1,613$).	

Predictors (IV)	Model	Model 1 (DV: substance use)			I 2 (DV: traditio	Model 3 (DV: substance use)			
	В	SE	t	В	SE	t	В	SE	t
PIU	0.02***	0.003	7.49	0.16*	0.01	14.78	0.011***	0.003	3.51
Traditional bullies							0.089***	0.007	13.06
R^2	0.034			0.12			0.131		
F	56.18***			218.52***			121.96***		
				Мо	del 2 (DV: cybe	erbullies)	Model	3 (DV: substa	ance use)
PIU				0.06***	0.006	9.78	0.013***	0.003	4.33
Cyberbullies							0.17***	0.012	14.24
R^2				0.057			0.144		
F				95.73***			133.11***		
				Model 2	(DV: traditiona	l victimisation)	Model	3 (DV: substa	ance use)
PIU				0.21***	0.018	11.87	0.017***	0.003	5.48
Traditional victimisation							0.036***	0.004	8.98
R^2				0.079			0.085		
F				141.05***			75.33***		
				Model	2 (DV: cybervi	ctimisation)	Model	3 (DV: substa	ance use)
PIU				0.099***	0.008	12.91	0.014***	0.003	4.64
Cybervictimisation							0.107***	0.009	11.28
R^2				0.093			0.109		
F				166.66***			99.63***		

*P < 0.05; ***P < 0.001.

(but not on cyberbullies), as shown in Model 2 of Table 3 (see Table 3 and Figures 1B-D).

Model 3 of **Table 3** shows that only traditional bullying and parent-child relationships interaction had a significant predictive effect on substance abuse (B = 0.01, t = 2.66, p < 0.01).

These results suggest that parent-child relationships played a moderating role in the relationships between PIU and substance abuse (model 1), between PIU and bullying and victimisation (except for cyberbullies) (model 2), and between traditional bullying and substance abuse (model 3) (see **Figures 2A-D**).

This indicates that for individuals with low levels of parent-child relationships, higher levels of PIU were associated with higher levels of substance abuse. In addition, bullying significantly predicted substance abuse in low-level child– parent relationships.

Of the total effect, the mediation moderation effect accounted for 14.9% for traditional bullies, 15.5% for cyberbullies, 10.7% for traditional victims, and 12.7% for cybervictimisation, which suggests that bullying and victimisation and the interaction with child-parent relationships played a partial mediating role in the relationship between PIU and substance abuse.

DISCUSSION

The current study explored the mediation effect of involvement in traditional and cyber bullying and victimisation on the relationship between PIU and substance abuse amongst adolescents in the UK. The findings of the study revealed that the correlation between PIU and substance abuse among adolescents is partially mediated by involvement in bullying as perpetrators and victims. In addition, the parentchild relationship was specifically found as a significant moderator on the relationship between PIU and traditional bullying and victimisation and cybervictimisation. It has also moderated the relationship between traditional bullying and substance abuse.

Involvement in Bullying and Victimisation as Mediators Between PIU and Substance Abuse

In accordance with previous studies (15, 16, 48), the findings of the current study indicated that adolescents who reported higher levels of PIU were more likely to be engaged in substance abuse. This finding is in line with the Problem Behaviour Theory (14) that suggests that risky behaviours can co-occur TABLE 3 | Regression model summary of the moderation-mediation model predicting substance abuse.

Predictors (IV)	Model 1 (D	V: substa	nce use)	Model 2	(DV: traditio	Model 3 (DV: substance use)			
	в	SE	t	В	SE	t	В	SE	t
PIU	0.02***	0.003	7.15	0.15***	0.01	13.99	0.009**	0.003	2.99
Parent-child relationships	-0.10***	0.023	-4.57	-0.34***	0.08	-4.02	-0.083***	0.022	-3.72
PIU \times Parent–child relationships	-0.011***	0.002	-5.28	-0.033***	0.007	-4.34	-0.012***	0.003	-4.95
Traditional bullies							0.081***	0.007	11.70
Traditional bullies \times parent-child relationships							0.010**	0.004	2.66
R^2	0.075			0.148			0.149		
F	43.84***			92.483***			55.74***		
				Model	2 (DV: cybe	erbullies)	Model 3 (D)	/: substa	nce use)
PIU				0.06***	0.005	10.18	0.012***	0.003	3.98
Parent-child relationship				-0.022	0.046	-0.47	-0.099***	0.022	-4.49
$PIU \times Parent-child relationships$				0.002	0.005	0.546	-0.010***	0.002	-4.24
Cyberbullies							0.160***	0.012	13.25
Cyberbullies \times Parent-child relationship							0.004	0.01	0.32
R^2				0.063			0.155		
F				35.16***			57.82***		
				Model 2 (DV	: traditional	l victimisation)	Model 3 (D)	/: substa	nce use)
PIU				0.19***	0.018	10.67	0.015***	0.003	5.04
Parent-child relationships				-1.15***	0.14	-8.27	-0.076**	0.023	-3.24
$PIU \times Parent-child relationships$				-0.038**	0.002	-4.88	-0.011***	0.002	-4.88
Traditional victimisation							0.031***	0.004	7.48
Traditional victimisation \times Parent-child relationships							0.003	0.002	1.34
R^2				0.128			0.107		
F				79.04***			38.45***		
				Model 2 (DV: cybervictimisation)		ctimisation)	Model 3 (DV: substance use)		
PIU				0.090***	0.008	11.85	0.013***	0.003	4.28
Parent-child relationships				-0.190**	0.060	-3.18	-0.091***	0.023	-4.04
$PIU \times Parent-child relationships$				-0.034***	0.005	-6.30	-0.010***	0.002	-4.26
Cybervictimisation							0.096***	0.010	9.68
Cybervictimisation \times Parent–child relationships							0.010	0.005	1.88
R^2				0.128			0.127		
F				78.61***			46.69***		

The mediation effect of bullying and victimisation (traditional and cyber) on the relationship between PIU and substance abuse and the effect of parent-child relationship as a moderator (Model 59) (N = 1,613). **P < 0.01; ***P < 0.001.

and that adolescents who are engaged in one risky behaviour are more likely to be involved in other risky behaviours. This may also suggest that the two behaviours are similar because they both may lead to addiction. It is of interest that addictive behaviours concerning both drug usage and non-drug usage are related to neuro-bio-cognitive disruption of one or a combination of three key neural systems that are responsible for willpower. The proposed model suggests a disruption of the impulsive amygdala regulated system, the reflective prefrontal regulated system and/or the feeling insula regulated system (49). It is possible that the lack of control of risky PIU, substance abuse, and bullying behaviours are also related to this neuro-bio-cognitive impairment and future research ought to investigate this.

In addition to this direct correlation, the findings of the current study showed that the correlation between PIU and substance abuse is partially mediated by involvement in traditional and cyber bullying. Adolescents who spend more time on the internet were at greater risk for involvement in bullying as perpetrators and victims, which in turn increases their likelihood to be involved in substance abuse. Those who are unable to control their internet use could have difficulty in controlling their behaviours as well, which as a result may increase the risk for acting aggressively (24, 50).



We can understand this mediation process in light of the General Strain Theory of Agnew (29). According to this theory, substance abuse among adolescents is a coping mechanism for relieving negative feelings, such as stress, frustration, and depression, caused by the strain of being involved in bullying. With limited support and skills, adolescents who are involved in bullying may resort to substance abuse and self-injury behaviours to escape and cope (51).

An additional explanation could be related to the adolescent's desire to gain social status and to be perceived as cool; and attractive. For adolescents, smoking and drinking is a behaviour that contributes to the social image of the individual and can be well-used for this purpose (52).

Consistent with previous studies, bullies may be more vulnerable to substance abuse than others (28). The findings of the study showed a positive association between involvement in bullying and substance abuse, but this correlation was stronger among bullies than victims, particularly in traditional bullying. This indicates that bullies are more susceptible to risky behaviours than victims.

Additionally, PIU includes neglect of daily activities and social interactions. This may lead to a lack of skills relating to social peer relationships and thus increase the risk of getting involved in bullying in one way or another.

Parent–Child Relationship: Direct and Interactive Effects

In line with previous studies that emphasised the parent–child relationship as a protective factor among adolescents (36, 37, 53), the findings of the current study revealed a negative correlation

between parent-child relationship in one hand and PIU and substance abuse on the other hand. Adolescents who described their relationships with their parents as positive, reported lower levels of PIU and substance abuse. We can understand the protective effect of the parent-child relationship in light of the Social Bond Theory of Hirschi (54). This theory suggests that adolescents, who are close to their parents, feel obligated to act in non-deviant ways to please their parents, so they are less likely to be involved in risky behaviours, such as substance abuse.

Our findings also showed that a good parent-child relationship serves as a moderator of the relationship between PIU with traditional bullying and victimisation and cybervictimisation (but not of cyberbullies). In addition, the parent-child relationship moderates the relationship between traditional bullying and substance abuse but not cyberbullying. These findings can be explained by the significant relationship that was found between not living with both parents on one hand and victimisation, substance abuse, and a negative parent-child relationship on the other. This indicates that those who do not live with both parents are more at risk of developing behavioural problems (55), including internalising and externalising behaviours (e.g., substance abuse) (56, 57).

To the best of our knowledge, no research to date has explored the moderating effect of the parent-child relationship on these correlations. These findings emphasise that a good relationship between adolescents and their parents protects them from involvement in risky behaviours (bullying and substance abuse), despite their involvement in other risky behaviour (such as PIU). Positive and supportive communication helps children acquire adapting coping strategies, which reduce their engagement in risky behaviours (58).

These findings are also consistent with prior research suggesting that high support and warm relationships between parents and children are most likely to protect adolescents against involvement in bullying and victimisation (39). This moderation can be explained by Regulation Theory (59), which argues that sensitive parents could help their children regulate their emotions and behaviours. When parents fail to provide enough guidance and support through communication with their children, the children will have difficulty regulating their emotions effectively, which may increase their vulnerability to being involved in bullying as means of dealing with distress (60). Through conversation and open communication, parents can help their children develop behavioural schemes based on their experiences and perceptions. This in turn could help them to cope and avoid victimisation and bullying by internalising positive conflict-solving skills (32, 40, 61). However, the findings of the study showed that only the correlation between traditional bullying and substance abuse was moderated by the parentchild relationship, but not cyber bullying and victimisation and traditional victimisation. This could be because traditional bullying is a "visible" behaviour compared to cyber bullying and victimisation, which gives parents the ability to identify problems in their children's lives and deal with them. Also, this may indicate that victims usually suffer in silence (62, 63) and thus are in need of more support. Parents need to look at possible risks and engage more with their children to be able to recognise these behaviours.

Conclusions and Implication for Practise

The findings of the current study indicated that PIU is a major risk factor for substance abuse amongst adolescents. This is mediated by involvement in traditional and cyber bullying and victimisation. Furthermore, a good parent-child relationship was found to be an important protective factor that buffers the risk for involvement in substance abuse. This emphasises the importance of examining adolescents' behaviours in the context of their relationships and examining both risk and protective factors. To strengthen the reliability of the findings and to examine this problem from several points of view, future research needs to include additional informants such as parents and teachers. In addition, future studies should use longitudinal designs to determine cause-and-effect relationships between the independent variables and the outcome variable. In this study, not all children completed the substance abuse questionnaire and thus were excluded from the analysis. Children and adolescents who were involved in cyber and traditional bullying and victimisation were more likely to be excluded from the study. However, the participants who were included were more likely to have higher total internet use scores and positive parent-child relationships. Nevertheless, empirical evidence and simulations indicate that regression models validity is only marginally affected even after selective dropout. That is, the relation between predictors and outcome is unlikely to be substantially altered by selective dropout (64).

The substance abuse variable constitutes seven questions, which may not reflect the quantity of alcohol and drugs as the question on smoking. However, the questions reflect lifestyle rather than only the current situation and gives a good indication of being involved in risky behaviours in general. In addition, the described behaviour in question number one (Have you ever ridden a car driven by someone (including yourself) who was "high" or had been using alcohol or drugs?) may be related directly to other people's behaviour (e.g., parents, siblings, and friends) rather than directly to the respondent. Nevertheless, the question may indicate that the surrounding proximal environment of the targeted adolescent is a predisposition of toxic stress that may form a risk factor for their behaviour and physical and mental health (65). In that sense, children do not develop in isolation but develop in an environment of relationships (66, 67), and while a negative stressful environment may lead to behaviour and mental problems, supportive nurturing and safe relationships and environments, on the other hand, can buffer the response to toxic stress and thus lead to improved outcomes of physical and mental health (68, 69).

Therefore, we recommend that future research explores additional aspects of parenting, such as parenting styles and parental involvement to understand the exact parental behaviour that can affect these relationships. In addition, it is necessary to explore risk factors for problematic internet use among adolescents, at the level of the individual, the family, and the social context.

The findings of the study have several implications for practise. In light of the findings, it is important that mental health and psychology professionals develop programs for preventing problematic internet use among adolescents in addition to behavioural interventions with adolescents who use the internet in problematic ways. Professionals need to take into account bullying and victimisation as possible mediators for the relationships between problematic internet use and substance abuse (70, 71). In addition, practitioners who work with adolescents should include parents in their intervention programs with the aim of improving parent–adolescent relationships. Interventions may also include improving peer and sibling relationships (72, 73) and face-to-face or online therapies (74).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The dataset for this manuscript are not publicly available because they are used in other ongoing studies for publication. Requests to access the datasets should be directed to the corresponding author of the manuscript (Muthanna Samara: m.samara@kingston.ac.uk).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee, Kingston University London, UK. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS, PS, and HM contributed to the conception and design of the study. MS, AE-A, AM, and SH organised the database, performed the statistical analysis, contributed to the acquisition, and interpretation of data for the work. All authors drafted the work and revised it critically for important intellectual content and approved the submitted version.

REFERENCES

- Hearn GN, Foth M. Communicative ecologies: editorial preface. *Electr J Commun.* (2007) 17:1–2. Available online at: http://eprints.qut.edu.au/8171/
- Martínez-Ferrer B, Moreno D, Musitu G. Are adolescents engaged in the problematic use of social networking sites more involved in peer aggression and victimisation? *Front Psychol.* (2018) 9:1–13. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00801
- Bleakley A, Vaala, S, Jordan AB, Romer D. The Annenberg media environment survey: media access and use in U.S. homes with children and adolescents. In: Jordan AB, Romer D, editors. *Media and the Well-Being of Children and Adolescents*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press (2014). p. 1–19.
- 4. Griffiths MD. Internet addiction: internet fuels other addictions. *Stud Br Med J.* (1999) 7:428–9.
- Gámez-Guadix M, Orue I, Smith PK, Calvete E. Longitudinal and reciprocal relations of cyberbullying with depression, substance use, and problematic internet use among adolescents. J Adolesc Health. (2013) 53:446–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2013.03.030
- Gámez-Guadix M, Villa-George FI, Calvete E. Measurement and analysis of the cognitive-behavioural model of generalized problematic Internet use among Mexican adolescents. J Adolesc. (2012) 35:158–1591. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.06.005
- Durkee T, Carli V, Floderus B, Wasserman C, Sarchiapone M, Apter A, et al. Pathological internet use and risk-behaviours among European adolescents. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2016) 13:1–17. doi: 10.3390/ijerph13030294
- Lopez-Fernandez O, Honrubia-Serrano ML, Gibson W, Griffiths MD. Problematic internet use in British adolescents: an exploration of the addictive symptomatology. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2014) 35:224–33. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2014.02.042
- El Asam A, Samara M, Terry P. Problematic internet use and mental health among British children and adolescents. *Addict Behav.* (2019) 90:428–36. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2018.09.007
- Kircabum K, Bastug I. Predicting cyberbullying tendencies of adolescents with problematic internet use. *Int J Acad Soc Stud.* (2017) 48:385–96. doi: 10.9761/JASSS3597
- Ko CH, Yen JY, Chen CS, Chen CC, Yen CF. Psychiatric comorbidity of internet addiction in college students: an interview study. CNS Spectr. (2008) 13:147–53. doi: 10.1017/S1092852900016308
- Mesch GS. Parental mediation, online activities, and cyberbullying. *CyberPsychol Behav.* (2009) 12:387–93. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2009.0068
- 13. Jessor R, Jessor SL. Problem Behavior and Psychosocial Development: A Longitudinal Study of Youth. New York, NY: Academic Press (1977).
- Jessor R. Risk behavior in adolescence: a psychosocial frame work for understanding and action. J Adolesc Health. (1991) 12:597–605. doi: 10.1016/1054-139X(91)90007-K
- 15. Chang FC, Chiu CH, Miao NF, Chen PH, Lee CM, Chiang JT, et al. The relationship between parental mediation and Internet addiction among adolescents, and the association with cyberbullying and depression. *Comprehens Psychiatry*. (2015) 57:21–8. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2014.11.013

FUNDING

This study was supported by Qatar National Research Fund (QNRF) a member of Qatar Foundation Doha, Qatar, National Priority Research Programs (NPRP) under Grant (NPRP 5 - 1134 - 3 - 240).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank QNRF for their support. We would also like to thank all children, parents, and schools who took part in the study.

- Rial A, Golpe S, Isorna M, Braña T, Gómez P. Minors and problematic Internet use: evidence for better prevention. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2018) 87:140–5. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.05.030
- Rücker J, Akre C, Berchtold A, Suris JC. Problematic Internet use is associated with substance use in young adolescents. *Acta Paediatr.* (2015) 104:504–7. doi: 10.1111/apa.12971
- Buja A, Gallimberti L, Chindamo S, Lion C, Terraneo A, Rivera M, et al. Problematic social networking site usage and substance use by young adolescents. *BMC Paediatr*. (2018) 18:367. doi: 10.1186/s12887-018-1316-3
- 19. Olweus D. Bullying at School: What We Know and What We Can Do. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers (1993).
- Hinduja S, Patchin JW. Bullying Beyond the Schoolyard: Preventing and Responding to Cyberbullying. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications (Corwin Press) (2009).
- Leung L, Lee PS. The influences of information literacy, internet addiction and parenting styles on internet risks. *New Media Soc.* (2012) 14:117–36. doi: 10.1177/1461444811410406
- Sasson H, Mesch G. The role of parental mediation and peer norms on the likelihood of cyberbullying. J Genet Psychol. (2016) 178:15–27. doi: 10.1037/t52191-000
- Zsila Á, Orosz G, Király O, Urbán R, Ujhelyi A, Jármi É, et al. Psychoactive substance use and problematic internet use as predictors of bullying and cyberbullying victimisation. *Int J Mental Health Addict*. (2018) 16:466–79. doi: 10.1007/s11469-017-9809-0
- Espelage DL, Low S, Rao MA, Hong JS, Little TD. Family violence, bullying, fighting, and substance use among adolescents: a longitudinal mediational model. J Res Adolesc. (2014) 24:337–49. doi: 10.1111/jora.12060
- Luk JW, Wang J, Simons-Morton BG. Bullying victimisation and substance use among US adolescents: mediation by depression. *Prevent Sci.* (2010) 11:355–9. doi: 10.1007/s11121-010-0179-0
- Luk JW, Wang J, Simons-Morton BG. The co-occurrence of substance use and bullying behaviors among US adolescents: understanding demographic characteristics and social influences. J Adolesc. (2012) 35:1351–60. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2012.05.003
- Tharp-Taylor S, Haviland A, D'Amico EJ. Victimisation from mental and physical bullying and substance use in early adolescence. *Addict Behav.* (2009) 34:561–7. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.03.012
- Peleg-Oren N, Cardenas GA, Comerford M, Galea S. An association between bullying behaviours and alcohol use among middle school students. J Early Adolesc. (2012) 32:761–75. doi: 10.1177/0272431610387144
- Agnew R. Building on the foundation of general strain theory: specifying the types of strain most likely to lead to crime and delinquency. J Res Crime Delinq. (2001) 38:319–61. doi: 10.1177/0022427801038004001
- Mitchell KJ, Ybarra M, Finkelhor D. The relative importance of online victimisation in understanding depression, delinquency, and substance use. *Child Maltreat.* (2007) 12:314–24. doi: 10.1177/10775595073 05996
- Sinclair KO, Bauman S, Poteat VP, Koenig B, Russell ST. Cyber and bias-based harassment: associations with academic, substance use, and mental health problems. J Adolesc Health. (2012) 50:521–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2011.09.009

- Boniel-Nissim M, Sasson H. Bullying victimisation and poor relationships with parents as risk factors of problematic internet use in adolescence. *Comput Hum Behav.* (2018) 88:176–83. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2018.05.041
- Trucco EM, Colder CR, Wieczorek WF, Lengua LJ, Hawk LW Jr. Early adolescent alcohol use in context: how neighbourhoods, parents, and peers impact youth. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2014) 26:425–36. doi: 10.1017/S0954579414000042
- Wartberg L, Kriston L, Bröning S, Kegel K, Thomasius R. Adolescent problematic Internet use: is a parental rating suitable to estimate prevalence and identify familial correlates? *Comput Hum Behav.* (2017) 67:233–9.
- Liu QX, Fang XY, Zhou ZK, Zhang JT, Deng LY. Perceived parent adolescent relationship, perceived parental online behaviours and pathological internet use among adolescents: gender-specific differences. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e75642. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075642
- Ledoux S, Miller P, Choquet M, Plant M. Family structure, parentchild relationships, and alcohol and other drug use among teenagers in France and the United Kingdom. *Alcohol Alcoholism*. (2002) 37:52–60. doi: 10.1093/alcalc/37.1.52
- Yen JY, Yen CF, Chen CC, Chen SH, Ko CH. Family factors of internet addiction and substance use experience in Taiwanese adolescents. *CyberPsychol Behav.* (2007) 10:323–9. doi: 10.1089/cpb.2006.9948
- Charalampous C, Demertiou C, Ioannou M, Georgiou S, Nikiforou M, Stavrinides P. The effect of parental style on bullying and cyber bullying behaviours and the mediation role of peer attachment relationships: a longitudinal study. J Adolesc. (2018) 64:109–23. doi: 10.1016/j.adolescence.2018.02.003
- Lereya ST, Samara M, Wolke D. Parenting behaviour and the risk of becoming a victim and a bully/victim: a meta-analysis study. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2013) 37:1091–108. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2013.03.001
- Makri-Botsari E, Karagianni G. Cyberbullying in Greek adolescents: the role of parents. *Proc Soc Behav Sci.* (2014) 116:3241–53. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.01.742
- Doty JL, Gower AL, Rudi JH, McMorris BJ, Borowaky IW. Patterns of bullying and sexual harassment: connections with parents and teachers as direct protective factors. J Youth Adolesc. (2017) 46:2289–304. doi: 10.1007/s10964-017-0698-0
- Demetrovics Z, Szeredi B, Rozsa S. The three-factor model of internet addition: the development of the Problematic Internet Use Questionnaire. *Behav Res Methods*. (2008) 40:563–74. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.2.563
- Knight JR, Sherritt L, Shrier LA, Harris SK, Chang G. Validity of the CRAFT substance use abuse screening test among adolescent clinic patients. Archiv Paediatr Adolesc Med. (2002) 156:607–14. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.156.6.607
- Olweus D. The Revised Olweus Bully/Victim Questionnaire. Mimeo. Bergen: Bergen University (1996).
- Smith PK, Mahdavi J, Carvalho M, Fisher S, Russell S, Tippett N. Cyberbullying: its nature and impact in secondary school pupils. J Child Psychol Psychiatry. (2008) 49:376-85. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7610.2007.01846.x
- Preacher KJ, Hayes AF. Asymptotic and resampling strategies for assessing and comparing indirect effects in multiple mediator models. *Behav Res Methods*. (2008) 40:879–91. doi: 10.3758/BRM.40.3.879
- Hayes AF. PROCESS: A Versatile Computational Tool for Observed Variable Mediation, Moderation, and Conditional Process Modeling (2012). Available online at: http://www.afhayes.com/public/process2012.pdf
- Kumar N, Kumar A, Mahto S, Kandpal M, Deshpande S, Tanwar P. Prevalence of excessive internet use and its correlation with associated psychopathology in 11th and 12th grade students. *Gen Psychiatry*. (2019) 32:e100001. doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2018-100001
- Noël X, Brevers D, Bechara A. A neurocognitive approach to understanding the neurobiology of addiction. *Curr Opin Neurobiol.* (2013) 23:632–8. doi: 10.1016/j.conb.2013.01.018
- Gámez-Guadix M, Borrajo E, Almendros C. Risky online behaviours among adolescents: longitudinal relations among problematic Internet use, cyberbullying perpetration, and meeting strangers online. *J Behav Addict*. (2016) 5:100–7. doi: 10.1556/2006.5.2016.013
- Goebert D, Else I, Matsu C, Chung-Do J, Chang JY. The impact of cyberbullying on substance use and mental health in a multi-ethnic sample. *Maternal Child Health J.* (2011) 15:1282–6. doi: 10.1007/s10995-010-0 672-x

- Vieno A, Gini G, Santinello M. Different forms of bullying and their association to smoking and drinking behaviour in Italian adolescents. *J School Health.* (2011) 81:393–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1746-1561.2011. 00607.x
- Eseed R, Khoury-Kassabri M. Alcohol use among Arab Muslim adolescents: a mediation-moderation model of family, peer, and community factors. *Am J Orthopsychiatry*. (2017) 88:88. doi: 10.1037/ort00 00263
- 54. Hirschi T. Causes of Delinquency. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press. (1969).
- Goldberg JS, Carlson MJ. Parents' relationship quality and children's behavior in stable married and cohabiting families. J Marriage Family. (2014) 76:762– 77. doi: 10.1111/jomf.12120
- Auersperg F, Vlasak T, Ponocny I, Barth A. Long-term effects of parental divorce on mental health – a meta-analysis. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2019) 119:107–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2019.09.011
- Sands A, Thompson EJ, Gaysina D. Long-term influences of parental divorce on offspring affective disorders: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Affect Disord. (2017) 218:105–14. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017. 04.015
- Massarwi AA, Khoury-Kassabri M. Serious physical violence among Arab-Palestinian adolescents: the role of exposure to neighbourhood violence, perceived ethnic discrimination, normative beliefs, and, parental communication. *Child Abuse Neglect.* (2017) 63:233–44. doi: 10.1016/j.chiabu.2016.11.002
- Sroufe LA. Emotional Development: The Organization of Emotional Life in the Early Years. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press. (1995). doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511527661
- Kawabata Y, Alink LRA, Tsen W, Van Ijzendoorn MH, Crick NR. Maternal and paternal parenting styles associated with relational aggression in children and adolescents: A conceptual analysis and meta-analitic review. *Developmental Review*. (2011) 31:240–78. doi: 10.1016/j.dr.2011. 08.001
- Massarwi AA, Khoury-Kassabri M. Correlation between indirect aggression and parent-child communication among Arab-Palestinian Adolescents: gender as a moderator. *Soc Work Res.* (2018) 42:199–209. doi: 10.1093/SWR/SVY019
- Smith PK, Samara M. Evaluation of the DfES Anti Bullying Pack. Research Brief No: RBX06–03. London: DfES. (2003).
- Samara M, Smith P. How schools tackle bullying, and the use of whole school policies: changes over the last decade. *Educ Psychol.* (2008) 28:663–76. doi: 10.1080/01443410802191910
- Wolke D, Waylen A, Samara M, Steer R, Goodman T, Ford K, et al. Selective drop-out in longitudinal studies and non-biased prediction of behaviour disorders. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2009) 195:249–56. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.108. 053751
- Nelson CA, Scot RA, Bhutta ZA, Harris NB, Danese A, Samara M. Adversity in childhood is linked to mental and physical health throughout life. *Br Med J.* (2020) 371:m3048. doi: 10.1136/bmj. m3048
- Estrada P, Arsenio WF, Hess RD, Holloway SD. Affective quality of the mother-child relationship: longitudinal consequences for children's schoolrelevant cognitive functioning. *Dev Psychol.* (1987) 23:210–5–1649.23.2.210. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.23.2.210
- Traub F, Boynton-Jarrett R. Modifiable resilience factors to childhood adversity for clinical pediatric practice. *Pediatrics*. (2017) 139:e20162569. doi: 10.1542/peds.2016-2569
- McEwen BS. Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. N Engl J Med. (1998) 338:171–9.
- McEwen BS. Stress, adaptation, and disease. Allostasis and allostatic load. *Ann* N Y Acad Sci. (1998) 840:33–44.
- Samara M, Burbidge V, El Asam A, Foody M, Smith PK, Morsi H. Bullying and cyberbullying: their legal status and use in psychological assessment. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2017) 14:1449. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1412 1449
- Samara M, Da Silva Nascimento B, El Asam A, Smith P, Hammuda S, Morsi H, et al. Practitioners' perceptions, attitudes, and challenges around bullying and cyberbullying. *Int J Emot Educ.* (2020) 12:8–25.

- 72. Samara M, El Asam A, Khadaroo A, Hammuda S. Examining the psycho-social well-being of refugee children in the UK. *Br J Educ Psychol.* (2020) 90:301–29. doi: 10.1111/bjep. 12282
- Foody M, Samara M, O'Higgins Norman J. Bullying by siblings and peers: impact on depression and psychological well-being. *Br J Educ Psychol.* (2020) 90:138–57. doi: 10.1111/bjep.12311
- Foody M, Samara M. Considering mindfulness techniques in schoolbased anti-bullying programmes. J New Approach Educ Res. (2018) 7:3–9. doi: 10.7821/naer.2018.1.253

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Samara, Massarwi, El-Asam, Hammuda, Smith and Morsi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





@

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne | Switzerland

Visit us: www.frontiersin.org

Contact us: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Frontiers

FOLLOW US @frontiersin



IMPACT METRICS Advanced article metrics track visibility across digital media EXTENSIVE PROMOTION Marketing and promotion of impactful research

Our network increases your